RESEARCHIOPICS

INTERACTION OF TRYPANOSOMA CRUZI WITH HOST CELLS

Topic Editor Wanderley De Souza





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2014 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-337-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-337-0

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

INTERACTION OF TRYPANOSOMA CRUZI WITH HOST CELLS

Topic Editor:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil



Field emission scanning electron microscopy of an interaction between T. cruzi trypomastigotes and epithelial cells (LLC-MK 2) treated with an macropinocytosis inhibitor. After two hours of interaction a trypomastigote (purple) shows a small portion of itsr body recovered by the macrophage plasma membrane loosely (red region), indicating that the blockage of macropinocytic activity did not impair the membrane extension (Copyright: Emile Barrias, Técia Ulisses de Carvalho and Wanderley de Souza). Trypanosoma cruzi is a pathogenic protozoan of the Trypanosomatidade Family, which is the etiological agent of Chagas' disease. Chagas' disease stands out for being endemic among countries in Latin America, affecting about 15 million people. Recently, Chagas has become remarkable in European countries as well due to cases of transmission via infected blood transfusion. An important factor that has exacerbated the epidemiological picture in Brazil, Colombia and Venezuela is infection after the oral intake of contaminated foods such as sugar cane, açai and bacaba juices. Trypanosoma cruzi is an intracellular protozoan that exhibits a complex life cycle, involving multiple developmental stages found in both vertebrate and invertebrate hosts. In vertebrate hosts, the trypomastigote form invades a large variety of nucleated cells using multiple mechanisms. The invasion process involves several steps: (a) attraction of the protozoan to interact with the host cell surface; (b) parasite-host cell recognition;

(c) adhesion of the parasite to the host cell surface; (d) cell signalling events that culminate in the internalization of the parasite through endocytic processes; (e) biogenesis of a large vacuole where the parasite is initially located, and is also known as parasitophorous vacuole (PV); (f) participation of endocytic pathway components in the internalization process; (g) participation of cytoskeleton components in the internalization process; (h) transformation of the trypomastigote into the amastigote form within the PV; (i) lysis of the membrane of the PV; (j) multiplication of amastigotes within the host cell in direct contact with cell structures and organelles; (k) transformation of amastigotes into trypomastigotes, and (l) rupture of the host cell releasing trypomastigotes into the extracellular space. The kinetics of the interaction process and even the fate of the parasite within the cell vary according to the nature of the host cell and its state of immunological activation.

Table of Contents

04 Trypanosoma Cruzi-Host Cell Interaction Wanderley De Souza

06 Active Penetration of Trypanosoma Cruzi Into Host Cells: Historical Considerations and Current Concepts

Wanderley de Souza and Tecia M.Ulisses de Carvalho

O9 Trypanosoma Cruzi: Entry into Mammalian Host Cells and Parasitophorous Vacuole Formation

Emile Santos Barrias, Tecia Maria Ulisses de Carvalho, and Wanderley De Souza

- 19 Current Understanding of the Trypanosoma Cruzi-Cardiomyocyte Interaction Claudia M. Calvet, Tatiana G. Melo, Luciana R. Garzoni, Francisco O.R.Oliveira Jr., Dayse T. Silva Neto, N.S.L. Meirelles and Mirian C. S. Pereira
- 27 Trypanosoma Cruzi Extracellular Amastigotes and Host Cell Signaling: More Pieces to the Puzzle

Éden R. Ferreira, Alexis Bonfim-Melo, Renato A Mortara, and Diana Bahia

- *Cell Signaling During Trypanosoma Cruzi Invasion* Fernando Y. Maeda, Cristian Cortez and Nobuko Yoshida
- 40 Sialic Acid: A Sweet Swing Between Mammalian Host and Trypanosoma Cruzi Leonardo Freire-de-Lima, Isadora A. Oliveira, Jorge L. Neves, Luciana L. Penha, Frederico Alisson-Silva, Wagner B. Dias and Adriane R.Todeschini
- 52 Regulation and Use of the Extracellular Matrix by Trypanosoma Cruzi During Early Infection

Pius N. Nde, Maria F. Lima, Candice A. Johnson, Siddharth Pratap and Fernando Villalta

62 Selection of Binding Targets in Parasites Using Phage-Display and Aptamer Libraries in Vivo and in Vitro

R. R. Tonelli, W. Colli and M. J. M. Alves

78 The Kallikrein-Kinin-System in Experimental Chagas Disease: A Paradigm to Investigate the Impact of Inflammatory Edema on GPCR-Mediated Pathways of Host Cell Invasion by Trypanosoma Cruzi

Julio Scharfstein, Daniele Andrade, Erik Svensjö, Ana Carolina Oliveira and Clarissa R. Nascimento

frontiers in IMMUNOLOGY



Trypanosoma cruzi-host cell interaction

Wanderley De Souza^{1,2}*

¹ Laboratório de Ultraestrutura Celular Hertha Meyer, Centro de Ciências da Saúde, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

² INMETRO – Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Qualidade e Tecnologia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence: wsouza@biof.ufrj.br

Edited and reviewed by:

lan Marriott, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, USA

Keywords: parasitic protozoa, parasite-host cell interaction, cell-to-cell recognition, Trypanosoma cruzi, Chagas Disease

Chagas disease was discovered by Carlos Chagas in Brazil in 1909 (1). It is caused by the pathogenic protozoan *Trypanosoma cruzi*, member of Trypanosomatidae family, Kinetoplastida order. Chagas disease is recognized by the World Health Organization as one of the main neglected tropical diseases, affecting about 8–15 million individuals in 18 countries in Central and South America, where it is endemic, as well as countries in North America and Europe (2). At least 30 million people are at risk. Public health programs have significantly reduced transmission of Chagas disease, however, blood and organ transplant transmission in non-endemic countries and a growing number of food borne (especially fruit juices) infections still require special attention. In addition, an increase in the rate of infection in the Amazon region has become a challenge for the control of Chagas disease (3).

Trypanosoma cruzi presents a complex life cycle both in the vertebrate and invertebrate hosts, involving dramatic changes in cell shape (4). Its life cycle involves several developmental stages that are known as amastigotes, epimastigotes, and trypomastigotes. The first two stages are able to divide inside and outside host cells, respectively. The trypomastigote and amastigote stages are also able to infect host cells where they multiply, amplifying the number of parasites, and releasing millions of the infective trypomastigote forms in the intercellular spaces.

This thematic issue deals with the ability of *T. cruzi* to penetrate into host cells. In the first article, de Souza and de Carvalho (5) make a review of the concept of active penetration and suggest that T. cruzi always penetrates the host cell through an endocytic process with the formation of a transient parasitophorous vacuole. The second article by Barrias et al. (6) reviews the various mechanisms of endocytosis, which are used by the protozoan to gain access to the intracellular portion of the host cells. These include processes such as classical phagocytosis, participation of membrane rafts, macropinocytosis, and clathrin-mediated endocytosis. In the third article, Calvet et al. (7) analyze in detail the process of interaction of T. cruzi with cardiomyocytes, an important host cell, because in vivo many of the parasite strains have a tropism for the heart. In the fourth article, Tonelli et al. (8) call the attention to the fact that most probably a large number of molecules are involved in the process of protozoan-host cell interaction and discuss the use of more powerful technologies, such as peptide-based phage display and oligonucleotide-based aptamer techniques. Using these approaches, the results obtained by the group highlight the importance of members of the 85-kDa family on the process of interaction. In the fifth article, Freire-de-Lima

et al. (9) point out the relevance of a unique system of sialoglycoproteins and sialyl-binding proteins, which in the case of T. cruzi are represented by trans-sialidases. These proteins are involved in parasite-host cell recognition, infectivity, and survival. The sixth and seventh articles by Nde et al. (10) and Ferreira et al. (11) respectively, analyze the role played by components of the extracellular matrix during the interaction of the trypomastigote and amastigote forms of T. cruzi with the host cells. Infective trypomastigotes up-regulate the expression of laminin-gamma⁻¹ and thrombospondin to facilitate recruitment of parasites to enhance cell infection. The extracellular matrix interactome network seems to be regulated by T. cruzi and its gp 83 ligand. The eighth article by Maeda et al. (12) reviews the cell signaling process that takes place during the interaction of metacyclic trypomastigotes, infective forms found in the invertebrate host, with host cells. Special emphasis is given to intracellular calcium mobilization and the triggering the exocytosis of host cell lysosomes during the interaction process mediated by a surface-expressed parasite glycoprotein of 82 kDa. This process leads to the activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTor), phosphatidylinositol 3kinase, and protein kinase C. The last article, by Scharfstein et al. (13) initially analyses the process by which T. cruzi trypomastigotes elicit an inflammatory edema that stimulates protective type-1 effector cells through the activation of the kallikrein-kinin system, providing a framework to investigate the intertwined proteolytic circuits that couple the anti-parasite immunity to inflammation and fibrosis.

REFERENCES

- Chagas C. Nova tripanozomiase humana. Estudos sobre a morfolojia e o ciclo evolutivo do Schyzotrypanum cruzi n. gen., n. sp., ajente etiolojico de novaentidade mórbida do homem. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz (1909) 1:159–218. doi:10. 1590/S0074-02761909000200008
- Rassi A Jr, Rassi A, de Rezende JM. American Trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease). Infect Dis Clin North Am (2012) 26:275–91. doi:10.1016/j.idc.2012.03.002
- Coura JR, Junqueira AC. Risks of endemicity, morbidity and perspectives regarding the control of Chagas disease in the Amazon region. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* (2012) 107:145–54. doi:10.1590/S0074-02762012000200001
- Rodrigues JC, Godinho JL, de Souza W. Biology of human pathogenic trypanosomatids: epidemiology, life cycle and ultrastructure. *Subcell Biochem* (2014) 74:1–42. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-7305-9_1
- de Souza W, Ulisses de Carvalho TM. Active penetration of Trypanosoma cruzi into host cells: historical considerations and current concepts. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:2. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00002
- Barrias ES, de Carvalho TMU, De Souza W. *Trypanosoma cruzi*: entry into mammalian host cells and parasitophorous vacuole formation. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:186. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00186

- Calvet CM, Melo TG, Garzoni LR, Oliveira FOR Jr., Silva Neto DT, Meirelles MNSL, et al. Current understanding of the Trypanosoma cruzi–cardiomyocyte interaction. *Front Immun* (2012) 3:327. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00327
- Tonelli RR, Colli W, Alves MJM. Selection of binding targets in parasites using phage-display and aptamer libraries *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Front Immun* (2013) 3:419. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00419
- 9. Freire-de-Lima L, Oliveira IA, Neves JL, Penha LL, Alisson-Silva F, Dias WB, et al. Sialic acid: a sweet swing between mammalian host and Trypanosoma cruzi. *Front Immun* (2012) **3**:356. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00356
- Nde PN, Lima MF, Johnson CA, Pratap S, Villalta F. Regulation and use of the extracellular matrix by Trypanosoma cruzi during early infection. *Front Immun* (2012) 3:337. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00337
- Ferreira ÉR, Bonfim-Melo A, Mortara RA, Bahia D. Trypanosoma cruzi extracellular amastigotes and host cell signaling: more pieces to the puzzle. *Front Immun* (2012) 3:363. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00363
- Maeda FY, Cortez C, Yoshida N. Cell signaling during Trypanosoma cruzi invasion. Front Immun (2012) 3:361. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00361
- 13. Scharfstein J, Andrade D, Svensjö E, Oliveira AC, Nascimento CR. The kallikreinkinin system in experimental Chagas disease: a paradigm to investigate the

impact of inflammatory edema on GPCR-mediated pathways of host cell invasion by Trypanosoma cruzi. *Front Immun* (2013) **3**:396. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00396

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 May 2014; accepted: 04 July 2014; published online: 04 August 2014.

Citation: De Souza W (2014) Trypanosoma cruzi–host cell interaction. Front. Immunol. 5:339. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00339

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 De Souza. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Active penetration of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into host cells: historical considerations and current concepts

Wanderley de Souza^{1,2} and Tecia M. Ulisses de Carvalho¹*

¹ Laboratório de Ultraestrutura Celular Hertha Meyer, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil ² Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Qualidade e Tecnologia, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Edited by:

Ricardo T. Gazzinelli, University of Massachusetts Medical School, USA

Reviewed by:

Lynn Soong, The University of Texas Medical Branch, USA Emilio L. Malchiodi, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina

*Correspondence:

Tecia M. Ulisses de Carvalho, Laboratório de Ultraestrutura Celular Hertha Meyer, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, CCS-Bloco G, Ilha do Fundão, 21941-900 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. e-mail: tecia@biof.ufrj.br In the present short review, we analyze past experiments that addressed the interactions of intracellular pathogenic protozoa (*Trypanosoma cruzi, Toxoplasma gondii*, and *Plasmodium*) with host cells and the initial use of the term active penetration to indicate that a protozoan "crossed the host cell membrane, penetrating into the cytoplasm." However, the subsequent use of transmission electron microscopy showed that, for all of the protozoans and cell types examined, endocytosis, classically defined as involving the formation of a membrane-bound vacuole, took place during the interaction process. As a consequence, the recently penetrated parasites are always within a vacuole, designated the parasitophorous vacuole (PV).

Keywords: Trypanosoma cruzi, endocytosis, active penetration, phagocytosis, Chagas disease

INTRODUCTION AND EARLY STUDIES

Investigation of the interactions of Trypanosoma cruzi with host cells became possible after techniques to cultivate this protozoan in tissue culture were developed. The first approach was described by Kofoid et al. (1935), who showed that the protozoan could survive and multiply in cultures of heart cells from mouse and rat embryos. A subsequent study by Romaña and Meyer (1942) using chick embryo heart cell cultures described the behavior of T. cruzi in tissue cultures in detail. Theirs in vitro observations of the interaction process in both living and fixed cultures led the authors to describe two mechanisms of cell infection by the protozoan: active penetration and phagocytosis. In this classic paper, it was stated that "in general, the active penetration was more visible with metacyclic forms that, with their great motility, easily crossed the cell surface, penetrating into the protoplasm of fibroblasts and myocytes." To the best of our knowledge, this is the first reference to the active penetration of parasitic protozoans into cells. Six years later, Meyer and Xavier de Oliveira (1948) published a paper and a small book confirming the initial observations and reported that the parasite "can touch the surface of the host cells without penetration. Occasionally, they adhere to the cell surface and suddenly penetrate into the cell." These observations were more clearly demonstrated in a classic film by H. Meyer and A. Barasa. Part of that film which is kept in our laboratory (founded in 1940 by Hertha Meyer) is available at the site of the Brazilian Society of Protozoology (www.sbpz.org.br). The same basic idea initially proposed by Meyer and colleagues was presented in 1973 by Dvorak and Hyde (Dvorak and Hyde, 1973; Hyde and Dvorak, 1973) based on observations of the interaction of T. cruzi trypomastigotes of the Ernestina strain with secondary bovine embryo skeletal muscle cells (BESM) and HeLa cells obtained through phase contrast microscopy under controlled conditions. The process of cell invasion was described as an active penetration process in which mechanical activity of the protozoan is prevalent, and the parasites penetrate into the cell through the plasma membrane. According to these studies, the parasites enter cells posterior end first.

It is important to note, although it is not the focus of the present review, that the same basic idea of active penetration has also been applied to other protozoans, such as *Toxoplasma gondii* and *Plasmodium*, which were again analyzed first by Nery Guimarães and Meyer (1942) and Dvorak et al. (1975).

SECOND PHASE

One of the authors of this review (WS) joined the Hertha Meyer's laboratory in 1969 and began the first studies addressing the interaction of T. cruzi with chick embryo heart muscle cells and macrophages using electron microscopy. Jim Dvorak visited the laboratory several times between 1972 and 1980, and intense discussions about the concept of active penetration took place at that time. With enthusiasm, Jim defended the idea that T. cruzi and *Plasmodium* are able to generate a transient tunnel-like structure in the host cell plasma membrane that is sealed immediately after parasite internalization, and the parasite then establishes intimate contact with the host cell cytoplasm. Up to this point, electron microscopy had not been used to analyze the parasitic protozoan-host cell interaction process. However, a few images obtained in our laboratory showed that recently penetrated trypomastigotes were not in contact with the myofibers of heart muscle cells but were instead located within a membrane-bound vacuole. These observations were made approximately in 1972 when Nadia Nogueira was being trained to work with T. cruzi in Hertha Meyer's lab. Subsequently, she moved to Rockefeller University in New York, where she started a project in Zanvil Cohn's laboratory analyzing the interaction of T. cruzi with several different cell types, including mouse peritoneal macrophages, HeLa cells, L cells, and calf embryo fibroblasts. During a visit to Dr. Cohn's lab, one of the authors of the present paper (WS) had the opportunity to discuss these electron microscopy images with these investigators, which were subsequently published in a classic paper in 1976 (Nogueira and Cohn, 1976). The images showed clearly that all internalized parasites were initially located in a vacuole, designated the parasitophorous vacuole (PV) following the suggestion of William Trager, who described a vacuole akin to that in Nogueira and Cohn's images in erythrocytes infected by Plasmodium (Langreth and Trager, 1973). Similar observations were made in T. gondii by Jones and Hirsch (1972). Since that time, it has become clear that in all situations examined to date, T. cruzi and certain other intracellular protozoan always penetrate the host cell in a process that is better characterized as an endocytic process, involving the initial formation of aPV. This process takes place independent of the nature of the host cell. Even so-called non-professional phagocytic cells can be penetrated by T. cruzi and T. gondii. The term induced endocytosis or even induced phagocytosis has been used to refer to a process in which the parasite is able to stimulate endocytic activity in the future host cell.

According to Nogueira and Cohn in the case of *T. cruzi*, subsequent to penetration, the parasites leave the PV in a process they described as "escaping" and then enter into direct contact with the host cell cytoplasm. However, a few years later, it was shown (Carvalho and de Souza, 1989) that there is no escaping, but rather, fragmentation of the PV membrane occurs, most likely due to the activity of enzymes secreted by the parasite, as was subsequently shown by Andrews et al. (1990), associated with the complete disappearance of the PV. Taken together, these observations clearly indicate that an endocytic process is always involved during the process of *T. cruzi* internalization into a host cell. The same basic idea can be extended to other intracellular parasitic protozoa.

A NEW CONCEPT OF "ACTIVE PENETRATION"

We had the opportunity to discuss the data described above as well as the results obtained by several groups in Plasmodium and Toxoplasma with Hertha Meyer, James Dvorak, Nadia Nogueira, and Zanvil Cohn, and we reached the conclusion that active penetration, as initially defined, does not exist during the process of parasitic protozoa interacting with host cells. A possible exception is observed during infection of host cells by microsporidians, which include a large number of species initially considered to be protozoans but that have more recently been considered to be fungi based on the presence of a large number of genes that, upon phylogenetic analysis, cluster Microsporida with Fungi (see review by Xu and Weiss, 2005). These organisms present a complex life cycle, and their spores contain a structure known as the polar tube. When one of these organisms attaches to the surface of a host cell, signals activate a process that leads to evagination of a structure known as the polar tube, which then penetrates into the host cell, establishing a type of bridge between the cytoplasm of the spore and the cytoplasm of the host cell. The sporoplasm, which may contain one or two nuclei, then flows through the connecting tube and is transferred to the host cell cytoplasm, where it will develop.

After some discussion, it was concluded that the term active penetration could be used to indicate the fact that the parasite plays an important role in the "induction of the host cell invasion process." Indeed, since the first description of the process, it has been clear that the intense movement of the protozoan, especially due to the flagellar beating process, plays some role. This idea was further analyzed by Schenkman et al. (1991), who showed that maintenance of an active energetic metabolism is fundamental for *T. cruzi* to invade cells, as this process is prevented by treatment of the parasites with 2-deoxy-glucose, an inhibitor of glycolysis, as well as sodium azide, antimycin, and oligomycin, which interfere with the mitochondrial metabolism involved in the synthesis of ATP.

The term active penetration has also been employed from another perspective. Kipnis et al. (1979), for example, used it to describe the penetration of bloodstream trypomastigotes into macrophages in a process that was only partially inhibited by cytochalasin B. At present, we know that this compound does not inhibit all forms of endocytosis.

Therefore, we can conclude that the available data, especially those obtained through transmission electron microscopy of thin sections, clearly show that recently penetrated T. cruzi of both infective and non-infective forms are always located within a PV that interacts with the organelles of the endosomal-lysosomal system during its short existence. This phenomenon occurs in all the cell types examined to date independent of whether they are professional or non-professional phagocytic cells. The formation of the PV involves the induction of a calcium flux into the host cell via the action of a parasite-derived calcium agonist, which is generated through the action of a parasitic oligopeptidase (Caler et al., 1998), as well as the synaptotagmin VII pathway (Caler et al., 2001), the recruitment of lysosomes (Tardieux et al., 1992), and the participation of microtubules (Tyler et al., 2005) and actin filaments (Rosestolato et al., 2002). Recently, Fernandes et al. (2011) showed that T cruzi trypomastigotes mimic the process of wound repair with Ca²⁺-dependent exocytosis of lysosomes by delivering acid sphingomyelinase to the host plasma membrane, facilitating parasite entry into host cells. These aspects of the invasion process have been extensively reviewed in recent years (Hall, 1993; Burleigh and Andrews, 1995; Yoshida, 2006; Alves and Colli, 2007; de Souza et al., 2010; Caradonna and Burleigh, 2011; Butler and Tyler, 2012; Fernandes and Andrews, 2012; Romano et al., 2012).

ENDOCYTOSIS IS A COMPLEX BIOLOGICAL PROCESS

Our present knowledge of the endocytic process shows that it is more complex than previously thought. Indeed, in addition to the classical phagocytic process, there are several ways a cell can ingest extracellular material of variable dimensions. These mechanisms can be either dependent on dynamin, such as the clathrinand caveolin-mediated processes, or independent of dynamin, as occurs during processes including macropinocytosis, and lipid raft-mediated endocytosis. It is likely that other mechanisms will be described in view of the large number of groups attempting to better characterize the endocytic process. As described in another review in this volume (Barrias et al., submitted), *T. cruzi* may use all of these mechanisms to enter host cells. It is possible that the parasite selects the mechanism to be used based on factors such as the nature of the cell and the host cell surface ligand to which

REFERENCES

- Alves, M. J., and Colli, W. (2007). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: adhesion to the host cell and intracellular survival. *IUBMB Life* 59, 274–279.
- Andrews, N. W., Abrams, C. K., Slatin, S. L., and Griffiths, G. (1990). A *T. cruzi*-secreted protein immunologically related to the complement component C9: evidence for membrane pore-forming activity at low pH. *Cell* 61, 1277–1287.
- Burleigh, B. A., and Andrews, N. W. (1995). The mechanisms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of mammalian cells. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 49, 175–209.
- Butler, C. E., and Tyler, K. (2012). Membrane traffic and synaptic crosstalk during host cell entry by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Cell. Microbiol.* 14, 1345–1353.
- Caler, E. V., Vaena de Avalos, S., Haynes, P. A., Andrews, N. W., and Burleigh, B. A. (1998). Oligopeptidase B-dependent signaling mediates host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. EMBO J.* 17, 4975–4986.
- Caler, E. V., Chakrabarti, S., Fowler, K. T., Rao, S., and Andrews, N. W. (2001). The Exocytosis-regulatory protein synaptotagmin VII mediates cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. J. Exp. Med.* 193, 1097–1104.
- Caradonna, K. L., and Burleigh, B. A. (2011). Mechanisms of host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Adv. Parasitol. 76, 33–61.
- Carvalho, T. M., and de Souza, W. (1989). Early events related with the behaviour of *Trypanosoma cruzi* within an endocytic vacuole in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 14, 383–392.
- de Souza, W., de Carvalho, T. M., and Barrias, E. S. (2010). Review on *Trypanosoma cruzi*: host cell interaction. *Int. J. Cell Biol.* 2010, pii: 295394.

- Dvorak, J. A., and Hyde, T. P. (1973). *Trypanosoma cruzi:* interaction with vertebrate cells *in vitro*. I. Individual interactions and the cellular and subcellular levels. *Exp. Parasitol.* 34, 268–283.
- Dvorak, J. A., Miller, L. H., Whitehouse, W. C., and Shiroishi, T. (1975). Invasion of erythrocytes by malaria merozoites. *Science* 187, 748–750.
- Fernandes, M. C., Cortez, M., Flannery, A. R., Tam, C., Mortara, R. A., and Andrews, N. W. (2011). *Trypanosoma cruzi* subverts the sphingomyelinasemediated plasma membrane repair pathway for cell invasion. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 909–921.
- Fernandes, M. C., and Andrews, N. W. (2012). Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: a unique strategy that promotes persistence. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 36, 734–747.
- Jones, T. C., and Hirsch, J. G. (1972). The interaction between *Toxoplasma gondii* and mammalian cells. II. The absence of lysosomal fusion with phagocytic vacuoles containing living parasites. *J. Exp. Med.* 136, 1173– 1194
- Hall, B. F. (1993). Trypanosoma cruzi: mechanisms for entry into host cells. Semin. Cell Biol. 4, 323–333.
- Hyde, T. P., and Dvorak, J. A. (1973). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: interaction with vertebrate cells *in vitro*. II. Quantitative analysis of the penetration phase. *Exp. Parasitol.* 34, 284–294.
- Kofoid, C. A., Wood, F. C., and McNeil, E. (1935). The cycle of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in tissue cultures of embryonic heart muscle. *Univ. Calif. Publ. Zool.* 41, 23–24.
- Kipnis, T. L., Calich, V. L. G., and da Silva, W. D. (1979). Active entry of bloodstream forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into macrophages. *Parasitology* 78, 89–98.

binds. Once the parasite binds to and is recognized by the host cell surface it triggers a process that is better described as an induced endocytosis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the support of CNPq, CAPES, and FAPERJ.

- Langreth, S. G., and Trager, W. (1973). Fine structure of the malaria parasite *Plasmodium lophurae. J. Protozool.* 20, 600–613.
- Meyer, H., and Xavier de Oliveira, M. (1948). Cultivation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in tissue culture: a four year study. *Parasitology* 39, 91–94.
- Nery Guimarães, F., and Meyer, H. (1942). Cultivo de *Toxoplasma*, Nicole & Manceaux, 1909, em culturas de tecidos. *Rev. Bras. Biol.* 2, 123–129.
- Nogueira, N., and Cohn, Z. (1976). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: mechanism of entry and intracellular fate in mammalian cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 143, 1402–1420.
- Romaña, C., and Meyer, H. (1942). Estudo do ciclo evolutivo do Schizotrypanum cruzi em cultura de tecidos de embrião de galinha. Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz 37, 19–27.
- Romano, P. S., Cueto, J. A., Cassassa, A. F., Vanrell, M. C., Gotlieb, R. A., and Colombo, M. I. (2012). Molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in the *Trypanosoma cruzi* host cell interplay. *IUBMB Life* 64, 387–396.
- Rosestolato, C. T., Dutra Jda, M., de Souza, W., and de Carvalho, T. M. (2002). Participation of host cell actin filaments during interaction of trypomastigote forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host cells. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 27, 91–98.
- Schenkman, S., Robbins, E. S., and Nussenzweig, V. (1991). Attachment of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to mammalian cells requires parasite energy, and invasion can be independent of the target cell cytoskeleton. *Infect. Immun.* 59, 645–654.
- Tardieux, I., Webster, P., Ravesloot, J., Boron, W., Lunn, J. A., Heuser, J. E., et al. (1992). Lysosome recruitment and fusion are early events required for trypanosome invasion

of mammalian cells. Cell 71, 1117–1130.

- Tyler, K. M., Luxton, G. W. G., Appewhite, D. A., Murphy, S. C., and Engman, D. (2005). Responsive microtubule dynamics promote cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Cell. *Microbiol.* 7, 1579–1591.
- Yoshida, N. (2006). Molecular basis of mammalian cells invasion by *Try*panosoma cruzi. Ann. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 78, 87–111.
- Xu, Y., and Weiss, L. M. (2005). The microsporidian polar tube: highly specialized invasion organelle. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 35, 941–953.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 27 August 2012; accepted: 02 January 2013; published online: 25 January 2013.

Citation: de Souza W and Ulisses de Carvalho TM (2013) Active penetration of Trypanosoma cruzi into host cells: historical considerations and current concepts. Front. Immun. **4**:2. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00002

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 de Souza and Ulisses de Carvalho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Trypanosoma cruzi: entry into mammalian host cells and parasitophorous vacuole formation

Emile Santos Barrias^{1,2}*, Tecia Maria Ulisses de Carvalho¹* and Wanderley De Souza^{1,2}

¹ Laboratório de Ultraestrutura Celular Hertha Meyer, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil ² Laboratório de Biologia, Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Qualidade e Tecnologia – Inmetro Duque de Caxias, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Edited by:

Abhay Satoskar, The Ohio State University, USA

Reviewed by:

Emilio Luis Malchiodi, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina Ravi Durvasula, University of New Mexico School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Emile Santos Barrias, Laboratório de Biologia, Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Qualidade e Tecnologia, Avenida Nossa Senhora das Graças, 50 Duque de Caxias, Rio de Janeiro 25250-020, Brazil e-mail: esbarrias@inmetro.gov.br; Tecia Maria Ulisses de Carvalho, Laboratório de Ultratestrutura Celular Hertha Meyer, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Avenida Carlos Chagas Filho, Cidade Universitária, Rio de Janeiro 21941-902, Brazil

Trypanosoma cruzi, the causative agent of Chagas disease, is transmitted to vertebrate hosts by blood-sucking insects. This protozoan is an obligate intracellular parasite. The infective forms of the parasite are the metacyclic trypomastigotes, amastigotes, and bloodstream trypomastigotes. The recognition between the parasite and mammalian host cell, involves numerous molecules present in both cell types, and similar to several intracellular pathogens, T. cruzi is internalized by host cells via multiple endocytic pathways. Morphological studies demonstrated that after the interaction of the infective forms of T. cruzi with phagocytic or non-phagocytic cell types, plasma membrane (PM) protrusions can form, showing similarity with those observed during canonical phagocytosis or macropinocytic events. Additionally, several molecules known to be molecular markers of membrane rafts, macropinocytosis, and phagocytosis have been demonstrated to be present at the invasion site. These events may or may not depend on the host cell lysosomes and cytoskeleton. In addition, after penetration, components of the host endosomal-lysosomal system, such as early endosomes, late endosomes, and lysosomes, participate in the formation of the nascent parasitophorous vacuole (PV). Dynamin, a molecule involved in vesicle formation, has been shown to be involved in the PV release from the host cell PM. This review focuses on the multiple pathways that T. cruzi can use to enter the host cells until complete PV formation. We will describe different endocytic processes, such as phagocytosis, macropinocytosis, and endocytosis using membrane microdomains and clathrin-dependent endocytosis and show results that are consistent with their use by this smart parasite. We will also discuss others mechanisms that have been described, such as active penetration and the process that takes advantage of cell membrane wound repair.

Keywords: Trypanosoma cruzi, mammalian cell, endocytosis, phagocytosis, active penetration, host cell, interaction

INTRODUCTION

e-mail: tecia@biof.ufrj.br

Trypanosoma cruzi, the causative agent of Chagas disease, is an obligatory intracellular parasite that belongs to the Kinetoplastida order, and it is recognized by the WHO as one of the world's 13 neglected tropical diseases, affecting 16 million people in Latin America. After the initial infection by the parasite, some patients can develop acute signs and symptoms, including fever, hepatosplenomegaly, and inflammatory reactions. These acute symptoms can be spontaneously resolved. However, the majority of patients are asymptomatic. After the acute phase, a symptomatic chronic form can develop 10-20 years after the initial infection, causing irreversible damage to the heart, esophagus, and colon, with severe disorders of nerve conduction in these organs. Therefore, Chagas disease is characterized as a chronic, systemic, and endemic disease affecting approximately 16 million in Latin America (1) and is considered the major parasitic disease burden of the American continent (2). This parasite presents a complex life cycle that occurs in both vertebrate and invertebrate hosts, where three major developmental stages are observed: epimastigotes, trypomastigotes, and amastigotes. The infective forms of T. *cruzi* (amastigotes and trypomastigotes) are able to infect a wide

range of nucleated mammalian cells. The intracellular cycle can be divided into several steps and begins when the infective forms attach and are recognized by the host's cell surface (3). Then, cell signaling processes lead to the internalization of the parasite in a process that involves the formation of an endocytic vacuole known as the PV. This review will focus on several processes that have been shown to be involved in the internalization of *T. cruzi*, such as phagocytosis, active entry, endocytosis dependent on membrane microdomains (flotillin- and caveolin-dependent), endocytosis mediated by clathrin and macropinocytosis (**Figure 1**).

RECOGNITION BETWEEN *TRYPANOSOMA CRUZI* AND THE MAMMALIAN HOST CELL: A MECHANISM DEPENDENT ON RECEPTORS AND LIGANDS

Classically, the interaction between host cells and *T. cruzi* has been divided into two different steps: adhesion (which includes recognition and signaling) and internalization (3). The internalization process is described as occurring through several pathways that resemble endocytic mechanisms. These two steps are easily distinguished because interactions performed at 4°C do not allow parasite internalization and the parasites remain attached to the



host cell plasma membrane (PM), suggesting that the internalization process only occurs at higher temperatures (higher than 18°C) (4). Endocytic mechanisms control the lipid and protein composition of the PM, thereby regulating how cells interact with their environments (5). Endocytosis creates an essential interface between eukaryotic cells and their surroundings through the formation, budding, and maturation of PM-derived intermediates. That endocytosis comprises a sophisticated array of different pathways is now widely accepted (6). Mechanisms involved in cellular uptake are important for different processes in a wide variety of cell types. Classically, these mechanisms can be classified into a number of clathrin-independent pathways as well as clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME), caveolae, phagocytosis, macropinocytosis, and circular dorsal ruffles (5). Additionally, pathogens often exploit endocytic routes to mediate their internalization into cells (7, 8). Although several studies have been conducted in the field of pathogen and host cell interactions, the molecular mechanisms, including the types of endocytic pathways and the proteins involved in cargo recruitment and internalization, are not completely clear (7). Actually, endocytic pathways start with the recognition between the molecules present and exposed on the cell surface and the product that will be internalized (7). Several T. cruzi molecules have been described as being involved in the process of invasion. One class of these molecules is the mucins, which are major T. cruzi surface glycoproteins (7). Many mucins have been reported as T. cruzi ligands because their sugar residues interact with mammalian host cells (9-12). Other T. cruzi molecules involved in adhesion are trans-sialidases (active and inactive) and glycoproteins (gp82, gp80, gp35/50, and gp85) (13). With respect to the mammalian host cell, any class of molecules exposed on the host cell surface is believed to have the potential to be a T. cruzi receptor ligand. Most of the characterized receptor classes are carbohydrates that contain galactosyl, mannosyl, and sialyl residues (3, 14-19) and lectin-like proteins, such as galectin 3 that bind to carbohydrate residues present on the parasite surface (20–22). Some lectins, as mannose binding lectin, are involved in a humoral pattern-recognition molecule important for host defense. In the case of Chagas' disease this lectin is involved in regulating host resistance and cardiac inflammation during infection (23). Other molecules that function as receptors is possibly involved in the pathogenesis of Chagas' disease are endothelin 1 and bradikinin receptors. They are used by tripomastigotes to

invade cardiovascular cells leading to a chagasic vasculopathy (24). Cytokeratin 18, fibronectin, laminin, and integrins are also receptor molecules because the Tc85 present on the trypomastigote surface has motifs that bind to these molecules, making a bridge between the parasite and the host cell (**Figure 2**) (25–27). We will not describe all the putative molecules involved in *T. cruzi*-host cell interactions because this topic has been discussed in recent reviews (3, 28) and will be covered by other authors in this issue.

PHAGOCYTOSIS

The process known as phagocytosis is a key mechanism of the innate immune response in which macrophages, dendritic cells, and other myeloid phagocytes internalize diverse microorganisms, dead or dying cells, and debris (29). Phagocytosis is an actin-dependent process that can be triggered by several types of ligands and receptors, leading to particle internalization (30). These receptors, called "pattern-recognition receptors" by Janneway (31) because of their capability to recognize pathogens, are present on the entire surface of phagocytic cells and are known as Fc receptors, complement receptors, scavenger receptors, mannose receptors, and receptors for extracellular matrix components (32). Accordingly, a classical zipper type of phagocytosis was described in addition to several unconventional phagocytic routes. In the classical zipper model, after the attachment of a pathogen to the receptor present on the host cell PM, bilateral protrusions extending from the host cell PM engulf the pathogen until a vacuole

(completed sealed) is formed. Frequently, this type of phagocytosis occurs after some ligand binds to the Fc receptors or CR receptors (33). Unconventional methods of phagocytosis can be shared among three different groups according to the morphological features. The first is triggered phagocytosis, in which abundant membrane ruffles eventually enclose a spacious vacuole containing the microorganism to be ingested. This mechanism, frequently referred to as triggered macropinocytosis, is commonly driven by entero-invasive bacteria and requires a secretion of a type 3 bacteria protein complex that is responsible for translocating bacterial proteins into the host cells (34). Another unconventional mechanism is overlapping phagocytosis, which is morphologically described as forming pseudopods that do not fuse but slide past each other, resulting in pseudopod stacks to which lateral pseudopods are added. Coiling phagocytosis is characterized by the extension of unilateral pseudopods that rotate around the pathogens. Both overlapping and coiling phagocytosis are predominantly observed in professional phagocytic cells, indicating that this process is driven by the host cell (32). The signaling triggered by the pathogen varies depending on the nature of the receptors used. Basically, exposure to multivalent ligands induces clustering of these receptors in the plane of the membrane, initiating the phosphorylation of some tyrosine kinases. The remodeling of actin is unambiguously required for pseudopod extension, and in the case of FcyR, polymerization is driven by Rac1 and/or Rac2 and Cdc 42. Additionally, phosphoinositides provide an



important contribution to actin remodeling during phagocytosis. Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate and phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-participate in actin assembly, driving pseudopod formation. The conversion to phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate is required for pseudopod extension and phagosomal closure. Phospholipases A and D have been considered essential to phagosome formation (35). With respect to the *T. cruzi* entry process, Nogueira and Cohn (36) were the first to propose that trypomastigotes enter peritoneal macrophages, L929, HeLa cell line and calf embryo fibroblasts by a phagocytic process because the treatment of these host cells with cytochalasin B (a drug that blocks the extension of actin filaments) inhibited the parasite internalization. Using cardiac muscle cells, Barbosa and Meirelles (37) demonstrated by transmission electron microscopy that trypomastigotes bind and induce a typical phagocytic process with host cell pseudopod extensions. These studies suggested the participation of endocytic mechanisms in both professional and non-professional phagocytes. In 1991, Hall et al. (38), using a macrophage cell line, described that the PV containing trypomastigotes presents CR3 receptors, \u03b31 integrin, lysosomal membrane glycoproteins (lgp), and Fc receptors (the last only appears if trypomastigotes were previously opsonized). These results supported the hypothesis that T. cruzi can enter the host cell, mainly in macrophages, by phagocytosis. The recognition of Toll-like receptors 2 by trypomastigotes is also capable of inducing a phagocytic process (39) and initiating an inflammatory pathway. Additionally, several groups demonstrated the presence of PM components at the PV membrane, such as galactosyl and glycoconjugate residues (40) and sialoconjugates (41). Several signaling pathways are triggered by phagosome formation and are not different from those involved in the formation of the PV. In professional phagocytes, the activation of tyrosine kinase proteins during the initial contact with trypomastigotes was observed, followed by the recruitment of PI 3-kinase, which culminates in the polymerization of actin microfilaments and pseudopod extension. The participation of tyrosine kinases was demonstrated by Vieira et al. (42) using peritoneal macrophages treated with kinase inhibitors, such as genistein and staurosporine and this group suggested that the main process of trypomastigote entry was by phagocytosis. The participation of Rac1, Rho, and Cdc42 was also observed and will be discussed later. Currently, with new tools to study the endocytic types, the signaling pathways, and cellular components that are involved in different phagocytic mechanisms are being elucidated (macropinocytosis, CME, and participation of membrane microdomains) (5). In relation to amastigote the infection of mammalian cells seems be different when using and comparing different strains. While amastigotes from the T. cruzi I lineage (G strain) appears to induce phagocytosis by non-phagocytic cells (43, 44), amastigote from T. cruzi II as Y strain is largely phagocytized by macrophages, and occasionally by other cell types (43, 45). The amastigotes' ability to induce phagocytosis was first demonstrated through cytochalasin D host cell's treatment, where Procópio and colleagues (46) observed a drastic reduction of amastigotes penetration after actin polymerization inhibition. The analysis of the interaction type using these new approaches indicates that events initially described as phagocytosis may correspond to other endocytic pathways. The morphological analysis of the initial steps of T. cruzi invasion (trypomastigotes or amastigotes) using transmission and scanning electron microscopies revealed that this protozoan uses different mechanisms to invade host cells given that a wide type of morphological events can be observed when they are allowed to interact with the host cells. Using field emission scanning electron microscopy, we showed that even after a short interaction time, trypomastigotes, and amastigotes are ingested by peritoneal macrophages and by non-professional phagocytic cells (LLC-MK₂). The macrophage PM can tightly recover T. cruzi, forming a funnel-like structure with bilateral projections of the host cell PM to internalize the parasites in a process described as a classical phagocytosis pathway, forming a long, large protrusion that recovers the parasite body, as characterized in the initial step of trigger phagocytosis (or macropinocytosis), or even forming a structure described as a coiled-coil phagosome in which the host cell PM forms coiled-coil projections (Figure 3) (47).

AUTOPHAGY AS AN INDUCTOR OF AUTOPHAGOSOME FORMATION

Phagosomes can also form inside cells in a process described as autophagy. Autophagy is a self-degradative process involved in developmental regulation, the response to nutrient stress, and the clearance of damaged proteins and organelles and plays an important role in balancing sources of energy at critical times in development and in response to nutrient stress (48). Autophagy also plays a housekeeping role in removing misfolded or aggregated proteins, clearing damaged organelles, and eliminating intracellular pathogens (48). Indeed, during autophagy, intracellular membranes engulf organelles and cytoplasmic debris, and this process can be used to engulf intracellular microorganisms into a phagosome (called an autophagosome in the case of autophagy). The intracellular machinery involved in this process is complex, involving several classes of proteins, including Atg proteins (proteins related to autophagy) (49). Currently, more than 32 genes for Atg proteins have been described in mammals (49). The formation



FIGURE 3 | Field emission scanning electron microscopy of the interaction between peritoneal macrophages and *T. cruzi*. (A) *T. cruzi* was partially tightly recovered by the macrophage plasma membrane (PM) in a process described as phagocytosis. (B) *T. cruzi* flagella recovered by host cell PM in a process described as coiled phagocytosis. Bars = 1 μ m [After Ref. (47)].

of double membrane autophagosomes also requires the activation of the mTOR protein (mammalian target of rapamycin protein) and recruitment of microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 (LC3B) and lysosome (49). This mechanism can be induced by starvation or by the use of rapamycin (which activates the mTOR pathway). Romano and colleagues (50) demonstrated that both treatments are capable of reducing the internalization of *T. cruzi* into host cells and that the PV is labeled with LC3B, a molecular marker of the autophagy pathway. Martins et al. (51) showed that treating host cells with rapamycin impairs the binding of *T. cruzi* gp82 to the host cell. This surface molecule is required for adhesion and is one molecule described to be responsible for the exocytosis of lysosomes that can lead to trypomastigote internalization (51).

MEMBRANE RAFTS: ENDOCYTOSIS DEPENDENT ON CAVEOLIN OR FLOTILLIN

Due to their characteristic shape, caveolae have long been thought to be dynamic endocytic structures (52). In the case of mammalian cells, basically three different types of caveolin proteins are present: caveolin 1, caveolin 2, and caveolin 3 (52). Caveolin 1 and caveolin 2 are found in almost all cell types (excluding neurons and leukocytes, which do not present caveoles), and caveolin 3 mainly found in muscle cells (52). Each caveolae presents approximately 200 caveolin 1 molecules, and caveolae biogenesis is completely dependent on this protein (52). Based on this information, caveolin 1 is known to be the main caveolae marker. Caveolin 1 is also capable of binding to the GM1 ganglioside and to some GPIanchored proteins. Cholesterol is another component of caveolae, and its depletion has been shown to promote the disorganization of the caveolar structure (53). The raft-associated proteins, flotillin 1 and flotillin 2, are also reported to play a role in endocytosis. Flotillin proteins show homology with caveolin 1, thus suggesting participation in lipid ordering (5, 54, 55). The domains that contain flotillins are morphologically distinct from caveolae because they display a flattened shape, whereas caveolae are spherical. However, both are enriched in cholesterol, GM1 and GPI-anchored proteins (55).

The host cell PM microdomains have been shown to be involved in T. cruzi entry in both non-phagocytic and phagocytic cells (56-58). Fernandes et al. (56) and Barrias et al. (57) showed that cholesterol, the major component of membrane rafts, is involved in the T. cruzi entry process because the treatment of the host cells with drugs that remove or immobilize this component, such as beta cyclodextrin and filipin, impairs parasite internalization. We do not know yet if cholesterol is a direct participant in this recognition process or if the alterations caused by its removal or immobilization lead to membrane composition alterations that hide or remove receptors involved in this important process. Previously, Hissa et al. (58) showed that cholesterol depletion reduces T. cruzi penetration because lysosome exocytosis became unregulated after this treatment, impairing the release of acid sphingomyelinase from the lysosome, which induces endocytosis. During parasite internalization by the host cell, molecular markers of both types of membrane rafts, such as flotillin 1, caveolin 1, and GM1, were observed at the parasite-host cell PM interface (Figure 4) (57). These suggest the participation of microdomains in T. cruzi internalization by the host cells.

MACROPINOCYTOSIS AS ANOTHER ROUTE TO *T. CRUZI* PENETRATION

Macropinocytosis represents a regulated form of endocytosis that mediates the non-selective uptake of solute molecules, nutrients, antigens, and some pathogens, such as viruses. This process of endocytosis was originally described as involving the assembly of large extensions of the PM (59). The molecular basis for the formation and maturation of macropinosomes has only recently begun to be defined. Macropinocytic events may begin with external stimuli that trigger the activation of tyrosine kinase receptors, inducing changes in the dynamics of actin filaments, which then leads to PM ruffling. The Ras GTPase superfamily plays an important function in the activation process (60). After activation of the tyrosine kinase receptor, three different signaling pathways are triggered, involving the proteins Rac1, Rabankvrin 5 (an effector of Rab5 protein), Arf6, PI3K, and p21-activated kinase Pak1 (activates Rac1) (61). Rabankyrin 5 has been used as a molecular marker to distinguish macropinosomes from other endocytic compartments (61). In addition, this mechanism is also characterized by the actin-dependent reorganization of the PM to form macropinosomes, which are morphologically heterogenic vesicles that lack coat structures. Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers have also been described to play an important role in the maintenance of a macropinocytic event. Indeed, drugs that inhibit these exchangers, such as amiloride and EIPA, are widely used to characterize macropinocytosis (60). Although PI3K, Rac, and Cdc 42 have already been described as proteins involved in T. cruzi entry into different cell types, Barrias and colleagues (62) recently showed, for the first time, the participation of this pathway in the internalization of trypomastigotes and amastigotes of T. cruzi into phagocytic and non-phagocytic cell types. The intense inhibition of the parasite internalization process occurred when the host cells were pre-treated with amiloride (an inhibitor of Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers) or with rottlerin (an inhibitor of PKC). Host cell treatment with PMA, a stimulator of macropinocytosis caused by PKC stimulation, promotes an increase in parasite internalization. The recruitment of phosphorylated proteins, actin, and Rabankyrin 5 to the site of parasite entry and the characteristic morphology of this process, as shown by fluorescence microscopy, support the view that macropinocytosis is another process used by T. cruzi to penetrate host cells (Figure 5) (62). Morphologically, the entry of trypomastigotes and amastigotes in peritoneal macrophages closely resembles the process described for macropinocytosis, where there are extensive unilateral extensions of the PM that result in a loose vacuole around the parasite (62).

CLATHRIN-MEDIATED ENDOCYTOSIS

Clathrin-coated vesicles are formed during receptor-mediated endocytosis and organelle biogenesis at the trans-Golgi network (5). The clathrin coat itself is formed by the self-assembly of triskelion-shaped molecules composed of three clathrin heavy chains and associated clathrin light chain subunits (63). The diversity of the cargo and diversity of the adaptor and accessory proteins used to implement vesicle formation reflect the pathways' adaptations to tools suited to the materials being packaged. Some well-known cargoes that use CME are tyrosine receptor kinase, GPCRs, transferrin receptor, LDL receptors, and anthrax toxin



FIGURE 4 | Immunofluorescence microscopy localization of GM1 (A–D) and flotillin 1 (E,F) during internalization of *T. cruzi* by macrophages suggests the participation of membrane microdomains in this process. (A–D) Co-localization of GM1, using cholera toxin subunit B (A) and an intracellular parasite (C: arrow). (B) Shows labeling of the nucleus and kinetoplast with propidium iodide. Corresponds to a DIC image; (D) is a merge image. (E,F) Co-localization of flotillin 1 (A), detected using a specific antibody, and trypomastigotes (B: arrows). Bars – $5 \,\mu$ m. After Ref. (57).



FIGURE 5 | *T. cruzi* co-localizes with rabankyrin 5 and actin. (A) Phase contrast; (B) rabankyrin 5-Alexa 488; (C) phalloidin-Alexa 546; (D) merge (rabankyrin 5, phalloidin, and DAPI). Arrow indicate trypomastigotes, white arrowhead indicates rabankirin labeling around parasites and blue arrowhead indicates host cell actin around parasites. After Ref. (62).

(64). Clathrin is also required for the internalization of large structures, such as bacteria (65), fungi hyphae (66), and large viruses (67), in a process that involves cooperation with actin. Recently, Nagajyotic and colleagues (68) demonstrated that the low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLr) is important in the invasion and subsequent fusion of the PV containing *T*. cruzi with host cell lysosomes, thus suggesting the participation of clathrin-coated pits in parasite internalization because LDL receptors are concentrated in this vesicle. This demonstration was performed using an antibody against the clathrin light chain by immunofluorescence. Although this labeling was clearly observed around the

vacuole, further studies should be conducted to demonstrate that the labeling is actually clathrin from the endocytic-coated vesicles and not from another cell site.

ENDO-LYSOSOME PARTICIPATION IN T. CRUZI INVASION

After the cargo binds to mammalian cell receptors and its internalization by different endocytic pathways culminating in the activation of many signaling events, the cargo is delivered to heterogeneous organelles known as early endosomes. These organelles are usually complex presenting long thin tubules connected to bulbous or vacuolar elements and pH 6.5-6.0. Early endosomes contain molecular markers, such as the Rab5 and EEA1 proteins ("early endosome antigen"), in their membranes. The tubules are responsible for molecular sorting and vesicle transport to the endoplasmic reticulum, PM, trans-Golgi network, and other destinations (69). This organelle loss tubular elements and matures, transforming in a late endosome. The maturation is marked by the switch of molecular marker Rab5 to Rab7 (70). The late endosome displays a vesicular appearance and moves through cellular microtubules in the minus direction, allowing it to occupy a perinuclear position. In addition to Rab7, late endosomes present Rab9, Cd63, and the mannose-6 phosphate receptor (70). The Lamp1 and Lamp2 proteins, which protect the organelle from acid hydrolases, are acquired during this maturation process through fusion with the lysosome in a coordinating system that culminates in an organelle containing many vesicles inside (multivesicular bodies) and with a low pH range (4.5-5.0). The participation of early and late endosomes in the T. cruzi-host cell interaction was first characterized by Wilkowsky and colleagues (71) when they demonstrated the recruitment of Rab5 and Rab7 to the PV containing the protozoan. Woolsey et al. (72), using a short interaction time between T. cruzi and non-professional phagocytic cells, showed that 50% or more of the invading T. cruzi trypomastigotes use the host cell PM during the PV formation. They suggested that

this process was facilitated by host cell actin depolymerization and showed that this vacuole is enriched in products from PI 3-kinase and that it is negative for lysosomal markers. Approximately 20% of T. cruzi-containing vacuoles were positive for EEA1 and Rab 5, and approximately 20% were positive for Lamp1, a lysosome marker. Since 1994 (73), the exocytosis of lysosomes to the parasite site of entry has been described as playing an important role in parasite entry. Lysosomes are placed in the path of the host cell PM along microtubules in a kinesin-dependent method (74). They fuse with the PM in a Ca^{2+} -dependent process (75). This process was described as the unique way the parasite used to enter and be kept inside the host cell. However, this process was subsequently shown to represent only approximately 20% of the parasite entrance, and a lysosome-independent process was described to account for approximately 50% of the parasite internalization process. In addition, in approximately 20% of the internalized parasite, there was participation of the early endosomes, as recognized by EEA1 labeling 10 min post-infection (72). They also described that the PV vacuole containing T. cruzi was observed labeled with the lysosome associated protein 1 (LAMP1) as well as with endocytic tracer from pre-labeled lysosomes. These results showed that the lysosome pathway was not the only one that presents fusion with lysosomes. Barr et al. (76) showed that an unusual 120-kDa alkaline peptidase (TSF) from a soluble fraction of T. cruzi induces repetitive calcium transients in primary isolated cardiac myocytes from dogs. Using thapsigargin, they also showed that Ca²⁺ depletion from intracellular stores, such as the sarcoplasmic reticulum, is able to inhibit Ca²⁺ transients and trypomastigote invasion. The authors also described that "the Ca²⁺ transients are dependent on release of Ca²⁺ from sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ stores, but this release in not dependent on extracellular Ca²⁺ or on the classic model of Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release in cardiac myocytes." In 1999, Meirelles et al. (77) also described that the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase (SERCA) participates in trypomastigote invasion into cardiomyocytes because thapsigargin inhibits 75% of this process. Recently, Fernandes et al. (78) showed that the entry of T. cruzi trypomastigotes into the host cell wounds the host cell PM by inducing a process of wound repair using Ca²⁺dependent exocytosis of lysosomes. The lysosome exocytosis was triggered by an increase in calcium influx, derived from the extracellular space, which enters the host cell as soon as the PM is wounded. The wound repair of the host cell PM was performed with the lysosomal delivery of acid sphingomyelinase to the host PM and formation of endosomes enriched in ceramide, processes that facilitate parasite entry into the host cell (78). Besides, this mechanism may be involved with the tropism of T. cruzi for cardic cells since membrane repair is common in muscle cells, explaining part of the Chagas' disease pathology (78).

ACTIN CYTOSKELETON

The participation of the actin cytoskeleton during the initial step of the invasion has, until now, been under debate. The participation of the actin cytoskeleton in *T. cruzi* entry has been suggested since 1976 when Dvorak and colleagues (79) treated different host cells with cytochalasin B and demonstrated unequivocally that the internalization of trypomastigotes was impaired. Rosestolato et al.

(80), using different host cells (professional and non-professional phagocytic cells) previously treated with cytochalasin D (CD) and then allowed to interact with the cell culture trypomastigote forms, also showed a drastic reduction of the parasites inside the host cells (81). Additionally, Barbosa and Meirelles (37), using heart muscle cells, clearly showed the evident participation of the actin cytoskeleton during T. cruzi invasion. In 2004, Woolsey and Burleigh (72) showed that actin depolymerization by cytochalasin D enhances parasite entry into the host cell at an early step and also blocks lysosome or early endosome fusion at the site of parasite entry. They also described, using NIH-3T3 fibroblasts expressing dominant-negative Rho, that after 15 min of infection, that there were three times more parasites inside than in the control cells but that the number of intracellular parasites drastically decreased until 1 h. They suggested that a cell with continuous actin cytoskeleton alterations was not able to retain the parasites inside the cell, showing the importance of actin polymerization and depolymerization on the interaction process. Our group showed (82) that cells overexpressing Rac 1 exhibited a higher internalization index for T. cruzi compared with normal cells. However, after 48 h, a reduced number of parasites were observed. Notably, these different results can be explained by different host cell treatments, whether the cells were washed after the incubation with cytochalasin, the interaction time after the drug treatment, the nature of the parasite strain, and other considerations. We also believe that despite the contradictory results, all these papers contribute to a better understanding of the complex process of the T. cruzi-host cell interaction and that it is not good scientific practice to neglect a thorough discussion of all published results, as frequently happens.

During the initial moments of the interaction process with *T. cruzi* trypomastigotes, the host cell transient calcium increase has been reported (73–76). Host cells treated with thapsigargin, an inhibitor of endoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} -ATPase (83) that reduces parasite entry into the host cell (84), showed the participation of the intracellular calcium store in this process and its involvement in lysosome exocytosis.

PARASITOPHOROUS VACUOLE' CLOSURE

In mammalian cells, several molecules that selectively regulate the assembly of an endocytic vacuole have been identified. Among them, dynamin has been shown to play a major role in processes such as CME, synaptic vesicle recycling, phagocytosis, transport from the trans-Golgi network, and ligand uptake through caveolae (85). Dynamin is a GTPase family comprising three isoforms: dynamins 1, 2, and 3 (86). One protein class that interacts with dynamin is phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) (87). Dynamin interacts with the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K, and this interaction stimulates the GTPase activity of dynamin. Gold and colleagues (88) reported that the inhibition of PI3K prevents the recruitment of dynamin 2 to the site of particle binding, suggesting that in phagocytosis, the activation of PI3K is upstream of dynamin. According to some models, dynamin is a mechanochemical enzyme that is directly responsible for pinching off the vesicle (86). Other authors consider that dynamin is a regulatory protein that recruits the downstream partner, which, in turn, drives the fission step (87, 89). Using dominant-negative dynamin (K44A) HeLa cells, Wilkowsky and colleagues (71) showed that dynamin is involved in the invasion of *T. cruzi* in non-phagocytic host cells. Subsequently, Barrias et al. (62) showed that the GTPase activity of this protein is important for the fission of PVs in both phagocytic and non-phagocytic cell lines through the use of dynasore, which has the ability to block the GTPase activity of dynamin, acting as a potent inhibitor of endocytic pathways by blocking coated vesicle formation within seconds of its addition.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

More than 100 years after Carlos Chagas' discovery about *T. cruzi* and Chagas' disease, we still have many important gaps in the knowledge of the basic aspects of the protozoan biology and its interaction with host cells. It is now clear that the parasite uses several surface-associated molecules to interact with a not yet completely defined set of macromolecules exposed on the host cell surface. We also now know that several internalization processes are triggered following the parasite ligand-host cell receptor interactions. However, we still do not know which

REFERENCES

- Rassi A Jr, Rassi A, Marcondes de Rezende J. American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease). *Infect Dis Clin North Am* (2012) 26(2):275–91. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2012.03.002
- Rassi A Jr, Rassi A, Marin-Neto JA. Chagas disease. *Lancet* (2010) 375(9723):1388–402. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)60061-X
- De Souza W, de Carvalho TM, Barrias ES. Review on *Trypanosoma cruzi*: host cell interaction. *Int J Cell Biol* (2010) 2010:295394. doi: 10.1155/2010/295394
- De Meirelles MNL, Araújo Jorge TC, De Souza W. Interaction of *Try*panosoma cruzi with macrophages in vitro: dissociation of the attachment and internalization phases by low temperature and cytochalasin B. Z Parasitenkd (1982) 68(1):7–14. doi:10.1007/BF00926652
- Doherty GJ, McMahon HT. Mechanisms of endocytosis. Annu Rev Biochem (2009) 78:857–902. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.78. 081307.110540
- Howes MT, Mayor S, Parton RG. Molecules, mechanisms, and cellular roles of clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2010) 22(4):519–27. doi:10.1016/j. ceb.2010.04.001
- Sibley LD, Andrews NW. Cell invasion by un-palatable parasites. *Traffic* (2000) 1(2):100–6. doi:10.1034/ j.1600-0854.2000.010202.x
- Coombes JL, Robey EA. Dynamic imaging of host-pathogen interactions in vivo. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10(5):353–64. doi:10.1038/ nri2746

- Villalta F, Kierszenbaum F. Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: role of cell surface galactose residues. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1984) 119(1):228–35. doi:10.1016/ 0006-291X(84)91642-5
- Yoshida N, Mortara RA, Araguth MF, Gonzalez JC, Russo M. Metacyclic neutralizing effect of monoclonal antibody 10D8 directed to the 35- and 50-kilodalton surface glycoconjugates of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect Immun* (1989) 57(6):1663–7.
- Di Noia JM, Sanchez DO, Frasch ACC. The protozoan *Trypanosoma cruzi* has a family of genes resembling the mucin genes of mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270(41):24146–9. doi:10.1074/jbc. 270.41.24146
- Buscaglia CA, Campo VA, Frasch AC, DiNoia JM. *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface mucins: host-dependent coat diversity. *Nat Rev Microb* (2006) 4(3):229–36. doi:10.1038/ nrmicro1351
- Schenkman S, Diaz C, Nussenzweig V. Attachment of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes to receptors at restricted cell surface domains. *Exp Parasitol* (1991) **72**(1):76–86. doi: 10.1016/0014-4894(91)90123-E
- Alves MJ, Colli W. Role of the gp85/trans-sialidase superfamily of glycoproteins in the interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host structures. *Subcell Biochem* (2008) 47:58–69. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-78267-6_4
- Abuin G, Colli W, De Souza W, Alves MJM. A surface antigen of *Trypanosoma cruzi* involved in cell

ligand-receptor complex triggers each of the types of internalization. New methods and approaches are necessary to better understand the parasite-host cell interaction process. The use of parasite molecules to recover latex beads and their use to interact with host cells may provide new information as to how different parasite molecules could act in the parasite-host cell junction. Unfortunately, neither gene knock-out nor gene silencing is effective with T. cruzi. The use of other methodologies, such as high-throughput technology, gene knock-out of host cell molecules by RNAi and microarray platforms, can provide new insights into this fascinating field of research. Altogether, it is clear that now we have much more information on the process of interaction of T. cruzi with host cells, especially the various mechanisms the parasite uses to penetrate into host cells. It is now important to identify the key molecules involved on each process and develop drugs able to inhibit the infection of the cells by the parasite, opening a new approach to the treatment of the acute phase of Chagas disease, where amplification of the infection through successive invasion of the cells plays a fundamental role.

invasion (Tc-85) is heterogeneous in expression and molecular constitution. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* (1989) **35**(3):229–37. doi:10.1016/ 0166-6851(89)90209-0

- Andrews NW, Katzin AM, Colli W. Mapping of surface glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi* by two dimensional electrophoresis. A correlation with the cell invasion capacity. *Eur J Biochem* (1984) **140**(3):599– 604. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1984. tb08144.x
- Araya JE, Cano MI, Yoshida N, Da Silveira JF. Cloning and characterization of a gene for the stagespecific 82-kDa surface antigen of metacyclic trypomastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* (1984) **65**(1):161–9. doi:10. 1016/0166-6851(94)90124-4
- Previato JO, Andrade AFB, Pessolani MCV, Mendonça-Previato L. Incorporation of sialic acid into *Trypanosoma cruzi* macromolecules. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* (1985) 16(1):85–96. doi:10.1016/0166-6851(85)90051-9
- Tomlinson S, Pontes De Carvalho LC, Vandekerckhove F, Nussenzweig V. Role of sialic acid in the resistance of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes to complement. *J Immunol* (1994) 153(7):3141–7.
- Moody TN, Ochieng J, Villalta
 F. Novel mechanism that *Try-panosoma cruzi* uses to adhere to the extracellular matrix mediated by human galectin-3. *FEBS Lett* (2000) **470**(3):305–8. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(00)01347-8
- 21. Vray B, Camby I, Vercruysse V, Mijatovic T, Bovin NV,

Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, et al. Up-regulation of galectin-3 and its ligands by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection with modulation of adhesion and migration of murine dendritic cells. *Glycobiology* (2004) **14**(7):647–57. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwh068

- Kleshchenko YY, Moody TN, Furtak VA, Ochieng J, Lima MF, Villalta F. Human galectin-3 promotes *Trypanosoma cruzi* adhesion to human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Infect Immun* (2004) 72(11):6717–21. doi:10.1128/IAI. 72.11.6717-6721.2004
- 23. Rothfuchs AG, Roffê E, Gibson A, Cheever AW, Ezekowitz AB, Takahashi K, et al. Mannosebinding lectin regulates host resistance and pathology durexperimental infection ing with Trypanosoma cruzi. PLoS ONE (2012) 7(11):e47835. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047835
- 24. Andrade D, Serra R, Svensjö E, Lima APC, Ramos Junior ES, Fortes FS, et al. *Trypanosoma cruzi* invades host cells through the activation of endothelin and bradykinin receptors: a converging pathway leading to chagasic vasculopathy. *Br J Pharmacol* (2012) **165**(5):1333– 47. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011. 01609.x
- Barbosa HS, Meirelles MN. Ultrastructural detection in vitro of WGA-, RCA I-, and Con Abinding sites involved in the invasion of heart muscle cells by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Parasitol Res* (1992) 78(5):404–9. doi:10.1007/ BF00931696

- 26. Magdesian MN, Giordano R, Juliano MA, Juliano L, Schumacher RI, Colli W, et al. Infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: identification of a parasite ligand and its host cell receptor. *J Biol Chem* (2001) **276**(22):19382–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M011474200
- Claser C, Curcio M, Mello SM, Silveira EV, Monteiro HP, Rodrigues MM. Silencing cytokeratin 18 gene inhibits intracellular replication of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in HeLa cells but not binding and invasion of trypanosomes. *BMC Cell Biol* (2008) 9:68. doi:10.1186/1471-2121-9-68
- 28. Villalta F, Scharfstein J, Ashton AW, Tyler KM, Guan F, Mukherjee S, et al. Perspectives on the *Trypanosoma cruzi*-host cell receptor interactions. *Parasitol Res* (2009) **104**(6):1251–60. doi:10. 1007/s00436-009-1383-3
- Stuart LM, Ezekowitz RA. Phagocytosis: elegant complexity. *Immunity* (2005) 22(5):539–50. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2005.05.002
- Haglund CM, Welch MD. Pathogens and polymers: microbe-host interactions illuminate the cytoskeleton. *J Cell Biol* (2011) 195(1):7–17. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201103148
- Janeway CA. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (1989) 54:1– 13. doi:10.1101/SQB.1989.054.01. 003
- 32. Rittig MG, Schröppel K, Seack KH, Sander U, N'Diaye EN, Maridonneau-Parini I, et al. Coiling phagocytosis of trypanosomatids and fungal cells. *Infect Immun* (1998) 66(9):4331–9.
- 33. Rittig MG, Burmester GR, Krause
 A. Coiling phagocytosis: when the zipper jams, the cup is deformed. *Trends Microbiol* (1998) 6(10):384–
 8. doi:10.1016/S0966-842X(98) 01343-2
- 34. Francis CL, Ryan TA, Jones BD, Smith SJ, Falkow S. Ruffles induced by *Salmonella* and other stimuli direct macropinocytosis of bacteria. *Nature* (1993) **364**:639–42. doi:10. 1038/364639a0
- 35. Grinstein S. Imaging signal transduction during phagocytosis: phospholipids, surface charge and eletrostatic interaction. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol (2011) 299:876–81. doi:10. 1152/ajpcell.00342.2010
- 36. Nogueira N, Cohn Z. Trypanosoma cruzi: mechanism of entry and intracellular fate in mammalian cells. J Exp Med (1976) 143(6):1402–20. doi:10.1084/jem.143.6.1402

- Barbosa HS, Meirelles MNL. Evidence of participation of cytoskeleton of heart muscle cells during the invasion of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Cell Struct Funct* (1995) **20**(4):275–84. doi:10.1247/csf.20.275
- 38. Hall BF, Furtado GC, Joiner KA. Characterization of host cell-derived membrane proteins of the vacuole surrounding different intracellular forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in J774 cells: evidence for phagocyte receptor sorting during the early stages of parasite entry. J Immunol (1991) 147(12):4313–21.
- Maganto-Garcia E, Punzon C, Terhorst C, Fresno M. Rab5 activation by toll-like receptor 2 is required for *Trypanosoma cruzi* internalization and replication in macrophages. *Traffic* (2008) 9(8):1299–315. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2008.00760.x
- De Meirelles MNL, De Araújo Jorge TC, De Souza W. Interaction of *Try*panosoma cruzi with macrophages in vitro: dissociation of the attachment and internalization phases by low temperature and cytochalasin B. Z Parasitenkd (1982) 68(1):7–14. doi:10.1007/ BF00926652
- Carvalho TMU, De Souza W, Coimbra E. Internalization of components of the host cell plasma membrane during infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz (1999) 94(1):143–7. doi:10.1590/S0074-0761999000700016
- Vieira MCF, De Carvalho TU, De Souza W. Effect of protein kinase inhibitors on the invasion process of macrophages by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1994) 203(2):967–71. doi:10.1006/ bbrc.1994.2276
- Mortara RA, Andreoli WK, Taniwaki NN. Mammalian cell invasion and intracellular trafficking by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infective forms. An Acad Bras Cienc (2005) 77:77–94. doi:10.1590/S0001-37652005000100006
- 44. Mortara RA, Andreoli WK, Fernandes MC, Silva CV, Fernandes AB, L'Abbate C, et al. Host cell actin remodelling in response to *Trypanosoma cruzi*: trypomastigote versus amastigote entry. In: B. Burleigh, D. Soldati-Favre, editors. *Molecular Mechanism of Parasite Invasion*. Chapter 8. Austin, TX: Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media (2008). p. 101–8. [Subcellular Biochemistry 47:101–9]. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-78267-6 8

- 45. Ley V, Andrews NW, Robbins ES, Nussenzweig V. Amastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* sustain an infective cycle in mammalian cells. J *Exp Med* (1988) **168**:649–59. doi:10. 1084/jem.168.2.649
- 46. Procópio DO, Silva S, Cunningan CC, Mortara RA. *Trypanosoma* cruzi: effect of protein kinase inhibitors and cytoskeletal protein organization and expression on host cell invasion by amastigotes and metacyclic trypomastigotes. *Exp Parasitol* (1998) **90**:1–13. doi:10.1006/expr.1998.4314
- Barrias ES, Reignault LC, De Souza W, Carvalho TM. Dynasore, a dynamin inhibitor, inhibits *Trypanosoma cruzi* entry into peritoneal macrophages. *PLoS ONE* (2010) **25**(1):e7764. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0007764
- Glick D, Barth S, MacLeod K. Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *J Pathol* (2010) 221:3– 12. doi:10.1002/path.2697
- Mizushima N, Yoshimori T, Ohsumi Y. The role of Atg proteins in autophagosome formation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2011) 10(27):107–32. doi:10.1146/ annurev-cellbio-092910-154005
- 50. Romano PS, Arboit MA, Vázquez CL, Colombo MI. The autophagic pathway is a key component in the lysosomal dependent entry of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into the host cell. *Autophagy* (2009) **5**(1):6–18. doi: 10.4161/auto.5.1.7160
- 51. Martins RM, Alves RM, Macedo S, Yoshida N. Starvation and rapamycin differentially regulate host cell lysosome exocytosis and invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic forms. *Cell Microbiol* (2011) **13**(7):943–54. doi:10.1111/j. 1462-5822.2011.01590.x
- Hansen CG, Nichols BJ. Exploring the caves: cavins, caveolins and caveolae. *Trends Cell Biol* (2010) 20(4):177–86. doi:10.1016/j. tcb.2010.01.005
- 53. Westermann M, Steiniger F, Richter W. Belt-like localisation of caveolin in deep caveolae and its re-distribution after cholesterol depletion. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2005) **123**:613–20. doi:10.1007/s00418-004-0750-5
- 54. Glebov OO, Bright NA, Nichols BJ. Flotillin-1 defines a clathrinindependent endocytic pathway in mammalian cells. *Nat Cell Biol* (2006) 8:46–54. doi:10.1038/ ncb1342
- Frick M, Bright NA, Riento K, Bray A, Merrified C, Nichols BJ. Coassembly of flotillins

induces formation of membrane microdomains, membrane curvature, and vesicle budding. *Curr Biol* (2007) **17**:1151–6. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2007.05.078

- 56. Fernandes MC, Cortez M, Geraldo Yoneyama KA, Straus AH, Yoshida N, Mortara RA. Novel strategy in *Trypanosoma cruzi* cell invasion: implication of cholesterol and host cell microdomains. *Inter J Parasitol* (2007) **37**(13):1431–41. doi:10. 1016/j.ijpara.2007.04.025
- 57. Barrias ES, Dutra JMF, De Souza W, Carvalho TMU. Participation of macrophage membrane rafts in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion process. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2007) **363**(3):828–34. doi:10. 1016/j.bbrc.2007.09.068
- 58. Hissa B, Duarte JG, Kelles LF, Santos FP, del Puerto HL, Gazzinelli-Guimarães PH, et al. Membrane cholesterol regulates lysosomeplasma membrane fusion events and modulates *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of host cells. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2012) 6(3):e1583. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001583
- Kerr MC, Teasdale RD. Defining Macropinocytosis. *Traffic* (2009) 10:364–71. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00878.x
- Lim JP, Gleeson PA. Macropinocytosis: an endocytic pathway for internalising large gulps. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89(8):836–43. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.20
- 61. Schnatwinkel C, Christoforidis S, Lindsay MR, Uttenweiler-Joseph S, Wilm M, Parton RG, et al. The Rab5 effector Rabankyrin-5 regulates and coordinates different endocytic mechanisms. *PLoS Biol* (2004) **2**(9):E261. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.0020261
- 62. Barrias ES, Reignault LC, De Souza W, Carvalho TM. Trypanosoma cruzi uses macropinocytosis as an additional entry pathway into mammalian host cell. Microbes Infect (2012) 14(14):1340–51. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2012.08.003
- Mooren OL, Galletta BJ, Cooper JA. Roles for actin assembly in endocytosis. Annu Rev Biochem (2012) 81:661–86. doi:10.1146/ annurev-biochem-060910-094416
- 64. Andersson ER. The role of endocytosis in activating and regulating signal transduction. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2012) **69**(11):1755–71. doi:10. 1007/s00018-011-0877-1
- 65. Law HT, Lin AE, Kim Y, Quach B, Nano FE, Guttman JA. Francisella tularensis uses cholesterol and clathrin-based endocytic mechanisms to invade hepatocytes. Sci

Rep (2011) **1**:192. doi:10.1038/ srep00192

- 66. Moreno-Ruiz E, Galán-Díez M, Zhu W, Fernández-Ruiz E, d'Enfert C, Filler SG, et al. *Candida albicans* internalization by host cells is mediated by a clathrin-dependent mechanism. *Cell Microbiol* (2009) 11(8):1179–89. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2009.01319.x
- Mercer J, Schelhaas M, Helenius A. Virus entry by endocytosis. Annu Rev Biochem (2009) 79:803– 33. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-060208-104626
- 68. Nagajyothi F, Weiss LM, Silver DL, Desruisseaux MS, Scherer PE, Herz J, et al. *Trypanosoma cruzi* utilizes the host low density lipoprotein receptor in invasion. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2011) 5(2):e953. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000953
- 69. Jovic M, Sharma M, Rahajeng J, Caplan S. The early endosome: a busy sorting station for proteins at the crossroads. *Histol Histopathol* (2010) 25(1):99–112.
- Huotari J, Helenius A. Endosome maturation. *EMBO* J (2011) **30**(17):3481–500. doi:10.1038/emboj
- 71. Wilkowsky SE, Barbieri MA, Stahl PD, Isola EL. Regulation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of nonphagocytic cells by the endocytically active GTPases dynamin, Rab5, and Rab7. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2002) **291**(3):516–21. doi:10. 1006/bbrc.2002.6474
- Woolsey AM, Burleigh BA. Host cell actin polymerization is required for cellular retention of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and early association with endosomal/lysosomal compartments. *Cell Microbiol* (2003) 6(9):829–38. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2004.00405.x

- Tardieux I, Nathanson MH, Andrews NW. Role in host cell invasion of *Trypanosoma cruzi*-induced cytosolic free Ca2+ transients. *J Exp Med* (1994) **179**(3):1017–22. doi:10.1084/jem.179.3.1017
- 74. Rodríguez A, Samoff E, Rioult MG, Chung A, Andrews NW. Host cell invasion by trypanosomes requires lysosomes and microtubule/kinesinmediated transport. J Cell Biol (1996) 134(2):349–62. doi:10.1083/jcb.134.2.349
- Rodríguez A, Martinez I, Chung A, Berlot CH, Andrews NW. cAMP regulates Ca2+-dependent exocytosis of lysosomes and lysosomemediated cell invasion by trypanosomes. J Biol Chem (1999) 274(24):16754–9. doi:10.1074/jbc. 274.24.16754
- 76. Barr SC, Han W, Andrews NW, Lopez JW, Ball BA, Pannabecker TL, et al. A factor from *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces repetitive cytosolic free Ca²⁺ transients in isolated primary canine cardiac myocytes. *Infect Immun* (1996) **64**(5):1770–7.
- 77. Meirelles MN, Pereira MC, Singer RH, Soeiro MN, Garzoni LR, Silva DT, et al. *Trypanosoma cruzi*cardiomyocytes: new contributions regarding a better understanding of this interaction. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* (1999) **94**(1):149–52. doi:10. 1590/S0074-02761999000700017
- Fernandes MC, Cortez M, Flannery AR, Tam C, Mortara RA, Andrews NW. *Trypanosoma* membrane repair pathway for cell invasion. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(5):909–21. doi:10.1084/jem.20102518
- Dvorak JA, Howe CL. The attraction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to vertebrate cells in vitro. *J Protozool* (1976) 23(4):534–7.
- 80. Rosestolato CT, Da Matta Furniel Dutra J, De Souza W, De Carvalho

TM. Participation of host cell actin filaments during interaction of trypomastigote forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host cells. *Cell Struct Funct* (2002) **27**(2):91–8. doi:10. 1247/csf.27.91

- Meirelles MN, Araújo Jorge TC, De Souza W. Interaction of *Try-panosoma cruzi* with macrophages in vitro: dissociation of the attachment and internalization phases by low temperature and cytochalasin B. *Z Parasitenkd* (1982) 68(1):7–14. doi:10.1007/BF00926652
- Dutra JM, Bonilha VL, De Souza W, Carvalho TM. Role of small GTPases in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion in MDCK cell lines. *Para*sitol Res (2005) 96(3):171–7. doi:10. 1007/s00436-005-1333-7
- 83. Thastrup O, Cullen PJ, Drobak BK, Hanley MR, Dawson AP. Thapsigargin, a tumor promoter, discharges intracellular Ca²⁺ stores by specific inhibition of the endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1990) **87**:2466–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.7.2466
- 84. Yoshida N, Favoreto S Jr, Ferreira AT, Manque PM. Signal transduction induced in *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes during the invasion of mammalian cells. *Braz J Med Biol Res* (2000) 33(3):269–78. doi:10.1590/S0100-879X2000000300003
- Schmid SL, McNiven MA, De Camilli P. Dynamin and its partners: a progress report. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (1998) **10**(4):504–12. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(98)80066-5
- Praefcke GJ, McMahon HT. The dynamin superfamily: universal membrane tubulation and fission molecules? *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 2:133–47. doi:10.1038/ nrm1313
- 87. Otsuka A, Abe T, Watanabe M, Yagisawa H, Takei K, Yamada H.

Dynamin 2 is required for actin assembly in phagocytosis in Sertoli cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) **378**(3):478–82. doi:10.1016/ j.bbrc.2008.11.066

- Gold ES, Underhil DM, Morrissette NS, Guo J, McNiven MA, Anderem A. Dynamin 2 is required for phagocytosis in macrophages. J Exp Med (1999) 190(12):1849–56. doi:10.1084/jem.190.12.1849
- Danino D, Moon KH, Hinshaw JE. Rapid constriction of lipid bilayers by the mechanochemical enzyme dynamin. J Struct Biol (2004) 147(3):259–67. doi:10.1016/ j.jsb.2004.04.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 October 2012; accepted: 25 June 2013; published online: 01 August 2013.

Citation: Barrias ES, de Carvalho TMU and De Souza W (2013) Trypanosoma cruzi: entry into mammalian host cells and parasitophorous vacuole formation. Front. Immunol. 4:186. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00186

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Barrias, de Carvalho and De Souza. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Current understanding of the *Trypanosoma cruzi*–cardiomyocyte interaction

Claudia M. Calvet, Tatiana G. Melo, Luciana R. Garzoni, Francisco O. R. Oliveira Jr., Dayse T. Silva Neto, Maria N. S. L. Meirelles and Mirian C. S. Pereira*

Laboratório de Ultra-estrutura Celular, Fundação Oswaldo Cruz, Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Emilio Luis Malchiodi, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Mirian C. S. Pereira, Laboratório de Ultra-estrutura Celular, Fundação Oswaldo Cruz, Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, Av. Brasil 4365, Manguinhos, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro 21045-900, Brazil. e-mail: mirian@ioc.fiocruz.br *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the etiological agent of Chagas disease, exhibits multiple strategies to ensure its establishment and persistence in the host. Although this parasite has the ability to infect different organs, heart impairment is the most frequent clinical manifestation of the disease. Advances in knowledge of *T. cruzi*–cardiomyocyte interactions have contributed to a better understanding of the biological events involved in the pathogenesis of Chagas disease. This brief review focuses on the current understanding of molecules involved in *T. cruzi*–cardiomyocyte recognition, the mechanism of invasion, and on the effect of intracellular development of *T. cruzi* on the structural organization and molecular response of the target cell.

Keywords: Trypanosoma cruzi, cardiomyocyte, cell recognition, endocytosis, cytoskeleton, cell junction, extracellular matrix, apoptosis

INTRODUCTION

Chagas disease, caused by Trypanosoma cruzi infection, has emerged as an important global public health problem due to the many Latin American T. cruzi-infected immigrants in nonendemic countries (Pérez-Molina et al., 2012). Although public health programs in the Southern Cone countries have reduced transmission by 70% (Moncayo and Silveira, 2009), blood and organ transplant transmissions in non-endemic countries (Rassi et al., 2009) and outbreaks of foodborne transmission (Pereira et al., 2009; Ríos et al., 2011) have drawn attention to Chagas disease. An estimated 8-15 million individuals in 18 endemic countries in Central and South America are infected, with approximately 30 million people at risk (WHO, 2010; Rassi et al., 2012). Chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy, the most relevant clinical manifestation, is the leading cause of death from heart failure in endemic countries, and accounts for a significant burden of ischemic and inflammatory heart disease in the USA and Europe due to "globalization" of Chagas disease (Moncayo and Silveira, 2009; Moolani et al., 2012). In this review, we summarize current knowledge of the biology of the T. cruzi-host cell interaction, highlighting molecular aspects of T. cruzi-cardiomyocyte interplay, with a focus on early infection events and the effect of intracellular parasite development on the structure and function of the target cell.

CELL RECOGNITION AND INVASION PROCESS

T. cruzi-CARDIOMYOCYTE RECOGNITION

Interplay between parasite and host cell is essential for *T. cruzi* to successfully adjust to the different microenvironments it occupies in its vertebrate and invertebrate hosts. In the obligatory intracellular phase of its life cycle in the mammalian host, infection is driven by adhesion and internalization events involving

a large variety of ligands and/or receptors on the surface of both the parasite and host cell interacting with one another to achieve recognition and invasion. Several different surface molecules in the cardiomyocyte have been implicated in adhesion and internalization by the parasite (**Figure 1**). Carbohydrate residues of membrane glycoconjugates in cardiomyocytes, including galactosyl, mannosyl, and sialyl residues, participate in *T. cruzi* cytoadherence (Barbosa and Meirelles, 1992, 1993), while mannose receptors at the surface of cardiomyocytes modulate parasite entry and are down-regulated by *T. cruzi* infection (Soeiro et al., 1999).

Extracellular matrix (ECM) components are also important in parasite-host cell recognition. Fibronectin, a high molecular weight glycoprotein present at the host cell surface, is recognized by fibronectin receptors of the parasite (Ouaissi et al., 1984), which interact with the RGDS (Arg-Gly-Asp-Ser) sequence of fibronectin and mediate parasite entry (Calvet et al., 2004). Immunization with RGDS peptide induced protection in an experimental murine model of acute T. cruzi infection (Ouaissi et al., 1986). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG), another class of ECM component widely distributed in mammalian tissues, are also involved in T. cruzi attachment and invasion (Ortega-Barria and Pereira, 1991; Calvet et al., 2003). Treatment of trypomastigotes and amastigotes, the infective forms of T. cruzi, or cardiomyocytes with soluble heparan sulfate (HS) and heparitinase II, respectively, efficiently inhibited parasite invasion (Calvet et al., 2003; Oliveira Jr. et al., 2008; Bambino-Medeiros et al., 2011). The binding of T. cruzi to HSPG involves the recognition of the N-acetylated/Nsulfated domain of the HS chain by heparin-binding proteins (HBPs) present at the surface of the parasite (Oliveira Jr. et al., 2008). Although T. cruzi HBPs are capable of binding HS and chondroitin sulfate (CS), only the HS-HBPs interaction triggers



parasite invasion in cardiomyocytes (Calvet et al., 2003; Oliveira Jr. et al., 2008), while HS and CS are involved in vector–*T. cruzi* interactions (Oliveira Jr. et al., 2012).

Lipids also play an important role in *T. cruzi*-host cell interplay. Membrane rafts, enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids, appear to participate in the invasion process (Barrias et al., 2007; Fernandes et al., 2007; Priotto et al., 2009). Recently, cholesterol has been demonstrated to modulate invasion of cardiomyocytes by *T. cruzi* (Hissa et al., 2012). Depletion of cholesterol from cardiac cell membrane induced an 85–90% reduction of parasite invasion by inhibiting parasites' association with lysosomes. Additionally, the low-density lipoprotein receptor, which is up-regulated in

myocardium of infected mice, also coordinates parasite entry and fusion of the parasitophorous vacuole (PV) with lysosomes (Nagajyothi et al., 2011).

MECHANISMS OF T.cruzi INVASION

The large number of molecules involved in recognition of target cells by T. cruzi increases the parasite's capacity to explore multiple strategies to ensure propagation in the mammalian host. A number of different mechanisms of T. cruzi invasion have been described, involving distinct host cell type, parasite genotype, and developmental stage. At least five models of invasion have been elucidated. (i) An actin-dependent mechanism leads to the rearrangement of microfilaments, inducing the host cell membrane to enclose the parasite (Barbosa and Meirelles, 1995; Procópio et al., 1999; Rosestolato et al., 2002; Ferreira et al., 2006). (ii) Lysosome-dependent mechanisms, involving an increase of transient cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels induced by the parasite, generate cortical actin depolymerization and lysosome recruitment to the parasite binding site (Rodríguez et al., 1999; Hissa et al., 2012). (iii) Activated signaling pathways also participate, including tyrosine kinase receptors (TrKA and TrKC; de Melo-Jorge and PereiraPerrin, 2007; Weinkauf et al., 2011) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K; Todorov et al., 2000; Chuenkova et al., 2001; Wilkowsky et al., 2001; Vieira et al., 2002; Woolsev et al., 2003), bradykinin receptors (Scharfstein et al., 2000; Todorov et al., 2003), and transforming growth factor β (TGF- β ; Ming et al., 1995; Waghabi et al., 2007). (iv) More recently, sphingomyelinasemediated plasma membrane repair has been proposed to participate in this process (Fernandes et al., 2011; Fernandes and Andrews, 2012), as has (v) the host cell autophagy pathway (Romano et al., 2009, 2012). Finally, the combination of different mechanisms has been described as coordinating the T. cruzi invasion process (Butler and Tyler, 2012).

Elevation of transient intracellular Ca^{2+} levels, an invasionrelated effect provoked by *T. cruzi* binding to the host cell membrane (**Figure 1**), has also been demonstrated in cardiac cells (Barr et al., 1996; Garzoni et al., 2003). The increase of cytosolic [Ca^{2+}] has been reported to be brought about in two different ways: (i) by sarcoplasmic reticulum stores, which are sensitive to leupeptin, suggesting a cortical actin depolymerization and lysosome-dependent mechanism of invasion (Barr et al., 1996), and by (ii) extracellular Ca^{2+} influx through membrane Ca^{2+} channels, which are insensitive to leupeptin (Garzoni et al., 2003). Recently, it has been suggested that Ca^{2+} influx may also occur as a result of lesions on the plasma membrane, suggesting that the membrane repair pathway frequently observed in muscle cells may also be involved in cardiac cell invasion by *T. cruzi* (Fernandes and Andrews, 2012).

Transforming growth factor β , a multifunctional family of proteins that controls a range of biological events in most cells, including proliferation and cellular differentiation (Moustakas et al., 2002), has also been shown to participate in *T. cruzi* invasion of cardiomyocytes (Waghabi et al., 2005). *T. cruzi* directly activates latent TGF- β and modulates TGF- β signaling (Waghabi et al., 2005). Inhibition of *T. cruzi* infection in cardiomyocyte was achieved by blockage of the TGF- β receptor type I (TGF β RI)/Smad2 signaling pathway by SB-431542, a TGF- β signaling inhibitor (Waghabi et al., 2007). Besides impairment of parasite invasion, the inhibitor treatment also reduced *T. cruzi* intracellular multiplication and differentiation. Recently, the therapeutic effectiveness of GW788388, an oral inhibitor of TGF- β signaling, has been demonstrated experimentally in acute phase *T. cruzi* infection, leading to a reduction of parasitemia and mortality, and also preventing cardiac fibrosis (de Oliveira et al., 2012).

Bradykinin receptors (B_2R/B_1R) have also been reported to be involved in cardiomyocyte infection by *T. cruzi* (Todorov et al., 2003). This mechanism of invasion is regulated by cooperation between HSPG, kininogen, and cruzipain-1, the major cysteine protease isoform of *T. cruzi*, resulting in the release of kinin. Invasion through the kinin transduction pathway, activated by G protein-coupled bradykinin receptors, induces intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization from stores in the endoplasmic reticulum (Scharfstein et al., 2000). The B₂R agonist captopril stimulates the invasion of *T. cruzi* while B₂R and B₁R antagonists, present inhibitory effects on cardiomyocytes, suggesting that these receptors interdependently drive invasion of the parasite (Todorov et al., 2003).

As evidenced in other non-professional phagocytic cells (Rosestolato et al., 2002; Ferreira et al., 2006), T. cruzi entry is also mediated by an endocytic process in cardiac muscle. A protrusion of cardiomyocyte plasma membrane, orchestrated by cytoskeleton rearrangement, is observed during T. cruzi-cardiomyocyte interplay. A dense actin-based membrane skeleton meshwork projects from the sarcolemma and encloses the entering parasite (Barbosa and Meirelles, 1995). This event was drastically inhibited (75%) when cardiac cells were treated with cytochalasin D, an agent that depolymerizes actin filaments, prior to T. cruzi infection; no parasite invasion was observed in fixed cardiomyocytes (Barbosa and Meirelles, 1995). Once inside the cells, the parasite is located within a PV that lacks Ca²⁺-Mg²⁺-ATPase, adenylate cyclase, and anionic sites (Meirelles et al., 1986) but has carbohydrate residues such as N-acetylglucosamine and N-acetylgalactosamine (Barbosa and Meirelles, 1992, 1993). Ultrastructural cytochemistry for the lysosomal enzymes aryl sulfatase and acid phosphatase has revealed the fusion of the parasite-containing vacuole with lysosomes (Meirelles et al., 1987). The acidification of the PV by lysosomal fusion, leading to the activation of TC-TOX and disruption of the PV membrane (Andrews et al., 1990; Hall, 1993), is a prerequisite for the trypomastigote to exit the phagosome, also allowing the parasite to be retained intracellularly and complete its life cycle (Andrade and Andrews, 2004, 2005; Mott and Burleigh, 2008).

EFFECT OF *T. cruzi* INFECTION IN CARDIOMYOCYTE PHYSIOLOGY

During the *T. cruzi*–cardiomyocyte interaction the parasite gains control of overall host cell gene expression, including expression of genes related to immune response, inflammation, cytoskeletal organization, cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions, apoptosis, cell cycle, and oxidative stress (Goldenberg et al., 2009; Manque et al., 2011). The intense trypanocidal immune response generated in cardiomyocytes in response to infection by *T. cruzi* results in the production of cytokines, chemokines, and nitric oxide that, while essential elements of the defensive reaction in cardiac tissue (Machado et al., 2000, 2008; Manque et al., 2011), can also result in cardiac hypertrophy (Petersen and Burleigh, 2003; Waghabi et al., 2009). Several studies report that T. cruzi infection stimulates production of nitric oxide synthase 2, matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and MMP-9 in cardiomyocytes, as well as interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1β, tumor necrosis factor-alpha and TGF-β (Petersen and Burleigh, 2003; Petersen et al., 2005; Gutierrez et al., 2008; Waghabi et al., 2009; Nogueira de Melo et al., 2010). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ is also implicated in regulating the inflammatory process (Hovsepian et al., 2011). Moreover, IL-1β-mediated development of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy is orchestrated by Toll-like receptor 2 (Petersen et al., 2005). Proinflammatory cytokines also modulate production of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species, impairing the efficiency of the respiratory chain (Gupta et al., 2009). Mitochondrial disturbance has been identified as an important effect of chagasic cardiomyopathy (Garg et al., 2003; Báez et al., 2011). Inflammatory mediators have also been reported to regulate Rabs expression (Stein et al., 2003) thereby interfering with host cell trafficking. Down-regulation of Rab GTPase proteins, including the effector molecule of Rab5 (EEA1), Rab7, and Rab11, has been demonstrated in T. cruziinfected cardiomyocytes, and it has been proposed that a delayed endocytic pathway may favor microbicidal activity and increase antigen processing (Batista et al., 2006).

Changes in cytoskeletal proteins have also been shown during parasite intracellular development (Figures 1 and 2). The complex cytoskeleton organization of cardiomyocytes involved in the contraction-relaxation process of the heart is affected by T. cruzi infection (Pereira et al., 1993; Taniwaki et al., 2006). Breakdown of myofibrils has been seen in areas of amastigote nests (Pereira et al., 1993; Taniwaki et al., 2006) and disturbance of intermediate filaments (desmin) and microtubules was also induced by parasite proliferation (Pereira et al., 1993). Interestingly, the actin isoform mRNAs, α -cardiac and β -actin mRNAs, are altered during the parasite intracellular cycle (Pereira et al., 2000). Down-regulation of a-cardiac actin mRNA concomitant with up-regulation of β-actin mRNA suggested the reactivation of non-differentiated cell program. Also within the context of cytoskeletal changes, actin-binding proteins have been demonstrated to be altered in T. cruzi-infected cardiomyocytes. Alpha-actinin, an F-actin crosslinker protein that anchors actin to the Z line, and costameres, repeating adhesion structures consisting of vinculin involved in the lateral transmission of contractility force to the sarcolemma, are disrupted and down-regulated in T. cruzi-infected cells, reducing strength and force transduction (Melo et al., 2004, 2006). These cytoskeletal disorders are accompanied by deregulation of Ca²⁺ influx, affecting cardiac cell contractility (Taniwaki et al., 2006). One striking feature of trypanocidal drugs is their effect on the recovery of cardiomyocyte cytoskeleton (Garzoni et al., 2004; Silva et al., 2006; Adesse et al., 2011a). Posaconazole, an ergosterol biosynthesis inhibitor with potent trypanocidal activity currently in clinical trials, has been demonstrated to promote the reassembly of the contractile apparatus and microtubule network in T. cruziinfected cardiomyocytes (Silva et al., 2006). The reorganization of myofibrils leads to recovery of cardiomyocyte functionality. Similarly, treatment of T. cruzi-infected cardiomyocyte cultures with bisphosphonate risedronate, a farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase inhibitor, and amiodarona, an anti-arrhythmic drug, also fostered the recovery of myofibrils (Garzoni et al., 2004; Adesse et al., 2011a) and may represent interesting alternatives for Chagas therapy.

In addition to disruption of the cytoskeletal architecture by the parasite, cell-cell adhesion (adherens junctions) and intercellular communication (gap junctions), which play important physiological roles in cardiac tissue, are also been disrupted by T. cruzi infection (Adesse et al., 2008, 2011b; Melo et al., 2008). Alteration in spatial distribution and down-regulation of the adherence junction proteins N-cadherin and β-catenin in T. cruziinfected cardiomyocytes (Melo et al., 2008) may interfere with tissue integrity and perturb the function of the cardiac conduction system, as has been proposed to be the case in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathies (Mezzano and Sheikh, 2012). Additionally, electrical conduction disturbance, frequently seen in both acute and chronic phases of Chagas diseases, seems to be related to altered gap junction (connexin-43) coupling of cardiomyocytes induced by T. cruzi (de Carvalho et al., 1992, 1994; Adesse et al., 2008, 2011b). Connexin-43 dysregulation has also been attributed to increased levels of TGF-β (Waghabi et al., 2009). Following treatment of T. cruzi-infected cardiomyocyte cultures with amiodarone and SB-431542 causes reversal of the disorganization of gap junctions and return to their normal distribution (Waghabi et al., 2009; Adesse et al., 2011a), making these compounds potential therapeutic candidates for treatment of Chagas disease.

Besides their involvement in the early steps of T. cruzicardiomyocyte recognition, ECM components also present a striking role in chagasic cardiomyopathy pathogenesis since their accumulation leads to fibrosis, disposing patients to heart failure and ventricular arrhythmias (Rassi et al., 2010, 2012). In experimental systems, ECM accumulation begins during the late acute phase of infection (Andrade et al., 1989; Calvet et al., 2004), concomitantly with the onset of inflammatory infiltrates, indicating that the process of fibrogenesis is triggered in the early stages of T. cruzi infection. A general increase in ECM transcripts and expression was detected by microarray analysis in acute infection (Garg et al., 2003). Cardiac hypertrophy and ECM remodeling were also seen in a T. cruzi-infected 3D cardiomyocyte model (Garzoni et al., 2008; Figure 2). Surprisingly, reduction of ECM in T. cruzi-infected cardiomyocytes was detected by silver staining in acute infection in mice (Factor et al., 1993). Additionally, T. cruzimediated down-regulated ECM gene expression in cardiomyocyte cultures (Goldenberg et al., 2009; Manque et al., 2011) and a reduction in the synthesis and spatial distribution of fibronectin were detected in heavily infected cardiomyocytes (Calvet et al., 2004; **Figure 2**) even after TGF- β stimulation (Calvet et al., 2009), suggesting that despite the general enhancement of ECM in the heart, the cells harboring the parasites display low ECM expression. The anti-fibrogenic effect of T. cruzi has also been seen in human dermal fibroblasts, with repression of transcription factors that regulate expression of fibroblast genes involved in wound repair and tissue remodeling, including ctgf/ccn2 connective tissue growth factor gene, followed by down-regulation of ECM proteins such as fibronectin and collagen I, suggesting another route of parasite dissemination and infection (Unnikrishnan and Burleigh, 2004; Mott et al., 2011).



 $Bar = 20 \ \mu m$

(C) demonstrates a reduction of this extracellular matrix component in

Dixit, 2010). Both anti- and pro-apoptotic gene expression are differentially modulated during *T. cruzi*-cardiomyocyte infection, leading to a balance between cell death and survival at different stages of infection (Manque et al., 2011). Induction of apoptosis by *T. cruzi* infection is controversial and seems to be

dependent on host cell and parasite genotype (de Souza et al., 2003;

and DAPI (blue; A-E), a DNA dye. Arrows indicate intracellular parasites.

Another point worth discussing relates to the ability of *T. cruzi* to modulate host cell apoptosis, or programed cell death, a physiological process of cell replacement to maintain tissue homeostasis (Mondello and Scovassi, 2010). Pathogens can hijack the host cell apoptotic machinery as an offensive strategy to eliminate the host's immune response (Lamkanfi and

Aoki et al., 2006; Petersen et al., 2006). While fibroblasts are refractory to apoptosis, cardiomyocytes and macrophages differentially undergo apoptosis after T. cruzi infection, the latter cell type being highly susceptible. Still, cardiomyocytes infected with T. cruzi clone Dm28c have higher levels of apoptosis compared to infection with strains Y and CL (de Souza et al., 2003). Furthermore, the intracellular parasites themselves also undergo apoptosis, hinting at a host attempt to control parasite burden (de Souza et al., 2003, 2010). Interestingly, it has been shown that a2-macroglobulin, a plasma proteinase inhibitor, regulates apoptosis in T. cruzi-infected cardiomyocytes and macrophages, impairing the cell death process (de Souza et al., 2008). In contrast, an anti-apoptotic effect has also been demonstrated in cardiac cells (Petersen et al., 2006). The prevention of apoptosis appears to be related to NF-kB activation by inhibiting the signaling of caspases, thus avoiding cell death. Thus, avoidance of apoptosis reduces cardiac damage and may be responsible for the persistence of T. cruzi infection.

REFERENCES

- Adesse, D., Azzam, E. M., Meirelles, M. N., Urbina, J. A., and Garzoni, L. R. (2011a). Amiodarone inhibits *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection and promotes cardiac cell recovery with gap junction and cytoskeleton reassembly in vitro. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 55, 203–210.
- Adesse, D., Goldenberg, R. C., Fortes, F. S., Jasmin Iacobas, D. A., Iacobas, S., Campos de Carvalho, A. C., et al. (2011b). Gap junctions and Chagas disease. *Adv. Parasitol.* 76, 63–81.
- Adesse, D., Garzoni, L. R., Huang, H., Tanowitz, H. B., Meirelles, M. N., and Spray, D. C. (2008). *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces changes in cardiac connexin43 expression. *Microbes Infect*. 10, 21–28.
- Andrade, L. O., and Andrews, N. W. (2004). Lysosomal fusion is essential for the retention of *Trypanosoma cruzi* inside host cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 200, 1135–1143.
- Andrade, L. O., and Andrews, N. W. (2005). The *Trypanosoma cruzi*host-cell interplay: location, invasion, retention. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 3, 819–823.
- Andrade, S. G., Grimaud, J. A., and Stocker-Guerret, S. (1989). Sequential changes of the connective matrix components of the myocardium (fibronectin and laminin) and evolution of cardiac fibrosis in mice infected with *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 40, 252–260.
- Andrews, N. W., Abrams, C. K., Slatin, S. L., and Griffiths, G. (1990). A *T. cruzi*-secreted protein immunologically related to the complement component C9: evidence for membrane pore-forming activity at low pH. *Cell* 61, 1277–1287.

- Aoki, M. P., Cano, R. C., Pellegrini, A. V., Tanos, T., Guiñazú, N. L., Coso, O. A., et al. (2006). Different signaling pathways are involved in cardiomyocyte survival induced by a *Trypanosoma cruzi* glycoprotein. *Microbes Infect.* 8, 1723–1731.
- Báez, A., Lo Presti, M. S., Rivarola, H. W., Mentesana, G. G., Pons, P., Fretes, R., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial involvement in chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 105, 239–246.
- Bambino-Medeiros, R., Oliveira, F. O., Calvet, C. M., Vicente, D., Toma, L., Krieger, M. A., et al. (2011). Involvement of host cell heparan sulfate proteoglycan in *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigote attachment and invasion. *Parasitology* 138, 593–601.
- Barbosa, H. S., and Meirelles, M. N. (1992). Ultrastructural detection in vitro of WGA-, RCA I-, and Con Abinding sites involved in the invasion of heart muscle cells by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Parasitol. Res.* 78, 404–409.
- Barbosa, H. S., and Meirelles, M. N. (1993). The role of RCA-binding sites in the adhesion of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to heart muscle cells, as revealed by electron spectroscopic imaging. *J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol.* 25, 47–51.
- Barbosa, H. S., and Meirelles, M. N. (1995). Evidence of participation of cytoskeleton of heart muscle cells during the invasion of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Cell Struct*. *Funct*. 20, 275–284.
- Barr, S. C., Han, W., Andrews, N. W., Lopez, J. W., Ball, B. A., Pannabecker, T. L., et al. (1996). A factor from *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces repetitive cytosolic free Ca²⁺ transients in isolated primary canine cardiac myocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 64, 1770– 1777.

While our knowledge of *T. cruzi*-host cell interactions has greatly improved, many questions remain open. There are still gaps in our understanding of the molecular interactions involved in cellular recognition and/or signaling pathway in most of the mechanisms of invasion. What are the critical links between these processes? And little is still known about the cooperative role played by the host cell in parasite intracellular growth and differentiation. These questions demand deeper investigation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Mr Potter Wickware for a critical reading of the manuscript. This work was supported by grants from Fundação Oswaldo Cruz (FIOCRUZ), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (Mirian C. S. Pereira, grant number 477292/2010-0; 400120/2011-9), Programa Estratégico de Apoio à Pesquisa em Saúde and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro – FAPERJ (Mirian C. S. Pereira, grant number E-26/110.322/2012)

- Barrias, E. S., Dutra, J. M., De Souza, W., and Carvalho, T. M. (2007). Participation of macrophage membrane rafts in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion process. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 363, 828–834.
- Batista, D. G., Silva, C. F., Mota, R. A., Costa, L. C., Meirelles, M. N., Meuser-Batista, M., et al. (2006). *Trypanosoma cruzi* modulates the expression of Rabs and alters the endocytosis in mouse cardiomyocytes in vitro. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 54, 605–614.
- Butler, C. E., and Tyler, K. M. (2012). Membrane traffic and synaptic crosstalk during host cell entry by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Cell. Microbiol.* 14, 1345–1353.
- Calvet, C. M., Meuser, M., Almeida, D., Meirelles, M. N., and Pereira, M. C. (2004). *Trypanosoma cruzi*cardiomyocyte interaction: role of fibronectin in the recognition process and extracellular matrix expression in vitro and in vivo. *Exp. Parasitol.* 107, 20–30.
- Calvet, C. M., Oliveira, F. O. Jr., Araújo-Jorge, T. C., and Pereira, M. C. (2009). Regulation of extracellular matrix expression and distribution in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiomyocytes. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 299, 301–312.
- Calvet, C. M., Toma, L., De Souza, F. R., Meirelles, M. N., and Pereira, M. C. (2003). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate the invasion of cardiomyocytes by *Trypanosoma cruzi. J. Eukaryot. Microbiol.* 50, 97–103.
- Chuenkova, M. V., Furnari, F. B., Cavenee, W. K., and Pereira, M. A. (2001). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase: a potent and specific survival factor for human Schwann cells by means

of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 9936–9941.

- de Carvalho, A. C., Masuda, M. O., Tanowitz, H. B., Wittner, M., Goldenberg, R. C., and Spray, D. C. (1994). Conduction defects and arrhythmias in Chagas' disease: possible role of gap junctions and humoral mechanisms. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 5, 686–698.
- de Carvalho, A. C., Tanowitz, H. B., Wittner, M., Dermietzel, R., Roy, C., Hertzberg, E. L., et al. (1992). Gap junction distribution is altered between cardiac myocytes infected with *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Circ. Res.* 70, 733–742.
- de Melo-Jorge, M., and PereiraPerrin, M. (2007). The Chagas' disease parasite *Trypanosoma cruzi* exploits nerve growth factor receptor TrkA to infect mammalian hosts. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 251–261.
- de Oliveira, F. L., Araújo-Jorge, T. C., de Souza, E. M., de Oliveira, G. M., Degrave, W. M., Feige, J. J., et al. (2012). Oral administration of GW788388, an inhibitor of transforming growth factor beta signaling, prevents heart fibrosis in Chagas disease. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6, e1696. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001696
- de Souza, E. M., Araújo-Jorge, T. C., Bailly, C., Lansiaux, A., Batista, M. M., Oliveira, G. M., et al. (2003). Host and parasite apoptosis following *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection in in vitro and in vivo models. *Cell Tissue Res.* 314, 223–235.
- de Souza, E. M., Meuser-Batista, M., Batista, D. G., Duarte, B. B., Araújo-Jorge, T. C., and Soeiro, M. N. (2008). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: alpha-2-macroglobulin regulates host cell

T. cruzi-cardiomyocyte interaction

apoptosis induced by the parasite infection in vitro. *Exp. Parasitol.* 118, 331–337.

- de Souza, E. M., Nefertiti, A. S., Bailly, C., Lansiaux, A., and Soeiro, M. N. (2010). Differential apoptosis-like cell death in amastigote and trypomastigote forms from *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected heart cells in vitro. *Cell Tissue Res.* 341, 173–180.
- Factor, S. M., Tanowitz, H., Wittner, M., and Ventura, M. C. (1993). Interstitial connective tissue matrix alterations in acute murine Chagas' disease. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 68, 147
- Fernandes, M. C., and Andrews, N. W. (2012). Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: a unique strategy that promotes persistence. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 36, 734–747.
- Fernandes, M. C., Cortez, M., Geraldo Yoneyama, K. A., Straus, A. H., Yoshida, N., and Mortara, R. A. (2007). Novel strategy in *Trypanosoma cruzi* cell invasion: implication of cholesterol and host cell microdomains. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 37, 1431–1441.
- Fernandes, M. C., de Andrade, L. R., Andrews, N. W., and Mortara, R. A. (2011). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes induce cytoskeleton modifications during HeLa cell invasion. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 106, 1014– 1016.
- Ferreira, D., Cortez, M., Atayde, V. D., and Yoshida, N. (2006). Actin cytoskeleton-dependent and independent host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is mediated by distinct parasite surface molecules. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 5522–5528.
- Garg, N., Popov, V. L., and Papaconstantinou, J. (2003). Profiling gene transcription reveals a deficiency of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in *Trypanosoma cruzi*infected murine hearts: implications in chagasic myocarditis development. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1638, 106– 120.
- Garzoni, L. R., Adesse, D., Soares, M. J., Rossi, M. I., Borojevic, R., and Meirelles, M. N. (2008). Fibrosis and hypertrophy induced by *Trypanosoma cruzi* in a threedimensional cardiomyocyte-culture system. J. Infect. Dis. 197, 906–915.
- Garzoni, L. R., Masuda, M. O., Capella, M. M., Lopes, A. G., and Meirelles, M. N. (2003). Characterization of [Ca²⁺]i responses in primary cultures of mouse cardiomyocytes induced by *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 98, 487–493.
- Garzoni, L. R., Waghabi, M. C., Baptista, M. M., de Castro, S. L., Meirelles,

M. N., Britto, C. C., et al. (2004). Antiparasitic activity of risedronate in a murine model of acute Chagas' disease. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* 23, 286–290.

- Goldenberg, R. C., Iacobas, D. A., Iacobas, S., Rocha, L. L., da Silva de Azevedo Fortes, F., et al. (2009). Transcriptomic alterations in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiac myocytes. *Microbes Infect.* 11, 1140– 1149.
- Gupta, S., Bhatia, V., Wen, J. J., Wu, Y., Huang, M. H., and Garg, N. J. (2009). *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection disturbs mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS production rate in cardiomyocytes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 47, 1414–1421.
- Gutierrez, F. R., Lalu, M. M., Mariano, F. S., Milanezi, C. M., Cena, J., Gerlach, R. F., et al. (2008). Increased activities of cardiac matrix metalloproteinases matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 are associated with mortality during the acute phase of experimental *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J. Infect. Dis.* 197, 1468–1476.
- Hall, B. F. (1993). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: mechanisms for entry into host cells. *Semin. Cell Biol.* 4, 323–333.
- Hissa, B., Duarte, J. G., Kelles, L. F., Santos, F. P., del Puerto, H. L., Gazzinelli-Guimarães, P. H., et al. (2012). Membrane cholesterol regulates lysosome-plasma membrane fusion events and modulates *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of host cells. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6, e1583. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001583
- Hovsepian, E., Mirkin, G. A., Penas, F., Manzano, A., Bartrons, R., and Goren, N. B. (2011). Modulation of inflammatory response and parasitism by 15-Deoxy- $\Delta(12,14)$ prostaglandin J(2) in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiomyocytes. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 41, 553.
- Lamkanfi, M., and Dixit, V. M. (2010). Manipulation of host cell death pathways during microbial infections. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 44–54.
- Machado, F. S., Martins, G. A., Aliberti, J. C., Mestriner, F. L., Cunha, F. Q., and Silva, J. S. (2000). *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiomyocytes produce chemokines and cytokines that trigger potent nitric oxide-dependent trypanocidal activity. *Circulation* 102, 3003–3008.
- Machado, F. S., Souto, J. T., Rossi, M. A., Esper, L., Tanowitz, H. B., Aliberti, J., et al. (2008). Nitric oxide synthase-2 modulates chemokine production by *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiac myocytes. *Microbes Infect.* 10, 1558–1566.

- Manque, P. A., Probst, C. M., Pereira, M. C., Rampazzo, R. C., Ozaki, L. S., Pavoni, D. P., et al. (2011). *Try*panosoma cruzi infection induces a global host cell response in cardiomyocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 1855–1862.
- Meirelles, M. N., Araujo Jorge, T. C., de Souza, W., Moreira, A. L., and Barbosa, H. S. (1987). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: phagolysosomal fusion after invasion into non professional phagocytic cells. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 12, 387–393.
- Meirelles, M. N., Araujo-Jorge, T. C., Miranda, C. F., de Souza, W., and Barbosa, H. S. (1986). Interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with heart muscle cells: ultrastructural and cytochemical analysis of endocytic vacuole formation and effect upon myogenesis in vitro. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 41, 198–206.
- Melo, T. G., Almeida, D. S., Meirelles, M. N., and Pereira, M. C. (2004). *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection disrupts vinculin costameres in cardiomyocytes. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 83, 531–540.
- Melo, T. G., Almeida, D. S., Meirelles, M. N., and Pereira, M. C. (2006). Disarray of sarcomeric alpha-actinin in cardiomyocytes infected by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Parasitology* 133, 171–178.
- Melo, T. G., Meirelles, M. N., and Pereira, M. C. (2008). *Trypanosoma cruzi* alters adherens junctions in cardiomyocytes. *Microbes Infect.* 10, 1405–1410.
- Mezzano, V., and Sheikh, F. (2012). Cell–cell junction remodeling in the heart: possible role in cardiac conduction system function and arrhythmias? *Life Sci.* 90, 313–321.
- Ming, M., Ewen, M. E., and Pereira, M. E. (1995). Trypanosome invasion of mammalian cells requires activation of the TGF beta signaling pathway. *Cell* 82, 287–296.
- Moncayo, A., and Silveira, A. C. (2009). Current epidemiological trends for Chagas disease in Latin America and future challenges in epidemiology, surveillance and health policy. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 104, 17–30.
- Mondello, C., and Scovassi, A. I. (2010). Apoptosis: a way to maintain healthy individuals. *Subcell. Biochem.* 50, 307–323.
- Moolani, Y., Bukhman, G., and Hotez, P. J. (2012). Neglected tropical diseases as hidden causes of cardiovascular disease. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6, e1499. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001499
- Mott, G. A., and Burleigh, B. A. (2008). The role of host cell lysosomes in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion. *Subcell. Biochem.* 47, 165–173.

- Mott, G. A., Costales, J. A., and Burleigh, B. A. (2011). A soluble factor from *Trypanosoma cruzi* inhibits transforming growth factor- β -induced MAP kinase activation and gene expression in dermal fibroblasts. *PLoS ONE* 6, e23482. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023482
- Moustakas, A., Pardali, K., Gaal, A., and Heldin, C. H. (2002). Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling in regulation of cell growth and differentiation. *Immunol. Lett.* 82, 85–91.
- Nagajyothi, F., Weiss, L. M., Silver, D. L., Desruisseaux, M. S., Scherer, P. E., Herz, J., et al. (2011). *Try*panosoma cruzi utilizes the host low density lipoprotein receptor in invasion. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 5, e953. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000953
- Nogueira de Melo, A. C., de Souza, E. P., Elias, C. G., dos Santos, A. L., Branquinha, M. H., d'Avila-Levy, C. M., et al. (2010). Detection of matrix metallopeptidase-9-like proteins in *Trypanosoma cruzi. Exp. Parasitol.* 125, 256–263.
- Oliveira, F. O. Jr., Alves, C. R., Calvet, C. M., Toma, L., Bouças, R. I., Nader, H. B., et al. (2008). *Trypanosoma cruzi* heparin-binding proteins and the nature of the host cell heparan sulfate-binding domain. *Microb. Pathog.* 44, 329–338.
- Oliveira, F. O. Jr., Alves, C. R., Souza-Silva, F., Calvet, C. M., Côrtes, L. M., Gonzalez, M. S., et al. (2012). *Trypanosoma cruzi* heparin-binding proteins mediate the adherence of epimastigotes to the midgut epithelial cells of *Rhodnius prolixus*. *Parasitol*ogy 139, 735–743.
- Ortega-Barria, E., and Pereira, M. E. (1991). A novel *T. cruzi* heparinbinding protein promotes fibroblast adhesion and penetration of engineered bacteria and trypanosomes into mammalian cells. *Cell* 67, 411– 421.
- Ouaissi, M. A., Afchain, D., Capron, A., and Grimaud, J. A. (1984). Fibronectin receptors on *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes and their biological function. *Nature* 308, 380–382.
- Ouaissi, M. A., Cornette, J., Afchain, D., Capron, A., Gras-Masse, H., and Tartar, A. (1986). *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection inhibited by peptides modeled from a fibronectin cell attachment domain. *Science* 234, 603–607.
- Pereira, K. S., Schmidt, F. L., Guaraldo, A. M., Franco, R. M., Dias, V. L., and Passos, L. A. (2009). Chagas' disease as a foodborne illness. *J. Food Prot.* 72, 441–446.

- Pereira, M. C., Costa, M., Chagas Filho, C., and Meirelles, M. N. (1993). Myofibrillar breakdown and cytoskeletal alterations in heart muscle cells during invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: immunological and ultrastructural study. *J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol.* 25, 559–569.
- Pereira, M. C., Singer, R. H., and Meirelles, M. N. (2000). *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection affects actin mRNA regulation in heart muscle cells. *J. Eukaryot. Microbiol.* 47, 271– 279.
- Pérez-Molina, J. A., Norman, F., and López-Vélez, R. (2012). Chagas disease in non-endemic countries: epidemiology, clinical presentation and treatment. *Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep.* 14, 263–274.
- Petersen, C. A., and Burleigh, B. A. (2003). Role for interleukin-1 beta in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 4441–4447.
- Petersen, C. A., Krumholz, K. A., and Burleigh, B. A. (2005). Toll-like receptor 2 regulates interleukinlbeta-dependent cardiomyocyte hypertrophy triggered by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 6974–6980.
- Petersen, C. A., Krumholz, K. A., Carmen, J., Sinai, A. P., and Burleigh, B. A. (2006). *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection and nuclear factor kappa B activation prevent apoptosis in cardiac cells. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 1580–1587.
- Priotto, S., Sartori, M. J., Repossi, G., and Valentich, M. A. (2009). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: participation of cholesterol and placental alkaline phosphatase in the host cell invasion. *Exp. Parasitol.* 122, 70–73.
- Procópio, D. O., Barros, H. C., and Mortara, R. A. (1999). Actin-rich structures formed during the invasion of cultured cells by infective forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 78, 911–924.
- Rassi, A. Jr., Rassi, A., and Marcondes de Rezende, J. (2012). American trypanosomiasis (Chagas disease). *Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 26, 275–291.
- Rassi, A. Jr., Rassi, A., and Marin-Neto, J. A. (2010). Chagas disease. *Lancet* 375, 1388–1402.

- Rassi, A. Jr., Rassi, A., and Marin-Neto, J. Á. (2009). Chagas heart disease: pathophysiologic mechanisms, prognostic factors and risk stratification. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 104, 152–158.
- Ríos, J. F., Arboleda, M., Montoya, A. N., and Alarcón, E. P. (2011). Probable outbreak of oral transmission of Chagas disease in Turbo, Antioquia. *Biomedica* 31, 185–195.
- Rodríguez, A., Martinez, I., Chung, A., Berlot, C. H., and Andrews, N. W. (1999). cAMP regulates Ca²⁺dependent exocytosis of lysosomes and lysosome-mediated cell invasion by trypanosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 16754–16759.
- Romano, P. S., Arboit, M. A., Vázquez, C. L., and Colombo, M. I. (2009). The autophagic pathway is a key component in the lysosomal dependent entry of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into the host cell. *Autophagy* 5, 6–18.
- Romano, P. S., Cueto, J. A., Casassa, A. F., Vanrell, M. C., Gottlieb, R. A., and Colombo, M. I. (2012). Molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in the *Trypanosoma cruzi*/host cell interplay. *IUBMB Life* 64, 387–396.
- Rosestolato, C. T., Dutra, J. M., De Souza, W., and Carvalho, T. M. (2002). Participation of host cell actin filaments during interaction of trypomastigote forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host cells. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 27, 91–98.
- Scharfstein, J., Schmitz, V., Morandi, V., Capella, M. M., Lima, A. P., Morrot, A., et al. (2000). Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is potentiated by activation of bradykinin B(2) receptors. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 1289–1300.
- Silva, D. T., Meirelles, M. N., Almeida, D., Urbina, J. A., and Pereira, M. C. (2006). Cytoskeleton reassembly in cardiomyocytes infected by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is triggered by treatment with ergosterol biosynthesis inhibitors. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* 27, 530–537.
- Soeiro, M. N., Paiva, M. M., Barbosa, H. S., Meirelles, M. N., and Araújo-Jorge, T. C. (1999). A cardiomyocyte mannose receptor system is involved in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion and is down-modulated after infection. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 24, 139–149.

- Stein, M. P., Dong, J., and Wandinger-Ness, A. (2003). Rab proteins and endocytic trafficking: potential targets for therapeutic intervention. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 55, 1421–1437.
- Taniwaki, N. N., Machado, F. S., Massensini, A. R., and Mortara, R. A. (2006). *Trypanosoma cruzi* disrupts myofibrillar organization and intracellular calcium levels in mouse neonatal cardiomyocytes. *Cell Tissue Res.* 324, 489–496.
- Todorov, A. G., Andrade, D., Pesquero, J. B., Araujo, R. C., Bader, M., Stewart, J., et al. (2003). *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces edematogenic responses in mice and invades cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells in vitro by activating distinct kinin receptor (B1/B2) subtypes. *FASEB J.* 17, 73–75.
- Todorov, A. G., Einicker-Lamas, M., de Castro, S. L., Oliveira, M. M., and Guilherme, A. (2000). Activation of host cell phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 32182– 32186.
- Unnikrishnan, M., and Burleigh, B. A. (2004). Inhibition of host connective tissue growth factor expression: a novel *Trypanosoma cruzi*-mediated response. *FASEB J.* 18, 1625–1635.
- Vieira, M., Dutra, J. M., Carvalho, T. M., Cunha-e-Silva, N. L., Souto-Padrón, T., and De Souza, W. (2002). Cellular signaling during the macrophage invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 118, 491–500.
- Waghabi, M. C., Coutinho-Silva, R., Feige, J. J., Higuchi, M. L., Becker, D., Burnstock, G., et al. (2009). Gap junction reduction in cardiomyocytes following transforming growth factor-beta treatment and *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 104, 1083–1090.
- Waghabi, M. C., Keramidas, M., Bailly, S., Degrave, W., Mendonça-Lima, L., Soeiro, M. N., et al. (2005). Uptake of host cell transforming growth factorbeta by *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes in cardiomyocytes: potential role in parasite cycle completion. *Am. J. Pathol.* 167, 993–1003.
- Waghabi, M. C., Keramidas, M., Calvet, C. M., Meuser, M., Soeiro, M. N., Mendonça-Lima, L., et al. (2007). SB-431542, a transforming growth factor beta inhibitor, impairs *Trypanosoma*

cruzi infection in cardiomyocytes and parasite cycle completion. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 51, 2905–2910.

- Weinkauf, C., Salvador, R., and Pereiraperrin, M. (2011). Neurotrophin receptor TrkC is an entry receptor for *Trypanosoma cruzi* in neural, glial, and epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 4081–4087.
- WHO (2010). Available at: http://www. who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs340/en/index.html
- Wilkowsky, S. E, Barbieri, M. A, Stahl, P. and Isola, E. L. (2001). Trypanosoma cruzi: phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and protein kinase B activation is associated with parasite invasion. *Exp. Cell Res.* 264, 211–218.
- Woolsey, A. M, Sunwoo, L., Petersen, C. A, Brachmann, S. M., Cantley, L. C. and Burleigh, B. A. (2003). Novel PI 3-kinase-dependent mechanisms of trypanosome invasion and vacuole maturation. *J. Cell Sci.* 116, 3611–3622.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 August 2012; paper pending published: 04 October 2012; accepted: 16 October 2012; published online: 30 October 2012.

Citation: Calvet CM, Melo TG, Garzoni LR, Oliveira FOR Jr., Silva Neto DT, Meirelles MNSL and Pereira MCS (2012) Current understanding of the Trypanosoma cruzi–cardiomyocyte interaction. Front. Immun. **3**:327. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00327

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Calvet, Melo, Garzoni, Oliveira Jr., Silva Neto, Meirelles and Pereira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

Trypanosoma cruzi extracellular amastigotes and host cell signaling: more pieces to the puzzle

Éden R. Ferreira^{1†}, Alexis Bonfim-Melo^{1†}, Renato A. Mortara¹* and Diana Bahia^{1,2}

¹ Disciplina de Parasitologia, Departamento de Microbiologia, Imunologia e Parasitologia, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

² Departamento de Biologia Geral, Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Anastasios D. Tsaousis, Charles University, Czech Republic Tecia Maria Ulisses Carvalho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Thais Souto-Padrón, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Renato A. Mortara, Disciplina de Parasitologia, Departamento de Microbiologia, Imunologia e Parasitologia, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Rua Botucatu 862, 6th Floor, 04023-062 São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil. e-mail: ramortara@unifesp.br

[†]Éden R. Ferreira and Alexis Bonfim-Melo are joint first co-authors.

INTRODUCTION

The parasite Trypanosoma cruzi employs a variety of distinct strategies to facilitate invasion of mammalian cells. For instance, multiple infective stages [e.g., bloodstream trypomastigotes, metacyclic trypomastigotes, and extracellular amastigotes (EAs)], varying strains and isolates, as well as differing infectivities have been widely acknowledged as significant obstacles to effective treatment. The multitude of invasive strategies employed by T. cruzi represents an important survival advantage for the organism and allows for the remarkably wide range of mammalian hosts affected by this parasite. More specifically, T. cruzi infects over 100 species from several orders and develops in vivo within a variety of cellular niches, including macrophages, muscle tissue, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and nerve cells. The ability of T. cruzi to invade, persist and adapt in both invertebrate and vertebrate hosts is multifactorial, and depends on both the parasite and host fitness. The cellular communication between parasite and its host is constant and has evolved to be relatively benign, as killing the host would not be advantageous to the parasite.

Extracellular amastigotes are either prematurely released from infected cells or generated by the extracellular differentiation of released trypomastigotes (reviewed in Lima et al., 2010). During the acute phase of *T. cruzi* infection within mice, EAs represent 10% of circulating parasite forms and are capable of sustaining an infective cycle in the mammalian host and cells (Andrews et al., 1987).

Among the different infective stages that *Trypanosoma cruzi* employs to invade cells, extracellular amastigotes (EAs) have recently gained attention by our group. This is true primarily because these amastigotes are able to infect cultured cells and animals, establishing a sustainable infective cycle. EAs are thus an excellent means of adaptation and survival for *T. cruzi*, whose different infective stages each utilize unique mechanisms for attachment and penetration. Here we discuss some features of host cell invasion by EAs and the associated host cell signaling events that occur as part of the process.

Keywords: extracellular amastigotes, cell invasion, signaling, mevalonate kinase, protein kinase D

Among the EA stage, *T. cruzi* I strains (such as the G and Tulahuén strains) are more infective than *T. cruzi* II and VI strains (such as the Y and CL strains; Fernandes and Mortara, 2004; Mortara et al., 2005). In contrast to trypomastigotes, the recruitment of actin is central to the uptake of EA forms in mammalian host cells (**Figure 1**), including HeLa cells, the model cell type used in our studies (Mortara, 1991; Procópio et al., 1998; Mortara et al., 2005).

Here we aim to highlight aspects of host cell invasion by EAs and introduce novel findings including the involvement of molecules from both host cell and the parasite that trigger host cell signaling events.

MAMMALIAN CELL INVASION BY EXTRACELLULAR AMASTIGOTES: THE STORY BEGINS

Prior to the mid 1980s, chronic infection with *T. cruzi* was assumed to be sustained by few trypomastigotes in the bloodstream that had escaped the immune response and invaded new cells. The fate of amastigotes at that time was thought to be restricted to the intracellular growth of the parasite. However, pioneering studies (Behbehani, 1973; Nogueira and Cohn, 1976; Lanar, 1979; Abrahamsohn et al., 1983; McCabe et al., 1984; Carvalho and de Souza, 1986) demonstrated that amastigotes shared some physiological characteristics with trypomastigotes, such as the ability to invade and develop within cells *in vitro* and the ability to infect mice. For instance, McCabe et al. (1984) demonstrated that amastigotes



isolated from the spleen of mice infected with three different strains of *T. cruzi* (Y, MR, and Tulahuén) were able to infect, survive, and replicate within professional and non-professional (L929 cell line) phagocytes. In a different study, Carvalho and de Souza (1986) obtained highly purified amastigotes (Y strain) from the macrophage-like cell line J774G8. These amastigotes were effectively ingested by macrophages and were able to initiate intracellular replication. Parasite development *in vitro* was measured by means of light microscopy. Moreover, purified amastigotes were highly infective when inoculated into mice, generating high parasitemia and even death (McCabe et al., 1984; Carvalho and de Souza, 1986).

Andrews et al. (1987) found that amastigotes accounted for 10% of circulating forms in the blood of mice during the acute phase of infection. Furthermore, this amastigote form was shown to express a specific surface glycoprotein that was designated Ssp-4. These observations were corroborated when Ley et al. (1988), by using transmission and scanning electron microscopy, demonstrated that extracellular axenically derived amastigotes (i.e., trypomastigote–amastigote differentiation in axenic medium) were able to multiple within cells *in vitro*. When injected intraperitoneally, the amastigote forms were as infective to mice as trypomastigotes. Researchers were also able to measure the infectivity and the multiplication rates of the parasites inside cultured cells (Ley et al., 1988). The process of trypomastigote– amastigote differentiation in axenic medium can be accelerated by lowering the pH of the medium (Tomlinson et al., 1995). EAs can also be obtained from axenic culture media specifically designed for isolating amastigotes (Pan, 1978; Rondinelli et al., 1988). Extracellular (axenically derived) amastigotes resembled intracellular amastigotes with regard to cell body and kinetoplast morphology, and cell surface expression of Ssp-4 (Ley et al., 1988; Barros et al., 1997; Silva et al., 1998).

In vitro, amastigotes are able to infect and complete their life cycle within phagocytic and non-phagocytic host cells, possibly using distinct molecular mechanisms for invasion and escape from the parasitophorous vacuole (Pan, 1978; Carvalho and de Souza, 1986; Ley et al., 1988; Mortara, 1991; Procópio et al., 1998, 1999; Andreoli and Mortara, 2003; Mortara et al., 2005; Florencio-Martínez et al., 2010; Bambino-Medeiros et al., 2011).

In vivo, EAs were intraperitoneally inoculated into groups of five A/J mice and all mice were not only infected, but died after 18–25 days. Two trypomastigote parasitemia peaks were observed on days 7 and 12. Significantly higher numbers of parasites were observed during the second peak in mice that were inoculated with Y strain amastigotes (Ley et al., 1988). EAs were also resistant to complement-mediated lysis (Carvalho and de Souza, 1986; Iida et al., 1989; Fernandes and Mortara, 2004), a feature thought to be required for infectivity. The general conclusion from these studies was that EAs, once prematurely released from dead cells, may persistently infect resident macrophages by initiating an alternative subcycle and/or using an alternative pathway of invasion. It was hypothesized that these events could be crucial for the maintenance of tissue infection and inflammation (Scharfstein and Morrot, 1999) within the mammalian host.

In 1991, the mechanisms by which amastigotes invade nonphagocytic cells began to be determined. Mortara (1991) observed that amastigotes interact with microvilli on the dorsal surface of HeLa cells leading to microvillus aggregation. This event can be followed by microfilament clustering observable by phalloidin staining and fluorescent microscopy. By a combination of fluorescence and scanning electron microscopy, it was observed that actin aggregates underneath the sites of amastigote adhesion and forms a small clump (Mortara, 1991) that was later called the actin cuplike structure (Procópio et al., 1999). Interestingly, cytochalasin D did not significantly affect parasite attachment but the disruption of cellular microfilaments greatly inhibited amastigote entry (Mortara, 1991; Procópio et al., 1998). In 1998, the actin cup-like structures beneath the amastigotes at HeLa cell entry sites were assessed by confocal microscopy (Procópio et al., 1998). In that study, gelsolin, an actin-binding protein was overexpressed in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. This resulted in a large increase in the internalization of amastigote forms resulting from enhanced microfilament rearrangement. Components of the HeLa cytoskeleton, integrins, and extracellular matrix, such as α -actinin, ABP₂₈₀, gelsolin, α 5 β 5 integrin, laminin, and fibronectin, accumulated along with actin at the sites of EA entry (Procópio et al., 1999).

EAs MOLECULES OF ADHESION AND SECRETION: INVASION AND SIGNALING

Adhesion is a crucial initial step for microorganisms to invade any cell. Association of amastigotes with host macrophages was shown to be mediated by the macrophage mannose receptor (MR) and mannose-binding protein (MBP; Kahn et al., 1995). MR and MBP are C-type lectins. MBP strongly and stably binds to amastigotes, and this interaction may contribute to parasite opsonization and cellular invasion. MBP-amastigote interaction is stage specific, can be inhibited by mannan, and requires calcium (Kahn et al., 1996). The amastigote ligands for MBP include SA85-1 and other related surface glycoproteins (Kahn et al., 1996). IFN-γ down-regulates MR expression and thus inhibits parasite invasion and replication within macrophages. It has recently been reported that in vivo infection by G strain (TcI) EAs is inhibited by IFN-y production (Rodrigues et al., 2012). Fibronectin also appears to bridge these initial binding steps (Tulahuén strain; Noisin and Villalta, 1989; Procópio et al., 1999). Our group has previously shown that carbohydrate epitopes expressed on the surface of EAs may also play a role in parasite adhesion to HeLa cells since monoclonal antibodies inhibited the process (Silva et al., 2006).

Cruz et al. (2012) demonstrated that the treatment of HeLa cells with recombinant amastin, a surface glycoprotein abundant in amastigotes, reduced the infectivity of EA forms. Conversely, the ectopic *T. cruzi* expression of amastin accelerated differentiation of amastigotes into trypomastigotes. These results positioned amastin as a potential amastigote molecule able to modulate EA invasion and differentiation within mammalian cells. In addition, amastin might participate in specific host cell signaling culminating in EA invasion.

Trypanosoma cruzi EAs may also secrete proteins in order to aid their attachment and entry into HeLa cells. Silva et al. (2009)

identified a hypothetical protein of 21 kDa with no known orthologous in other species. So-called P21 is secreted by the parasites and enhances amastigote invasion, especially when the recombinant protein is added to host cells together with parasites as part of HeLa cell invasion assays. Researchers concluded that P21 triggers unknown host cell signaling events that lead to parasite internalization.

Moonlighting enzymes or protein moonlighting refers to a phenomenon in which a protein can perform more than one function, including unexpected functions (Jeffery, 2009). Many proteins that moonlight are enzymes involved in glycolysis, an ancient universal metabolic pathway. It has been suggested that as many as 7 of 10 proteins in glycolysis and 7 of 8 enzymes of the tricarboxylic acid cycle exhibit moonlighting behavior. Our group has recently characterized a moonlighting protein in T. cruzi called mevalonate kinase (MVK), an enzyme involved in isoprenoid synthesis. As part of the T. cruzi infection process, this moonlighting protein is involved both in parasite invasion and host cell signaling (Ferreira et al., unpublished). There are numerous intermediates in the mevalonate biosynthetic pathway that play important roles in the post-translational modification of a multitude of proteins involved in intracellular signaling. These intermediates in the mevalonate biosynthetic pathway are essential regulators of cell growth/differentiation, gene expression, protein glycosylation, and cytoskeletal assembly.

Microarray analysis of EA mRNAs has demonstrated that MVK displays higher expression within G (more infective) than in CL (less infective) parasites, suggesting an important role of the MVK pathway in EA infectivity (Ferreira et al., unpublished). We have obtained data indicating that MVK may be a modulator in EA invasion and could become an important target in the development of new drugs to treat Chagas' disease. Moreover, in *T. cruzi*, MVK is secreted and likely participates in the modulation of HeLa cell signaling leading to EA cell invasion. These observations reveal new possibilities for the study of moonlighting protein evolution and function within intracellular parasites.

EAs AND HOST CELL SIGNALING

The first experiments to describe signaling events induced by EAs in non-phagocytic cells were performed in 1998. Procópio et al. (1998) used a protein kinase C inhibitor, staurosporine, and also a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, genistein, to treat HeLa cells before invasion assays with EA. Curiously, staurosporine had no effect whereas genistein moderately inhibited the invasion of EAs in HeLa cells. In Vero cells, genistein had no effect but staurosporine inhibited EA invasion by 82%. The role of RhoA GTPases in host cell invasion by EAs of both G and CL strains of T. cruzi was subsequently studied. Rho GTPases regulate three separate signal transduction pathways, linking plasma membrane receptors to the assembly of distinct actin filament structures. Fernandes and Mortara (2004) used non-polarized MDCK cells transfected with different Rho GTPase constructs (RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42). EA invasion was particularly high in MDCK cells overexpressing either wild type or constitutively active Rac1. Consistently, EA invasion was specifically reduced in the corresponding dominant negative line, suggesting a key role for Rac1-GTPase in the invasion process (Fernandes and Mortara, 2004). On the other hand, in contrast to a number of bacterial invasion mechanisms (Mounier et al., 2003), amastigote invasion seems to be independent of Cdc42.

Sonicated extracts from G or CL strain of EA induced transient enhancement in HeLa cell intracellular Ca^{2+} levels in a dosedependent manner. Inhibition of HeLa cell intracellular Ca^{2+} mobilization by thapsigargin or caffeine moderately reduced the infectivity of both G and CL strains (Fernandes et al., 2006). Thus, EAs of both strains trigger calcium signaling in HeLa cells that may be important for the success of EA invasion. Adenylyl cyclase based activation of HeLa cells by exposure to forskolin did not affect infection by either strain. The activation of PI3 kinase in host cells appears to be required for invasion by either the G or CL strain since treatment of HeLa cells with wortmannin reduced EA infectivity (Fernandes et al., 2006). It has also been described that the use of PI3 kinase inhibitors impairs EA (Y strain) internalization into peritoneal macrophages by 60% (Barrias et al., 2010).

We have recently observed that the treatment of nonphagocytic cells with a Src-family tyrosine kinase (SFK) inhibitor, in the absence of serum, reduces EA (G strain) invasion (Bahia et al., unpublished). In addition, EA of the G strain induced timedependent HeLa cell phosphorylation of SFKs, whose members include Src, Lyn, Fyn, Lck, Yes, and Hck. At this stage, however, the precise Src members involved in this pathway have not been identified. These results suggest that EAs may also exploit the host cell Src pathway in order to invade cells.

EAs AND THE HOST CELL POINT OF VIEW

Host cell plasma membrane microdomains were also shown to be involved in EA *T. cruzi* entry into non-phagocytic cells. Membrane microdomains, also known as lipid rafts, play a unique role in signal transduction by compartmentalizing cell receptors and subsequently boosting downstream signaling to the effectors molecules (Simons and Ikonen, 1997). Cholesterol, the major component of membrane lipid rafts of Vero or HeLa cells was disrupted by methyl β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) and then infected with EAs of G (TcI) and CL (TcVI) strains (Fernandes et al., 2007). Removal of cholesterol from both host cell lines significantly decreased the invasion index of EAs, indicating that host cell cholesterol and/or membrane organization is important for the entry process of both infective forms. After cholesterol repletion, the invasion index of G strain EAs was almost fully recovered. Subunit B of cholera toxin binds to the GM1 ganglioside, a marker for lipid rafts, and the treatment of non-phagocytic cells with CTB (cholera Toxin-B) also decreased EA invasion. In macrophages, the participation of lipid rafts in the internalization of EAs has also been described (Barrias et al., 2007).

Barrias et al. (2010) showed that dynamin, a large GTPase that belongs to a protein superfamily with a critical role in endocytic membrane fission events, plays a role in EA internalization into peritoneal macrophages. Researchers treated macrophages with dynasore, a reagent that has the ability to block the GTPase activity of dynamin, and observed a marked inhibition in the internalization of EAs. However, dynasore did not significantly interfere with parasite adhesion to host cells.

Bambino-Medeiros et al. (2011) showed that amastigote invasion also involves host cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans, which localize to signaling membrane microdomains such as lipid rafts. By treating EAs of the Dm28c strain with heparin or heparan sulfate, researchers observed inhibition of EA entry into primary cultures of cardiomyocytes. The authors hypothesized that the binding of amastigote heparin-binding protein could activate different signaling pathways, such as phosphorylation of cortactin by Src activation that would lead to actin polymerization and amastigote entry.

Along these lines, we are currently evaluating the role of protein kinase D (PKD) and cortactin in EA uptake by HeLa cells (Bonfim-Melo, unpublished). PKD is a family of multidomain enzymes (PKD1, 2, and 3). PKD lies downstream of PKCs in a novel signal transduction pathway implicated in the regulation of multiple fundamental biological processes. At the leading edge of migrating cells, active PKD co-localizes with F-actin, Arp2/3, and cortactin. Cortactin has emerged as a key signaling protein in cellular processes such as endocytosis and tumor invasion by interacting with and/or altering the cortical actin network. PKD is an upstream regulator of cortactin. EAs not only recruit PKD (**Figure 2**) and





show EA recruiting PKD at the invasion sites. Confocal microscopy followed by Huygens Surface Rendering (www.svi.nl). Magnification bars = 4 μ m (A) and 5 μ m (B).



FIGURE 3 | Proposed model for EA signaling. EAs secrete factors such as P21 and MVK that aid in EA uptake by cells in culture. EAs also present specific glycoproteins (i.e., Ssp-4) important for attachment and penetration while other EA glycoproteins (i.e., amastins-Am) may negatively modulate amastigote invasion. From the cellular perspective, lipid rafts are essential to parasite internalization in both macrophages and epithelial cells. Furthermore, the mannose receptor of certain cells may recognize mannose residues expressed by EAs which also participate in EA uptake. Upon contact, EAs recruit PKD, actin (F-actin), and other actin-binding proteins (ABPs) such as

cortactin (Cort), gelsolin, and α-actinin. Additionally, EAs likely activate Src-family kinase (SFK), PKC, and Rac1 signaling in host cells. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases (PI3k) pathway may also be involved in EA internalization. Cellular heparan sulfate and fibronectin are also important in the process of EA internalization (extracellular matrix components – ECMs). Red and green arrows: negative and positive modulation of the invasion, respectively; blue arrows: host protein activation; black arrows: recruitment. P, phosphorylation; n, nucleus; k, kinetoplast; MVK, mevalonate kinase; MR, mannose receptor. See text for more details.

cortactin to the invasion sites of epithelial non-phagocytic cells, but also induce the phosphorylation of these proteins (Bonfim-Melo, unpublished). These results suggest that unexpected novel roads may also be utilized by *T. cruzi* to invade cells. In order to summarize, the putative cellular molecules and signaling pathways used by EAs are presented in **Figure 3**.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Extracellular amastigotes of *T. cruzi* are an infective parasite stage that mobilizes molecules and pathways distinct from those engaged by the classical infective trypomastigote forms. This

REFERENCES

Abrahamsohn, I. A., Katzin, A. M., and Milder, R. V. (1983). A method for isolating *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes from spleen and liver using two-step discontinuous gradient centrifugation. *J. Parasitol.* 69, 437–439. Andreoli, W. K., and Mortara, R. A. (2003). Acidification modulates the traffic of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes in Vero cells harboring *Coxiella burnetti* vacuoles. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 33, 185–197. repertoire of molecules may include not only previously characterized carbohydrate epitopes and the P21 secreted component, but also novel components described here such as the secreted form of MVK and the cortactin–PKD pathway.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the support of Capes, FAPESP (11/51547-3; 07/50551-2). Diana Bahia and Renato A. Mortara are recipients of CNPq fellowships. Authors also thank BioMed Proofreading (http://www.biomedproofreading.com/) for English editing services.

Andrews, N. W., Hong, K. S., Robbins, E., and Nussenzweig, V. (1987). Stage specific surface antigens expressed during the morphogenesis of vertebrate forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Exp. Parasitol.* 64, 474–484. Bambino-Medeiros, R., Oliveira, F. O., Calvet, C. M., Vicente, D. Toma, L., Krieger, M. A., et al. (2011). Involvement of host cell heparan sulfate proteoglycan in *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigote attachment and invasion. *Parasitology* 138, 593–601.

- Barrias, E. S., Dutra, J. M., De Souza, W., and Carvalho, T. M. (2007). Participation of macrophage membrane rafts in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion process. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2363, 828–834.
- Barrias, E. S., Reignault, L. C., De Souza, W., and Carvalho, T. M. (2010). Dynasore, a dynamin inhibitor, inhibits *Trypanosoma cruzi* entry into peritoneal macrophages. *PLoS ONE* 5, e7764. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007764
- Barros, H. C., Verbisck, N. V., Silva, S., Araguth, M. F., and Mortara, R. A. (1997). Distribution of epitopes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes during the intracellular life cycle within mammalian cells. *J. Eukaryot. Microbiol.* 44, 332–344.
- Behbehani, K. (1973). Developmental cycles of *Trypanosoma* (*Schizotrypanum*) cruzi (Chagas, 1909) in mouse peritoneal macrophages in vitro. *Parasitology* 66, 343–353.
- Carvalho, T. U., and de Souza, W. (1986). Infectivity of amastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Rev. Inst. Med. Trop. Sao Paulo* 28, 205–212.
- Cruz, M. C., Souza-Melo, N., Silva, C. V., DaRocha, W. D., Bahia, D., et al. (2012). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: role of δ-amastin on extracellular amastigote cell invasion and differentiation. *PLoS ONE* (in press).
- Fernandes, A. B., and Mortara, R. A. (2004). Invasion of MDCK epithelial cells with altered expression of Rho GTPases by *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes and metacyclic trypomastigotes of strains from the two major phylogenetic lineages. *Microbes Infect.* 6, 460–467.
- Fernandes, A. B., Neira, I., Ferreira, A. T., and Mortara, R. A. (2006). Cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes of distinct infectivities: studies on signaling pathways. *Parasitol. Res.* 100, 59–68.
- Fernandes, M. C., Cortez, M., Geraldo Yoneyama, K. A., Straus, A. H., Yoshida, N., and Mortara, R. A. (2007). Novel strategy in *Trypanosoma cruzi* cell invasion: Implication of cholesterol and host cell microdomains. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 37, 1431–1441.

Florencio-Martínez, L., Márquez-Dueñas, C., Ballesteros-Rodea, G., Martínez-Calvillo, S., and Manning-Cela, R. (2010). Cellular analysis of host cell infection by different developmental stages of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Exp. Parasitol.* 126, 332–336.

Iida, K., Whitlow, M. B., and Nussenzweig, V. (1989). Amastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* escape destruction by the terminal complement components. J. Exp. Med. 169, 881–891.

Jeffery, C. J. (2009). Moonlighting proteins – an update. *Mol. Biosyst.* 5, 345–350.

- Kahn, S. J., Wleklinski, M., Aruffo, A., Farr, A., Coder, C., and Kahn, M. (1995). *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigote adhesion to macrophages is facilitated by the mannose receptor. *J. Exp. Med.* 182, 1243–1258.
- Kahn, S. J., Wleklinski, M., Ezekowitz, R. A., Coder, D., Aruffo, A., and Farr, A. (1996). The major surface glycoprotein of *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes are ligands of the human serum mannose-binding protein. *Infect. Immun.* 64, 2649–2656.
- Lanar, D. E. (1979). Growth and differentiation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* cultivated with a *Triatoma infestans* embryo cell line. *J. Protozool.* 26, 457–462.
- Ley, V., Andrews, N. W., Robbins, E. S., and Nussenzweig, V. (1988). Amastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* sustain an infective cycle in mammalian cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 168, 649–659.
- Lima, F. M., Oliveira, P., Mortara, R. A., Silveira, J. F., and Bahia, D. (2010). The challenge of Chagas' disease: has the human pathogen, *Trypanosoma cruzi*, learned how to modulate signaling events to subvert host cells? *N. Biotechnol.* 27, 837–843.
- McCabe, R. E., Remington, J. S., and Araujo, E. G. (1984). Mechanisms of invasion and replication of the intracellular stage in *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect. Immun.* 46, 372–376.
- Mortara, R. A. (1991). Trypanosoma cruzi: amastigotes and trypomastigotes interact with different structures on the surface of HeLa cells. Exp. Parasitol. 73, 1–14.
- Mortara, R. A., Andreoli, W. K., Taniwaki, N. N., Fernandes, A. B., Silva, C. V., Fernandes, M. C., et al. (2005).

Mammalian cell invasion and intracellular trafficking by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infective forms. *An. Acad. Bras. Ciênc.* 77, 77–94.

- Mounier, J., Laurent, V., Hall, A., Fort, P., Carlier, M. F., Sansonetti, P. J., et al. (2003). Rho family GTPases control entry of *Shigella flexneri* into epithelial cells but not intracellular motility. *J. Cell Sci.* 112, 2069–2080.
- Nogueira, N., and Cohn, Z. (1976). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: mechanisms of entry and intracellular fate in mammalian cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 143, 1402–1420.
- Noisin, E. L., and Villalta, F. (1989). Fibronectin increases *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigote binding to and uptake by murine macrophages and human monocytes. *Infect. Immun.* 57, 1030–1034.
- Pan, S. C. (1978). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: in vitro interactions between cultured amastigotes and human skin-muscle cells. *Exp. Parasitol.* 45, 274–286.
- Procópio, D. O., Barros, H. C., and Mortara, R. A. (1999). Actin-rich structures formed during the invasion of cultured cells by infective forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 78, 911–924.
- Procópio, D. O., Silva, S., Cunningham, C. C., and Mortara, R. A. (1998). *Trypanosoma cruzi:* effect of protein kinase inhibitors and cytoskeletal protein organization and expression on host cell invasion by amastigotes and metacyclic trypomastigotes. *Exp. Parasitol.* 90, 1–13.
- Rodrigues, A. A., Saosa, J. S., da Silva, G. K., Martins, F. A., da Silva, A. A., Souza Neto, C. P., et al. (2012). IFN-γ plays a unique role in protection against low virulent *Trypanosoma cruzi* strain. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6, e1598. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001598
- Rondinelli, E., Silva, R., Carvalho, J. F., Soares, C. M. A., De Carvalho, E. F., and De Castro, F. T. (1988). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: an in vitro cycle of cell differentiation in axenic culture. *Exp. Parasitol.* 66, 197–204.
- Scharfstein, J., and Morrot, A. (1999). A role for extracellular amastigotes in the immunopathology of Chagas disease. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 94, 51–63.
- Silva, C. V., Kawashita, S. Y., Probst, C. M., Dallagiovanna, B., Cruz, M. C.,

da Silva, E. A., et al. (2009). Characterization of a 21 kDa protein from *Trypanosoma cruzi* associated with mammalian cell invasion. *Microbes Infect.* 11, 563–570.

- Silva, C. V., Luquetti, A. O., Rassi, A., and Mortara, R. A. (2006). Involvement of Ssp-4-related carbohydrate epitopes in mammalian cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigotes. *Microbes Infect.* 8, 2120–2129.
- Silva, E. O., Saraiva, E. M. B., De Souza, W., and Souto-Padrón, T. (1998). Cell surface characterization of amastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* obtained from different sources. *Parasitol. Res.* 84, 257–263.
- Simons, K., and Ikonen, E. (1997). Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* 387, 569–572.
- Tomlinson, S., Vanderkerchofen, F., Frevert, U., and Nussenzweig, V. (1995). The induction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote to amastigote transformation by low pH. *Parasitology* 110, 547–554.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 August 2012; paper pending published: 26 September 2012; accepted: 12 November 2012; published online: 30 November 2012.

Citation: Ferreira ÉR, Bonfim-Melo A, Mortara RA and Bahia D (2012) Trypanosoma cruzi extracellular amastigotes and host cell signaling: more pieces to the puzzle. Front. Immun. **3**:363. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00363

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Ferreira, Bonfim-Melo, Mortara and Bahia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any thirdparty graphics etc.



Cell signaling during Trypanosoma cruzi invasion

Fernando Y. Maeda, Cristian Cortez and Nobuko Yoshida*

Departamento de Microbiologia, Imunologia e Parasitologia, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

David M. Engman, Northwestern University, USA Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Nobuko Yoshida, Departamento de Microbiologia, Imunologia e Parasitologia, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Rua Pedro de Toledo, 669 - 6º andar, 04039-032 São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil. e-mail: nyoshida@unifesp.br

Cell signaling is an essential requirement for mammalian cell invasion by Trypanosoma cruzi. Depending on the parasite strain and the parasite developmental form, distinct signaling pathways may be induced. In this short review, we focus on the data coming from studies with metacyclic trypomastigotes (MT) generated in vitro and tissue culturederived trypomastigotes (TCT), used as counterparts of insect-borne and bloodstream parasites, respectively. During invasion of host cells by MT or TCT, intracellular Ca^{2+} mobilization and host cell lysosomal exocytosis are triggered. Invasion mediated by MT surface molecule gp82 requires the activation of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), and protein kinase C (PKC) in the host cell, associated with Ca²⁺-dependent disruption of the actin cytoskeleton. In MT, protein tyrosine kinase, PI3K, phospholipase C, and PKC appear to be activated. TCT invasion, on the other hand, does not rely on mTOR activation, rather on target cell PI3K, and may involve the host cell autophagy for parasite internalization. Enzymes, such as oligopeptidase B and the major T. cruzi cysteine proteinase cruzipain, have been shown to generate molecules that induce target cell Ca^{2+} signal. In addition, TCT may trigger host cell responses mediated by transforming growth factor β receptor or integrin family member. Further investigations are needed for a more complete and detailed picture of T. cruzi invasion.

Keywords: Trypanosoma cruzi, cell invasion, cell signaling, Ca²⁺ mobilization, metacyclic rypomastigote, tissue culture trypomastigote

INTRODUCTION

The hallmark of host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*, a process that involves diverse parasite and host cell components, is the activation of signal transduction pathways leading to elevation in cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration in both cells (Docampo and Moreno, 1996; Burleigh and Andrews, 1998; Yoshida, 2006). Ca^{2+} -dependent disruption of host cell actin cytoskeleton that follows interaction with *T. cruzi* facilitates the mobilization of lysosomes to the cell periphery, where the fusion with the plasma membrane contributes for the biogenesis of parasitophorous vacuole, inhibition of this event resulting in impaired parasite internalization (Tardieux et al., 1992; Rodriguez et al., 1995; Martins et al., 2011).

Studies with metacyclic trypomastigotes (MT) generated *in vitro* and tissue culture-derived trypomastigotes (TCT), used as counterparts of insect-borne and bloodstream parasites, respectively, have disclosed that these developmental forms engage distinct sets of molecules and diverse strategies to induce host cell Ca²⁺ signaling and lysosomal exocytosis required for their internalization. Here we summarize the data from experiments performed mostly with non-phagocytic mammalian cells, aiming at understanding the signaling events that lead to *T. cruzi* invasion.

MT SURFACE MOLECULES THAT TRIGGER HOST CELL SIGNALING DURING INVASION

Adhesion to host cells is the first step for *T. cruzi* invasion. Surface glycoproteins with cell adhesion properties expressed in MT, such as gp90, gp82, gp30, and gp35/50, which are differentially

expressed in different strains, bind to target cells in a receptormediated manner and trigger signaling pathways that may result or not in efficient parasite internalization (Yoshida, 2006).

Gp82, identified by the monoclonal antibody (mAb) 3F6, is a MT-specific surface molecule (Teixeira and Yoshida, 1986). It is a member of a multigene family that belongs to the gp85/transsialidase superfamily (Araya et al., 1994). Several pieces of evidence indicate that gp82 is engaged by highly infective T. cruzi strains to enter host cells (Ramirez et al., 1993; Cortez et al., 2012a). Gp82 is conserved among T. cruzi strains from divergent genetic groups, displaying >90% peptide sequence identity (Maeda et al., 2011). MT invasion mediated by gp82 triggers the target cell signaling cascades that result in cytosolic Ca²⁺ mobilization, an event detectable in mammalian cells susceptible to T. cruzi infection, such as HeLa and Vero cells, but not in T. cruzi-resistant K562 cells (Ruiz et al., 1998). Following gp82 recognition by its still undefined receptor, the available data indicate that Ca²⁺ is released from thapsigargin-sensitive stores, independent of inositol 1,4,5triphosphate (IP₃), or upon activation of phospholipase C (PLC), generating diacylglycerol (DAG) and IP₃, the former activates protein kinase C (PKC) and the latter promotes Ca^{2+} release from IP₃-sensitive compartments such as endoplasmic reticulum (ER; Ferreira et al., 2006; Maeda et al., 2012; Figure 1A). In addition to PKC, two other kinases participate in gp82-mediated MT invasion, namely the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a conserved Ser/Thr kinase that regulates diverse cell processes, and the lipid kinase phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), as suggests the diminished parasite invasion of cells pretreated with specific inhibitors of these enzymes (Martins et al., 2011; Figure 1A). What



are the connections between these kinases can only be inferred at this point from data available in other systems. PI3K may act on mTOR signaling, provided that the phosphorylation of downstream effectors of mTOR, such as S6K1 and 4E-BP1, is sensitive to rapamycin and also to PI3K inhibitor wortmannin (Chung et al., 1994; Mèndez et al., 1996; Hay and Sonenberg, 2004). Another possible functional association is between PKC and mTOR. A pathway linking epidermal growth factor receptor to mTOR that was critically dependent on PKC has been described in glioma (Fan et al., 2009) and the association of a mTOR homolog with PKC has been demonstrated in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Kumar et al., 2000). Under some circumstances, PI3K is activated upstream of PKC (Tong et al., 2000). Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-P₃, a product of PI3K, appears to directly initiate cellular motility via PKC activation (Derman et al., 1997).

The elevation of cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration induced by gp82 promotes two associated events that facilitate MT invasion, namely the Ca^{2+} -dependent actin cytoskeleton disruption and lysosome mobilization that culminates in exocytosis (Cortez et al., 2006; Martins et al., 2011; **Figure 2**). During gp82-mediated MT invasion, recently internalized parasites are seen within vacuoles that incorporated lysosome markers (**Figure 2**).

Gp30, a MT-specific surface molecule recognized by mAb 3F6 and expressed in gp82-deficient *T. cruzi* strains, is also implicated in cell invasion (Cortez et al., 2003, 2012a). Like gp82, binding of gp30 to target cells induces Ca²⁺ response and lysosome exocytosis, presumably through activation of signaling pathways involving PI3K, mTOR, and PKC (Cortez et al., 2003, 2012a). Gp30 and



FIGURE 2 | Lysosome mobilization induced by MT gp82. Shown are HeLa cells incubated for 1 h in absence or in the presence of the recombinant protein (r-gp82) containing the complete gp82 sequence. Spread of lysosomes (green) from the perinuclear region to the cell periphery is induced by r-gp82. In the inset, recently internalized MT (arrow) inside the parasitophorous vacuole with lysosome marker is shown.

gp82 are possibly recognized by the same receptor, as suggests the inhibition of host cell entry of both gp30- and gp82-expressing MT by mAb 3F6, as well as by recombinant proteins based on gp30 or gp82 (Cortez et al., 2003, 2012a).

In addition to gp82 or gp30, MT of different *T. cruzi* strains express variable levels of distinct isoforms of a stage-specific surface molecule gp90, which functions as a negative regulator of parasite infectivity (Málaga and Yoshida, 2001). Expression of gp90 at high levels is invariably associated with reduced capacity to enter target cells (Yoshida, 2006). As opposed to gp82 or gp30, and consistent with its role as down modulator of MT invasion, gp90 does not trigger Ca²⁺ signal upon binding to host cells (Ruiz et al., 1998).

Metacyclic trypomastigotes surface molecules gp35/50 recognized by mAb 10D8, expressed in poorly infective T. cruzi strains, are highly glycosylated mucin-like glycoproteins enriched in sialic acid and galactose residues that interact with target cells through their carbohydrate portion (Yoshida et al., 1989; Mortara et al., 1992; Schenkman et al., 1993b). Binding of gp35/50 to target cells triggers intracellular Ca²⁺ elevation, but to a lower degree than gp82 (Ruiz et al., 1998). Removal of sialic acid from gp35/50 increases the capacity to trigger target cell Ca²⁺ response and potentiates MT invasion (Yoshida et al., 1997). It appears therefore that sialvl residues impair parasite-host cell interaction and this is in contrast with the findings with TCT (Schenkman et al., 1991). Gp35/50-mediated invasion apparently requires F-actin recruitment, an event that may be associated with activation of adenylyl cyclase that generates cAMP (Ferreira et al., 2006).

The role played by MT secreted components in parasite internalization remains to be investigated. One such component, SAP (serine-, alanine-, and proline-rich protein), which binds to target cells in a receptor-dependent manner and induces Ca^{2+} signal, participates in the gp82-mediated internalization of MT but plays no role in gp35/50-mediated invasion (Baida et al., 2006). It is possible that SAP acts synergistically with gp82, by triggering Ca^{2+} signal that adds to the response induced by gp82.

SIGNALING PATHWAYS ACTIVATED IN MT DURING INVASION

Gp82-mediated invasion of host cells by MT triggers Ca²⁺ mobilization in the parasite, through signaling cascades involving PLC activation, generation of DAG and IP₃, leading to Ca²⁺ release from IP₃-sensitive reservoirs and PKC stimulation (Yoshida et al., 2000; Figure 1A). In addition to involvement of PI3K (Maeda et al., 2012), a protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) activation results in phosphorylation of p175, a protein undetectable in non-infective epimastigotes (Favoreto et al., 1998; Figure 1A). PTK activation and Ca²⁺ response are possibly associated events, provided that they are both affected by genistein (Yoshida et al., 2000), a PTK inhibitor that reduces MT infectivity (Neira et al., 2002). MT that invade host cells in a gp35/50-mediated manner may require cAMP and acidocalcisomes, the vacuoles containing a Ca²⁺/H⁺ exchange system (Docampo et al., 1995), appear to be the main source of Ca²⁺ required for parasite internalization (Neira et al., 2002).
TCT-INDUCED SIGNALING EVENTS IN TARGET CELLS

Diverse *T. cruzi* molecules, either secreted and/or expressed on the cell surface, have been implicated in TCT internalization. Among those known to have cell signal-inducing properties are cruzipain, *trans*-sialidase, trypomastigote small surface antigen (TSSA), and a soluble factor of undefined structure.

Cruzipain, the major *T. cruzi* cysteine proteinase expressed in all developmental forms of different strains (Murta et al., 1990; Paiva et al., 1998), participates in TCT internalization and in intracellular parasite development (Meirelles et al., 1992). From experiments using human umbilical vein endothelial cells or CHO cells overexpressing B₂ type of bradykinin receptor (B₂R), it was postulated that cruzipain acts on cell-bound kininogen and generates bradykinin that, upon recognition by B₂R triggers IP₃mediated Ca²⁺ influx (Scharfstein et al., 2000; **Figure 1B**), thus promoting parasite invasion, a mechanism that is not ubiquitous, its activation depending on the cell type and the parasite isolate used. Higher expression of functional cruzipain does not correlate with parasite infectivity (Paiva et al., 1998).

Trypanosoma cruzi trans-sialidase (TS), an enzyme that specifically transfers alpha (2-3)-linked sialic acid from host-derived macromolecules to parasite surface molecules, facilitates TCT invasion by sialylating a TCT-specific epitope Ssp-3, which is recognized by target cells through its sialic acid residues and whose signaling properties are unknown (Schenkman et al., 1991). TS may function as a TCT ligand to host cell alpha 2,3-sialyl receptors as a prelude to invasion (Ming et al., 1993). Signaling activities of TS toward mammalian cells include activation of PI3K/Akt pathway that contributes for survival of Schwann cells (Chuenkova et al., 2001), of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) or extracellular regulated kinase (ERK) pathways that induce neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells (Chuenkova and Pereira, 2001). TCT binds to TrkA, a receptor tyrosine kinase activated primarily by nerve growth factor, in a manner mediated by TS, inducing TrkA autophosphorylation and PI3K/Akt kinase signaling through TrkA-dependent mechanisms (Chuenkova and PereiraPerrin, 2004). Whether these TS-induced signaling mechanisms are associated with TCT invasion is not known. The participation of host cell sialic acid in TCT invasion has been inferred using Chinese hamster ovary cell mutant that is much less susceptible to infection than the parental cell line (Ciavaglia et al., 1993; Ming et al., 1993; Schenkman et al., 1993a). In macrophages, removal of sialic acid with neuraminidase or its blockage with cationized ferritin increased TCT uptake (Araújo Jorge and de Souza, 1984; Meirelles et al., 1984).

Recently, Cánepa et al. (2012) reported that peptides based on TSSA, a mucin-like molecule rich in serine and threonine predicted to be O-glycosylated (Di Noia et al., 2002), bind to mammalian cells and induce Ca^{2+} signaling. The question whether the native glycosylated TSSA and synthetic TSSA peptides share the same cell adhesion and signaling properties has not been addressed.

A secreted TCT factor of unknown structure has been claimed to trigger host cell Ca^{2+} mobilization in IP₃-mediated manner (Rodriguez et al., 1995). According to Burleigh et al. (1997), the soluble TCT factor is produced by the action of cytosolic oligopeptidase B (OPB), an enzyme closely related to members of the prolyl oligopeptidase family of serine endopeptidases. The Ca²⁺ agonist, generated from a precursor molecule in TCT cytoplasm, would be exported and its recognition by a target cell receptor, followed by PLC activation and IP₃ production, would release Ca²⁺ from ER (Caler et al., 1998; Figure 1B). OPB null TCT had a diminished cell invasion capacity, a Ca²⁺ signalinducing activity of low intensity and recruited lysosome in a significantly delayed fashion, but preserved the property to induce cAMP elevation in host cells (Caler et al., 2000), which is associated with the ability to potentiate Ca²⁺-regulated lysosomal exocytosis (Rodriguez et al., 1999). While the ability of Ca^{2+} agonist produced by OPB in disrupting F-actin filaments is associated with increased TCT invasion (Rodriguez et al., 1995), there are reports indicating that actin cytoskeleton disruption results in diminished TCT entry into different cell types, including heart muscle cells (Meirelles et al., 1999; Rosestolato et al., 2002).

Several TCT surface molecules with affinity for extracellular matrix have been implicated in host cell invasion, but little is known about their signal-inducing properties. Among such molecules is a laminin-binding glycoprotein encoded by a multigene Tc85 family belonging to the gp85/trans-sialidase superfamily (Giordano et al., 1999). Conserved in all members of gp85/trans-sialidase glycoprotein family is the FLY domain (VTVXNVFLYNR). Peptide based on FLY binds to cytokeratin 18 (CK18) on the surface of LLC-MK(2) epithelial cells and promotes dephosphorylation and CK18 reorganization, activating ERK1/2 signaling pathway that leads to increased TCT internalization (Magdesian et al., 2001). This finding with peptide FLY is unlikely to bear any association with TCT entry into host cells because FLY domain is almost completely buried (Cortez et al., 2012b), therefore unavailable for interaction with CK18. In support of this view, transient silencing of CK18 gene in RNAi-treated HeLa cells did not affect binding and invasion of TCT (Claser et al., 2008). Furthermore, a recombinant protein based on amastigote surface protein-2 containing FLY domain failed to bind CK18 (Claser et al., 2008), consistent with the fact that FLY domain is not exposed on the surface.

Cell signaling events during TCT internalization, without association with specific T. cruzi molecules, have been reported by many authors. In different cell types, activation of PI3K emerges as a common feature for TCT invasion process. PI3K activated by TCT facilitates lysosome-dependent parasite entry into nonpahgocytic cells (Woolsey et al., 2003). In target cells invaded by a significant fraction of TCT through an lysosome-independent pathway, there is the formation of a host cell plasma membranederived vacuole enriched in the lipid products of class I PI3 kinases, initially devoid of lysosomal markers and gradually acquiring lysosome associated membrane protein 1 (Woolsey et al., 2003). This lysosome-independent early event is compatible with the finding that the newly forming TCT compartments first interact with an early endosome and subsequently with other late endosomes, before interaction with lysosomes (Wilkowsky et al., 2002). Using blood trypomastigotes and macrophages, Todorov et al. (2000) found that class I and class III PI3-kinase activities are involved in parasite internalization. PI3K recruitment and assembly of actin filaments were detected at the site of TCT interaction with macrophages (Vieira et al., 2002). In non-phagocytic Vero, L_6E_9 and NIH 3T3 cells, as well as in human and J774 murine macrophages, PI3K inactivation was ascertained using specific PI3K inhibitors (Wilkowsky et al., 2001). Concomitant with PI3K activation, a strong activation of protein kinase B (PKB/Akt) occurs and, accordingly, transiently transfected cells containing an inactive mutant PKB are more resistant to infection by TCT as compared to the active mutant-transfected cells (Wilkowsky et al., 2001).

Tissue culture-derived trypomastigotes invasion of macrophages also requires PTKs (Vieira et al., 1994). Tyrosinephosphorylated residues accumulate at the site of TCT association with the cell surface, co-localizing with macrophage F-actin-rich domains (Vieira et al., 2002). Activation of macrophage PKC induced by recombinant gp83, a TCT surface ligand, was also reported (Villalta et al., 1999). Protein phosphatases may also play a role in TCT internalization. Tyrosine dephosphorylation of several proteins is induced by TCT in L₆E₉ myoblasts and the cells, either treated with protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors or in the presence of excess phosphotyrosine, become more resistant to invasion by TCT (Zhong et al., 1998). The involvement of alkaline phosphatase has been deduced from experiments with human HEp2 tumor cells that, upon inhibition of the enzyme activity, exhibited a different pattern of actin organization and reduced susceptibility to TCT invasion (Sartori et al., 2003).

Several other host cell components have been implicated in TCT invasion. Ming et al. (1995) found that TCT induce a transforming growth factor β (TGF- β)-responsive reporter gene in TGF-β-sensitive cell lines, and epithelial cells lacking TGF-β receptor I or II, or with dysfunction of the intracellular signaling cascade due to constitutive expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase cdk4 or of the oncogene H-Ras, were more refractory to penetration by TCT. In experiments with human coronary artery smooth muscle cells expressing galectin-3, which increases K-Ras activation and triggers a Ras signal (Elad-Sfadia et al., 2004), there was a decreased TCT adhesion to cells with reduced expression of galectin-3, which was restored by exogenous galectin-3 (Kleshchenko et al., 2004). The β 1 subunit of VLA integrin family that links the extracellular matrix to the cortical cytoskeleton was reported to be involved in TCT entry into human macrophages (Fernandez et al., 1993). Recently, acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) was claimed to be required for TCT invasion. Inhibition or depletion

REFERENCES

- Araújo Jorge, T., and de Souza, W. (1984). Effect of carbohydrates, periodate and enzymes in the process of endocytosis of *Trypanosoma cruzi* by macrophages. *Acta Trop.* 41, 17–28.
- Araya, J. E., Cano, M. I., Yoshida, N., and da Silveira, J. F. (1994). Cloning and characterization of a gene for the stage-specific 82-kDa surface antigen of metacyclic trypomastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 65, 161–169.
- Baida, R. C., Santos, M. R., Carmo, M. S., Yoshida, N., Ferreira, D., Ferreira, A. T., et al. (2006). Molecular characterization of serine-, alanine-, and proline-rich proteins of *Trypanosoma*

cruzi and their possible role in host cell infection. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 1537–1546.

- Burleigh, B. A., and Andrews, N. W. (1998). Signaling and host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 1, 451–465.
- Burleigh, B. A., Caler, E. V., Webster, P., and Andrews, N. W. (1997). A cytosolic serine endopeptidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* is required for the generation of Ca²⁺ signaling in mammalian cells. J. Cell Biol. 136, 609–620.
- Caler, E. V., Morty, R. E., Burleigh, B. A., and Andrews, N. W. (2000). Dual role of signaling pathways leading to Ca²⁺ and cyclic AMP elevation

of lysosomal ASM markedly reduced the target cell susceptibility to TCT invasion, whereas extracellular addition of ASM stimulated endocytosis, enhanced parasite entry, and restored normal invasion levels in ASM-depleted cells, and ceramide, the product of sphingomyelin hydrolysis, was detected in newly formed parasitophorous vacuoles containing TCT (Fernandes et al., 2011). Triggering of autophagy was also associated with TCT internalization. Romano et al. (2009) have shown that treatment of host cells with mTOR inhibitor rapamycin increased lysosomaldependent TCT invasion by inducing autophagy. This finding is in sharp contrast with gp82-mediated MT invasion that is inhibited by rapamycin (Martins et al., 2011). Also contrasting with gp82-mediated MT internalization that is impaired in cells prestarved for a short time (Martins et al., 2011), condition that triggers the autophagic pathway, TCT invasion increased upon prestarvation of target cells (Romano et al., 2009). In addition, the absence of Atg5 or the reduced expression of Beclin 1, proteins required at the initial steps of autophagosome formation, reduced the association of parasitophorous vacuole with the lysosomal marker Lamp-1 and diminished TCT entry (Romano et al., 2009).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

What emerges from the data on signaling events during host cell invasion by *T. cruzi* is a still fragmentary picture. Although many parasite as well as host cell components have been identified as playing roles in MT or TCT invasion, these may represent only a small part of the repertoire available for the accomplishment of the critical step for infection. The whole process is beginning to be understood at the molecular level. Furthermore, how the diverse elements are connected and what are the sequences of reactions that culminate in intracellular rearrangements that facilitate parasite internalization have as yet to be clarified. Therefore, a formidable task is still ahead before we can more fully understand the intricate functioning of molecular and cellular machinery involved in *T. cruzi* invasion.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work supported by Fudação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq).

in host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma* cruzi. Infect. Immun. 68, 6602–6610.

- Caler, E. V., Vaena de Avalos, S., Haynes, P. A., Andrews, N. W., and Burleigh, B. A. (1998). Oligopeptidase B-dependent signaling mediates host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. EMBO J.* 17, 4975–4986.
- Cánepa, G. E., Degese, M. S., Budu, A., Garcia, C. R. S., and Buscaglia, C. A. (2012). Involvement of TSSA (trypomastigote small surface antigen) in *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of mammalian cells. *Biochem. J.* 444, 211–218.
- Chuenkova, M. V., Furnari, F. B., Cavenee, W. K., and Pereira, M. A. (2001). *Trypanosoma cruzi trans*-sialidase: a

potent and specific survival factor for human Schwann cells by means of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 9936–9941.

- Chuenkova, M. V., and Pereira, M. A. (2001). The *T. cruzi trans*-sialidase induces PC12 cell differentiation via MAPK/ERK pathway. *Neuroreport* 4, 3715–3718.
- Chuenkova, M. V., and PereiraPerrin, M. (2004). Chagas' disease parasite promotes neuron survival and differentiation through TrkA nerve growth factor receptor. *J. Neurochem.* 91, 385–394.
- Chung, J., Grammer, T. C., Lemon, K. P., Kazlauskas, A., and Blenis,

J. (1994). PDGF- and insulindependent pp70S6k activation mediated by phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase. *Nature* 370, 71–75.

- Ciavaglia, M. C., Carvalho, T. U., and De Souza, W. (1993). Interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with cells with altered glycosylation patterns. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 193, 718–721.
- Claser, C., Curcio, M., de Mello, S. M., Silveira, E. V., Monteiro, H. P., and Rodrigues, M. M. (2008). Silencing cyotkeratin 18 gene inhibits intracellular replication of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in HeLa cells but not binding and invasion of *Trypanosomes. BMC Cell Biol.* 9, 68. doi: 10.1186/1471-2121-9-68
- Cortez, C., Martins, R. M., Alves, R. M., Silva, R. C., Bilches, L. C., Macedo, S., et al. (2012a). Differential infectivity by the oral route of *Trypanosoma cruzi* lineages derived from Y strain. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6, e1804. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001804
- Cortez, C., Yoshida, N., Bahia, D., and Sobreira, T. J. P. (2012b). Structural basis of the interaction of a *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface molecule implicated in oral infection with host cells and gastric mucin. *PLoS ONE* 7, e42153. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042153
- Cortez, M., Atayde, V., and Yoshida, N. (2006). Host cell invasion mediated by *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface molecule gp82 is associated with F-actin disassembly and is inhibited by enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli*. *Microbes Infect*. 8, 1502–1512.
- Cortez, M., Neira, I., Ferreira, D., Luquetti, A. O., Rassi, A., Atayde, V. D., et al. (2003). Infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic forms deficient in gp82 but expressing a related surface molecule gp30. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 6184–6191.
- Derman, M. P., Toker, A., Hartwig, J. H., Spokes, K., Falck, J. R., Chen, C. S., et al. (1997). The lipid products of phosphoinositide 3-kinase increase cell motility through protein kinase C. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 6465–6470.
- Di Noia, J. M., Buscaglia, C. A., De Marchi, C. R., Almeida, I. C., and Frasch, A. C. (2002). A *Trypanosoma cruzi* small surface molecule provides the first immunological evidence that Chagas' disease is due to a single parasite lineage. *J. Exp. Med.* 195, 401–413.
- Docampo, R., and Moreno, S. N. (1996). The role of Ca^{2+} in the process of cell invasion by intracellular parasites. *Parasitol. Today* 12, 61–65.
- Docampo, R., Scott, D. A., Vercesi, A. E., and Moreno, S. N. (1995). Intracellular Ca²⁺ storage in acidocalcisomes

of Trypanosoma cruzi. Biochem. J. 310, 1005–1012.

- Elad-Sfadia, G., Haklai, R., Balan, E., and Kloog, Y. (2004). Galectin-3 augments K-Ras activation and triggers a Ras signal that attenuates ERK but not phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 34922–34930.
- Fan, Q. W., Cheng, C., Knight, Z. A., Haas-Kogan, D., Stokoe, D., James, C. D., et al. (2009). EGFR signals to mTOR through PKC and independently of Akt in glioma. *Sci. Signal.* 2, ra4.
- Favoreto, S. Jr., Dorta, M. L., and Yoshida, N. (1998). *Trypanosoma cruzi* 175-kDa protein tyrosine phosphorylation is associated with host cell invasion. *Exp. Parasitol.* 89, 188–194.
- Fernandes, M. C., Cortez, M., Flannery, A. R., Tam, C., Mortara, R. A., and Andrews, N. W. (2011). *Trypanosoma cruzi* subverts the sphingomyelinasemediated plasma membrane repair pathway for cell invasion. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 909–921.
- Fernandez, M. A., Munoz-Fernandez, M. A., and Fresno, M. (1993). Involvement of beta 1 integrins in the binding and entry of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into human macrophages. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23, 552–557.
- Ferreira, D., Cortez, M., Atayde, V. D., and Yoshida, N. (2006). Actin cytoskeleton-dependent and independent host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is mediated by distinct parasite surface molecules. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 5522–5528.
- Giordano, R., Fouts, D. L., Tewari, D., Colli, W., Manning, J. E., and Alves, M. J. M. (1999). Cloning of a surface membrane glycoprotein specific for the infective form of *Trypanosoma cruzi* having adhesive properties to laminin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 3461– 3468.
- Hay, N., and Sonenberg, N. (2004). Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes Dev. 18, 1926–1945.
- Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Moody, T. N., Furtak, V. A., Ochieng, J., Lima, M. F., and Villalta, F. (2004). Human galectin-3 promotes *Trypanosoma cruzi* adhesion to human artery smooth muscle cells. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 6717–6721.
- Kumar, V., Panadey, P., Sabatini, D., Kumar, M., Majumder, P. K., Bharti, A., et al. (2000). Functional interaction between RAFT1/FRAP/mTOR and protein kinase Cô in the regulation of cap-dependent initiation of translation. *EMBO J.* 19, 1087–1097.
- Maeda, F. Y., Alves, R. M., Cortez, C., Lima, F. M., and Yoshida, N. (2011). Characterization of the infective properties of a new genetic group

of *Trypanosoma cruzi* associated with bats. *Acta Trop.* 120, 231–237.

- Maeda, F. Y., Cortez, C., Alves, R. M., and Yoshida, N. (2012). Mammalian cell invasion by closely related *Trypanosoma* species *T. dionisii and T. cruzi. Acta Trop.* 121, 141–147.
- Magdesian, M. H., Giordano, R., Ulrich, H., Juliano, M. A., Juliano, L., Schumacher, R. I., et al. (2001). Infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: identification of a parasite ligand and its hostcell receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 19382–19389.
- Málaga, S., and Yoshida, N. (2001). Targeted reduction in expression of *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface glycoprotein gp90 increases parasite infectivity. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 353–359.
- Martins, R. M., Alves, R. M., Macedo, S., and Yoshida, N. (2011). Starvation and rapamycin differentially regulate host cell lysosome exocytosis and invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic forms. *Cell. Microbiol.* 13, 943–954.
- Meirelles, M. N., Juliano, L., Carmona, E., Silva, S. G., Costa, E. M., Murta, A. C., et al. (1992). Inhibitors of the major cysteinyl proteinase (gp57/51) impair host cell invasion and arrest the intracellular development of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in vitro. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 52, 175–184.
- Meirelles, M. N., Pereira, M. C., Singer, R. H., Soeiro, M. N., Garzoni, L. R., Silva, D. T., et al. (1999). *Trypanosoma cruzi*-cardiomyocytes: new contributions regarding a better understanding of this interaction. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 94(Suppl. 1), 149–152.
- Meirelles, M. N., Souto-Padrón, T., and de Souza, W. (1984). Participation of cell surface anionic sites in the interaction between *Trypanosoma cruzi* and macrophages. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. 16, 533–545.
- Mèndez, R., Myers, M. G. Jr., White, M. F., and Rhoads, R. E. (1996). Stimulation of protein synthesis, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E phosphorylation, and PHAS-I phosphorylation by insulin requires insulin receptor substrate and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 16, 2857–2864.
- Ming, M., Chuenkova, M., Ortega-Barria, E., and Pereira, M. E. (1993). Mediation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion by sialic acid on the host cell and *trans*-sialidase on the *Trypanosome. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 59, 243–252.
- Ming, M., Ewen, M. E., and Pereira, M. E. A. (1995). *Trypanosome* invasion

of mammalian cells requires activation of the TGF- β signaling pathway. *Cell* 82, 287–296.

- Mortara, R. A., da Silva, S., Araguth, M. F., Blanco, S. A., and Yoshida, N. (1992). Polymorphism of the 35- and 50-kilodalton surface glycoconjugates of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes. *Infect. Immun.* 60, 4673–4678.
- Murta, A. C., Persechini, P. M., Padron, S., de Souza, W., Guimarães, J. A., and Scharfstein, J. (1990). Structural and functional identification of gp57/51 antigen of *Trypanosoma cruzi* as a cysteine proteinase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 43, 27–38.
- Neira, I., Ferreira, A. T., and Yoshida, N. (2002). Activation of distinct signal transduction pathways in *Trypanosoma cruzi* isolates with differential capacity to invade host cells. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 32, 405–414.
- Paiva, C. N., Padron, T. S., Costa, D. A., and Gattass, C. R. (1998). High expression of a functional cruzipain by a non-infective and nonpathogenic *Trypanosoma cruzi* clone. *Parasitology* 117, 483–490.
- Ramirez, M. I., Ruiz, R. C., Araya, J. E., da Silveira, J. F., and Yoshida, N. (1993). Involvement of the stage-specific 82-kilodalton adhesion molecule of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes in host cell invasion. *Infect. Immun.* 61, 3636– 3641.
- Rodriguez, A., Martinez, I., Chung, A., Berlot, C. H., and Andrews, N. W. (1999). cAMP regulates Ca²⁺dependent exocytosis of lysosomes and lysosome-mediated cell invasion by *trypanosomes. J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 6754–16759.
- Rodriguez, A., Rioult, M. G., Ora, A., and Andrews, N. W. (1995). A *trypanosome*-soluble factor induces IP3 formation, intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization and microfilament rearrangement in host cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 129, 1263–1273.
- Romano, P. S., Arboit, M. A., Vásquez, C. L., and Colombo, M. I. (2009). The autophagic pathway is a key component in the lysosomal dependent entry of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into the host cell. *Autophagy* 5, 6–18.
- Rosestolato, C. T. F., Dutra, J. M. F., De Souza, W., and Carvalho, T. M. U. (2002). Participation of host cell actin filaments during interaction of trypomastigote forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host cells. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 27, 91–98.
- Ruiz, R. C., Favoreto, S. Jr., Dorta, M. L., Oshiro, M. E. M., Ferreira, A. T., Manque, P. M., et al. (1998). Infectivity of *Trypanosoma cruzi* strains

is associated with differential expression of surface glycoproteins with differential Ca^{2+} signaling activity. *Biochem. J.* 330, 505–511.

- Sartori, M. J., Mezzano, L., Lin, S., Munoz, S., and Fabro, S. P. (2003). Role of placental alkaline phosphatase in the internalization of trypomastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into HEp2 cells. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 8, 832–839.
- Scharfstein, J., Schmitz, V., Morandi, V., Capella, M. M. A., Lima, A. P. C. A., Morrot, A., et al. (2000). Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is potentiated by activation of bradykinin B2 receptors. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 1289–1299.
- Schenkman, R. P., Vandekerckhove, F., and Schenkman, S. (1993a). Mammalian cell sialic acid enhances invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect. Immun.* 61, 898–902.
- Schenkman, S., Ferguson, M. A., Heise, N., Cardoso de Almeida, M. L., Mortara, R. A., and Yoshida, N. (1993b). Mucin-like glycoproteins linked to the membrane by glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor are the major acceptors of sialic acid in a reaction catalyzed by *trans*-sialidase in metacyclic forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 59, 293–304.
- Schenkman, S., Jiang, M. Hart., G. W., and Nussenzweig, V. (1991). A novel cell surface *trans*-sialidase of *Trypanosoma cruzi* generates a stagespecific epitope required for invasion of mammalian cells. *Cell* 65, 1117– 1125.
- Tardieux, I., Webster, P., Ravesloot, J., Boron, W., Lunn, J. A., Heuser, J.

E., et al. (1992). Lysosome recruitment and fusion are early events required for *Trypanosoma* invasion of mammalian cells. *Cell* 71, 1117– 1130.

- Teixeira, M. M. G., and Yoshida, N. (1986). Stage-specific surface antigens of metacyclic trypomastigotes of *Trypanosoma cruzi* identified by monoclonal antibodies. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 18, 271–282.
- Todorov, A. G., Einicker-Lamas, M., Castro, S. L., Oliveira, M. M., and Guilherme, A. (2000). Activation of host cell phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 32182– 32186.
- Tong, H., Chen, W., Steenbergen, C., and Murphy, E. (2000). Ischemic reconditioning activates phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase upstream of protein kinase C. *Circ. Res.* 87, 309–315.
- Vieira, M., Dutra, J. M., Carvalho, T. M., Cunha-e-Silva, N. L., Souto-Padrón, T., and de Souza, W. (2002). Cellular signaling during the macrophage invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 118, 491–500.
- Vieira, M. C. F., Carvalho, T. U., and Souza, W. (1994). Effect of protein kinase inhibition on the invasion process of macrophages by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 203, 967–971.
- Villalta, F., Zhang, Y., Bibb, K. E., Pratap, S., Burns, J. M. Jr., and Lima, M. F. (1999). Signal transduction in human macrophages by gp83 ligand of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: trypomastigote gp83 ligand up-regulated *trypanosome* entry through protein

kinase C activation. Mol. Cell Biol. Res. Commun. 2, 64–70.

- Wilkowsky, S. E., Barbieri, M. A., Stahl, P., and Isola, E. L. D. (2001). *Try*panosoma cruzi: phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and protein kinase B activation is associated with parasite invasion. *Exp. Cell Res.* 264, 211–218.
- Wilkowsky, S. E., Barbieri, M. A., Stahl, P. D., and Isola, E. L. D. (2002). Regulation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of nonphagocytic cells by the endocytically active GTPases dynamin, Rab5, and Rab7. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 291, 516–521.
- Woolsey, A. M., Sunwoo, L., Petersen, C. A., Brachmann, S. M., Cantley, L. C., and Burleigh, B. A. (2003). Novel PI 3-kinase-dependent mechanisms of *trypanosome* invasion and vacuole maturation. *J. Cell Sci.* 116, 3611–3622.
- Yoshida, N. (2006). Molecular basis of mammalian cell invasion by *Try*panosoma cruzi. An. Acad. Bras. Ciênc. 78, 87–111.
- Yoshida, N., Dorta, M. L., Ferreira, A. T., Oshiro, M. E., Mortara, R. A., Acosta-Serrano, A., et al. (1997). Removal of sialic acid from mucin-like surface molecules of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes enhances parasite–host cell interaction. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 84, 57–67.
- Yoshida, N., Favoreto, S. Jr., Ferreira, A. T., and Manque, P. M. (2000). Signal transduction induced in *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes during the invasion of mammalian cells. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 33, 269–278.
- Yoshida, N., Mortara, R. A., Araguth, M. F., Gonzalez, J. C., and Russo,

M. (1989). Metacyclic neutralizing effect of monoclonal antibody 10D8 directed to the 35 and 50 kilodal-ton surface glycoconjugates of *Try-panosoma cruzi*. *Infect. Immun.* 57, 1663–1667.

Zhong, L., Lu, H. G., Moreno, S. N., and Docampo, R. (1998). Tyrosine phosphate hydrolysis of host proteins by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is linked to cell invasion. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 161, 15–20.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 August 2012; paper pending published: 30 September 2012; accepted: 12 November 2012; published online: 28 November 2012.

Citation: Maeda FY, Cortez C and Yoshida N (2012) Cell signaling during Trypanosoma cruzi invasion. Front. Immun. **3**:361. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00361

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Maeda, Cortez and Yoshida. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Sialic acid: a sweet swing between mammalian host and *Trypanosoma cruzi*

Leonardo Freire-de-Lima, Isadora A. Oliveira, Jorge L. Neves, Luciana L. Penha, Frederico Alisson-Silva, Wagner B. Dias and Adriane R. Todeschini*

Laboratório de Glicobiologia Estrutural e Funcional, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Maria Júlia M. Alves, University of São Paulo, Brazil Tecia M. Carvalho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Adriane R. Todeschini, Laboratório de Glicobiologia Estrutural e Funcional, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Avenida Carlos Chagas Filho, 373, Centro de Ciências da Saúde-Bloco D-3, Cidade Universitária, 21941-902 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. e-mail: adrianet@biof.ufrj.br Commonly found at the outermost ends of complex carbohydrates in extracellular medium or on outer cell membranes, sialic acids play important roles in a myriad of biological processes. Mammals synthesize sialic acid through a complex pathway, but *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the agent of Chagas' disease, evolved to obtain sialic acid from its host through a *trans*-sialidase (TcTS) reaction. Studies of the parasite cell surface architecture and biochemistry indicate that a unique system comprising sialoglycoproteins and sialyl-binding proteins assists the parasite in several functions including parasite survival, infectivity, and host–cell recognition. Additionally, TcTS activity is capable of extensively remodeling host cell glycomolecules, playing a role as virulence factor. This review presents the state of the art of parasite sialobiology, highlighting how the interplay between host and parasite sialic acid helps the pathogen to evade host defense mechanisms and ensure lifetime host parasitism.

Keywords: glycoconjugate, sialic acid, sialidase, parasite, immune response

THE SIALIC ACIDS

Sialic acids (Sia) are 9-carbon backbone acidic monosaccharides found at prominent positions of the sugar chains of glycoconjugates present on cell membranes or secreted into the extracellular medium. The most common members of this family are the *N*-acetylneuraminic acid [Neu5Ac] and its derivative the *N*glycolylneuraminic acid [Neu5Gc] that differ from each other at position 5 (C-5), which is substituted with an acetamido or a hydroxyacetamido moiety respectively (**Figure 1**).

The metabolism of Sia in mammals involves 32 genes that encode enzymes and transporters, distributed among the different compartments of the cell (Wickramasinghe and Medrano, 2011). The final product of this complex biosynthetic pathway, the activated form of Sia (CMP-Sia), is transferred to the nonreducing end of newly synthesized glycan chains by a family of sialyltransferases present in the Golgi lumen. In vertebrates, Sia are commonly linked via an α 2–3 linkage to galactopyranose (Gal*p*), via an α 2–6 linkage to Gal*p* and *N*-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc), or via an α 2–8 linkage to another Sia (Varki et al., 2009).

Sia-containing glycoconjugates are involved in a myriad of cell functions. Because of the negative charge, these molecules affect the recognition and anti-recognition phenomena. They are targets of Sia-binding lectins and can mask underlying structures, for example impeding the binding of Gal-specific receptors (Sørensen et al., 2009; Rabinovich et al., 2012).

Sia are also important as recognition sites in host–pathogen interactions acting as ligands for parasite adherence, possibly driving natural selection (Varki, 2006). Further, Sia play a major role protecting the infective agent from the host's immune response through molecular mimicry while unsialylated strains are rapidly cleared. The evolutionary advantage of this molecular mimicry is so evident that several parasites exploit cell-surface sialylation to survive within the host environment and establish the infection (Vimr and Lichtensteiger, 2002).

One of the most elegant mechanisms of cell-surface sialylation is exploited by the protozoal parasite *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the etiological agent of Chagas' disease (Coura and Viñas, 2010). *T. cruzi* is not able to synthesize Sia. Instead the parasite scavenges it from host's sialyl glycoconjugates using its *trans*-sialidase activity (TcTS; Previato et al., 1985). TcTS is a modified sialidase, which preferentially transfers α 2-3-linked Sia from sialyl β -Gal*p* donor complexes of exogenous origin to acceptor surface mucin-like glycoproteins containing terminal β -galactopyranose residues (**Figure 2**). In the absence of suitable acceptors TcTS transfers Sia to water, then acting as a sialidase (Vandekerckhove et al., 1992).

Once restricted to Latin America, where it affects ~ 10 million people, Chaga's disease become a new worldwide challenge. It has now spread to North America, Europe, and the western Pacific region (Chappuis et al., 2010; Clayton, 2010). Molecules of the TcTS family (Freitas et al., 2011) and Sia acceptor glycoproteins (De Pablos and Osuna, 2012) are encoded by hundreds of genes. Combined, the TcTS and the mucin-like glycoproteins are likely to cover most of the parasite surface (**Figure 3B**) creating a parasite– host interface (**Figure 3A**)

In this review we discuss the importance of this unique biological system, comprised by both TcTS and mucin-like Sia acceptor glycoproteins, highlighting how the parasite explores host cell sialylation to establish infection for the lifetime of its host.



FIGURE 1 | The two major sialic acid found in mammals. (A) N-acetylneuraminic acid [Neu5Ac] and, (B) N-glycolylneuraminic acid [Neu5Gc].



THE SIALIC ACID ACCEPTORS ON THE SURFACE OF THE PARASITE AND ITS ROLE IN HOST PARASITE INTERACTION

The Sia acceptors on the surface of T. cruzi are mainly a family of highly O-glycosylated, threonine-rich mucin like glycoproteins (Figure 3D; Buscaglia et al., 2006; Mendonça-Previato et al., 2008) which are glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored to the parasite membrane (Previato et al., 1995). The Tc-mucins are the major expressed component on the of T. cruzi $(2 \times 10^6 \text{ copies})$ per parasite) and are the third most widely expanded gene family in the genome, comprising more than 1000 genes (Acosta-Serrano et al., 2001; Campo et al., 2004; El-Sayed et al., 2005; De Pablos and Osuna, 2012). Carrying up to 60% of its total mass in carbohydrates, mucins form an elaborate and highly decorated glycocalyx that allows the parasite to interact with and respond to its external environment. Furthermore, glycoproteins expressed on the parasite surface are known to be the major targets of protective immune responses, and this selective pressure presumably drives their expansion and variation among different strains (Minning et al., 2011).

The glycan structure of mucin is complex and heterogeneous among different *T. cruzi* strains. The structure of the oligosaccharides *O*-linked to the mucins of the non-infective epimastigote forms have been described (Previato et al., 1994, 1995; Todeschini et al., 2001, 2009; Agrellos et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2004). These *O*-glycans differ from those found in mammalian systems in three main aspects: (i) they are linked to the peptide backbone through an α -*N*-acetylglucosamine (α -GlcNAc) residue (Previato et al., 1998), rather than an α -*N*-acetylgalactosamine (α -GalNAc; Gill et al., 2011); (ii) they are further substituted by (Gal) on *O*-4 and O-6 rather than O-3 and O-6 as found in mammalian mucins (Varki et al., 2009); (iii) several strains carry a β -galactofuranose (β -Galf) attached to the GlcNAc O-4 (Previato et al., 1994; Agrellos et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2004). Two core families were characterized with substitution of the α -GlcNAc O-4 by either β -Galp or β -Galf. The Gal $f\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc core can be further elaborated by the action of galactopyranosyl or galactofuranosyl transferases. Additionally, substitution at the GlcNAc-ol O-6 can occur. Addition of β -Galf to mucins must be verified given that *T. cruzi* presents dozens β -galactofuranosyl transferase genes (El-Sayed et al., 2005; De Pablos and Osuna, 2012) while mammalian hosts glycoconjugates do not present this modification. β -Galf residues might account for host parasite selection since the presence of β -Galf-containing mucins are expressed mainly by strains involved in the sylvatic cycle of *T. cruzi* (Jones et al., 2004).

The major sialylated oligosaccharides (**Figure 3C**) so far characterized comprise a Neu5Ac α 2-3Gal $p\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc (Jones et al., 2004), a Gal $f\beta$ 1-4(Neu5Ac α 2-3Gal $p\beta$ 1-6)GlcNAc (Agrellos et al., 2003), a Gal $p\beta$ 1-4(Neu5Ac α 2-3Gal $p\beta$ 1-6)GlcNAc, and a Gal $p\beta$ 1-6(Neu5Ac α 2-3Gal $p\beta$ (1-4)GlcNAc (Todeschini et al., 2001). Characterization of the related monosialylated glycans confirms a previous report showing that incorporation of one Sia residue onto an acceptor hinders entry of a second residue (Previato et al., 1995). Thus, it is possible that concomitant presence of both α 2-3-linked Sia and terminal β -Galp residues have biological implications in the *T. cruzi*/host cell interaction.

In addition to the O-glycosylation observed in the mucins of epimastigote forms, mucin glycans of infective trypomastigotes derived from infected mammalian cells also contain terminal α -galactosyl residues. α -Gal containing saccharides are epitopes recognized by lytic antibodies found in chronic Chagasic patients (Almeida et al., 1994). Sialylation of parasite glycoconjugates confers significant resistance to killing by the lytic antibodies, which is in agreement with the hypothesis that sialylation must favor parasite survival (Pereira-Chioccola et al., 2000). Further evidence corroborating this hypothesis is that the presence of Sias on the parasite mucins may compromise the activation of the complement pathway (Tomlinson et al., 1994). After sialidase treatment, parasites become more sensitive to complement-induced lysis. Also, parasite uptake by macrophages is increased (Tomlinson et al., 1994).

The importance of Sia on the parasite surface during host cell infection is still controversial. While some studies have shown



that the presence of Sias in parasite epitopes increases *T. cruzi* infection (Piras et al., 1987; Schenkman et al., 1991), other groups suggest that the presence of Sias is not a requirement and/or may compromise the invasion of host cells (Araújo-Jorge and De Souza, 1988; Yoshida et al., 1997).

Finally, there are increasing evidences to support the Siabinding Ig-like lectin (Siglecs), on the host cell surface, as the coreceptor for *T. cruzi* mucin (Erdmann et al., 2009; Jacobs et al., 2010). The Siglecs are a family of sialic-acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectins that promote cell–cell interactions and regulate the functions of cells in the innate and adaptive immune systems through glycan recognition (Varki and Gagneux, 2012). It was demonstrated that *T. cruzi* mucin engagement with the Sia-binding protein Siglec-E promotes immunosuppression of dendritic cells (DC; Erdmann et al., 2009).

TCTS ACTIVITY AND ITS ROLE IN HOST PARASITE INTERACTION

TcTS is part of a protein family known as trans-sialidase/transsialidase-like, encoded by more than 1,400 genes (El-Sayed et al., 2005; Freitas et al., 2011). Members of the TcTS gene family can be classified in five groups based on sequence similarity and functional properties (Freitas et al., 2011). Active TS, also namely SAPA (shed acute-phase antigen) expressed by the infective trypomastigote (tTS) and the epimastigote TS (eTS) are grouped into Group I. eTS and tTS have identical enzymatic activities, being highly conserved in their primary sequences (Chaves et al., 1993; Briones et al., 1995; Jager et al., 2008), except for the SAPA domain and their 3' UTRs, which are completely different in sequence (Jager et al., 2007). Besides, eTS is a trans-membrane protein, while the tTS is associated with the membrane via a GPI linker (Agusti et al., 1997). Group II comprises members of the gp85 surface glycoproteins TSA-1, SA85, gp90, gp82, and ASP-2, which have been implicated in host cell attachment and invasion. FL-160, a representative of group III, is a complementary regulatory protein that inhibits the alternative and classical complement pathways. TsTc13, whose function is unknown, is the representative of group IV and is included in the TcS superfamily because it contains the conserved VTVxNVxL (Alves and Colli, 2008; Yoshida and Cortez, 2008; Souza et al., 2010). Recently a sequence clustering analysis demonstrated that TS family is even more complex and may arbor more groups and subgroups (Freitas et al., 2011).

Several studies suggest that the TcTS can sialylate or desialylate host cells modulating parasite adherence and penetration. Results with Sia-deficient mutants of Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells support this hypothesis (Ciavaglia et al., 1993; Ming et al., 1993). Sia deficient cells were less infected than wild-type cells, suggesting that sialylation of glycoconjugates on CHO cells surface is necessary during *T. cruzi* invasion. Moreover, treatment of cells with modified Sia precursors, *N*-propionylmannosamine and other *N*acylmannosamines, decreased cell invasion by *T. cruzi* (Lieke et al., 2011). Importance of TcTS enzymatic activity in host cell invasion was elegantly proven using an irreversible inhibitor (Carvalho et al., 2010a).

On the other hand, desialylation of sialoglycoproteins found in the membrane of phagolysosomes by TcTS is thought to be important for the escape of the parasite from the cytoplasm of infected cells (Hall et al., 1992; Hall and Joiner, 1993; Rubin-de-Celis et al., 2006).

Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked trypomastigote-derived TcTS can be released into the extracellular medium in fairly high amounts during acute T. cruzi infection in humans, thus acting distant from the parasite as a soluble factor. Besides its role in mammalian cell invasion, the soluble form of TcTS functions as a virulence determinant molecule, and therefore, could have relevant biological effects on the host immune system. It has been demonstrated (Chuenkova and Pereira, 1995) that in vivo injection of tiny amounts of purified native TcTS increases subsequent parasitemia and mortality in T. cruzi-infected mice. The effect observed was specific for the transfer activity of TcTS because it did not occur in mice primed with viral or bacterial sialidases. The mechanisms responsible for these effects were not determined but, since TcTS injection into deficient SCID mice did not affect parasitemia or mortality, it was suggested that the enzyme acts on host lymphocytes of the acquired immune system (Chuenkova and Pereira, 1995).

Indeed, multiple effects of TcTS on host T-lymphocyte function were additionally demonstrated. TcTS engagement with α 2-3-linked Sia-containing epitopes on CD43 (Todeschini et al., 2002a) from CD4⁺ T cells triggers costimulatory responses that increase mitogenesis and cytokine secretion, as well as promote rescue from apoptosis (Todeschini et al., 2002b). These results strongly suggest that TcTS could be a key parasite molecule inducing host polyclonal lymphocyte activation, seen as a condition underlying induction of immunopathology and hampering effective vaccination (Minoprio et al., 1989) in the course of *T. cruzi* infection.

Given that surface sialylation might be crucial to decide the final fate of the cells during interaction with thymic lectins (Gillespie et al., 1993; Priatel et al., 2000) alteration of cell sialylation by the soluble TcTS might influence thymocyte development. In fact, alteration of the surface sialylation by TcTS (Mucci et al., 2006) leads to *in vivo* depletion of the CD4⁺CD8⁺ double-positive thymocytes inside the "nurse cell complex" (Leguizamón et al., 1999). Interestingly, thymocyte apoptosis observed after the sialyl residue mobilization requires the presence of a dimorphic glycosylation survey in the development of the T cell compartment that can be related to the observed differences in the

immune response among sexes (Gui et al., 2012). However, further studies about the molecular mechanism involved in the pro-apoptotic effect of TcTS are necessary. However, we can speculate that TcTS activity can mask or expose β -Galp which is recognized by molecules of the galectin family. Corroborating this hypothesis a role was reported for galectin-3 in death of CD4⁺CD8⁺ immature thymocytes and migration of these cells away from the thymus after *T. cruzi* infection (Silva-Monteiro et al., 2007).

The impact of sialylation mediated by TcTS on CD8⁺ T cell response of mice infected with T. cruzi is an exciting example of how a parasite can manipulate host cell sialylation to favor parasitism. Following infection CD8⁺ T cell responses are robust and persistent. However, they are significantly delayed (Garg et al., 1997; Tzelepis et al., 2007). This delay contrasts with the rapid appearance of CD8⁺ T cell responses in other viral, bacterial and even protozoal infections (Kaech et al., 2002), and suggests a operative mechanism of immune evasion. During T cell activation, down-regulation of sialyltransferases (Amado et al., 2004) renders potential Sia acceptors accessible to sialylation through TcTS activity (Figure 4). This sialylation may be advantageous to the parasite, since CD8⁺ T cells resialylated by TcTS present compromised Ag-specific responses and TcTS-treated mice present increased parasitemia (Freire-de-Lima et al., 2010). Cell surface Sia on CD8⁺ T cells might increase intercellular repulsion and therefore weaken TCR/MHC class I-mediated cell-cell interactions. This would be the opposite of the effect of neuraminidase treatment, which removes Sia residues from various membrane glycoproteins and enhances lymphocyte proliferation (Harrington et al., 2000). In an attempt to establish the nature of the Sia acceptor for TcTS on the CD8⁺ T cell surface, CD8⁺ T cells from mice lacking the ST3Gal-I sialyltransferase, an enzyme required for sialylation of core 1 O-glycans (Priatel et al., 2000), were infected with T. cruzi. Loss of ST3Gal-I sialyltransferase exposes the Galβ1-3GalNAc-Ser/Thr moiety creating an interesting model to establish CD43 as a natural receptor for native TcTS during T. cruzi infection. Indeed, infection of mice lacking ST3-Gal-I sialyltransferase restores, at least in part, binding of anti-CD43 S7 mAb, which recognizes Sia-containing epitopes on CD43 of CD8⁺ T cells. These findings indicated that CD43 is a target receptor for TS on the CD8⁺ T cell surface. However, resialylation by TcTS was also observed on CD8⁺ T cells from CD43 KO mice, suggesting that in the absence of CD43 other molecules are substrates for TcTS. Other studies using azido-modified unnatural Sia revealed that CD45 isoforms are Sia acceptors for TcTS activity as well (Muiá et al., 2010).

In infected individuals, alteration of cell surface sialylation by TcTS can also compromise host cell homeostasis. Tribulatti et al. (2005) demonstrated that the administration of TcTS into uninfected mice was able to reduce the Sia content of platelets, exposing terminal galactose residues, which may explain the severe thrombocytopenia observed in *T. cruzi* infected individuals. The recognition of terminal galactose moiety exposed on the platelet surface accelerates platelet clearance by asialoglycoprotein receptor-expressing scavenger cells (Sørensen et al., 2009). The effect of TcTS on the lifetime of other cell types and plasma glycoproteins must be further verified.



Beyond host immune response, it has been observed that TcTS alters the sialylation status of the tyrosine kinase receptor-A (TrkA) in PC12 cells, which leads to receptor internalization, activation, and neuronal differentiation (Woronowicz et al., 2004). Authors demonstrated that the effects observed are triggered by hydrolysis of Sia residues of TrkA by TcTS, as a purified recombinant α 2–3-neuraminidase but not a catalytically inactive mutant of TcTS induced the receptor phosphorylation. Such enzymatic activity might be involved in the neural repair and neuroprotection mediated by the TcTS, also called *T. cruzi*-derived neurotrophic factor (Chuenkova and Pereiraperrin, 2011).

The examples described in this section strongly suggest that *T. cruzi* exploits the glycosylation of molecules expressed by the host to evasion of the immune response, thus perpetuating the infection.

INACTIVE TcTS

Inactive TcTS (TcTS_{Y342H}) is a parasite adhesin that differs from the active TcTS due to a single mutation of catalytic residue Tyr342, which is mainly changed by a histidine (Cremona et al., 1995). In some *T. cruzi* strains, genes encoding TcTS_{Y342H} members are present in the same copy number as those encoding TcTS (Cremona et al., 1999). However, further studies should be performed in order to address the expression levels and the ratio of the TcTS: TcTS_{Y342H} protein on *T. cruzi* surface.

TcTS_{Y342H} is a unique adhesin containing two sugar binding sites: one for α 2,3-Sia and other for β -Galp (Todeschini et al., 2002a, 2004; Oppezzo et al., 2011). Interestingly, the carbohydrate

recognition domain for β -Galp residue is formed only after a conformational switch triggered by prior sialoside binding (Tode-schini et al., 2004). The bivalent nature of TcTS_{Y342H} might promote glycan cross-linking, which is believed to be essential for cellular signal transduction.

The finding that inactive TS has two carbohydrate binding domains, may explain some apparently contradictory results on the involvement of sialyl and galactosyl epitopes in T. cruzi/host cell interaction. While Schenkman et al. (1991) have shown that sialylation of Ssp-3 epitope of mammalian cell-derived trypomastigotes is required for target cell recognition, Yoshida et al. (1997) reported that the removal of Sia from the surface of insect-derived metacyclic trypomastigotes enhances parasite-host interaction. The removal of Sia from T. cruzi glycoproteins and the concomitant exposure of cryptic β -Galp residues would favor TcTS_{Y342H} interaction with both host sialoglycoconjugates and terminal β -Gal*p*-containing glycoproteins on the parasite surface, thus enhancing T. cruzi/host adhesion. This phenomenon was well characterized for CD22, a mammalian Sia-binding lectin (Varki and Gagneux, 2012). The removal of Sia and concomitant exposure of β -Galp residues from host cell glycans, which occurs as a result of the T. cruzi TS reaction may, therefore, be physiologically significant by promoting parasite adherence to, and penetration of host cells.

On the other hand, the parasite might use the active TS to sialylate host cell glycomolecules and generate receptors for TcTS_{Y342H} mediating trypanosome adherence to a target cells. Data showing that sialic acid-deficient cells are less infected than wild-type cells (Ciavaglia et al., 1993; Ming et al., 1993), suggest that recognition of sialyl residues on CHO cells by $TcTS_{Y342H}$ is necessary during *T. cruzi* invasion.

The hypothesis that TcTS_{Y342H} promotes glycan cross-linking can be corroborated by data showing that both forms, active and TcTS_{Y342H}, bind to α 2,3-Sia from CD43 on host CD4⁺ T cells, triggering a co-stimulatory response through mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK1/2 cascade inducing mitogenesis (Todeschini et al., 2002b). It was also shown that both forms of TcTS protect neuronal and glial cells from apoptosis through activation of PI3K/Akt pathway and up-regulate the anti-apoptotic bcl-2 gene (Chuenkova and Pereira, 2000; Chuenkova et al., 2001). Furthermore, we showed that TcTS_{Y342H} binds to a2,3-Sia containing molecules on endothelial cells resulting in NF-KB activation, expression of cell adhesion molecules and rescue from apoptosis. Activation of endothelial cells increases trypomastigotes attachment and invasion, suggesting that TcTS_{Y342H} plays a role in host cell invasion during T. cruzi infection (Dias et al., 2008). Further studies are required to establish the overall role of TcTS_{Y342H} in the pathogenesis of Chagas' disease. Data showing that TcTSY342H competes in vivo with the native TcTS for Sia and β-Gal binding sites, inhibiting potential sialylation events from taking place (Freire-de-Lima et al., 2010), might suggest that TcTS_{Y342H} benefits the host during T. cruzi infection. Decreased mortality of mice treated with TcTS_{Y342H} suggests a role in prolonging parasite persistence in host tissues and corroborates the role of TcTS-mediated sialvlation in the virulence of T. cruzi.

Yet the ability of T. cruzi to exploit host glycocalyx to attach and establish the infection must be further studied as other inactive members of TcTS might have lectinic properties. Two motifs common to other sialidases, FRIP (xRxP) and Asp box, can be found in various groups of the trans-sialidase-like family (Freitas et al., 2011). The FRIP motif, involved in binding the carboxylate group of sialic acid (Gaskell et al., 1995), is found in four out of seven groups of the trans-sialidase-like proteins. The Asp box follows the FRIP motif and can be repeated up to five times in the sequences of viral, bacterial, trypanosomatid, and mammalian sialidases. Although its function is unknown, it is worth noting that the Asp box occurs in secreted proteins and in proteins that act on, or interact with, carbohydrates (Copley et al., 2001). Growing evidence has shown that the insect vector-derived metacyclic trypomastigote uses its stage-specific surface molecule gp82, which is member of the gp85/TS superfamily, to bind to gastric mucin and establish T. cruzi infection in mice by the oral route (Neira et al., 2003; Staquicini et al., 2010; Cortez et al., 2012).

Findings showing that $TcTS_{Y342H}$ act as a lectin open a new avenue to be explored in the interaction of *T. cruzi* and its hosts. These studies raise the hypothesis that $TcTS_{Y342H}$ helps the parasite to bind to surfaces rich in sialylated glycoconjugates. In addition, $TcTS_{Y342H}$ can act as a lectin triggering cellular signaling, or helping the TcTS from *T. cruzi* surface to transfer and decorate the cellular surfaces with Sia.

TcTS MECHANISM

TcTS is a retaining glycoside hydrolase (Todeschini et al., 2000) member of the family number 33 (GH-33) that comprises the bacterial and eukaryotic exo-alpha sialidases (Withers and Williams, 2012). Unlike it's closely related sialidase, TcTS preferentially transfers sialic acid units to terminal β-Galp-containing molecules and synthesizes a2-3-linkages exclusively. Efforts to decipher the mechanism of TcTS catalysis have been important to the dissection of the mechanism of exo-alpha sialidases (Watts et al., 2006; Newstead et al., 2008) as these enzymes, unlike most of the retaining glycoside hydrolases, do not present a carboxylate correctly placed in the active site to act as a nucleophile. Pioneering studies with fluor-based sugar inactivators (Watts et al., 2003) followed by Lc-MS/MS peptide mapping and then crystallography (Amaya et al., 2004) demonstrated that TcTS operates through a double displacement mechanism involving the transient formation of a covalent sialyl-enzyme intermediate with a Tyrosine (Tyr342), a very conserved residue in exo-sialidases (Vocadlo and Davies, 20083; Davies et al., 2012), while D59 was proposed to act as a general acid/base catalyst.

From such results a classical ping-pong mechanism (Damager et al., 2008) was inferred for TcTS, where the sialosyl aglycone may abandon the active site to allow the entry of acceptor substrate. In this mechanism, as the sialic acid unit approaches the enzyme, it displaces the Tyr119 away from the binding site (Buschiazzo et al., 2002), its carboxylate group interacts with the Arg triad (Arg35, Arg245, Arg314), while its acetamido group interacts with Asp96. Such interactions induce planarization of the sialic acid moiety around the oxygen ring, with C1, C2, and C3 assuming a ⁴H₅ conformation during the transition state. The C2 suffers nucleophilic attack by Tyr342, assisted by Glu230 acting as a general base, and a covalent linkage is formed. The covalent intermediate assumes a ²C₅ conformation. The aglycone leaves the catalytic cleft, thus making space for binding of the sialic acid acceptor. Transfer to the acceptor would then occur through attack of the C2 of the sialyl-enzyme intermediate by the 3-OH group of a lactose moiety, or by water (as in other sialidases) which must be deprotonated by the residue acting as acid/base catalyst, Asp59 (Damager et al., 2008). Nevertheless, a mechanism that supports the higher rates for the transfer reaction requires significant conformational changes in the catalytic pocket during substrate binding and catalytic turnover, features not captured in TcTS crystals yet.

Numerous studies that show evidence for the plasticity of the TcTS catalytic cleft have been arisen. For instance, from molecular dynamics simulations it is known that the key hydrophobic residues Y119 and W312 confer flexibility to the catalytic cleft mouth and allow substrates to access the catalytic pocket in a controlled manner (Demir and Roitberg, 2009; Mitchell et al., 2010). Other key residues, which possibly contribute to the plasticity of binding site, were identified by mutagenesis studies (Paris et al., 2001; Carvalho et al., 2010b) or by hybrid quantum mechanics/molecular mechanics simulations (Pierdominici-Sottile and Roitberg, 2011). Crucial evidence for such plasticity rose from the observation that the TS_{Y342H} (Todeschini et al., 2002a) undergoes large conformational changes, upon sialoside binding, leading the overture of a second binding site that accommodates a β -Galp moiety (Todeschini et al., 2004). Active site rearrangement following the sialoside engagement was further proposed for the fully active TcTS (Haselhorst et al., 2004). Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy confirmed that association of the β -Galp within the

T. cruzi sialic acid

TcTS active site succeeding the sialic acid donor is necessary for the transfer reaction to proceed (Haselhorst et al., 2004). Results of TS_{Y342H} incubated with α 2-6-sialyllactose in the presence of lacto-*N*-tetraose, showing that incorrect fitting of sialoside into the binding site of TS does not trigger β -Gal*p* binding, corroborate this hypothesis. Furthermore, surface plasmon resonance results showing that lactose binds to an inactive mutant of TS_{D59N} in the presence of α 2-3-sialyllactose (Buschiazzo et al., 2002).

This discussion shows that further structural data are needed to shed light into the reaction mechanism that underlies efficient sugar transfer activity rather than simple hydrolysis by TcTS. Given that genomic analysis suggests that TcTS proteins have several point mutations (Freitas et al., 2011), structural and mechanistic works must be persistent, as mutations in key amino acids (Paris et al., 2001; Carvalho et al., 2010a) would produce critical modifications in TcTS catalysis and specificity.

INHIBITION OF SIALIC ACID TRANSFERENCE BY TcTS

Together, the above observations support the hypothesis that TcTS enhances T. cruzi virulence by altering host immune responses directed against the parasite. The facts that TcTS presents low homology with mammalian sialidases, and that it is the lonely protagonist for sialic acid acquisition by T. cruzi, provide a rationale for a new potential intervention strategy in chemotherapy of Chagas' disease. Beyond the urgency of alternative drugs to treat the illness, to pursuit of TcTS inhibitors has been the target of several research groups that aim to clarify the role of TcTS in the pathogenesis of Chagas' disease. However, compounds that effectively inhibit the catalytic activity of TS have not been described. The advances made in this field were somehow indirect, relying on few strategies like the use of neutralizing antibodies, given that the siRNA mechanism of gene silencing in T. cruzi is lacking, and TcTS is coded by multiple genes copies (Freitas et al., 2011) making gene deletion experiments unlikely to be successful (Balaña-Fouce and Reguera, 2007).

Although effective TcTS inhibitors have not yet been reached, efforts made in this area have found interesting lead compounds. The molecules so far tested as TcTS inhibitors are described below as compounds that are analogs to donor or acceptor substrates and compounds that are unrelated to TcTS substrates (**Figure 5**).

DONOR SUBSTRATE ANALOGS (Figure 5)

Unlike the influenza neuraminidase, TcTS activity is barely inhibited by 2-deoxy-2,3-didehydro-*N*-acetylneuraminic acid (DANA), a transition state analog (Paris et al., 2005), or by its analogous 5,6-dihydro-4H-pyran-2-carboxylic acid derivatives including zanamivir (Neres et al., 2006).

Despite the observed success with the use of S-glycosides as inhibitors of glycosidases including sialidases (Watson et al., 2006) the Neu5Aca2-3-S-Gal β -O-octyl was found to show no significant inhibition of TcTS even at millimolar concentrations (Harrison et al., 2001). The low inhibition rates observed by the Neu5Aca2-3-S-Gal β -O-octyl suggest that the conformations acquired by this compound in solution might not be recognized by the TcTS. This theory can be supported by NMR studies of the conformational distribution of cellobiose and S-cellobiose linked to the *Streptomyces* sp. β -glucosidase. These data showed that the

S-cellobiose presents three conformational families, unlike cellobiose which is only found in two conformations in solution (Montero et al., 1998).

Trapping of the 2,3-difluorosialic acid by the Tyr342 hydroxyl group opened new avenues for the design of irreversible inhibitors for TcTS (Watts et al., 2003). 2,3-Difluorosialic acid temporarily inactivates the TcTS through covalent binding with the hydroxyl group of Tyr342. However, complete inactivation requires very high concentrations of inhibitor (20 mM) and the enzyme spontaneously recovers its full catalytic activity (Watts et al., 2003). Incorporation of aryl groups at C9, like umbelliferyl, benzamide, and 4-(phenyl carbamide) butyramide, led to more than 1000-fold decrease in TcTS reactivation (Buchini et al., 2008). The crystal of the 9-benzoyl-3-fluoro-Nacetylneuraminic acid within TcTS showed that the presence of a voluminous group induced a reorientation of the glycerol side chain, which instead interacts with Tyr119, a site occupied by acceptor substrate, explaining low enzyme reactivation by lactose.

An elegant approach for the irreversible inhibition of TcTS was achieved with the 2-difluoromethyl-4-nitrophenyl-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero- α -D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosid acid (Neu5AcFNP) and 5-acetamido-2-(4-N-5-dimethylaminonaphthalene-1-sulfonyl-2-difluoromethylphenyl)-3,5-dideoxy-D-glycero- α -D-galacto-2-nonulopyranosonic acid (dansyl-Neu5AcFP). Characterization of trapped enzyme by mass spectrometry analysis revealed that inactivation of enzyme occurs through a covalent bond formation between the Arg245 and Asp247 residues with the reactive aglycone generated by the hydrolysis of dansyl-Neu5AcFP. Noteworthy is that Neu5AcFNP inhibited infection of mammalian cells by *T. cruzi* trypomastigotes (Carvalho et al., 2010a).

Apart from complex sugar frameworks, some cyclic scaffolds simulating hexose-like moieties, such cyclohexene, benzoic acid, and pyridine-based structures, were tested. A quite simple pyridoxal phosphate structure was reported as a weak non-competitive TcTS inhibitor (Ferrero-García et al., 1993). The same feature was observed for two *N*-acetyl-clyclohexene phosphonate monoalkyl esters (Streicher and Busse, 2006). Trials using a series of piridine-2-carboxylic acid and benzoic acid derivatives described the 4-acetylamino-3-hydroxymethylbenzoic acid as the best compound, with a Ki value of ~300 μ M (Neres et al., 2007). Curiously, this benzoic acid derivative had the same layout as the best cyclohexene phosphonate derivative from the work of Streicher and Busse (2006), evidencing a negative charged group, *N*-acetyl at opposed carbons and a hydroxyl group as pharmacophoric moieties for TcTS inhibition.

ACCEPTOR SUBSTRATE ANALOGS (Figure 5)

In face of fruitless efforts to inhibit TcTS by occupying the donor substrate site, some groups have targeted the acceptor binding site. Lactitol was able to competitively inhibit the TcTS reaction and to interfere with parasite infection in cultured cells (Agusti et al., 2004). Later modifications of the lactitol molecule, by adding Gal*p*, Gal*f*, or benzyl, led to a pentasaccharide with an IC50 of 0.61 mM (Agusti et al., 2007).

The acceptor substrate for the TcTS transfer reaction (Gal*p*) was also used as a source of inspiration for click chemistry synthesis of



triazoles-substituted saccharides. Starting from galactose derivatives bearing an azide group at C1 or C6, a triazolsubstituted saccharide library was made and tested against TcTS. Despite its low inhibitory activity against TcTS, the *N*-methyl benzylamide derivative presented trypanocidal activity (Carvalho et al., 2010b).

Recently, a series of octyl galactosides and octyl *N*-acetyllactosamines were tested against TcTS. Results showed that the TcTS acceptor binding site is intolerant of substitution of β -Gal*p* at positions 2 and 4, whereas substitution at position 6 of the Gal ring is well accepted, highlighting the potential of 6-substituted Gal residues as TcTS acceptor substrates (Harrison et al., 2011).

UNRELATED SUBSTRATE COMPOUNDS (Figure 5)

The 3-benzothiazol-2-yl-4-phenyl-but-3-enoic acid and sulfonamide scaffolds emerged, from virtual screening, as new frameworks for TcTS inhibition (Neres et al., 2009). Sulfonamides figured also as good substituents for chalcones used as TcTS inhibitors by Kim et al. (2009). Of the compounds tested, the tetrahydroxylated quinolinone inhibits both hydrolytic and TcTS activities at millimolar concentration (Kim et al., 2009). Similar to chalcones, various flavonoids and anthraquinones were systematically screened from a large library. A highly hydroxylated anthraquinone was the best inhibitor of TcTS, with an IC₅₀ of 0.58 μ M (Arioka et al., 2010). Moreover, this compound did not inhibit Neu2, a mammalian neuraminidase, demonstrating that its inhibition is reasonably specific to TcTS (Arioka et al., 2010). Therefore, this last structure represents, to date, the most promising scaffold for a TcTS inhibitor.

Despite great advances made toward TcTS inhibition, works highlighting the enzyme's plasticity (Demir and Roitberg, 2009; Mitchell et al., 2010) showing the existence of an acceptor binding site (Todeschini et al., 2004; Damager et al., 2008) suggest that the structure of TcTS with two cavities would be

REFERENCES

- Abdulkhalek, S., Amith, S. R., Franchuk, S. L., Jayanth, P., Guo, M., Finlay, T., et al. (2011). Neu1 sialidase and matrix metalloproteinase-9 crosstalk is essential for Toll-like receptor activation and cellular signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 36532–36549.
- Acosta-Serrano, A., Almeida, I. C., Freitas-Junior, L. H., Yoshida, N., and Schenkman, S. (2001). The mucin-like glycoprotein super-family of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: structure and biological roles. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 114, 143–150.
- Agrellos, O. A., Jones, C., Todeschini, A. R., Previato, J. O., and Mendonça-Previato, L. (2003). A novel sialylated and galactofuranose-containing Olinked glycan, Neu5Acalpha2 \rightarrow 3Galpbeta1 \rightarrow 6(Galfbeta1 \rightarrow 4)GlcNAc, is expressed on the sialoglycoprotein of *Trypanosoma cruzi* Dm28c. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 126, 93–96.

- Agusti, R., Couto, A. S., Campetella, O. E., Frasch, A. C. C., and Lederkremer, R. M. (1997). The trans-sialidase of *Trypanosoma cruzi* is anchored by two different lipids. *Glycobiology* 7, 731–735.
- Agusti, R., Paris, G., Ratier, L., Frasch, A. C., and De Lederkremer, R. M. (2004). Lactose derivates are inhibitors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase activity toward conventional substrates *in vitro* and *in vivo. Glycobiology* 14, 659–670.
- Agusti, R., Giorgi, E., Mendonza, V. M., Gallo-Rodriguez, C., and Lederkremer, R. M. (2007). Comparative rates of sialylation by recombinant trans-sialidase and inhibitor properties of synthetic oligosaccharides from *Trypanosoma cruzi* mucins-containing galactofuranose and galactopyranose. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 15, 2611–2616.
- Almeida, I. C., Ferguson, M. A., Schenkman, S., and Travassos,

a better framework for rational drug design aimed to TcTS inhibition.

PERSPECTIVES

Sia participate in a large range of biological processes between *T. cruzi* and its host, and just a few examples are considered here. In fact, the effect of Sia in the pathogenesis of Chagas' disease remains unknown.

Given the role of Sias as "self-associated molecular patterns" recognized by molecules such as Siglecs (Paulson et al., 2012), TcTS activities can perturb natural self-recognition phenomena, perhaps increasing inflammatory responses by exposing desialylated "danger-associated molecular patterns" (Varki, 2011; Rabinovich et al., 2012).

Moreover, from evidence showing that desialylation of Toll-like receptor 4 (Amith et al., 2010; Abdulkhalek et al., 2011) is essential for receptor activation and cellular signaling, we can speculate that TcTS can also modify host response to "pathogen-associated molecular patterns."

Recent advances in the glycobiology field will surely help to understand how a glycosidase evolved to have a highly efficient *trans*-glycosidase activity and to put forward the design of specific and potent *TcTS* inhibitors. These molecules will help to disclose the real roles of TcTS/sialoglycoproteins in *T. cruzi* biology, the pathogenesis of Chagas' disease, and perhaps help the treatment of this illness.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The study was financially supported by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento e Tecnologia (CNPq) Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior and the National Institute for Science and Technology in Vaccines (CNPq 573547/2008-4). The authors wish to thank Leela Davies for her thoughtful comments on this manuscript.

- L. R. (1994). Lytic anti-alphagalactosyl antibodies from patients with chronic Chagas' disease recognize novel *O*-linked oligosaccharides on mucin-like glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Biochem. J.* 15, 793–802.
- Alves, M. J., and Colli, W. (2008). Role of the gp85/trans-sialidase superfamily of glycoproteins in the interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host structures. *Subcell. Biochem.* 47, 58–69.
- Amado, M., Yan, Q., Comelli, E. M., Collins, B. E., and Paulson, J. C. (2004). Peanut agglutinin high phenotype of activated CD8⁺ T cells results from de novo synthesis of CD45 glycans. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 36689–36697.
- Amaya, M. F., Watts, A. G., Damager, I., Wehenkel, A., Nguyen, T., Buschiazzo, A., et al. (2004). Structural insights into the catalytic mechanism

of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *Structure* 12, 775–784.

- Amith, S. R., Jayanth, P., Franchuk, S., Finlay, T., Seyrantepe, V., Beyaert, R., et al. (2010). Neu1 desialylation of sialyl alpha-2,3-linked beta-galactosyl residues of TOLL-like receptor 4 is essential for receptor activation and cellular signaling. *Cell. Signal.* 22, 314–324.
- Araújo-Jorge, T. C., and De Souza, W. (1988). Interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with macrophages. Involvement of surface galactose and *N*-acetyl-Dgalactosamine residues on the recognition process. *Acta Trop.* 45, 127– 136.
- Arioka, S., Sakagami, M., Uematsu, R., Yamaguchi, H., Togame, H., Takemoto, H., et al. (2010). Potent inhibitor scaffold against *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 18, 1633–1640.
- Balaña-Fouce, R., and Reguera, R. M. (2007). RNA interference

T. cruzi sialic acid

in *Trypanosoma brucei*: a highthroughput engine for functional genomics in trypanosomatids? *Trends Parasitol.* 23, 348–351.

- Briones, M. R., Egima, C. M., and Schenkman, S. (1995). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase gene lacking Cterminal repeats and expressed in epimastigote forms. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 70, 9–17.
- Buchini, S., Buschiazzo, A., and Withers, S. G. (2008). A new generation of specific *Trypanosoma cruzi* transsialidase inhibitors. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 47, 2700–2703.
- Buscaglia, C. A., Campo, V. A., Frasch, A. C., and Di Noia, J. M. (2006). *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface mucins: host-dependent coat diversity. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 229–236.
- Buschiazzo, A., Amaya, M. F., Cremona, M. L., Frasch, A. C., and Alzari, P. M. (2002). The crystal structure and mode of action of trans-sialidase, a key enzyme in *Trypanosoma cruzi* pathogenesis. *Mol. Cell* 10, 757–768.
- Campo, V., Di Noia, J. M., Buscaglia, C. A., Agüero, F., Sánchez, D. O., and Frasch, A. C. (2004). Differential accumulation of mutations localized in particular domains of the mucin genes expressed in the vertebrate host stage of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 133, 81–91.
- Carvalho, I., Andrade, P., Campo, V. L., Guedes, P. M. M., Sesti-Costa, P., Silva, J. S., et al. (2010b). "Click chemistry" synthesis of a library of 1,2,3-triazole-substituted galactose derivatives and their evaluation against *Trypanosoma cruzi* and its cell surface trans-sialidase. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 18, 2412–2427.
- Carvalho, S. T., Sola-Penna, M., Oliveira, I. A., Pita, S., Gonçalves, A. S., Neves, B. C., et al. (2010a). A new class of mechanism-based inhibitors for *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase and their influence on parasite virulence. *Glycobiology* 20, 1034–1045.
- Chappuis, F., Mauris, A., Holst, M., Albajar-Vinas, P., Jannin, J., Luquetti, A. O., et al. (2010). Validation of a rapid immunochromatographic assay for diagnosis of *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection among Latin-American migrants in Geneva, Switzerland. J. Clin. Microbiol. 48, 2948–2952.
- Chaves, L. B., Briones, M. R., and Schenkman, S. (1993). Transsialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* epimastigotes is expressed at the stationary phase and is different from the enzyme expressed in trypomastigotes. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 61, 97–106.

- Chuenkova, M. V., Furnari, F. B., Cavenee, W. K., and Pereira, M. A. (2001). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase: a potent and specific survival factor for human Schwann cells by means of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 9936–9941
- Chuenkova, M., and Pereira, M. E. (1995). *Trypanosoma cruzi* transsialidase: enhancement of virulence in a murine model of Chagas' disease. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1693– 1703.
- Chuenkova, M. V., and Pereira, M. A. (2000). A trypanosomal protein synergizes with the cytokines ciliary neurotrophic factor and leukemia inhibitory factor to prevent apoptosis of neuronal cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11, 1487–1498.
- Chuenkova, M. V., and Pereiraperrin, M. (2011). Neurodegeneration and neuroregeneration in Chagas disease. *Adv. Parasitol.* 76, 195–233.
- Ciavaglia, M. C., De Carvalho, T. U., and De Souza, W. (1993). Interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with cells with altered glycosylation patterns. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 193, 718–721.
- Clayton, J. (2010). Chagas disease: pushing through the pipeline. *Nature* 465, S12–S15.
- Copley, R. R., Russell, R. B., and Ponting, C. P. (2001). Sialidase-like Asp-boxes: sequence-similar structures within different protein folds. *Protein Sci.* 10, 285–292.
- Cortez, C., Yoshida, N., Bahia, D., and Sobreira, T. J. (2012). Structural basis of the interaction of a *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface molecule implicated in oral infection with host cells and gastric mucin. *PLoS ONE* 7, e42153. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042153
- Coura, J. R., and Viñas, P. A. (2010). Chagas disease: a new worldwide challenge. *Nature* 465, S6–S7.
- Cremona, M. L., Sánchez, D. O., Frasch, A. C., and Campetella, O. (1995). A single tyrosine differentiates active and inactive *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidases. *Gene* 160, 123–128.
- Cremona, M. L., Campetella, O., Sánchez, D. O., and Frasch, A. C. (1999). Enzymically inactive members of the trans-sialidase family from *Trypanosoma cruzi* display betagalactose binding activity. *Glycobiol*ogy 9, 581–587.
- Damager, I., Buchini, S., Amaya, M. F., Buschiazzo, A., Alzari, P., Frasch, A. C., et al. (2008). Kinetic and mechanistic analysis of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase reveals a classical ping-pong mechanism with acid/base

catalysis. *Biochemistry* 47, 3507–35012.

- Davies, G, J, Planas, A., and Rovira, C. (2012). Conformational analyses of the reaction coordinate of glycosidases. Acc. Chem. Res. 45, 308–316.
- De Pablos, L. M., and Osuna, A. (2012). Conserved regions as markers of different patterns of expression and distribution of the mucin-associated surface proteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Infect. Immun.* 80, 169–174.
- Demir, O., and Roitberg, A. E. (2009). Modulation of catalytic function by differential plasticity of the active site: case study of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase and *Trypanosoma rangeli* sialidase. *Biochemistry* 48, 3398–3406.
- Dias, W. B., Fajardo, F. D., Graça-Souza, A. V., Freire-de-Lima, L., Vieira, F., Girard, M. F., et al. (2008). Endothelial cell signalling induced by trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Cell. Microbiol.* 10, 88–99.
- El-Sayed, N. M., Myler, P. J., Blandin, G., Berriman, M., Crabtree, J., Aggarwal, G., et al. (2005). Comparative genomics of trypanosomatid parasitic protozoa. *Science* 309, 404–409.
- Erdmann, H., Steeg, C., Koch-Nolte, F., Fleischer, B., and Jacobs, T. (2009). Sialylated ligands on pathogenic *Trypanosoma cruzi* interact with Siglec-E (sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin-E). *Cell. Microbiol.* 11, 1600–1611.
- Ferrero-García, M. A., Sánchez, D. O., Frasch, A. C., and Parodi, A. J. (1993). The effect of pyridoxal 5'phosphate and related compounds on *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *An. Asoc. Quim. Arg.* 81, 127–132.
- Freire-de-Lima, L., Alisson-Silva, F., Carvalho, S. T., Takiya, C. M., Rodrigues, M. M., DosReis, G. A., et al. (2010). *Trypanosoma cruzi* subverts host cell sialylation and may compromise antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 13388–13396.
- Freitas, L. M., dos Santos, S. L., Rodrigues-Luiz, G. F., Mendes, T. A., Rodrigues, T. S., Gazzinelli, R. T., et al. (2011). Genomic analyses, gene expression and antigenic profile of the trans-sialidase superfamily of *Trypanosoma cruzi* reveal an undetected level of complexity. *PLoS ONE* 6, 25914. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025914
- Garg, N., Nunes, M. P., and Tarleton, R. L. (1997). Delivery by *Trypanosoma cruzi* of proteins into the MHC class I antigen processing and presentation pathway. *J. Immunol.* 158, 3293– 3302.

- Gaskell, A., Crennell, S., and Taylor, G. (1995). The three domains of a bacterial sialidase: a beta-propeller, an immunoglobulin module and a galactose-binding jelly-roll. *Structure* 3, 1197–1205.
- Gill, D. J., Clausen, H., and Bard, F. (2011). Location, location, location: new insights into O-GalNAc protein glycosylation. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 149–158.
- Gillespie, W., Paulson, J. C., Kelm, S., Pang, M., and Baum, L. G. (1993). Regulation of alpha 2,3sialyltransferase expression correlates with conversion of peanut agglutinin (PNA)+ to PNA- phenotype in developing thymocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 3801–3804.
- Gui, J., Mustachio, L. M., Su, D. M., and Craig, R. W. (2012). Thymus size and age-related thymic involution: early programming, sexual dimorphism, progenitors and stroma. *Aging Dis.* 3, 280–290.
- Hall, B. F., Webster, P., MA, A. K., Joiner, K. A., and Andrews, N. W. (1992) Desialylation of lysosomal membrane glycoproteins by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: a role for the surface neuraminidase in facilitating parasite entry into the host cell cytoplasm. *J. Exp. Med.* 176, 313–325.
- Hall, B. F., and Joiner, K. A. (1993). Developmentally-regulated virulence factors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and their relationship to evasion of host defences. *J. Eukaryot. Microbiol.* 40, 207–213.
- Harrington, L. E., Galvan, M., Baum, L. G., and Altman, R. (2000). Differentiating between memory and effector CD8 T cells by altered expression of cell surface *O*-glycans. *J. Exp. Med.* 191, 1241–1246.
- Harrison, J. A., Kartha, K. P., Turnbull, W. B., Scheuerl, S. L., Naismith, J. H., Schenkman, S., et al. (2001). Hydrolase and sialyltransferase activities of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase towards NeuAc-alpha-2,3-gal-Galbeta-O-PNP. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 11, 141–144.
- Harrison, J. A., Kartha, K. P. R., Fournier, E. J. L., Lowary, T. L., Malet, C., Nilsson, U. J., et al. (2011). Probing the acceptor substrate binding site of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase with systematically modified substrates and glycoside libraries. Org. Biomol. Chem. 9, 1653–1660.
- Haselhorst, T., Wilson, J. C., Liakatos, A., Kiefel, M. J., Dyason, J. C., and von Itzstein, M. (2004). NMR spectroscopic and molecular modeling investigations of the trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Glycobiol*ogy 14, 895–907.

- Jacobs, T., Erdmann, H., and Fleischer, B. (2010). Molecular interaction of Siglecs (sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectins) with sialylated ligands on *Trypanosoma cruzi. Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 89, 113–116.
- Jager, A. V., De Gaudenzi, J. G., Cassola, A., D'Orso, I., and Frasch, A. C. (2007). mRNA maturation by twostep trans-splicing/polyadenylation processing in trypanosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 2035– 2042.
- Jager, A. V., Muiá, R. P., and Campetella, O. (2008). Stage-specific expression of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase involves highly conserved 3' untranslated regions. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 283, 182–188.
- Jones, C., Todeschini, A. R., Agrellos, O. A., Previato, J. O., and Mendonca-Previato, L. (2004). Heterogeneity in the biosynthesis of mucin O-glycans from *Trypanosoma cruzi* Tulahuen strain with the expression of novel galactofuranosyl-containing oligosaccharides. *Biochemistry* 43, 11889–11897.
- Kaech, S. M., Hemby, S., Kersh, E., and Ahmed, R. (2002). Molecular and functional profiling of memory CD8 T cell differentiation. *Cell* 111, 837–851.
- Kim, J. H., Ryu, H. W., Shim, J. H., Park, K. H., and Withers, S. G. (2009). Development of new and selective *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase inhibitors from sulfonamide chalcones and their derivatives. *Chembiochem* 10, 2475–2479.
- Leguizamón, M. S., Mocetti, E., García Rivello, H., Argibay, P., and Campetella, O. (1999). Transsialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces apoptosis in cells from the immune system *in vivo. J. Infect. Dis.* 180, 1398–1402.
- Lieke, T., Gröbe, D., Blanchard, V., Grunow, D., Tauber, R., Zimmermann-Kordmann, M., et al. (2011). Invasion of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into host cells is impaired by *N*propionylmannosamine and other *N*-acylmannosamines. *Glycoconj. J.* 28, 31–37.
- Mendonça-Previato, L., Todeschini, A. R., Heise, N., Agrellos, O. A., Dias, W. B., and Previato, J. O. (2008). Chemical structure of major glycoconjugates from parasites. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 12, 926–939.
- Ming, M., Chuenkova, M., Ortega-Barria, E., and Pereira, M. E. A. (1993). Mediation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion by sialic acid on the host cell and trans-sialidase on the trypanosome. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 59, 243–253.

- Minning, T. A., Weatherly, D. B., Flibotte, S., and Tarleton, R. L. (2011). Widespread, focal copy number variations (CNV) and whole chromosome aneuploidies in *Trypanosoma cruzi* strains revealed by array comparative genomic hybridization. *BMC Genomics* 12, 139. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-12-139
- Minoprio, P., Itohara, S., Heusser, C., Tonegawa, S., and A. Coutinho, A. (1989). Immunobiology of murine *T. cruzi* infection: the predominance of parasite-nonspecific responses and the activation of TCRI T cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 112, 183–207.
- Mitchell, F. L., Miles, S. M., Neres, J., Bichenkova, E. V., and Bryce, R. A. (2010). Tryptophan as a molecular shovel in the glycosyl transfer activity of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *Biophys. J.* 98, L38–L40.
- Montero, E., Vallmimitja, M., Perez-Pons, J. A., Querol, E., Jimenez-Barbero, J., and Canada, F. J. (1998). NMR studies of the conformation of thiocellobiose bound to a bglucosidade from *Streptomyces* sp. *FEBS Lett.* 421, 921–926.
- Mucci, J., Mocetti, E., Leguizamón, M. S., and Campetella, O. (2005). A sexual dimorphism in intrathymic sialylation survey is revealed by the trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi*. J. Immunol. 174, 4545– 4550.
- Mucci, J., Risso, M. G., Leguizamón, M. S., Frasch, A. C., and Campetella, O. (2006). The trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* triggers apoptosis by target cell sialylation. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 1086–1095.
- Muiá, R. P., Yu, H., Prescher, J. A., Hellman, U., Chen, X., Bertozzi, C. R., et al. (2010). Identification of glycoproteins targeted by *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase, a virulence factor that disturbs lymphocyte glycosylation. *Glycobiology* 20, 833–842.
- Neira, I., Silva, F. A., Cortez, M., and Yoshida, N. (2003). Involvement of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigote surface molecule gp82 in adhesion to gastric mucin and invasion of epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 557–561.
- Neres, J., Bonnet, P., Edwards, P. N., Kotian, P. L., Buschiazzo, A., Alzari, P. M., et al. (2007). Benzoic acid and pyridine derivatives as inhibitors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 15, 2106–2119.
- Neres, J., Bonnet, P., Edwards, P. N., Kotian, P. L., Buschiazzo, A., Alzari, P. M., et al. (2006). Benzoic acid and pyridine derivatives as inhibitors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase.

Bioorg. Med. Chem. 15, 2106–2119.

- Neres, J., Brewer, M., Ratier, L., Botti, H., Buschiazzo, A., Edwards, P. N., et al. (2009). Discovery of novel inhibitors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase from in silico screening. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 19, 589–596.
- Newstead, S. L., Potter, J. A., Wilson, J. C., Xu, G. G., Chien, C. H., Watts, A. G., et al. (2008). The structure of *Clostridium perfringens* NanI sialidase and its catalytic intermediates. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 9080–9088.
- Oppezzo, P., Obal, G., Baraibar, M. A., Pritsch, O., Alzari, P. M., and Buschiazzo, A. (2011). Crystal structure of an enzymatically inactive trans-sialidase-like lectin from *Trypanosoma cruzi*: the carbohydrate binding mechanism involves residual sialidase activity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1814, 1154–1161.
- Paris, G., Cremona, M. L., Amaya, M. F., Buschiazzo, A., Giambiagi, S., Frasch, A. C., et al. (2001). Probing molecular function of trypanosomal sialidases: single point mutations can change substrate specificity and increase hydrolytic activity. *Glycobiology* 11, 305–311.
- Paris, G., Ratier, L., Amaya, M. F., Nguyen, T., Alzari, P. M., and Frasch, A. C. (2005). A sialidase mutant displaying trans-sialidase activity. *J. Mol. Biol.* 345, 923–934.
- Paulson, J. C., Macauley, M. S., and Kawasaki, N. (2012). Siglecs as sensors of self in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1253, 37–48.
- Pereira-Chioccola, V. L., Acosta-Serrano, A., Correia de Almeida, I., Ferguson, M. A., Souto-Padron, T., Rodrigues, M. M., et al. (2000). Mucin-like molecules form a negatively charged coat that protects *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes from killing by human anti-alphagalactosyl antibodies. *J. Cell Sci.* 113, 1299–1307.
- Pierdominici-Sottile, G., and Roitberg, A. E. (2011). Proton transfer facilitated by ligand binding. An energetic analysis of the catalytic mechanism of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *Biochemistry* 50, 836–842.
- Piras, M. M., Henríquez, D., and Piras, R. (1987). The effect of fetuin and other sialoglycoproteins on the *in vitro* penetration of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes into fibroblastic cells. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 22, 135–143.
- Previato, J. O., Andrade, A. F., Pessolani, M. C., and Mendonça-Previato, L. (1985). Incorporation

of sialic acid into *Trypanosoma cruzi* macromolecules. A proposal for a new metabolic route. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 16, 85–96.

- Previato, J. O., Jones, C., Gonçalves, L. P., Wait, R., Travassos, L. R., and Mendonça-Previato, L. (1994). O-glycosidically linked N-acetylglucosamine-bound oligosaccharides from glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Biochem. J.* 301, 151–159.
- Previato, J. O., Jones, C., Xavier, M. T., Wait, R., Travassos, L. R., Parodi, A. J., et al. (1995). Structural characterisation of the major glycosylphosphatidylinositol membrane anchored glycoprotein of epimastigote forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* Y-strain. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 7241–7250.
- Previato, J. O., Sola-Penna, M., Agrellos, O. A., Jones, C., Oeltmann, T., Travassos, L. R., et al. (1998). Biosynthesis of *O-N*-acetylglucosamine-linked glycans in *Trypanosoma cruzi* – characterization of the novel uridine diphospho-*N*-acetylglucosamine: polypeptide-*N*-acetylglucosaminyltransferase – catalyzing formation
 - of N-acetylglucosamine alpha 1 \rightarrow O-threonine. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 14982–14988.
- Priatel, J. J., Chuí, D., Hiraoka, N., Simmons, C. J., Richardson, K. B., Page, D. M., et al. (2000). The ST3Gal-I sialyltransferase controls CD8⁺ T lymphocyte homeostasis by modulating O-glycan biosynthesis. *Immunity* 12, 273–283.
- Rabinovich, G. A., van Kooyk, Y., and Cobb, B. A. (2012). Glycobiology of immune responses. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1253, 1–15.
- Rubin-de-Celis, S. S., Uemura, H., Yoshida, N., and Schenkman, S. (2006). Expression of trypomastigote trans-sialidase in metacyclic forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* increases parasite escape from its parasitophorous vacuole. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 1888–1898.
- Schenkman, S., Jiane, M. S., Hart, G. W., and Nussenweig, V. (1991). A novel cell surface trans-sialidase of *Trypanosoma cruzi* generates a stagespecific epitope required for invasion of mammalian cells. *Cell* 65, 1117– 1125.
- Silva-Monteiro, E., Reis Lorenzato, L., Kenji Nihei, O., Junqueira, M., Rabinovich, G. A., Hsu, D. K., et al. (2007). Altered expression of galectin-3 induces cortical thymocyte depletion and premature exit of immature thymocytes during *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 546–556.
- Souza, W., Carvalho, T. M., and Barrias, E. S. (2010). Review on *Trypanosoma*

T. cruzi sialic acid

cruzi: host cell interaction. *Int. J. Cell. Biol.* doi: 10.1155/2010/295394 [Epub ahead of print].

- Sørensen, A. L., Rumjantseva, V., Nayeb-Hashemi, S., Clausen, H., Hartwig, J. H., Wandall, H. H., et al. (2009). Role of sialic acid for platelet life span: exposure of beta-galactose results in the rapid clearance of platelets from the circulation by asialoglycoprotein receptor-expressing liver macrophages and hepatocytes. *Blood* 114, 1645–1654.
- Staquicini, D. I., Martins, R. M., Macedo, S., Sasso, G. R. S., Atayde, V. D., Juliano, M. A., et al. (2010). Role of gp82 in the selective binding to gastric mucin during infection with *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 4, e613. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000613
- Streicher, H., and Busse, H. (2006). Building a successful structural motif into sialylmimetics-cyclohexenephosphonate monoesters as pseudosialosides with promising inhibitory properties. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 14, 1047–1057.
- Todeschini, A. R., Mendonça-Previato, L., Previato, J. O., Varki, A., and van Halbeek, H. (2000). Trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* catalyzes sialoside hydrolysis with retention of configuration. *Glycobiology* 10, 213–221.
- Todeschini, A. R., da Silveira, E. X., Jones, C., Wait, R., Previato, J. O., and Mendonça-Previato, L. (2001). Structure of O-glycosidically linked oligosaccharides from glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi* CL-Brener strain: evidence for the presence of Olinked sialyl-oligosaccharides. *Glycobiology* 11, 47–55.
- Todeschini, A. R., Girard, M. F., Wieruszeski, J. M., Nunes, M. P., Dos-Reis, G. A., Mendonça-Previato, L., et al. (2002a). trans-Sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* binds host Tlymphocytes in a lectin manner. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 45962–45968.
- Todeschini, A. R., Nunes, M. P., Pires, R. S., Lopes, M. F., Previato, J. O., Mendonça-Previato, L.,

et al. (2002b). Costimulation of host T lymphocytes by a trypanosomal trans-sialidase: involvement of CD43 signaling. *J. Immunol.* 168, 5192– 5198.

- Todeschini, A. R., Dias, W. B., Girard, M. F., Wieruszeski, J. M., Mendonça-Previato, L., and Previato, J. O. (2004). Enzymatically inactive trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* binds sialyl and beta-galactopyranosyl residues in a sequential ordered mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 5323– 5328.
- Todeschini, A. R., de Almeida, E. G., Agrellos, O. A., Jones, C., Previato, J. O., and Mendonça-Previato, L. (2009). Alpha-N-acetylglucosaminelinked O-glycans of sialoglycoproteins (Tc-mucins) from Trypanosoma cruzi Colombiana strain. Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz 104, 270–274.
- Tomlinson, S., Pontes de Carvalho, L. C., Vandekerckhove, F., and Nussenzweig, V. (1994). Role of sialic acid in the resistance of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes to complement. *J. Immunol.* 153, 3141–3147.
- Tribulatti, M. V., Mucci, J., Van Rooijen, N., Leguizamón, M. S., and Campetella, O. (2005). The transsialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces thrombocytopenia during acute Chagas' disease by reducing the platelet sialic acid contents. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 201–207.
- Tzelepis, F., Persechini, P. M., and Rodrigues, M. M. (2007). Modulation of CD4(+) T cell-dependent specific cytotoxic CD8(+) T cells differentiation and proliferation by the timing of increase in the pathogen load. *PLoS ONE* 2, e393. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000393
- Vandekerckhove, F., Schenkman, S., Decarvalho, L. P., Tomlinson, S., Kiso, M., Yoshida, M., et al. (1992). Substrate-specificity of the *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase. *Glycobiology* 2, 541–548.
- Varki, A. (2006). Nothing in glycobiology makes sense, except in the light of evolution. *Cell* 126, 841–845.

- Varki, A. (2011). Since there are PAMPs and DAMPs, there must be SAMPs? Glycan "self-associated molecular patterns" dampen innate immunity, but pathogens can mimic them. *Glycobiology* 21, 1121– 1124.
- Varki, A., and Gagneux, P. (2012). Multifarious roles of sialic acids in immunity. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1253, 16–36.
- Varki, A., Cummings, R. D., Esko, J. D., Freeze, H. H., Stanley, P., Bertozzi, C. R., et al. (2009). *Essentials of Glycobiology*. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Vimr, E., and Lichtensteiger, C. (2002). To sialylate, or not to sialylate: that is the question. *Trends Microbiol.* 10, 254–257.
- Vocadlo, D. J., and Davies, G. J. (20083). Mechanistic insights into glycosidase chemistry. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 12, 539–555.
- Watts, A. G., Damager, I., Amaya, M. L., Buschiazzo, A., Alzari, P., Frasch, A. C., et al. (2003). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase operates through a covalent sialyl-enzyme intermediate: tyrosine is the catalytic nucleophile. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 125, 7532– 7533.
- Watts, A. G., Oppezzo, P., Withers, S. G., Alzari, P. M., and Buschiazzo A. (2006). Structural and kinetic analysis of two covalent sialosyl-enzyme intermediates on *Trypanosoma rangeli* sialidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 4149–4155.
- Watson, J. N., Indurugalla, D., Cheng, L. L., Narine, A. A., and Bennet, A. J. (2006). The hydrolase and transferase activity of an inverting mutant sialidase using non-natural beta-sialoside substrates. *Biochemistry* 45, 13264– 13275.
- Wickramasinghe, S., and Medrano, J. F. (2011). Primer on genes encoding enzymes in sialic acid metabolism in mammals. *Biochimie* 93, 1641–1646.
- Withers, S., and Williams, S. (2012). "Glycoside Hydrolase Family 3" in CAZypedia. Available at: http://www.cazypedia.org/

- Woronowicz, A., De Vusser, K., Laroy, W., Contreras, R., Meakin, S. O., Ross, G. M., et al. (2004). Trypanosome trans-sialidase targets TrkA tyrosine kinase receptor and induces receptor internalization and activation. *Glycobiology* 14, 987–998.
- Yoshida, N., and Cortez, M. (2008). *Try*panosoma cruzi: parasite and host cell signaling during the invasion process. *Subcell. Biochem.* 47, 82–91.
- Yoshida, N., Dorta, M. L., Ferreira, A. T., Oshiro, M. E. M., Mortara, R. A., Serrano-Acosta, A., et al. (1997). Removal of sialic acid from mucin-like surface molecules of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes enhances parasite-host cell interaction. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 84, 57–67.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 September 2012; paper pending published: 20 October 2012; accepted: 08 November 2012; published online: 29 November 2012.

Citation: Freire-de-Lima L, Oliveira IA, Neves JL, Penha LL, Alisson-Silva F, Dias WB and Todeschini AR(2012) Sialic acid: a sweet swing between mammalian host and Trypanosoma cruzi. Front. Immun. **3**:356. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00356

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Freire-de-Lima, Oliveira, Neves, Penha, Alisson-Silva, Dias and Todeschini. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Regulation and use of the extracellular matrix by *Trypanosoma cruzi* during early infection

Pius N. Nde, Maria F. Lima, Candice A. Johnson, Siddharth Pratap and Fernando Villalta*

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, School of Medicine, Meharry Medical College, Nashville, TN, USA

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Renato A. Mortara, Escola Paulista de Medicina – Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Brazil Tecia Maria Ulisses Carvalho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Fernando Villalta, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, School of Medicine, Meharry Medical College, 1005 Dr. D.B. Todd Jr. Boulevard, Nashville, TN 37208, USA. e-mail: fvillalta@mmc.edu

Chagas disease, which was once thought to be confined to endemic regions of Latin America, has now gone global becoming a new worldwide challenge. For more than a century since its discovery, it has remained neglected with no effective drugs or vaccines. The mechanisms by which Trypanosoma cruzi regulates and uses the extracellular matrix (ECM) to invade cells and cause disease are just beginning to be understood. Here we critically review and discuss the regulation of the ECM interactome by T. cruzi, the use of the ECM by T. cruzi and analyze the molecular ECM/T. cruzi interphase during the early process of infection. It has been shown that invasive trypomastigote forms of T. cruzi use and modulate components of the ECM during the initial process of infection. Infective trypomastigotes up-regulate the expression of laminin y-1 (LAMC1) and thrombospondin (THBS1) to facilitate the recruitment of trypomastigotes to enhance cellular infection. Silencing the expression of LAMC1 and THBS1 by stable RNAi dramatically reduces trypanosome infection. T. cruzi gp83, a ligand that mediates the attachment of trypanosomes to cells to initiate infection, up-regulates LAMC1 expression to enhance cellular infection. Infective trypomastigotes use Tc85 to interact with laminin, p45 mucin to interact with LAMC1 through galectin-3 (LGALS3), a human lectin, and calreticulin (TcCRT) to interact with TSB1 to enhance cellular infection. Silencing the expression of LGALS3 also reduces cellular infection. Despite the role of the ECM in T. cruzi infection, almost nothing is known about the ECM interactome networks operating in the process of T. cruzi infection and its ligands. Here, we present the first elucidation of the human ECM interactome network regulated by T. cruzi and its gp83 ligand that facilitates cellular infection. The elucidation of the human ECM interactome regulated by T. cruzi and the dissection of the molecular ECM/T. cruzi interphase using systems biology approaches are not only critically important for the understanding of the molecular pathogenesis of T. cruzi infection but also for developing novel approaches of intervention in Chagas disease.

Keywords: laminin γ-1, thromospondin-1, calreticulin, gp83, ECM interactome, cellular infection, *Trypanosoma cruzi*, systems biology

LAMC1 AND THBS1 ARE REQUIRED FOR T. cruzi INFECTION

As part of our efforts to identify the molecular signatures induced by *Trypanosoma cruzi* in mammalian cells during the early infection process, we analyzed the kinetics of the extracellular matrix (ECM) human transcriptome response. The result of this analysis showed that the only ECM proteins, LAMC1 and THBS1, were important in the early infection process. Accordingly, silencing the expression of LAMC1 and THBS1 by stable RNAi significantly

Abbreviations: 4A4, gp83 monoclonal antibody that neutralizes T. cruzi infection; ACHE, acetylcholinesterase (Yt blood group); APCS, amyloid P component, serum; APP, amyloid beta (A4) precursor protein (peptidase nexin-II, Alzheimer disease); ATF7IP, activating transcription factor 7 interacting protein; ATXN7L2, ataxin 7-like 2; B5, T. cruzi p45 mucin monoclonal antibody; BCAM, basal cell adhesion molecule (Lutheran blood group); BCL6, B-cell CLL/lymphoma 6; BIND, Biomolecular Interaction Network Database; BMP1, bone morphogenetic protein 1; bBTBD10, BTB (POZ) domain containing 10; C3, complement component 3; CALR or CRT, calreticulin; CCDC53, coiled-coil domain containing 53; CCSB-HI1, Center for cancer Systems Biology-Human Interactome; CD36, CD36 molecule (thrombospondin receptor); CD44, CD44 molecule (Indian blood group); CD47, CD47 molecule; CFH, complement factor H; cGMP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate; COL1A1, collagen, type I, alpha 1; COL2A1, collagen, type II, alpha 1; COL3A1, collagen, type III, alpha 1 (Ehlers-Danlos syndrome type IV, autosomal dominant); COL5A1, collagen, type V, alpha 1; COL6A1, collagen, type VI, alpha 1; COL7A1, collagen, type VII, alpha 1 (epidermolysis bullosa, dystrophic, dominant and recessive); CORO1A, coronin, actin binding protein, 1A; CSNK1A1, casein kinase 1, alpha 1;

CSNK2A1, casein kinase 2, alpha 1 polypeptide; CSNK2A2, casein kinase 2, alpha prime polypeptide; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; CTSG, cathepsin G; CUBN, cubilin (intrinsic factor-cobalamin receptor); CYHR1, cysteine/histidinerich 1; DAG1, dystroglycan 1 (dystrophin-associated glycoprotein 1); DCN, decorin; DHFR, dihvdrofolate reductase; DIP, Database of Interacting Proteins; E3T3C1, Cterminal domain of TSP-1, containing the last type II repeat domain, the three type III repeat domains and the carboxy-terminal domain; ECM, extracellular matrix; EGF, epidermal growth factor; ELA2, elastase 2, neutrophil; ELN, elastin (supravalvular aortic stenosis, Williams-Beuren syndrome); ERK 1/2, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; F2, coagulation factor II (thrombin); FBLN2, fibulin 2; FCGR2A, Fc fragment of IgG, low affinity IIa, receptor (CD32); FGA, fibrinogen alpha chain; FN1, fibronectin 1; GEMIN4, gem (nuclear organelle) associated protein 4; GFI1B, growth factor independent 1B transcription repressor; gp83 or Tcgp83, T. cruzi trypomastigote ligand or trypomastigote surface 83 kDa glycoprotein; HCASM, human coronary artery smooth muscle cell; HPRD, Human Protein Reference database; HRG, histidine-rich glycoprotein; HSPG2, heparan sulfate proteoglycan 2; INF-y, Interferon gamma; IGFBP5, insulin-like growth factor

reduced *T. cruzi* infection in cells (Nde et al., 2006; Simmons et al., 2006). The cells in which stable LAMC1 RNAi or THBS1 RNAi were performed showed significant reduction in the protein expression level of LAMC1 or THBS1 compared to cells stably transfected with vector alone or scrambled LAMC1 or THBS1 and the kinetics of *T. cruzi* infection were also dramatically reduced (Nde et al., 2006; Simmons et al., 2006). These studies showed that *T. cruzi* requires LAMC1 and THBS1 for early infection and indicated that host LAMC1 and THBS1 play critical roles in the early process of *T. cruzi* infection (Nde et al., 2006; Simmons et al., 2006). The important roles played by LAMC1 and THBS1 encouraged our group to dissect their molecular role in *T. cruzi* infection by looking at the ECM/*T. cruzi* interphase and elucidating the gene-networks and interactomes triggered by *T. cruzi* and its surface molecules involved in the early infection process (Cardenas

et al., 2010; Nde et al., 2010). This will be critically reviewed in the next sections.

T. cruzi SURFACE GP83 UP-REGULATES LAMC1 TO RECRUIT PARASITES AT THE ECM TO ENHANCE INFECTION

Gp83 is a ligand expressed in all *T. cruzi* strains and employed by the parasite to attach and enter macrophages as well as nonphagocytic cells (Lima and Villalta, 1988; Villalta et al., 1998, 1999, 2001, 2008). Notably, it is expressed only in invasive trypomastigotes (Villalta et al., 1992) and is more expressed in highly infective trypomastigote clones (Lima and Villalta, 1989). Monovalent Fab fragments of the gp83-specific monoclonal antibody 4A4 inhibit gp83 binding to myoblasts, fibroblasts, and macrophages, block trypanosomes from attaching to and entering these cells, and neutralize *T. cruzi* infection *in vivo* (Villalta et al., 2001). Trypomastigotes release gp83 via parasite glycosylphosphatidylinositol– phospholipase C (PLC) cleavage to activate the host MAPK pathway and PKC in order to promote parasite infection (Villalta et al., 1998, 1999; Nde et al., 2006).

Exposure of gp83 ligand to human cells increases the level of LAMC1 transcripts and its expression in mammalian cells, leading to an increase in cellular infection by *T. cruzi* (Nde et al., 2006). This increase in cellular infection was seen as over-attachment and entry of trypomastigotes into human cells over-expressing LAMC1, under the influence of gp83 ligand, resulting in high parasite multiplication at 72 h. These observations together with the fact that knocking down the expression of LAMC1 by RNAi dramatically reduces *T. cruzi* attachment, entry and multiplication within cells strongly support the hypothesis that host LAMC1, which is regulated by the parasite gp83, plays a crucial role in the early process of cellular infection.

The regulation of infection by the gp83 ligand represents a parasite escape mechanism in which invasive trypomastigotes release gp83 to efficiently gain entry into human coronary artery smooth muscle (HCASM) cells by manipulating LAMC1, which is the most abundant isoform of laminin in humans (Sasaki et al., 2004).

Trypanosoma cruzi must navigate through the basal lamina, which contains LAMC1, and surrounds individual muscle cells such as HCASM cells before infecting these cells. The fact that a *T. cruzi* trypomastigote ligand increases LAMC1 transcript levels in HCASM cells, correlates well with the finding that laminin is deposited in the hearts of patients infected with Chagas' disease (Milei et al., 1993). This suggests that the regulation of LAMC1 in heart cells by gp83 may be involved in heart pathology.

Since the *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand remodels the ECM by upregulating the expression of LAMC1, together with the report that *T. cruzi* presents laminin receptors on its surface (Giordano et al., 1999), indicates that the parasite exploits LAMC1 to navigate through the ECM, recruit trypanosomes and facilitate infection. Thus, the *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand is a virulence factor that modifies LAMC1 expression in the ECM and contributes to the pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection in human heart cells.

T. cruzi MODULATES THE LAMC1 SUB-NETWORK

Recently, the first LAMC1 sub-network modulated by invasive trypomastigotes during the early process of infection was elucidated (Nde et al., 2010). To populate and build the interaction

binding protein 5; IL-12, interleukin 12; IPI, International Protein Index; ITGA1, integrin, alpha 1; ITGA2, integrin, alpha 2 (CD49B, alpha 2 subunit of VLA-2 receptor); ITGA3, integrin, alpha 3 (antigen CD49C, alpha 3 subunit of VLA-3 receptor); ITGA4, integrin, alpha 4 (antigen CD49D, alpha 4 subunit of VLA-4 receptor); ITGA6, integrin, alpha 6 (alpha subunit of VLA-6 receptor); ITGAV, integrin, alpha V (vitronectin receptor, alpha polypeptide, antigen CD51); ITGB1, integrin, beta 1 (fibronectin receptor, beta polypeptide, antigen CD29 includes MDF2, MSK12); ITGB3, integrin, beta 3 (platelet glycoprotein IIIa, antigen CD61); ITGB4, integrin, beta 4; JAG1, jagged 1 (Alagille syndrome); KNG1, kininogen 1; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; LAMA1, laminin, alpha 1; LAMA2, laminin, alpha 2 (merosin, congenital muscular dystrophy); LAMA3, laminin, alpha 3; LAMA5, laminin, alpha 5; LAMB1, laminin, beta 1; LAMB2, laminin, beta 2 (laminin S); LAMB3, laminin, beta 3; LAMC1, laminin, gamma 1 (formerly LAMB2); LAMC2, laminin, gamma 2; LAMC3, laminin, gamma 3; LGALS3, lectin, galactoside-binding, soluble, 3; LGALS3BP, lectin, galactoside-binding, soluble, 3 binding protein; LIM2, lens intrinsic membrane protein 2, 19kDa; LRP1, low density lipoprotein-related protein 1 (alpha-2-macroglobulin receptor); LRP5, low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5; LTBP1, latent transforming growth factor beta binding protein 1; MATN2, matrilin 2; MEF, mouse embryo fibroblast; MEK, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase; MEP1A, meprin A, alpha (PABA peptide hydrolase); MiMI, Michigan Molecular Interactions; MMP-2, matrix metallopeptidase 2 (gelatinase A, 72kDa gelatinase, 72kDa type IV collagenase); MMP-9, matrix metallopeptidase 9 (gelatinase B, 92 kDa gelatinase, 92 kDa type IV collagenase); MUC7, mucin 7, secreted; MYOC, myocilin, trabecular meshwork inducible glucocorticoid response; NID1, nidogen-1; NID2, nidogen-2 (osteonidogen); NO, nitric oxide; NT5E, 5'-nucleotidase, ecto (CD73); NTSP, N-terminal domain of TSP-1; ONECUT1, one cut homeobox 1; PDE1A, phosphodiesterase 1A, calmodulin-dependent; PDEA, phosphodiesterase 6A, cGMP-specific, rod, alpha; PDGFB, platelet-derived growth factor beta polypeptide (simian sarcoma viral (vsis) oncogene homolog); PLAT, plasminogen activator, tissue; PLC, phospholipase C; PLG, plasminogen; PPI, protein-protein interaction; PTPRF, protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, F; RAF, v-raf-1 murine leukemia viral oncogene; RAS, rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog; RNAi, RNA interference; RPSA, ribosomal protein SA; SAA1, serum amyloid A1; SAA2, serum amyloid A2; SCARB2, scavenger receptor class B, member 2; SCD4, stearoyl-CoA desaturase 5; SDC1, syndecan 1; SDC3, syndecan 3; SIP1, survival of motor neuron protein interacting protein 1; SMAD2, SMAD family member 2; SNAPIN, SNAP-associated protein; SPARC, secreted protein, acidic, cysteine-rich (osteonectin); SPP1, secreted phosphoprotein 1 (osteopontin, bone sialoprotein I, early T-lymphocyte activation 1); SUFU, suppressor of fused homolog (Drosophila); SV2A, synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A; SV2B, synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2B; SV2C, synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2C; Tc45, T. cruzi 45 kDA surface mucin; Tc85, T. cruzi 85 kDa surface glycoprotein; TcCRT, T. cruzi calreticulin; TFPI, tissue factor pathway inhibitor (lipoproteinassociated coagulation inhibitor); TGF-α, transforming growth factor alpha; TGF-β, transforming growth factor beta; TGFB1, transforming growth factor, beta 1; TSP-1/THBS1, thrombospondin 1; TMPRSS6, transmembrane protease, serine 6; TNFa, tumor necrosis factor alpha; TNFAIP6, tumor necrosis factor, alpha-induced protein 6; TNFRSF11B, tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, member 11b (osteoprotegerin); TNFRSF1A, tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, member 1A; TRAP; thrombospondin-related anonymous protein; TP53, tumor protein p53; TSC2, tuberous sclerosis 2; ZNF512B, zinc finger protein 512B; ZNF8, zinc finger protein 8.

network, the Michigan Molecular Interactions (MiMI) cytoscape plugin (version 3.2) was used. MiMI retrieves molecular interactions from MiMI database and displays the interaction network with cytoscape. MiMI gathers and merges data from well-known protein interaction databases including BIND, DIP, HPRD, Ref-Seq, SwissProt, IPI, and CCSB-HI1. The plugin also integrates with other NCBI tools for literature information, document summarization, and pathway matching (Gao et al., 2009). The RT-PCR verified transcripts were used as the initial population nodes. MiMI was used to query for the initial nodes and their respective nearest neighbors to one degree. The networks were then merged for interconnections and the interactome was visualized in cytoscape (version 2.6.1) using the yFiles: organic layout format (Cline et al., 2007).

The first elucidated LAMC1 sub-network interactome mobilized in cells by T. cruzi involves the following genes CCDC53, NID1, NID2, SNAPIN, LAMA1, SV2A, CD44, LAMA5, ATF71P, ITGB4, LAMB1, LAMB2, SV2C, SV2B, ITGA6, and BCL6 (Nde et al., 2010). Our group is fully investigating the roles of the members of this sub-network in the infection process. Accordingly, the ITGA6 gene that encodes integrin alpha-6 that combines with beta 4 as a laminin receptor, or with beta 1 in the integrin VLA-6 participates in cell adhesion as well as cell-surface mediated signaling. The integrin, beta 4 (ITGB4) gene that encodes the integrin beta 4 subunit, a receptor for the laminins, tends to associate with alpha 6 subunit and appears to be involved in cell invasion. Entactin, also known as nidogen-1 (NID1) is a component of the basement membrane that connects the networks formed by collagens and laminins to each other and plays a role in cell interactions with the ECM. Furthermore, LAMA1 (Laminin, alpha 1) interacts with Fibulin-2 (FBLN2), an ECM protein that binds various extracellular ligands and calcium and appears to be involved in the infection process. Interestingly, BCL6 is a central hub of the interaction LAMC1 sub-network, which is also a common central hub to five of the seven sub-networks reported by one degree of connection to the initial seed nodes (Nde et al., 2010).

The elucidation of the LAMC1 sub-network interactome mobilized by *T. cruzi* is critically important to understand the molecular pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection derived from the ECM/*T. cruzi* gp83 ligand interplay and for the development of approaches for intervention. We expect that continuing to explore systems biology in the early process of *T. cruzi* infection will rapidly bring novel approaches for the treatment and management of Chagas disease.

THBS1 INTERACTS WITH *T. cruzi* SURFACE CALRETICULIN TO ENHANCE CELLULAR INFECTION

Thrombospondins have been described as "matricellular proteins" because they play a role in regulating cellular responses and ECM remodeling in the pericellular microenvironment but they are non-essential components of the mature matrix fibrils (Bornstein, 2002). The role of THBS1 *in vitro* and *in vivo* is complex and context specific, because it interacts with a wide array of cellular proteins. THBS1 is a large homotrimeric glycoprotein containing several domains that can bind to cell surface receptors and extracellular molecules (Chen et al., 2000) such as the N-terminal heparin-binding domain (NTSP), procollagen region, type 1, 2, and 3 repeats and a C-terminal domain (Elzie and

Murphy-Ullrich, 2004). The molecule also contains highly conserved epidermal growth factor (EGF) repeats, type 3 repeats and a C-terminal domain, which includes the signature domain (Carlson et al., 2005) that can interact with integrins and CD47 (Lawler and Hynes, 1989; Gao and Frazier, 1994). The C-terminal domain of the thrombospondin family is highly conserved compared to the N-terminal domain, which is different for each thrombospondin isoform.

Calreticulin (CRT) is a major intracellular well-conserved calcium-binding chaperone, which was identified in skeletal muscle (Michalak et al., 1992) and is present in the cells of all higher organisms except erythrocytes (Michalak et al., 1999; Johnson et al., 2001a,b). Numerous reports have implicated CRT in several cellular functions and the molecule has significant non-endoplasmic reticulum functions in normal physiology and human disease status (Gold et al., 2010).

Calreticulin has also been described in some parasite species such as *Schistosoma mansoni*, *Onchocerca volvulus*, *Necator americanus*, *Leishmania donovani*, and *Plasmodium falciparum*. However, the role that this protein might play in parasite interactions with the host immediate microenvironment remains unknown (Nakhasi et al., 1998; Ferreira et al., 2004, 2005).

Previous studies from our group showed that invasive *T. cruzi* trypomastigotes up-regulate the expression of THBS1 in HCASM cells (Simmons et al., 2006). Furthermore, knockdown of THBS1 rendered mammalian cells less susceptible to cellular infection by *T. cruzi* indicating that THBS1 also plays an important role in the process of cellular infection by *T. cruzi*. However, the mechanisms by which THBS1 is up-regulated by the parasite to modulate cellular infection are not completely known. The elucidation of *T. cruzi* surface molecules that interact with THBS1 to enhance cellular infection will advance our understanding of the molecular pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection. We anticipated that NTSP, which is specific to this isoform of thrombospondin, would be essential in the interaction with the parasite because it is different for all thrombospondin isoforms compared to the conserved C-terminal domain (Carlson et al., 2005).

In *T. cruzi*, it has been suggested that the parasite surface CRT (TcCRT; Ferreira et al., 2004; Aguilar et al., 2005) could play a role in enabling the pathogen to evade the host immune response by interacting with the C1q component of complement (Aguilar et al., 2005). The mechanism by which the parasite CRT interacts with host proteins to enhance the process of cellular invasion remains unknown. We recently hypothesized that *T. cruzi* uses its surface TcCRT to exploit matricellular proteins regulated by the parasite to enhance cellular infection.

We recently reported that *T. cruzi* up-regulates the expression of THBS1 to enhance the process of cellular invasion. Very recently our group characterized a novel THBS1 interaction with *T. cruzi* that enhances cellular infection (Johnson et al., 2012). We showed that labeled THBS1 interacts specifically with the surface of *T. cruzi* trypomastigotes. In **Figure 1** we show the full-length THBS1 and the NTSP domain that interact with TcCRT. Pre-exposure of recombinant NTSP or THBS1 to *T. cruzi* significantly enhanced cellular infection of wild-type mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEF) compared to the C-terminal domain of THBS1, E3T3C1. In addition, blocking TcCRT with antibodies significantly inhibited the



enhancement of cellular infection mediated by the TcCRT–THBS1 interaction. Taken together, these findings indicate that THBS1 interacts with TcCRT on the surface of *T. cruzi* through the NTSP domain and that this interaction enhances cellular infection. Thus, surface TcCRT is another virulence factor that enhances the pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection through THBS1, which is up-regulated by the parasite.

The observation that THBS1 interacts with the parasite membrane TcCRT is also in agreement with the recent discovery that CRT, which was previously thought to be exclusively intracellular, is also expressed on the surface of the parasite (Arosa et al., 1999; Xiao et al., 1999; Yan et al., 2010). The identification of CRT homologs in other parasites such as *Onchocerca, Schistosoma*, and *Leishmania* (Michalak et al., 1992; Nash et al., 1994; Joshi et al., 1996) suggests that the protein functions as an intracellular chaperone but its role in the process of infection of those parasites remains unknown.

Our group showed that surface TcCRT is a virulence factor that interacts with host THBS1 to enhance cellular infection by T. cruzi (Johnson et al., 2012). In order to explore the significance of host THBS1 and TcCRT in cellular infection by T. cruzi, our group used THBS1 KO MEF and WT MEF in infection assays. We observed that host THBS1 and parasite surface TcCRT are important for MEF cellular infection by T. cruzi. The significance of surface TcCRT in enhancing cellular infection by T. cruzi was supported by the fact that specific antibodies to TcCRT significantly reduced cellular infection. The identification of TcCRT as a virulence factor expressed on the surface of the parasite can be exploited to provide new insights into the molecular pathogenesis of T. cruzi infection. TcCRT expression on the parasite surface may modulate the vertebrate complement system as an immune escape mechanism (Ferreira et al., 2005). Taken together, these findings indicate that THBS1 interacts with TcCRT on the surface of T. cruzi through the NTSP domain and that this interaction enhances cellular infection by T. cruzi.

T. cruzi MODULATES THE THBS1 SUB-NETWORK

The matricellular THBS1 glycoprotein inhibits angiogenesis and modulates endothelial cell adhesion, motility, and growth. THBS1 interacts with several cell adhesion receptors, including CD36, integrins, and integrin-associated proteins and inhibits matrix metalloproteinase enzymes thereby remodeling the cellular microenvironment (Sid et al., 2004). We have shown that T. cruzi up-regulates the expression of THBS1 to facilitate the invasion process (Simmons et al., 2006). Knockdown of THBS1 by RNAi significantly inhibited cellular invasion by T. cruzi. The increased level of THBS1 expression significantly modulates the interactome cross-talk between the cells, as we found the largest protein-protein interaction (PPI) sub-network occurred in the THBS1 seed network, with 51 nodes interconnected with 151 edges (Nde et al., 2010). This network topology will potentially favor parasite multiplication and survival. During this cross-talk, higher levels of THBS1 activate TGF-B (Ribeiro et al., 1999), a major pro-fibrotic cytokine causing modification of the ECM milieu. THBS1 then interacts with several host proteins including the COL7A1 gene product, which then interacts with other proteins from the laminin family of genes to make the ECM conducive to parasite mobility and cellular invasion. The modulation of THBS1 gene networking profile is highly critical for trypanosome mobility and cellular invasion. Other parasites (including the human pathogens Plasmodium, Toxoplasma, and Cryptosporidium), which do not regulate human THBS1, use a transmembrane thrombospondin-related anonymous protein (TRAP) for gliding motility and invasion of vertebrate host cells (Kappe et al., 1999; Sibley, 2004; Morahan et al., 2009). TRAP proteins produced by the parasite can also activate TGF- β , an anti-inflammatory cytokine that counteracts the effects of inflammatory cytokines like IL-12, INF- γ , and TNF- α thereby facilitating parasite survival. TSP1, also binds to matrix metalloproteinase-2(MMP-2) and appears to be involved in the infection process.

Modulation of THBS1 expression in HCASM cells by *T. cruzi* is essential because THBS1 blocks the cytoprotective activity of nitric oxide (NO) by antagonizing the NO/cGMP signaling pathway thereby negatively regulating vascular tone, vascular smooth muscle cells adhesion, chemotaxis, and proliferation (Isenberg et al., 2008). Increased THBS1 transcripts in parasitized HCASM cells may suggest that THBS1 also contributes in part to the pathology caused by *T. cruzi*. THBS1 is required for the infection process of *T. cruzi* as evidenced by RNAi of that specific isoform. The upregulation of host THBS1 expression by *T. cruzi* to facilitate the

infection of human cells represents an additional mechanism that contributes to the pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection.

The first elucidated THBS1 sub-network interactome mobilized in cells by *T. cruzi* involves the following genes: TSC2, TNFRSF1A, COL1A1, COL2A1, COL3A1, COL5A1, COL7A1, SDC1, SDC2, SDC3, SCD4, SPARC, LTBP1, HRG, ITGB1, ITGB3, ITGA3, ITGA4, ITGAV, FGA, SPP1, F2, CD47, MMP2, MMP9, CALR, TFPI, ZNF8, LRP1, LRP5, TP53, CTSG, PDGFB, ELA2, COR01A, LAMB3, CFH, PDEA, JAG1, DCN, TGFB1, CD36, FN1, PLG, TNFAIP6, SCARB2, DHFR, and KNG1 (Nde et al., 2010). The roles of the members of the THBS1 sub-network in the infection process are also being investigated fully by our group as indicated above in this section. The new advances in the area will facilitate the identification of the molecular signature induced by *T. cruzi* in cells via the TcCRT–THBS1 interphase as well as the development of small molecule inhibitors to interrupt the critical initial steps of *T. cruzi* infection.

T. cruzi USES LAMININ AND GALECTIN-3 TO PROMOTE CELLULAR INFECTION

The ECM, human lectins, and parasite mucins have been shown to play an important role in the early process of T. cruzi infection. Accordingly, human galectin-3 binds to a trypomastigote surface mucin (Moody et al., 2000; Turner et al., 2002) and to HCASM cells in a lectin-like manner (Kleshchenko et al., 2004) to significantly increase the adhesion of trypomastigotes to these cells. Silencing galectin-3 expression in cells by antisense approach significantly reduces trypomastigote cell adhesion. Galectin-3 molecules interact with a T. cruzi 45 kDA mucin surface protein on one hand and with laminin on the other, via their carbohydrate recognition domains and are joined together through the R-domains (Moody et al., 2000; Kleshchenko et al., 2004). In this way, galectin-3 binds to laminin and trypomastigotes to recruit them to the ECM thus facilitating initial infection. Thus, galectin-3 provides a bridge between parasites and laminin in host cell thereby enhancing infection. Prior to cellular infection the infective trypomastigotes bombard host cells with PLC-cleaved gp83 to activate the ERK1/2 pathway to up regulate laminin primed cells to enhanced infection via the laminin-45 mucin-galectin-3 pathway (Moody et al., 2000; Kleshchenko et al., 2004). These studies pointed out a novel T. cruzi-host cell interaction mediated by gp83-laminin-45 mucin- galectin-3 that recruits significant number of parasites at the ECM to facilitate cellular infection. Other T. cruzi surface antigens bind to laminin (Giordano et al., 1999) and fibronectin (Ouaissi et al., 1986) and have been postulated to participate in the infection process, however these interactions have not been studied using systems biology approaches. Overall, we can conclude that the parasite modulates some ECM components and interacts with them to facilitate infection by exploiting these molecules and human lectins to recruit parasites in the early process of infection.

Galectin-3 binds to the surface of HCASM cells in a granular manner, distributed around the cellular membrane, polarized, and more pronounced at the cellular ends (Kleshchenko et al., 2004). The receptors for human galectin-3 are distributed in patches on the cell surface and are more abundant at the cellular terminal regions. The binding of galectin-3 to trypomastigotes is also seen as granular, restricted to some areas of the trypanosome membrane, and polarized (Kleshchenko et al., 2004).

Galectin-3 is also implicated in the association of T. cruzi trypomastigotes with laminin (Moody et al., 2000). Binding of trypomastigotes to laminin is enhanced by galectin-3 and this enhanced binding of trypanosomes is inhibited by lactose. Coimmunoprecipitations indicate that galectin-3 binds to the 45 kDa trypomastigote surface protein and this binding is also inhibited by lactose (Moody et al., 2000). The monoclonal antibody B5 that recognizes the trypomastigote 45 kDa surface mucin blocks trypomastigote attachment to heart myoblasts (Moody et al., 2000; Turner et al., 2002). A working model proposes that galectin-3, released by human cells, forms bridges between T. cruzi and laminin. Since nearly all the tissues which T. cruzi infects are surrounded by basement membranes of which laminin is a major constituent, its ability to effectively interact with laminin is critically important for passage through the membrane barrier. These studies suggest that this is a trypanosome trapping mechanism, which enables the organisms to accumulate in the basement membrane prior to invasion of heart myoblasts, making galectin-3 a candidate molecule, which enhances the pathogenesis of T. cruzi via laminin and a T. cruzi surface mucin.

Galectins have long been suspected of modulating cell to ECM interactions in a novel fashion (Liu and Rabinovich, 2005). Data suggest that one mechanism involves the ligation of mammalian cells to ECM proteins, which also interact with galectin-3 such as laminin and elastin (Liu and Rabinovich, 2005). The other mechanism involves the interaction of galectins with the polylactosamine residues of integrins, resulting in the modulation of cellular adhesion to ECM proteins (Rabinovich et al., 2002). Whereas most of these studies were done in mammalian systems, it has been suggested that galectins expressed by *Entamoeba* may be critical in their interactions with host cells (Petri et al., 1990). It is likely that in parasitic organisms, the binding of the organisms to the ECM proteins or cell surface glycoconjugates may be the primary adhesion mechanisms mediated by galectins.

Galectin-3 is also expressed in B cells from *T. cruzi*-infected mice (Acosta-Rodríguez et al., 2004) and is up-regulated by *T. cruzi* infection of mice (Vray et al., 2004). The fact that galectin-3 is secreted by macrophages and by other cells, including HCASM cells, suggests that released galectin-3 modulates infection via laminin. The concentrations of galectin-3 that increase trypanosome adhesion to HCASM cells *in vitro* are similar to the concentrations of galectin-3 present in fluids *in vivo* (Sano et al., 2000). Furthermore, the concentrations of galectin-3 in fluids *in vivo* increase approximately 300-fold during microbial infection (Sato and Hughes, 1994). These observations suggest that the parasite may have adapted to the host and that it takes advantage of a host inflammatory molecule, galectin-3, to bind to host cells via laminin and a *T. cruzi* mucin to enhance infection.

Previous studies have shown that parasite molecules bind to immobilized laminin (Giordano et al., 1999) and that human galectin-3 enhances this interaction (Moody et al., 2000), indicating that the trypanosome interacts with laminin via galectin-3.

T. cruzi SURFACE GP83 REGULATES THE ECM INTERACTOME

The genetic architecture of the early *T. cruzi* infection process of human cells is very limited. To understand this aspect of the infection, we conducted gene transcription microarray analysis followed by gene network construction of the host cell response in primary HCASM cells infected with *T. cruzi* or exposed to *T. cruzi* gp83. Using THBS1, LAMC1, LGALS3, and ERK1/2 as the seed nodes for biological network construction, we built an interactome network of the early *T. cruzi* infection process, which centered on the ECM. ERK1/2 was used as one seed mode, since *T. cruzi* gp83 activates ERK1/2 in cells to up-regulate the LAMC1 expression and infection. After seeding the initial four nodes, the network was expanded to one degree of direct biological interaction, resulting in base interaction networks with the seed node as a center point in each. In order to populate and build our interaction network we used a similar approach to determine the modulation of the LAMC1 sub-network as indicated above. **Figure 2** shows the ECM interactome that is modulated by *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand. The first step in the regulation of the ECM interactome by *T. cruzi* during the initial infection process involves triggering gp83 receptors in the cell via activation of ERK1/2 by PLC-cleaved gp83 which results in the up-regulation of LAMC1 and activation of the LAMC1 sub-network which directly cross-talks with the LGALS3 sub-network to recruit parasites and enhance cellular infection on one side. On the other side, triggering gp83 receptors in the cell via ERK1/2 cross-talk with the THBS1 sub-network, also enhances cellular infection and cross-talk at a distance with LGALS3, which also recruit parasites via Tc45 mucin, and LAMC1 (**Figure 2**). Tc85 interacts with laminin and may mobilize the ECM interactome. It is also possible that *T. cruzi* MMP9 like



FIGURE 2 | *Trypanosoma cruzi* gp83 regulates the ECM interactome and trypanosome usage of the ECM during early infection to enhance cellular infection. *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand triggers gp83 receptors in the cell via ERK1/2 to up-regulate LAMC1 which cross-talks with LGALS3 and THBS1 to enhance cellular infection using selected parasite surface molecules such as TcCRT, TC45 mucin, and Tc85. Arrow points to the first signal. The interactome was generated using MiMI Cytoscape plugin (version 3.2). The MiMI interface uses a database which is itself constructed from merged data of well-known protein interaction databases as described in the text of the review. The network was connected by using ERK1/2, Laminin gamma-1 (LAMC1), Thrombospondin-1 (THBS1), and Galectin-3 (LGALS3) as initial seed nodes (large DIAMOND nodes). Node expansion was done to one degree of biological protein–protein interaction partners of the seed nodes using the Michigan Molecular Interaction Database. Proteins mapping to the canonical "ECM-Receptor Interaction Pathway" of KEGG (hsa04512) are highlighted as following: GREEN nodes are ECM ligands (laminins, collagens, fibronectin, heparan sulfate, and thrombospondin-1). RED nodes are ECM receptors: (integrins, cd35, cd47, and SV2A). BLUE nodes are not part of the KEGG ECM–ECM Receptor Pathway, but have established biological interactions with ECM–Receptor interaction nodes. The global interactome was visualized in Cytoscape (version 2.6.3), yielding the ECM interactome involved in early *T. cruzi* infection. Trypomastigotes pointed in the figure are culture trypomastigotes released from infected cells expressing surface Tcgp83, TcCRT, and Tc45 mucin. All of these trypomastigotes.

activity that degrades the ECM may regulate the ECM interactome (Nogueira de Melo et al., 2010). This ECM-focused interactome contains 108 nodes representing protein-coding genes connected by 222 edges representing biological interactions between nodes (**Figure 2**).

Increased THBS1 expression significantly modulates the interactome cross-talk between cells. This change in network topology potentially favors parasite invasion and infection of host cells. As such, THBS1 interacts with several proteins ranging from adhesion receptors (CD36 and CD47) to structural proteins (COL7A1) and zymogens. CD47 is a receptor for the C-terminal domain of THBS1 and this interaction may be important in membrane transport and signal transduction. In addition, CD47 is involved in intracellular calcium increase, which occurs when the cell adheres to the ECM. An increase in cytosolic Ca++ in T. cruzi trypomastigotes was detected at the single cell level after association of the parasites with myoblasts. Ca++ mobilization in host cells was also detected upon contact with trypomastigotes. Confirmatively, pretreatment of the parasites with the Ca⁺⁺ chelators decreased trypomastigote association to myoblasts indicating that calcium mobilization is required for cell invasion (Moreno et al., 1994).

The structural protein COL7A1 is typically found in the basement membrane and also associates with THBS1. Once COL7A1 interacts with THBS1, it makes the ECM conducive to parasite motility and cellular invasion with the help of proteins from the laminin family of genes. Plasminogen (PLG) links LAMC1 and THBS1. PLG (a zymogen) is cleaved into plasmin (a serine protease), and angiostatin (an angiogenesis inhibitor). Plasmin is known to cleave fibronectin, THBS1, and LAMC1, thus taking part in ECM modifications.

Trypanosoma cruzi must navigate through the basal lamina, which contains LAMC1. The T. cruzi gp83 ligand modifies LAMC1 expression in the ECM and contributes to the pathogenesis of T. cruzi infection in human heart cells. The fact that the LAMC1 network is connected to THBS1 through PLG and COL7A1 and matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2) suggests that this network could facilitate parasite mobilization. MMP2 is a type IV collagenase that participates in the rearrangement of the ECM, which could facilitate parasite mobilization. In the LAMC1 sub-network there is an indirect connection (through LAMA1) to dystroglycan (DAG1). DAG1 is a dystrophin-associated glycol-protein responsible for transmembrane linkage between the ECM and host cell cytoskeleton. The extracellular form of DAG1 can bind to merosin alpha-2-laminin in the ECM (Yamada et al., 1994). If T. cruzi alters the dystroglycan complex, it could consequently manipulate or weaken the host cell cytoskeleton prior to gaining entry into the cell. This could yet be another mechanism by which T. cruzi invades host cells. In reference to the ECM network reviewed, LAMC1 also has a second-degree interaction (one node in between the genes) with LGALS3 through myocilin (MYOC). MYOC is a secreted protein believed to have a role in cytoskeletal function, specifically vesicular transport and ECM conformation (Caballero et al., 2000). Unlike other intracellular pathogens, which avoid contact with host cell lysosomes, T. cruzi requires the low-pH environment of lysosomes to initiate egression from the vacuole and delivery to the host cell cytoplasm where replication takes place (Burleigh, 2005). Therefore, the control of vesicular trafficking by *T. cruzi* improves the rate of trypomastigote entry and amastigote replication in the host cell. The fact that LAMC1 is connected to LGALS3 through MYOC in the ECM interactome suggests the importance of LGALS3 in the manipulation of host ECM by *T. cruzi*.

Increased LGALS3 expression in the ECM promotes the adhesion of *T. cruzi* to host cells and subsequent infection (Kleshchenko et al., 2004). In addition, LGALS3 has numerous ECM interacting partners (Dumic et al., 2006), including collagen IV, hensin, laminins, fibronectin, vitronectin, tenascin, and elastin. LGALS3 regulates adhesion of these ECM proteins to a variety of host cells. Matrix metalloproteases, which are more active in *T. cruzi* infected mice, regulate LGAL3 function (Gutierrez et al., 2008). When metalloproteases are activated in the ECM, they can cleave LGALS3 and negatively regulate its function. Consequently, increased activation of MMP1 and MMP9 is associated with ECM destruction and myocarditis in *T. cruzi* infection.

Multiple types of collagen interact with the three central seed nodes, THBS1, LGALS3, and LAMC1. A glimpse of the importance of collagen in early *T. cruzi* infection was reported (Velge et al., 1988).

SOME POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE ECM IN INFECTION

Expression profiling microarray studies of T. cruzi infected cells have shown that some ECM genes are regulated (Goldenberg et al., 2009; Mukherjee et al., 2003), however those genes were not confirmed by RT-PCR, nor their function in the process of T. cruzi infection was determined. Several reports suggest that some parasite proteases may degrade the ECM. The possible role of trypanosomatid surface proteases in parasite survival and infection has been discussed (Marino et al., 2003; Yao, 2010). It was suggested that the gp85/trans-sialidase interacts with the ECM components (Alves and Colli, 2008) and speculated that the prolyl oligopeptidase Tc 80 may be involved in the infection possibly by acting on ECM components (Grellier et al., 2001). Interestingly, it was found that in a T. cruzi infected mouse embryo hepatocyte cell line, there was a reduction of MMP9 (Nogueira de Melo et al., 2004), as well as some matrix components during the late phase of infection (60th to 90th day; Magalhaes-Santos et al., 2002). Pinho et al. (2002) reported that uncharacterized parasite antigens bind to non-infected cells and that ECM components were recognized by antibodies, however the molecular characterization of antigens and the specificity of these possible interactions were not considered. Furthermore, Santana et al. (1997) showed that a Tc 80 proteinase hydrolyzes collagen type in rat mesentery. It is possible that that ECM derived from T. cruzi infected endothelial cells directs phenotypic expression (Morris et al., 1990).

It has been suggested that there are fibrotic implications during *T. cruzi* infection involving the ECM. Accordingly, Calvet et al. (2009) suggested that TGF- β and TNF- α stimulate fibronectin expression in uninfected cells of *T. cruzi*-infected cultures, whereas cells harboring the parasites display low or no fibronectin fibrils. It was observed that there are sequential changes of the connective matrix components of the myocardium (fibronectin and laminin) during fibrosis in infected mice (Andrade et al., 1989). The fact that

T. cruzi-mediated down-regulation of CTGF expression requires *de novo* host cell protein synthesis and that *T. cruzi* interferes with the host fibrogenic response suggest that this complex process requires input from multiple host cell signaling pathways (Unnikrishnan and Burleigh, 2004). Although it has been demonstrated that cardiomyocytes are able to synthesize cytokines upon *T. cruzi* infection, Calvet et al. (2004) suggest that matrix remodeling is dependent on cytokines secreted by inflammatory cells recruited in immune response. These reports suggest that *T. cruzi* modulates the ECM during the infection process with potential implications in the pathology of the disease.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Despite an appreciation of the involvement of the ECM in *T. cruzi* infection, the difficulty in delineating regulatory networks in the process of cellular infection and disease, has until now prevented a comprehensive assessment of *T. cruzi* infection at the molecular level. The use of systems biology approaches to elucidate the ECM interactome network regulated by *T. cruzi* and its gp83 ligand that mediate trypanosome attachment and entry are critically important to understand the molecular pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection and disease management. There is an expectation that systems biology approaches applied to understand *T. cruzi* infection would bring new innovative strategies for the treatment and control of Chagas

REFERENCES

- Acosta-Rodríguez, E. V., Montes, C. L., Motran, C. C., Zuniga, E. I., Liu, F. T., Rabinovich, G. A., et al. (2004). Galectin-3 mediates IL-4-induced survival and differentiation of B cells: functional cross-talk and implications during *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. J. Immunol. 172, 493–502.
- Aguilar, L., Ramirez, G., Valck, C., Molina, M. C., Rojas A., Schwaeble, W., et al. (2005). F(ab')2 antibody fragments against *Trypanosoma cruzi* calreticulin inhibit its interaction with the first component of human complement. *Biol. Res.* 38, 187–195.
- Alves, M. J., and Colli, W. (2008). Role of the gp85/trans-sialidase superfamily of glycoproteins in the interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host structures. *Subcell. Biochem.* 47, 58–69.
- Andrade, S. G., Grimaud, J. A., and Stocker-Guerret, S. (1989). Sequential changes of the connective matrix components of the myocardium (fibronectin and laminin) and evolution of cardiac fibrosis in mice infected with *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 40, 252–260.
- Arosa, F. A., de Jesus, O., Porto G., Carmo, A. M., and de Sousa, M. (1999). Calreticulin is expressed on the cell surface of activated human

- peripheral blood T lymphocytes in association with major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 16917–16922.
- Bornstein, P. (2002). Cell-matrix interactions: the view from the outside. *Methods Cell Biol.* 69, 7–11.
- Burleigh, B. A. (2005). Host cell signaling and *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion: do all roads lead to lysosomes? *Sci. STKE*. 2005, pe36.
- Caballero, M., Rowlette, L. L., and Borras, T. (2000). Altered secretion of a TIGR/MYOC mutant lacking the olfactomedin domain. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1502, 447–460.
- Calvet, C. M., Meuser, M., Almeida, D., Meirelles, M. N., and Pereira, M. C. (2004). *Trypanosoma cruzi*cardiomyocyte interaction: role of fibronectin in the recognition process and extracellular matrix expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Exp. Parasitol*. 107, 20–30.
- Calvet, C. M., Oliveira, F. O. Jr., Araújo-Jorge, T. C., and Pereira, M. C. (2009). Regulation of extracellular matrix expression and distribution in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiomyocytes. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 299, 301–312.
- Cardenas, T., Pratap, S., Nde, P. N., Johnson, C., Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Furtak, Y., et al. (2010). Regulation of the extracellular matrix interactome by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Open Parasitol. J. 4, 72–76.

disease. So far the use of systems biology to understand the role of the ECM in T. cruzi infection has significantly enhanced the understanding of T. cruzi-host cell interaction and pathogenesis of T. cruzi infection. Accordingly, here we elucidate the first ECM interactome triggered by the T. cruzi gp83 ligand during the first step of cellular infection to recruit trypanosomes at the ECM to enhance cellular infection. In the shot gun used by T. cruzi to regulate the ECM interactome to gain cellular entry and evade the host reported here, T. cruzi gp83 triggers gp83 receptors in the cell via ERK1/2 to up-regulate LAMC1 which cross-talks with both LGALS3 and THBS1 to enhance cellular infection using selected parasite surface molecules such as TcCRT and TC45 mucin. Based on this new information, current efforts are being pursued by our group to elucidate the molecular signature induced by T. cruzi in cells. Since T. cruzi-host cell interaction is of a complex nature, the elucidation of the global interactome and sub-interactome networks will help understand the complex T. cruzi-host interphase that mediate parasite attachment and entry, and develop new means for the treatment of the highly neglected and complex Chagas disease, which has no current effective drugs or vaccines.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported primarily by a NIH grant AI080580 and in part by NIH grants AI007281, AI083925, U54 MD007593, GM0599994, and MD007586.

- Carlson, C. B., Bernstein, D. A., Annis, D. S., Misenheimer, T. M., Hannah, B. L., Mosher, D. F., et al. (2005). Structure of the calcium-rich signature domain of human thrombospondin-2. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12, 910–914.
- Chen, H., Herndon, M. E., and Lawler, J. (2000). The cell biology of thrombospondin-1. *Matrix Biol.* 19, 597–614.
- Cline, M. S., Smoot, M., Cerami, E., Kuchinsky, A., Landys, N., Workman, C., et al. (2007). Integration of biological networks and gene expression data using Cytoscape. *Nat. Protoc.* 2, 2366–2382.
- Dumic, J., Dabelic, S., and Flogel, M. (2006). Galectin-3: an open-ended story. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1760, 616–635.
- Elzie, C. A., and Murphy-Ullrich, J. E. (2004). The N-terminus of thrombospondin: the domain stands apart. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 36, 1090– 1101.
- Ferreira, V., Molina, M. C., Schwaeble, W., Lemus, D., and Ferreira, A. (2005). Does *Trypanosoma cruzi* calreticulin modulate the complement system and angiogenesis? *Trends Parasitol.* 21, 169–174.
- Ferreira, V., Molina, M. C., Valck, C., Rojas, A., Aguilar, L., Ramirez, G., et al. (2004). Role of calreticulin from parasites in its interaction with vertebrate hosts. *Mol. Immunol.* 40, 1279–1291.

- Gao, A. G., and Frazier, W. A. (1994). Identification of a receptor candidate for the carboxyl-terminal cell binding domain of thrombospondins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 29650–29657.
- Gao, J., Ade, A. S., Tarcea, V. G., Weymouth, T. E., Mirel, B. R., Jagadish, H. V., et al. (2009). Integrating and annotating the interactome using the MiMI plugin for cytoscape. *Bioinformatics* 25, 137–138.
- Giordano, R., Fouts, D. L., Tewari, D., Colli, W., Manning, J. E., and Alves, M. J. (1999). Cloning of a surface membrane glycoprotein specific for the infective form of *Trypanosoma cruzi* having adhesive properties to laminin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 3461– 3468.
- Gold, L. I., Eggleton, P., Sweetwyne, M. T., Van Duyn, L. B., Greives, M. R., Naylor, S. M., et al. (2010).
 Calreticulin: non-endoplasmic reticulum functions in physiology and disease. *FASEB J.* 24, 665–683.
- Goldenberg, R. C., Iacobas, D. A., Iacobas, S., Rocha, L. L., da Silva de Azevedo Fortes, F., Vairo, L., et al. (2009). Transcriptomic alterations in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiac myocytes. *Microbes Infect.* 11, 1140–1149.
- Grellier, P., Vendeville, S., Joyeau, R., Bastos, I. M., Drobecq, H., Frappier, F., et al. (2001). *Trypanosoma cruzi* prolyl oligopeptidase Tc80 is involved in nonphagocytic mammalian cell

invasion by trypomastigotes. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 47078–47086.

- Gutierrez, F. R., Lalu, M. M., Mariano, F. S., Milanezi, C. M., Cena, J., Gerlach, R. F., et al. (2008). Increased activities of cardiac matrix metalloproteinases matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 are associated with mortality during the acute phase of experimental *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J. Infect. Dis.* 197, 1468–1476.
- Isenberg, J. S., Maxhimer, J. B., Hyodo, F., Pendrak, M. L., Ridnour, L. A., DeGraff, W. G., et al. (2008). Thrombospondin-1 and CD47 limit cell and tissue survival of radiation injury. *Am. J. Pathol.* 173, 1100–1112.
- Johnson, C. A., Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Ikejiani, A. O., Udoko, A. N., Cardenas, T. C., Pratap, S., et al. (2012). Thrombospondin-1 interacts with *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface calreticulin to enhance cellular infection. *PLoS ONE* 7, e40614. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040614
- Johnson, R. J., Xiao, G., Shanmugaratnam, J., and Fine, R. E. (2001a). Calreticulin functions as a molecular chaperone for the beta-amyloid precursor protein. *Neurobiol. Aging* 22, 387–395.
- Johnson, S., Michalak, M., Opas, M., and Eggleton, P. (2001b). The ins and outs of calreticulin: from the ER lumen to the extracellular space. *Trends Cell Biol.* 11, 122–129.
- Joshi, M., Pogue, G. P., Duncan, R. C., Lee, N. S., Singh, N. K., Atreya, C. D., et al. (1996). Isolation and characterization of *Leishmania donovani* calreticulin gene and its conservation of the RNA binding activity. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 81, 53–64.
- Kappe, S., Bruderer, T., Gantt, S., Fujioka. H., Nussenzweig, V., and Menard, R. J. (1999). Conservation of a gliding motility and cell invasion machinery in Apicomplexan parasites. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 937–944.
- Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Moody, T. N., Furtak, F. A., Ochieng, J., Lima, M. F., and Villalta, F. (2004). Human galectin-3 promotes *Trypanosoma cruzi* adhesion to human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 6717–6721.
- Lawler, J., and Hynes, R. O. (1989). An integrin receptor on normal and thrombasthenic platelets that binds thrombospondin. *Blood* 74, 2022– 2027.
- Lima, M. F., and Villalta, F. (1988). Host-cell attachment by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: identification of an adhesion molecule. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 155, 256–262.

- Lima, M. F., and Villalta, F. (1989). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote clones differentially express a cell adhesion molecule. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 33, 159–170.
- Liu, F. T., and Rabinovich, G. A. (2005). Galectins as modulators of tumor progression. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 5, 29–41.
- Magalhaes-Santos, I. F., Lima, E. S., and Andrade, S. G. (2002). Fibrogenesis and collagen resorption in the heart and skeletal muscle of *Calomys callosus* experimentally infected with *Trypanosoma cruzi*: immunohistochemical identification of extracellular matrix components. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 97, 703–710.
- Marino, A. P., Silva, A. A., Pinho, R. T., and Lannes-Vieira, J. (2003). *Try*panosoma cruzi infection: a continuous invader-host cell cross talk with participation of extracellular matrix and adhesion and chemoattractant molecules. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 36, 1121–1133.
- Michalak, M., Milner, R. E., Burns, K., and Opas, M. (1992). Calreticulin. *Biochem. J.* 285, 681–692.
- Michalak, M., Corbett, E. F., Mesaeli, N., Nakamura, K., and Opas, M. (1999). Calreticulin: one protein, one gene, many functions. *Biochem. J.* 2, 281–292.
- Milei, J., Sanchez, J., Storino, R., Yu, Z. X., Denduchis, B., and Ferrans, V. J. (1993). Antibodies to laminin and immunohistochemical localization of laminin in chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy: a review. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 129, 161–170.
- Moody, T., Ochieng, J., and Villalta, F. (2000). Novel mechanism that *Trypanosoma cruzi* uses to adhere to the extracellular matrix-mediated by human galectin-3. *FEBS Lett.* 470, 305–308.
- Morahan, B. J., Wang, L., and Coppel, R. L. (2009). No TRAP, no invasion. *Trends Parasitol*. 25, 77–84.
- Moreno, S. N., Silva, J., Vercesi, A. E., and Docampo, R. (1994). Cytosolic-free calcium elevation in *Trypanosoma cruzi* is required for cell invasion. *J. Exp. Med.* 180, 1535– 1540.
- Morris, S. A., Wittner, M., Weiss, L., Hatcher, V. B., Tanowitz, H. B., Bilezikian, J. P., et al. (1990). Extracellular matrix derived from *Trypanosoma cruzi* infected endothelial cells directs phenotypic expression. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 145, 340–346.
- Mukherjee, S., Belbin, T. J., Spray, D. C., Iacobas, D. A., Weiss, L. M., Kitsis, R. N., et al. (2003). Microarray analysis of changes in gene expression in a murine model of chronic chagasic

cardiomyopathy. Microarray analysis of changes in gene expression in a murine model of chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy. *Parasitol. Res.* 91, 187–196.

- Nakhasi, H. L., Pogue, G. P., Duncan, R. C., Joshi, M., Atreya, C. D., Lee, N. S., et al. (1998). Implications of calreticulin function in parasite biology. *Parasitol. Today* 14, 157–160.
- Nash, P. D., Opas, M., and Michalak, M. (1994). Calreticulin: not just another calcium-binding protein. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 135, 71–78.
- Nde, P. N., Simmons, K. J., Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Pratap, S., Lima, M. F., and Villalta, F. (2006). Silencing of the laminin gamma-1 gene blocks *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 1643–1648.
- Nde, P. N., Johnson, C. A., Pratap, P., Cardenas, T. C., Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Furtak, Y. A., et al. (2010). Gene network analysis during early infection of human coronary artery smooth muscle cells by *Trypanosoma cruzi* and its gp83 ligand. *Chem. Biodivers*. 7, 1051–1064.
- Nogueira de Melo, A. C., Meirelles, M. N., Porrozi, R., Costa, J. D., Branquinha, M. H., and Vermelho, A. B. (2004). Reduced activity of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected mouse embryo hepatocyte cell. *Hepatol. Res.* 91, 187–196.
- Nogueira de Melo, A. C., de Souza, E. P., Elias, C. G., dos Santos, A. L., Branquinha, M. H., d'Avila-Levy, C. M., dos Reis, F. C., et al. (2010). Detection of matrix metallopeptidase-9like proteins in *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Exp. Parasitol.* 125, 256–263.
- Ouaissi, M. A., Cornette, J., and Capron, A. (1986). Identification and isolation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote cell surface protein with properties expected of a fibronectin receptor. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 19, 201–211.
- Petri, W. A., Snodgrass, T. L., Jackson, T. F., Gathiram, V., Simjee, A. E., Chadee, K., et al. (1990). Monoclonal antibodies directed against the galactose-binding lectin of *Entamoeba histolytica* enhance adherence. *J. Immunol.* 144, 4803–4809.
- Pinho, R. T., Vannier-Santos, M. A., Alves, C. R., Marino, A. P., Castello Branco, L. R., and Lannes-Vieira, J. (2002). Effect of *Trypanosoma cruzi* released antigens binding to non-infected cells on anti-parasite antibody recognition and expression of extracellular matrix components. *Acta Trop.* 83, 103–115.
- Rabinovich, G. A., Baum, L. G., Tinari, N., Paganelli, R., Natoli, C., Liu, F. T., et al. (2002). Galectins and their

ligands: amplifiers, silencers or tuners of the inflammatory response. *Trends Immunol.* 23, 313–320.

- Ribeiro, S. M., Poczatek, M., Schultz-Cherry, S., Villain, M., and Murphy-Ullrich, J. E. (1999). The activation sequence of thrombospondin-1 interacts with the latency-associated peptide to regulate activation of latent transforming growth factorbeta. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 13586– 13593.
- Sano, H., Hsu, D. K., Yu, L., Apgar, J. R., Kuwabara, I., Yamanaka, T., et al. (2000). Human galectin-3 is a novel chemoattractant for monocytes and macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 165, 2156–2164.
- Santana, J. M., Grellier, P., Schrével, J., and Teixeira, A. R. (1997). A *Trypanosoma cruzi*-secreted 80 kDa proteinase with specificity for human collagen types I and IV. *Biochem. J.* 325, 129–137.
- Sasaki, T., Fassler, R., and Hohenester, E. (2004). Laminin: the crux of basement membrane assembly. J. Cell Biol. 164, 959–963.
- Sato, S., and Hughes, R. C. (1994). Regulation of secretion and surface expression of Mac-2, a galactosidebinding protein of macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 4424–4430.
- Sibley, L. D. (2004). Intracellular parasite invasion strategies. *Science* 304, 248–253.
- Sid, B., Sartelet, H., Bellon, G., El Btaouri, H., Rath, G., Delorme, N., et al. (2004). Thrombospondin 1: a multifunctional protein implicated in the regulation of tumor growth. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 49, 245–258.
- Simmons, K. J., Nde, P. N., Kleshchenko, Y. Y., Lima, M. F., and Villalta. F. (2006). Stable RNA interference of host thrombospondin-1 blocks *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *FEBS Lett.* 580, 2365–2370.
- Turner, C. W., Lima, M. F., and Villalta, F. (2002). *Trypanosoma cruzi* uses a 45 kDa mucin for adhesion to mammalian cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 290, 29–34.
- Unnikrishnan, M., and Burleigh, B. A. (2004). Inhibition of host connective tissue growth factor expression: a novel *Trypanosoma cruzi*- mediated response. *FASEB J.* 18, 1625–1635.
- Velge, P., Ouaissi, M. A., Cornette, J., Afchain, D., and Capron, A. (1988). Identification and isolation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote collagen-binding proteins: possible role in cell-parasite interaction. *Parasitology* 97, 255–268.
- Villalta, F., Lima, M. F., Zhou, L., and Ruiz-Ruano, A. (1992). Attachment of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to host cells:

a monoclonal antibody recognizes a trypomastigote stage-specific epitope on the gp83 required for parasite attachment. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 182, 6–13.

- Villalta, F., Zhang, Y., Bibb, E. K., Burns, J. M. Jr., and Lima, M. F. (1998). Signal transduction in human macrophages by gp83 ligand of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: trypomastigote gp83 ligand up regulates trypanosome entry through the MAP kinase pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 249, 247–252.
- Villalta, F., Zhang, Y., Bibb, K. E., Pratap, S., Burns, J. M. Jr., and Lima, M. F. (1999). Signal transduction in human macrophages by gp83 ligand of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: trypomastigote gp83 ligand up-regulates trypanosome entry through protein kinase C activation. *Mol. Cell Biol. Res. Commun.* 2, 64–70.

- Villalta, F., Smith, C. M., Ruiz-Ruano, A., and Lima, M. F. (2001). A ligand that *Trypanosoma cruzi* uses to bind to mammalian cells to initiate infection. *FEBS Lett.* 505, 383–388.
- Villalta, F., Madison, M. N., Nde, P. N., Kleshchenko Y. Y., and Lima, M. F. (2008). Molecular analysis of early host cell infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 3714–3734.
- Vray, B., Camby, I., Vercruysse, V., Mijatovic, T., Bovin, N. V., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., et al. (2004). Upregulation of galectin-3 and its ligands by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection with modulation of adhesion and migration of murine dendritic cells. *Glycobiology* 7, 647–657.
- Xiao, G., Chung, T. F., Fine, R. E., and Johnson, R. J. (1999). Calreticulin is transported to the surface of NG108-15 cells where it forms surface patches and is partially degraded in an acidic

compartment. J. Neurosci. Res. 58, 652-662.

- Yamada, H., Shimizu, T., Tanaka, T., Campbell, K. P., and Matsumura, K. (1994). Dystroglycan is a binding protein of laminin and merosin in peripheral nerve. *FEBS Lett.* 352, 49–53.
- Yan, Q., Murphy-Ullrich, J. E., and Song, Y. (2010). Structural insight into the role of thrombospondin-1 binding to calreticulin in calreticulininduced focal adhesion disassembly. *Biochemistry* 49, 3685–3694.
- Yao, C. (2010). Major surface protease of trypanosomatids: one size fits all? *Infect. Immun.* 78, 22–31.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 September 2012; paper pending published: 26 September 2012; accepted: 22 October 2012; published online: 06 November 2012.

Citation: Nde PN, Lima MF, Johnson CA, Pratap S and Villalta F (2012) Regulation and use of the extracellular matrix by Trypanosoma cruzi during early infection. Front. Immun. **3**:337. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00337

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Nde, Lima, Johnson, Pratap and Villalta. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Selection of binding targets in parasites using phage-display and aptamer libraries *in vivo* and *in vitro*

R. R. Tonelli¹, W. Colli² and M. J. M. Alves^{2*}

¹ Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

² Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Química, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Hira Nakhasi, US Food and Drug Administration, USA Tecia M. Carvalho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

*Correspondence:

M. J. M. Alves, Departamento de Bioquímica, Instituto de Química, Universidade de São Paulo, Av. Prof. Lineu Prestes 748, 05508-900 Cidade Universitária, São Paulo, Brazil. e-mail: mjmalves@iq.usp.br

Parasite infections are largely dependent on interactions between pathogen and different host cell populations to guarantee a successful infectious process. This is particularly true for obligatory intracellular parasites as Plasmodium, Toxoplasma, and Leishmania, to name a few. Adhesion to and entry into the cell are essential steps requiring specific parasite and host cell molecules. The large amount of possible involved molecules poses additional difficulties for their identification by the classical biochemical approaches. In this respect, the search for alternative techniques should be pursued. Among them two powerful methodologies can be employed, both relying upon the construction of highly diverse combinatorial libraries of peptides or oligonucleotides that randomly bind with high affinity to targets on the cell surface and are selectively displaced by putative ligands. These are, respectively, the peptide-based phage display and the oligonucleotide-based aptamer techniques. The phage display technique has been extensively employed for the identification of novel ligands in vitro and in vivo in different areas such as cancer, vaccine development, and epitope mapping. Particularly, phage display has been employed in the investigation of pathogen-host interactions. Although this methodology has been used for some parasites with encouraging results, in trypanosomatids its use is, as yet, scanty. RNA and DNA aptamers, developed by the SELEX process (Systematic Evolution of Ligands by Exponential Enrichment), were described over two decades ago and since then contributed to a large number of structured nucleic acids for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes or for the understanding of the cell biology. Similarly to the phage display technique scarce use of the SELEX process has been used in the probing of parasite-host interaction. In this review, an overall survey on the use of both phage display and aptamer technologies in different pathogenic organisms will be discussed. Using these techniques, recent results on the interaction of Trypanosoma cruzi with the host will be highlighted focusing on members of the 85 kDa protein family, a subset of the gp85/TS superfamily.

Keywords: combinatorial methods for diagnosis and therapy, phage display, aptamers, SELEX, Kinetoplastidae, apicomplexa

INTRODUCTION

Phage display technology and RNA and DNA aptamers, developed by the SELEX process (Systematic Evolution of Ligands by Exponential enrichment), were described over two decades ago and since then contributed to a large number of small peptides or structured nucleic acids for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes or for the understanding of the cell biology (**Figure 1**). Comparison of normal cells with cancer or infected cells and vascular endothelium of organs are the most visible examples. The small peptides or nucleic acids of interest can be modified to increase their halflife in the organism or to be conjugated to other molecules, such as fluorescence probes, nanoparticles, or immobilized matrices, increasing their potential use.

PHAGE DISPLAY

The use of filamentous bacteriophages (virus that infect bacteria) to express and display foreign protein fragments or peptides started in the mid-1980s when a portion of the gene encoding the *EcoRI* endonuclease was fused to the gene coding for the pIII protein coat from a M13 virus (Smith, 1985). The result of this original experiment was the production of hybrid filamentous bacteriophages, or fusion phages, expressing and displaying the product of the fusion gene into the minor capsid protein pIII on the surface of the phage particle (Smith, 1985). This approach represented a landmark in the field of molecular genetics, because firstly foreign DNA was directly linked to the replicating phage genome and secondly, the phage operated like an "expression vector" with the foreign DNA being expressed as a "protein" associated to the phage protein coat (Smith and Scott, 1993; Smith and Petrenko, 1997).

Most phage-display work has used filamentous phage strains (M13 and its close relatives fd and f1) as vectors. Filamentous bacteriophage consists of a circular single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) genome covered by a few thousand copies of the major coat



display. A phage library displaying potential ligand proteins on their surface is exposed to an immobilized target (step 1). After washing away unbound phages (step 2), binders are eluted by *Escherichia coli* infection and plated on LB-agar (step 3). Clones are then amplified producing a phage mixture that is enriched with relevant (i.e., binding) phage (step 4). The repeated cycling of these steps is referred as "panning". At the end of 3–4 rounds of panning the enriched phage population is recovered by infection of a suitable bacterial host and sequenced to identify the interacting peptides or protein fragments. **(B)** SELEX. It is based on a stretch of single-stranded nucleic acid, which can be RNA or single-stranded DNA (ss-DNA). These are chemically synthesized to have a random stretch usually from 8 to 40

protein pVIII (~2700 copies in wild type phage) with each end capped by five copies of two different sets of proteins: pIII and pVI at the end that binds to bacteria and inject the DNA into the host cell; pVII and pIX at the other end (Marvin, 1998). Each of the five capsidic proteins has been used to display foreign polypeptides on the surface of the M13 bacteriophage but the minor protein pIII is most commonly used (Greenwood et al., 1991; Smith and Petrenko, 1997). Despite the ease manipulation and extraordinary stability of the phage particle, the display of foreign proteins is not without difficulties and imposes that polypeptides have a limited size, sequence, and folding characteristics, as large molecules may compromise the structure and function of the protein coat (Sidhu, 2000). This restraint has led researchers to cast about for new protein display scaffolds resulting in the development of phagemid display systems (Qi et al., 2012). Phagemid was developed as a hybrid of the filamentous phage M13 and a plasmid to produce a vector that can grow as a plasmid, and also be packaged as single stranded DNA in viral particles. When introduced into a bacterial host together with a "helper-phage," phagemid systems allow the display of both fusion and wild type coat proteins

attenuating possible defects on phage function (Sidhu, 2000;

targets (step 2). After washing out unbound RNAs (step 3) the different

RNA pools are displaced by incubation with ligands of interest (step 4).

By reverse transcription (step 5) and PCR amplification (step 6) selected

The DNAs are cloned and sequenced. This iterative method follows the

instead of RNA (Ulrich and Wrenger, 2009).

same logic when single-stranded DNA sequences are used as aptamers

double-stranded DNAs are reconstructed. The same cycle is repeated over

8-12 times until purified sequences specific for a given ligand are selected.

Qi et al., 2012). In recent years display of heterologous proteins on the surface of microorganisms is not restricted to the filamentous phage (Smith, 1985). Alternative display systems that use bacteriophage λ (Sternberg and Hoess, 1995), lytic phages like T4 and T7 (Efimov et al., 1995; Ren et al., 1996), eukaryotic viruses such as baculovirus (for a review see Makela et al., 2010), bacteria (Georgiou et al., 1997), and yeast are also used, each one having advantages and disadvantages with respect to each particular application.

The benefits behind the display systems have also encouraged the development of a new generation of selection technologies. Cell-free systems like ribosome (He and Taussig, 2002), mRNA (Takahashi et al., 2003) and DNA display technologies (Yonezawa et al., 2004) are proven to be more advantageous than phage display, as larger libraries (up to 10¹⁴) can be constructed. While in the ribosome display, individual nascent proteins are coupled to their corresponding mRNA through the formation of stable ternary protein–ribosome–mRNA (PRM) complexes, in the other two systems protein fragments and peptides are covalently coupled to a DNA/RNA template (He and Taussig, 2002; Takahashi et al., 2003; Bertschinger and Neri, 2004). These technologies are becoming more commonplace, but the phage display platform remains the leading technology (Sidhu, 2000).

Phage display libraries are heterogeneous mixtures of fusion phages, each one carrying a different foreign DNA insert and displaying a different protein on filamentous phage surface (Cwirla et al., 1990; Devlin et al., 1990; Scott and Smith, 1990; Smith and Petrenko, 1997). Such libraries containing billions of phage clones (some libraries are as high as 10^{12} diverse) are extensively used to screen and select for peptides that bind with high-affinity to target molecules. The selection procedure known as "panning" or "biopanning" (depending whether selection is performed in vitro or *in vivo*, respectively) is simple and involves four major steps (Figure 1) (Parmley and Smith, 1988). After 3-5 rounds of selection against the desired target, individual clones are isolated and the primary structure of the binding peptides is deduced by nucleotide sequencing. Peptide sequences obtained in this manner may then be used in alignment search for known proteins (Koivunen et al., 1999).

APPLICATIONS OF PHAGE DISPLAY

One of the earliest applications of phage display technology was to study antigen-antibody binding for the identification of epitopes and mimotopes (small peptides that mimic linear, discontinuous, and even non-peptide epitopes) (Germaschewski and Murray, 1995). However, it was later shown that larger molecules like antibody fragments (scFV, Fab fragment, VHH domains) could be successfully displayed on phage (McCafferty et al., 1990; Benhar, 2001; Bradbury and Marks, 2004; Petrenko, 2008). The development of phages that display antibodies led to the emergence of a new molecular recognition interface to study protein-protein interactions, structure-function relationships, and protein folding and stability (Clackson et al., 1991; Vaughan et al., 1996). As a result, phage displayed cDNA libraries advanced significantly with a plethora of ligands fused to phage particles such as glycoproteins (Celik et al., 2010), enzymes (Soumillion et al., 1994), protease inhibitors (Markland et al., 1996), cytokines (Gram et al., 1993; Buchli et al., 1997), secreted as well as cytoplasmic, nuclear and membrane proteins (Vithayathil et al., 2011) to cite a few examples.

With the increasing number of phage display collections, numerous new applications have emerged. Selections from various libraries have been used to identify peptide agonists and antagonists for receptors (Sidhu, 2000), determine bind specificity of domains (Sparks et al., 1996; Linn et al., 1997), map carbohydrates and protein functional epitopes (Sidhu, 2000; Fukuda, 2012), select antibodies recognizing post-translational modifications (Kehoe et al., 2006), identify targets for the inhibition of tumor-specific angiogenesis (Koivunen et al., 1999; Arap et al., 2002; Zurita et al., 2003), vaccine development (Lidqvist et al., 2008), and molecular imaging with the use of fluorescently labeled phage (Newton et al., 2006; Petrenko, 2008). More recently, there is a strong trend for the use of phage display in medical science with the production of humanized antibodies and development of new therapeutics. Indeed, a few selected peptides and proteins are in clinical or preclinical stages of development and some are reaching the market (Rothe et al., 2006).

THE USE OF PHAGE DISPLAY IN THE STUDY OF PARASITIC INFECTIONS

Infectious diseases may be caused by various pathogens like bacteria, fungi, virus, multi and unicellular parasites. Independently of the mechanism by which the pathogenic agent elicits infection, the surface components are key determinants for the disease progression. Over the years several laboratories have made great effort to elucidate the mechanisms involved in the establishment of infectious diseases and not surprisingly many of them have focused on the discovery of molecules, from both the pathogen and the host. Considering this, much of the work on pathogen-host interaction relied on classical biochemical and cellular biology approaches (purification, cross-linking, immunoprecipitation, and fractionation) to track for ligands and receptors. Nevertheless, with the rapid expansion of the phage display platform and the development of high throughput selections, pathogenic agents and their hosts are currently being mapped for toxins, ligands and interacting proteins as well for the identification of possible drug candidates.

STUDIES ON APICOMPLEXA USING PHAGE DISPLAY Plasmodium

The phylum apicomplexa encompasses a vast array of organisms, some of which are of major importance in veterinary and medical areas. Members of the genus *Plasmodium*, *Toxoplasma* and *Cryptosporidium*, for example, are pathogens of humans and cause, respectively, malaria, toxoplasmosis and cryptosporidiosis. The genus *Eimeria* contains important parasites of livestocks, especially poultry, causing coccidiosis. All are unicellular eukaryotes and are obligatory intracellular parasites circulating between an intermediate and a definitive host. The potential of the phage display system in the field of parasitology was first demonstrated in studies on malaria.

Plasmodium protozoa are transmitted to humans by the bite of female mosquitoes from the Anopheles genus. Infection in humans begins when the sporozoites, injected with the saliva of the mosquito vector during blood meal, spreads through the bloodstream reaching the liver. Once inside the hepatocytes (exoerythrocytic cycle), sporozoites divide repeatedly and differentiate into merozoites, which once released in the bloodstream infect the red blood cells (RBCs) beginning the intraerythrocytic cycle. The surface of RBCs is covered by sialoglycoproteins from which glycophorins are the major constituent being implicated in merozoite invasion (Howard et al., 1982). To identify the molecular ligands for the glycophorins, a phage display cDNA library from a P. falciparum strain dependent on sialic acid to invade RBCs was used in panning assays against purified human MN-glycophorins or isolated RBCs. After four panning rounds, sequencing of individual positive clones and BLAST searches using the PlasmoDB, several parasite proteins that specifically bind to glycophorins and RBCs were identified. Among them were the erythrocytebinding antigen (EBA-175) and the erythrocyte-binding ligand-1

or EBL-1, both belonging to the superfamily of the erythrocyte binding-like (EBL) proteins (Li et al., 2012). In addition, the phage cDNA insert bearing the binding site for glycophorin encoded a 69-amino acid peptide located within a subdomain (D2) of the Duffy binding-like domain (DBL) of the EBL-1 gene (Li et al., 2012).

A different strategy to study host-parasite interactions during the intraerythrocytic life cycle of Plasmodium was the use of a peptide phage display library to identify peptides with affinity for invading merozoites and infected RBCs (iRBCs). When merozoites are prone to invade the erythrocytes, they translocate and expose on their surface a type I integral membrane protein known as the apical membrane antigen-1 (AMA-1) (Triglia et al., 2000). This protein undergoes proteolytic cleavage at around the point of host invasion and this processing is essential for parasite entry as antibodies that prevent AMA-1 proteolysis inhibit RBC invasion in vitro (Dutta et al., 2003). Moreover, during the development of merozoites inside the RBCs, Plasmodium proteins are associated or inserted into the host plasma membrane dramatically altering the composition and structure of the erythrocyte membrane. This event is an important mechanism exploited by Plasmodium to evade the host immune system since erythrocytes become covered with variant antigens (antigenic variation) protecting the parasite from variant-specific antibodies elicited by earlier infections. This variation is mediated by the differential control of a family of surface molecules termed PfEMP1 and encoded by approximately 60 var genes as described by the genome sequencing of P. falciparum (Aley et al., 1984; Gardner et al., 2002). Considering these data, panning of random peptide phage display libraries against AMA-1 and the altered surface of infected Plasmodium erythrocytes were performed to identify mimotopes for merozoites and iRBCs. One of the peptides that bound to AMA-1 was shown to be a potent inhibitor of the invasion of P. falciparum merozoites into human erythrocytes (Li et al., 2002). When the targets were the iRBCs, one selected peptide (P1) that constituted more than 40% of the sequenced phage clones bound specifically to the surface of infected erythrocytes and showed anti-malarial activity (Eda et al., 2004).

Phage display has also been used to investigate the host immunological response against the sporozoites in the preerythrocytic cycle. Peptides that represented the circumsporozoite protein (CSP), the major surface antigen of the sporozoites, were inserted into the gene of PVIII of filamentous phage and used to immunize rabbits to test for the antigenicity of CSP epitopes. These experiments have shown that CSP can generate a protective antibody response in addition to provide insights into new antigenic epitopes for vaccine development against malaria parasites (Greenwood et al., 1991).

In an effort to control the development of *Plasmodium* inside the invertebrate host, a work focused on the study of *Anopheles*-malaria parasites interaction was undertaken. Using a phage display library and successive rounds of biopanning with female mosquitoes, a single peptide (SM1) was selected that bound specifically to the luminal side of the midgut epithe-lium and to the distal lobe of the salivary glands inhibiting *Plasmodium* invasion of the two organs (Ghosh et al., 2001, 2002). Examples on the work of malaria research using phage

display technology are listed in Table 1 (Lanzillotti and Coetzer, 2008).

Toxoplasma gondii

Toxoplasma parasites are another good example of apicomplexa that served as excellent models in studies involving phage display technology. Infection with T. gondii occurs by the ingestion of either infectious oocysts through contact with cats (the definitive host) or cat feces or by feeding with meat that contains tissue cysts. Although opportunistic in healthy humans, toxoplasmosis is a lethal disease when progressing in chronically infected individual developing immunodeficiency, particularly in AIDS patients. As a consequence, much of the work on Toxoplasma and phage display is focused to cover different aspects of the immunological response against this parasite. To identify antigens implicated in human B-cell responses, a lambda phage-display library of T. gondii cDNA fragments was screened with sera of infected individuals. As a result, recombinant phage clones were identified carrying B-cell epitopes present in different T. gondii antigens like SAG1, GRA1, GRA7, GRA8, and MIC5 (Beghetto et al., 2003). Using a similar strategy, this group screened a panel of sera of pregnant women infected with T. gondii and identified an antigenic peptide within the sequence of the dense granule GRA1 protein (p24) that is immunodominant in Toxoplasma infections (Beghetto et al., 2001). Altogether, these data demonstrated the potential of phage-display technology for antigen discovery and for the study of the human antibody response on infectious agents. Data in Table 2 summarize the work on Toxoplasma research using phage display technology.

Cryptosporidium parvum

To date, 20 different species of Cryptosporidium have been described based on differences on the host species they infect. Cryptosporidium species are enteric coccidia parasites causing cryptosporidiosis (an acute, non-bloody, watery-diarrhea) in mammalian hosts. Table 3 summarizes work on Cryptosporidium using phage display technology. C. parvum is of particular concern as it infects humans, especially immune compromised individuals where the disease may become chronic and cause a life-threatening gastroenteritis with a high mortality. Infection with C. parvum occurs when ingested oocysts release sporozoites in the intestines of a suitable host. The sporozoites then attach to and invade epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal tract where they undergo intracellular development through asexual as well as sexual cycles. Even though many proteins, such as GP900, CP47, TRAP-C1, GP40, and GP15, have been implicated in the infection, increasing knowledge on the host-parasite interacting molecules is crucial for designing strategies to combat cryptosporidiosis. This has been investigated by panning a cDNA library of the sporozoite and oocyst stages of C. parvum expressed on the surface of T7 phage against intestinal epithelial cells (IECs). This study has identified a surface 12 kDa protein (CP12) that localizes especially at the apical region of sporozoites (Yao et al., 2007). Another work has identified the CP2, a known surface molecule of sporozoites involved in the invasion process, when the C. parvum T7 phage display library was screened by using Caco-2 (human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma) cells (Guo

Table 1 | Summary of phage display applications in malaria research.

Target	Library	Result	References	
Mosquito epithelia	Random peptides Identification of SM1 peptide that salivary gland invasion by <i>Plasmod</i>		Ghosh et al., 2001, 2002	
Ookinete surface	Random peptides	Identification of enolase and actin on the surface of ookinetes	Hernandez-Romano et al., 2011	
Parasitized erythrocyte	Random peptides	Identification of a peptide that binds to the surface of <i>Plasmodium</i> -infected erythrocytes. Isolation of an antibody against a peptide that causes hemolysis of iRBCs	Eda et al., 2004	
Erythrocyte surface proteins	P. falciparum cDNA phage library	Identification of <i>Pf</i> EBL-1 that bind glycophorin B on the surface of erythrocytes	Li et al., 2012	
Purified human Plasmodium cDNA phage library erythrocyte protein 4.1		Identification of EBA-175, EBL-1 and a Ser/Thr kinase as ligands for protein 4.1	Lauterbach et al., 2003	
AMA-1	Random peptides	Identification of peptides that bind AMA-1 and inhibit parasite invasion of erythrocytes; structure determination of AMA-1 epitope targets of inhibitory human antibodies	Nair et al., 2002; Keizer et al., 2003	
	Mouse antibodies	Identification of four antibodies specific for <i>Plasmodium</i> AMA-1	Sabo et al., 2007	
Anti-AMA-1 and Random peptides anti-rhoptry mAbs		Identification and structural elucidation of AMA-1 mimics. Antibodies to mimotopes that inhibit erythrocyte invasion by <i>Plasmodium</i>	Narum et al., 2006	
CSP	Phage library of CSP peptides	Induction of a strong and specific immune response. Structure determination of a CSP epitope	Greenwood et al., 1991; Monette et al., 2001	
MSP	Human and mouse antibodies	Isolation of three antibodies against MSP-3 and MSP-1 that inhibit parasite growth	Sowa et al., 2001; Lundquist et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2007	
	Random peptides	Identification of MSP mimotopes	Demangel et al., 1996	
SERA5 enzyme	Random peptides	Identification of a peptide that binds the catalytic domain of the enzyme and affects intraerythrocytic development	Fairlie et al., 2008	
Pfs48/45 protein	Human antibodies from malaria-immune patients	Isolation of a scFV that reacts with sexual stages of <i>P. falciparum</i> and Pfs48/45 protein	Roeffen et al., 2001	
Duffy binding proteinHuman antibodies from(DBP)malaria-immune patients		Identification of three scFV that binds (DBP) inhibiting adhesion of RBCs	Kim et al., 2007	

et al., 2009). Single-chain variable fragment (scFv) phagemid library has also being used to identify for specific scFvs that bind to *C. parvum*. As a result, panning against the surface protein P23, revealed two scFv sequences that were able to detect both native *C. parvum* proteins and recombinant P23. Importantly, the selected fragments showed no cross-reactivity with *E. coli*, *S. pyogenes*, *L. monocytogenes*, *B. cereus*, *G. lamblia* (cysts or trophozoites), or with \$16, another dominant surface antigen on *C. parvum* sporozoites (Boulter-Bitzer et al., 2009).

Eimeria

Infection of chicken with *Eimeria*, the causative agents of coccidiosis, is a serious problem for the poultry industry being responsible for varying degrees of morbidity and mortality between

Target	Library	Result	References	
Sera of <i>T. gondii</i> -infected individuals	<i>T. gondii</i> cDNA phage library Identification of epitopes of the <i>T. gondii</i> antigens		Beghetto et al., 2003; Di Cristina et al., 2004	
Sera of <i>T. gondii</i> -infected <i>T. gondii</i> cDNA phage library Identification pregnant women		Identification of an epitope GRA1 protein	Beghetto et al., 2001	
Anti- <i>T. gondii</i> mAbs	T. gondii cDNA phage library	Identification of an epitope of GRA3 located in the dense granules of <i>T. gondii</i> tachyzoites	Robben et al., 2002	
	Random peptides	Identification of a linear epitope within SAG2A that is expressed in <i>T. gondii</i> tachyzoite surface	Cunha-Junior et al., 2010	
TgMIC2 Mouse antibodies from <i>T. gondii</i> immune animals		Identification of scFV antibodies that recognize TgMIC2	Hoe et al., 2005	

Table 2 | Summary of phage display applications in *T. gondii* research.

Table 3 | Summary of phage display applications in C. parvum research.

Target	Library	Result	References Chen et al., 2003	
C. parvum glycoproteins	<i>C. parvum</i> -specific polyclonal antibody library	Identification of antibodies that recognize <i>C. parvum</i> glycoprotein and oocyst/sporozoite preparations		
C. parvum oocysts	Human semi-synthetic phage display antibody libraries	Isolation of scFv antibodies that block infection of HCT-8 cells by <i>C. parvum</i>	Pokorny et al., 2008	
		Isolation and identification of scFV antibodies that bind to <i>C. parvum</i>	Boulter-Bitzer et al., 2009, 2010	
Intestinal epithelial cells <i>C. parvum</i> cDNA phage library (IECs)		Identification of a surface adherence protein (CP12) from sporozoites	Yao et al., 2007	

infected birds. Eimeria parasites invade and develop within the avian IECs causing tissue damage that results in blood loss, dehydration, nutrient malabsorption, and increased susceptibility to other opportunistic pathogens. The parasite is acquired by the ingestion of sporulated oocysts that release sporocysts, which in turn release invasive sporozoites. These invade the avian intestinal tract and once inside the host cells they round up as a trophozoite. At the end of the cycle, *Eimeria* parasites leave the cells as merozoites, which further infect fresh host cells. Control of avian coccidia is being a main challenge in veterinary science and, consistently, studies using phage display are directed toward this end. This is reflected on a work where a phage display library was used to screen for peptides with in vitro activity against E. acervulina and E. tenella sporozoites using living purified E. acervulina sporozoites as targets. The selected peptide (PW2) disrupted the sporozoite pellicle, similarly to most natural antimicrobial peptides and showed a very low lytic effect on mammalian and avian cells, suggesting a potential use as a drug against avian coccidiosis. A variation on this theme is the panning of antibody libraries against different development of Eimeria parasites. Heavy chain (VH) and light chain (VL) antibody libraries against E. acervulina merozoites (Zhao et al., 2010) and scFV antibody libraries against E. tenella sporozoites (Abi-Ghanem et al., 2008) were used aiming at the development of new tools for diagnosis and therapy against coccidiosis. Selected examples of these applications are listed in **Table 4**.

STUDIES ON KINETOPLASTIDAE-HOST INTERACTIONS USING PHAGE DISPLAY

The Kinetoplastidae are a class of unicellular and flagellated protozoan parasites responsible for serious diseases in humans and animals. Members of this class include all species of Trypanosomatidae, as *Leishmania* and *Trypanosoma* (*T. cruzi* and *T. brucei*).

Trypanosoma cruzi

T. cruzi, the American trypanosome, is an obligatory intracellular parasite that circulates between an invertebrate host (Triatomine insects) and a vertebrate host. In the latter, development of *T. cruzi* parasite begins with an intracellular amastigote form that reproduce within different cell types by binary fission. After successive rounds of replication, amastigotes differentiate into the infective and non-replicative trypomastigotes, which are released from the infected cell. The surface of the infective trypomastigotes of *T. cruzi* is covered by glycoproteins important for the adhesion and/or internalization of the parasite to host cells and one

Target	Library	Result	References	
<i>Eimeria</i> sporozoites/live Random peptides		Identification of PW2 peptide with activity against <i>E. acervulina</i> and <i>E. tenella</i> sporozoites	da Silva et al., 2002	
<i>E. tenella</i> sporo- zoites/cryopreserved	Chicken scFV antibodies from <i>E. tenella</i> immune birds	Isolation of an scFV antibody that binds specifically to <i>E. tenella</i> sporozoites	Abi-Ghanem et al., 2008	
Cryopreserved E.Chicken scFV antibodies fromacervulina merozoitesE. tenella immune birds		Identification of antibody fragments with high specificity and binding capacity for soluble antigens and intact fixed merozoites	Zhao et al., 2010	
Anti-GAM56 protein <i>E. tenella</i> cDNA phage display		Identification of EtGAM22 expressed predominantly at the gametocyte stage	Krucken et al., 2008	

example is the superfamily of GPI-anchored glycoproteins named gp85/trans-sialidase. The majority of this superfamily members have at the subterminal carboxyl side the motif VTVxNVFLYNR (known as FLY domain) involved in host cell binding (Magdesian et al., 2001). It has long been known that heart and gastrointestinal tract cells are important targets for T. cruzi infection playing significant roles in pathogenesis and maintenance of parasitic reservoirs. The nature of this tropism is not well known and understanding the determinants of this feature can contribute to T. cruzi control and drug development. Interestingly, random peptide libraries of bacteriophages injected intravenously pointed out to differences in the blood vessels of different organs (Pasqualini and Ruoslahti, 1996; Arap et al., 2002), raising the notion that the vascular bed expressed specific molecular markers or ZIP codes allowing the delivery of cells or molecules to designated targets (Rajotte et al., 1998). Infectious agents could also exploit these differences in the expression of vascular addresses to gain access to target tissues/organs were they could develop. A combination of immortalized endothelial cells (ECs) and phage display methodologies were employed to investigate whether the FLY domain could interact with the blood vessel and contribute to T. cruzi tissue homing. Initially, filamentous bacteriophages were genetically engineered to display the FLY peptide on the pIII minor coat protein (FLY phage). Using that strategy, it was shown that the FLY phage, but not the control phages, binds strongly to ECs derived from the heart and the bladder, two organs in which parasites can be found following infection (Tonelli et al., 2010). Furthermore, hybrid phages injected intravenously into mice demonstrated that FLY binds to the vasculature of different organs but is enriched in the vasculature of the heart, bladder, and esophagus in agreement with the cell binding in vitro assay (Tonelli et al., 2010). These results indicated that T. cruzi tropism at the molecular level could be explained, at least in part, through the interaction of the FLY motif with receptors present in the vascular bed of different organs. Indeed, this was the first experimental demonstration on how the use of phage display technologies can help to elucidate the mechanisms by which T. cruzi interacts with blood vessel receptors in vivo.

A phage display library was employed to help the identification of B-cell epitopes on the T. cruzi trans-sialidase (TcTS) (Pitcovsky et al., 2001). Trans-sialidase, a GPI-anchored glycoprotein, is shed by T. cruzi, being detected in the blood of infected patients during the acute phase of the disease. This enzyme is responsible for the direct transfer of sialyl residues from the host cells to acceptor proteins on the surface of infective trypomastigotes. Both, phage display technology and affinity-purified TcTS antibodies from T. cruzi infected rabbits were instrumental to isolate several B-cell epitopes located within or near the catalytic N-terminal domain of TS showing reactivity with sera obtained from T. cruzi infections. More importantly, some of the selected peptides were exposed on the surface of the TcTS probably explaining their strong antigenicity (Pitcovsky et al., 2001). Using the same approach the trypomastigote-restricted shed acute-phase antigen (SAPA) from T. cruzi was also mapped. The SAPA antigen is a 12-amino acid repetitive unit displayed in tandem on the carboxyl-terminus of the TcTS and it is the immunodominant antigen during T. cruzi infections. Screening of a phage display library of random peptides against anti-SAPA mAbs and purified immunoglobulin G from SAPA-immunized rabbits resulted in the identification of multiple linear overlapping B-cell epitopes within the repeated unit of SAPA (Alvarez et al., 2001). These data shed light on the molecular structure of the SAPA antigen and on how repetitive antigens are recognized by the immune system. Table 5 summarizes work on trypanosomes.

African trypanosomes

Sleeping sickness or human African trypanosomiasis (HAT) is caused by subspecies of the protozoan parasite *T. brucei* (*T. b. gambiense* in West and Central Africa). *T. brucei* is transmitted by tsetse flies of the genus Glossina and once inside the vertebrate it escapes from the host immune system by continuously replacing the major parasite antigens on the plasma membrane, the variant surface glycoproteins or VSG. This successful tactic of the parasite to avoid the defense of the host turned *T. brucei* detection laborious and insensitive, limiting the identification of possible infected individuals. This observation led investigators to search for new ways of accurately identifying HAT-specific VSG

Target	Library	Result	References
T. cruzi			
Mouse vascular bed	Hybrid phage displaying the FLY domain	FLY interacts with the endothelium in an organ-dependent manner with a preference for the heart vasculature	Tonelli et al., 2010
TcTS-specific antibodies and anti-SAPA mAbs	Random peptides	Identification of B-cell epitopes located on TcTS and the SAPA antigen	Pitcovsky et al., 2001
T.b. gambiense			
Sera of <i>T.b.</i> gambiense-infected mouse and humans	Random peptides	Identification of epitopes of the <i>T.b. gambiense</i> VSG antigens	Van Nieuwenhove et al., 2011, 2012

Table 5 Summary of phage display applications in research with T. cruzi a	and <i>T. brucei.</i>
---	-----------------------

epitopes (mimotopes) possibly recognized by the host immune system. Two studies illustrate well this idea (Van Nieuwenhove et al., 2011, 2012). In one study, two phage display libraries of random peptides (12-mer and cyclic 7-mer) were screened with mouse MAbs against the two predominant T.b. gambiense VSGs proteins (LiTat 1.3 and LiTat 1.5). The result was the isolation of several peptides that mimicked epitopes on the native trypanosomal VSGs LiTat 1.5 and LiTat 1.3 (Van Nieuwenhove et al., 2011). Some of the selected peptides were then confirmed as mimotopes for the parasite VSGs since they were able to inhibit the binding of their homologous monoclonal to the corresponding VSG (Van Nieuwenhove et al., 2011). In a second work focused on the screening of phage display libraries against polyclonal antibodies from sleeping sickness patients sera, two mimotopes of VSG have been found to react positively in indirect ELISA with a panel of 102 HAT positive and 102 endemic negative sera (Van Nieuwenhove et al., 2012). Both studies illustrate how the phage display platform can help to isolate epitopes against infectious agents with potential use in diagnostics. Table 5 summarizes work on trypanosomes.

APTAMERS

The SELEX technology is an oligonucleotide-based combinatorial library method to select high affinity ligands (aptamers, from aptus, "to fit") to almost any target molecule, including peptides, or cells (Cell-SELEX) (Ulrich and Wrenger, 2009; Ahmadvand et al., 2011; Gold et al., 2012). It is based on a stretch of singlestranded nucleic acid, which can be RNA or ssDNA. These are chemically synthesized to have a segment usually from 8 to 40 nucleotides randomly bound. These sequences tend to assume different conformations, due to the formation of: (1) hairpins, which are helical double stranded structures due to complementarity of nucleotides, like in the classical t-RNA secondary structures; (2) G-tetrads, which is an association of four guanine bases through hydrogen bonding forming a planar squared structure; when these tetrads pile on top of each other and are stabilized by a cation, a G-quadruplex is formed (Johnson et al., 2008); (3) bulges, which occur when a duplex helix is interrupted by a single stranded stretch of nucleotides in only one strand; usually this may form a weak point leading to bending of the helical axis (Lilley, 1995); and (4) pseudo-knots formed

by the intercalation of stem-loop structures (Staple and Butcher, 2005). These different topologies with varying loop configurations change the whole geometry of the nucleic acid molecules determining the formation of secondary and tertiary structures that provide a large diversity for the recognition of specific molecules and receptors on cell surfaces. Thus, aptamers are bioactive target-specific compounds that can be used to identify and modulate the activity of surface targets embedded in the membrane of cells relevant for human disease, either for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes.

The SELEX technique uses reiterative *in vitro* selection of combinatorial RNA or DNA pools against a target molecule for the identification of aptamers that are high-affinity oligonucleotide ligands. Aptamers isolated by such iterative method recognize their targets with binding specificities and affinities comparable to those of monoclonal antibodies, with the advantage to be easily chemically modified as to avoid nuclease attack. Thus, due to the fact that aptamers may recognize epitopes exclusively expressed by the target cell, they may be employed even to recognize different physiological states of a given cell, being capable, for example, to distinguish between protein isoforms and different conformations of the same protein.

When RNA aptamers are desired, the RNA pool used in the selections is transcribed from a pool of synthetic DNA templates (**Figure 1**). Each of these may contain, for example, 108 nucleotides with a 40 nucleotide randomized region flanked on both sides by constant sequences. The 5' nucleotide sequence upstream the randomized region is a promoter for T7 phage RNA polymerase (Famulok et al., 2000). Two-fluoropyrimidine triphosphates can be used as substrates for RNA polymerase to provide stability of the transcribed products against nuclease attack (Ito et al., 1998). Such synthetic DNA pool is transcribed using T7 RNA polymerase in the presence of 2'-OH-ATP and GTP and 2'-F-CTP and UTP (Ruckman et al., 1998).

The obtained RNA molecules can now be incubated with any target, a protozoon for example, to enable RNA:cell surface binding to occur (cell-SELEX). The cell:RNA complexes are separated from free RNA molecules and the bound RNA is eluted by competition with the desired ligand. The liberated RNA is then isolated, reverse transcribed, and amplified by standard PCR procedures (**Figure 1**). This SELEX procedure will be repeated for 9–12 selection rounds until no further increase in binding affinity can be measured (Irvine et al., 1991). To obtain more specificity, one or more of the iterative rounds can be done against a cell close to the one of interest in order to select out aptamers that are shared by different differentiation forms (negative selection). For example, one may use merozoites of *P. falciparum* to eliminate RNAs bound to targets that are shared with sporozoites. The sequence described above follows the same logic when aptamers carrying ssDNA sequences are used instead of RNA (Ulrich and Wrenger, 2009).

Targets can be isolated either by aptamer immobilization on magnetic beads or by affinity chromatography. Also, receptors on cells can be photocrosslinked with their RNA/DNA aptamers to facilitate target protein isolation. Finally, aptamers can be labeled with fluorescent labels to facilitate separations of cells by FACS (Ulrich and Wrenger, 2009).

SOMAmers (Slow Off-rate Modified Aptamers), a term introduced by Gold et al. (2010), are short, single stranded deoxyribonucleotides, bearing dU-modified residues. Like aptamers, they can be selected against any target molecule. The method for selecting SOMAmers with low dissociation rates ($t_{1/2} > 30 \text{ min}$) and elimination of non-specific binding (employing an excess of a polyanionic competitor, for example) were developed and reported to show high success rates on selection when compared to the traditional aptamers: using four modified nucleotides (5-benzylaminocarbonyl-dU, 5-naphthylmethylaminocarbonyldU, 5-tryptaminocarbonyl-dU, and 5-isobutylaminocarbonyldU) into the SELEX experiments, the overall success rate increased by ~84% in approximately 1200 proteins analyzed (Gold et al., 2012). The initial modifications of the pyrimidines have been expanded and the method applied to solve large scale analysis of biological samples, such as finding biomarkers for drug development and for diagnosis (Gold et al., 2012). As reported, more than 800 SOMAmers were already selected, meaning that 800 human proteins can be detected simultaneously in a high throughput assay using 15 µl of sample (Gold et al., 2012). According to Gold and collaborators, the new aptamers are so important for technological application that they call them SOMAmers, to distinguish them from the prior literature.

Although aptamers are most frequently defined as DNA or RNA molecules, peptide aptamers are important members of the group. Selection of peptide aptamers depends mainly from a random peptide library (often thioredoxin A is the scaffold protein) and on yeast two-hybridization system (Liu et al., 2013). The importance of the peptide aptamers in the parasitology can be exemplified by a recent report showing the inhibition of DNA damage repair and survival in T. brucei by a peptide aptamer mimicking RAD51-binding domain of BRCA2 (Hall et al., 2011). BRCA2, a multifunctional scaffolding protein, is implicated in different cellular processes, including its interaction with DNA recombinase proteins of the RAD51 family. BRCA2 from T. brucei, also essential for Variant Surface Proteins switching, interacts with RAD51 through BRC motifs, a 44 amino acid long repeat unit. Interestingly, since T. cruzi and Leishmania have similar machineries, and T. brucei BRCA2 is distinct from

mammalian BRCA2, the authors predict the development of an optimized peptide aptamer that will work against the tri trypanosomatids.

DNA and RNA-aptamers applied to studies on trypanosomatids and apicomplexa are discussed below.

THE USE OF APTAMERS IN THE STUDY OF PARASITIC INFECTIONS

As pointed out, the number of articles in the literature describing the use of aptamers is scarce: while a database search of PubMed reveals almost 3000 publications making use of the term "aptamers" only less than three dozen publications reported the use of aptamers to study pathogens. Of these, most were related to studies on African and American trypanosomes, *Plasmodium* and *Leishmania*, which will herein be focused and are summarized in **Table 6** (Goringer, 2012).

STUDIES ON KINETOPLASTIDAE USING APTAMERS

Trypanosoma cruzi

The interaction of T. cruzi trypomastigotes with extracellular matrix (ECM) components is vital for the establishment of infection in the vertebrate host (Alves and Colli, 2007). Recognizing the importance of this interaction to the success of T. cruzi infection, the SELEX approach was used to evolve aptamers with binding affinities for ECM molecules such as laminin, fibronectin, thrombospondin, and heparan sulfate. Therefore, serum stable RNA aptamers that bind to parasite receptors to ECM were obtained after eight selection rounds, each one involving the incubation of trypomastigotes with a RNA pool $(\sim 2 \times 10^{13}$ molecules, consisting of 108 nucleotides with 40nucleotide randomized region), followed by displacement of the bound molecules with ECM components. One or more iterative rounds were made against T. cruzi epimastigotes to eliminate aptamers that bind to targets common to both differentiation forms. Ninety-six clones were sequenced and four classes of RNA aptamers were established based on structural analysis. The selected RNA aptamers bind in the nanomolar range to the parasite receptors for heparan sulfate (40 nM), fibronectin (140 nM), laminin (200 nM), and thrombospondin (400 nM) (Ulrich et al., 2002). Importantly, all four selected aptamers, inhibited T. cruzi invasion of epithelial cultured cells by 50-70%, with the best inhibition obtained with the laminin class of aptamers. Although these aptamers confirmed the adhesion of T. cruzi to the ECM, the invasion blockage was incomplete, even when all the four classes of aptamers were added together. The existence of other molecules involved in the invasion of host cells by the parasite, an already known complex event (Alves and Colli, 2007) and the binding affinity of the aptamers in the nanomolar range may explain the results. In addition, the possible clearance of the aptamers from the surface of the parasite by shedding has to be considered. Remarkably, GPI-anchored surface glycoproteins from the Tc85 group that bind to laminin (Giordano et al., 1999) are shed as membrane vesicles (Torrecilhas et al., 2012), with a 3.5 h half-life (Gonçalves et al., 1991). The data demonstrate that the SELEX technique can be employed to isolate aptamers against parasite targets, which may be useful in inhibiting parasite invasion. However, aptamers that recognize other molecules may be included, as for example molecules that

Table 6	Summary of the applications of aptamers on protozoan parasite research.
---------	---

Target	Library	Result	References
T. cruzi			
<i>T. cruzi</i> ligands for ECM components	2'-F-dU/dc-RNA	50–70% inhibition of epithelial cell invasion by <i>T. cruzi</i> . The best inhibition was obtained with aptamers targeted to the laminin receptor	Ulrich et al., 2002
T. cruzi	2'-F-dU/dc-RNA	Development of an aptamer-based concentration method for the detection of <i>T. cruzi</i> in blood	Nagarkatti et al., 2012
T. brucei			
<i>T. brucei</i> bloodstream forms	2'-F-dU/dC-RNA	Identification of an aptamer family that binds to a flagellar pocket component. Aptamer internalization through the lysosome pathway	Homann and Goringer, 1999
Preparation of VSG variants	2'-F-dU/dC-RNA	Isolation of aptamers with affinity for many VSGs variants. Binding to live parasites	Lorger et al., 2003
T. brucei	2'-NH2-dU/dC-RNA	Binding to the flagellar attachment zone	Homann et al., 2006
Leishmania			
<i>L. tarentolae</i> isolated mitochondria	Reporter RNA	RNA-aptamer base methodology for measuring RNA editing activity in the low femtomole range	Liang and Connell, 2009
L. tropica	RNA	Identification of signals for RNA import into the mitochondria	Bhattacharyya et al., 2002
L. infantum	DNA	Binding to the surface protein KMP-11	Berberich et al., 1997
L. infantum	DNA	Binding to histones (H2A and H3)	Ramos et al., 2007, 2010
Plasmodium			
P. falciparum PfEMP1	2'-F-dU/dc-RNA	Binding to PfEMP1 exposed at the surface of infected-erythrocytes. Rosette disruption by aptamers	Ghosh et al., 2001, 2002
<i>P. falciparum</i> parasitized erythrocyte	DNA	Inhibition of hemozoin formation and parasite growth by heme binding aptamers	Niles et al., 2009

are also shed and are known to enhance parasite invasion, as gp85/transialidase (Tonelli et al., 2011; Rubin and Schenkman, 2012) to improve the possibility of finding therapeutic approaches through aptamers.

Due to migration, approximately 390,000 humans infected with T. cruzi were detected in the United States (\sim 75% of the cases), Europe, western Pacific, Canada, Japan and Australia (Coura and Vinas, 2010). In this scenario, since blood transfusion is one way of T. cruzi transmission, methods with high sensitivity and specificity for the parasite detection are crucial. Most of the methodologies developed are based on antibodies (ELISA assays) or live parasites (PCR). However, false negative results can be obtained in both cases, due to low amount of antibodies (as in the initial phase of the disease) or to few circulating parasites (as in the asymptomatic cases or chronic phase of the disease). Moreover, detection of antibodies is not a good parameter of cure for Chagas' disease, since the antibodies persist in circulation for a certain period of time, even after the parasite killing, in addition to cross-reactivity problems among the trypanosomatids parasites.

Looking for the improvement of a diagnostic method based on live parasites, an aptamer-based concentration of *T. cruzi* in blood was recently reported (Nagarkatti et al., 2012). Using SELEX strategy, serum stable RNA aptamers that bound to live trypomastigotes with high affinity (8-25 nM ranges) were selected. One aptamer (Apt68) bound specifically to trypomastigotes, but not to epimastigotes or other related trypanosomatids (L. donovani and T. brucei) with high affinity ($K_d \sim 7.6$ nM). It was also shown that Apt68 immobilized on a solid phase was able to capture and aggregate trypomastigotes from different strains. Moreover, using a magnet, trypomastigotes aggregated to Apt68-coated paramagnetic beads could be purified from the blood and detected by real-time PCR assay, even at concentrations as lower as five trypomastigotes/15 ml. The purification step of the parasite prior to DNA extraction presents technical advantages in relation to the direct extraction from the whole blood, in addition to the volume reduction of the blood sample employed.

African trypanosomes

Aptamers against the infective bloodstream forms of *T. brucei* were selected by incubating the parasite with a RNA library (2×10^{15} unique sequences) (Homann and Goringer, 1999). After 12 cycles of selection, 53 clones were sequenced, resulting in
the identification of three structural families of aptamers, one of which being further characterized. The aptamer 2-16 RNA was specific for the bloodstream stage, since it did not react with the insect stage of the parasite, and bound with high affinity ($K_d \sim 60 \text{ nM}$) to a 42 kDa protein located within the flagellar pocket of the parasite. Moreover, the aptamer also bound to two other T. brucei strains. In order to be employed in vivo, the aptamer 2-16 was chemically modified, retaining the same properties as the original unmodified molecule, as well as a good stability in vivo (half-life in serum of 3.4 days) (Adler et al., 2008). Aptamers that recognized the flagellar attachment zone with high affinity ($K_d = 70 \pm 15$ nM) were also selected against the bloodstream stage of T. brucei (Homann et al., 2006). The half-life was determined as more than 30 h, showing a good stability in serum, an important characteristic for using the aptamer as a therapeutic device.

As pointed out before, bloodstream forms of T. brucei evade the host immune system by switching temporarily the single VSG that covers the surface of the parasites (antigenic variation). Despite the low identity of the amino acid composition among the VSG repertoire, the presence of similar tertiary structures, hidden from the antibody attack, was the rationale for selecting aptamers against the conserved structures (Lorger et al., 2003). For the selection, a homogeneous preparation of VSG (variant 117) was incubated with a combinatorial library of 2×10^{14} unique RNA sequences. After three rounds of selection, the aptamers were incubated with live parasites expressing the same VSG variant to remove RNAs that did not recognize the native membrane-bound protein. Finally, the same scheme was employed using a different VSG (variant 221) and parasites expressing VSG 221. As a result, RNA aptamers common to both VSG variants were obtained. After round nine, 60 individual clones were sequenced and placed into three groups, according to sequence motifs (76% in group I) in addition to orphan RNAs (6%). Aptamers from the three groups bound to the VSGs in the nanomolar or subnanomolar concentration range ($K_d =$ 0.16 ± 0.02 nM for clone nine), recognized other VSG variants from T. brucei, as well as from T. congolense and showed good serum stability (15 h). The biotin-labeled aptamers/fluorescentconjugated streptavidin methodology demonstrated binding of the three groups of aptamers to the whole surface of live T. brucei expressing different VSG variants. Also, the biotin-labeled aptamers bound to the surface of the trypanosome and detected by anti-biotin antibodies could be used to drive immunoglobulins to the surface of the parasite.

Leishmania tarentolae

RNA editing, a molecular process found in trypanosomatids, regulates gene expression in their sole mitochondrion. It consists in the insertion and deletion of uridylates in mitochondrial mRNAs guided by small RNAs. The process occurs in a multi-protein complex (editosome), with endonuclease, uridylate transferase, uridylate-specific 3'exoribonuclease and RNA ligase being the four major enzymes involved. Incorrect function of editosome leads to parasite death, as shown for *T. brucei* (Schnaufer et al., 2001; Tarun et al., 2008). Although editosomes are common to other Kinetoplastidae parasites, their protein content may not be identical, as shown for example for two new proteins from *T. brucei* (KREPB9 and KREPB10), which are associated with the editing activity of the endonuclease. Both proteins are absent in *Leishmania* and KREP 10 is absent in *T. vivax* (Lerch et al., 2012). RNA editing is an attractive target for chemotherapy, as pointed out by the abundant literature in the field (Niemann et al., 2011).

The identification and exact function of each component of the editosome is then essential and sensitive assays to detect editing activity have been proposed. Among them, a RNA aptamer-based methodology was developed using a mitochondrial population from *L. tarentolae* as an initial source (Liang and Connell, 2009). The method detects the editing activity by an electrochemiluminescent signal generated by an editing responsive conformational change within a ruthenium labeled RNA reporter. It is claimed that the method detects the edited product in the femtomole range and can be performed in small volumes (12 µl in 384-well microtiter plate) making it suitable for high-throughput screening.

Leishmania tropica

The SELEX method was employed to identify the import signals of cytoplasmatic RNA by mitochondrial receptors. After four rounds of SELEX, the pool of aptamers was further selected by its capacity to be efficiently imported by the mitochondria. Four aptamers were studied in more detail and classified in two types by their efficiency in crossing the inner mitochondrial membrane (type I: A and D arm homologues; type II–V-T homologues, a new putative import signal). Furthermore, considering the efficiencies of aptamers transport into the mitochondria, cooperative and antagonistic interactions among them have been reported, which may be important for the regulation of RNA import, as suggested by the authors (Bhattacharyya et al., 2002).

Leishmania infantum

KMP-11 is a surface protein associated with Kinetoplastidae parasites cytoskeleton, such as *T. cruzi*, *T. brucei*, *L. donovani*, and *L. infantum* and differentially expressed during the parasite life cycle (Tolson et al., 1994; Stebeck et al., 1995; Berberich et al., 1997). A high antibody response against KMP-11 during natural infection of *L. infantum* was reported (Berberich et al., 1997), as well as the stimulation of T-lymphocytes proliferation (Tolson et al., 1994). These characteristics raised the possibility that KMP-11 may be an important tool against infection by *Leishmania*. DNA aptamers were then selected against KMP-11 protein and after a 10-round cycle, aptamers that specifically recognized KMP-11 were selected (Moreno et al., 2003) and are awaiting further characterization.

Although highly conserved among different eukaryotes, histones from trypanosomatids show sequence divergences in the amino- and carboxy-terminal domains. High affinity and specific DNA aptamers were then selected against *L. infantum* H2A (Ramos et al., 2007) and H3 (Ramos et al., 2010).

STUDIES ON APICOMPLEXA USING APTAMERS Plasmodium

During erythrocyte infection *P. falciparum* secretes proteins to the surface of the RBCs associated with cytoadherence of the

infected erythrocytes to the endothelium of blood vessels or to other non-infected erythrocytes, monocytes, and platelets, leading to rosette formation, a phenotype associated with virulence. The presence of infected erythrocytes in microvessels associated with host responses to the sequestered erythrocytes are centrally involved in the disease pathology. Moreover, 48 cycles of invasion and development inside erythrocytes are made possible by the cytoadherence mechanism while the parasite circulates in the bloodstream. Cytoadherence and rosetting are associated with PfEMP-1 protein (parasite-derived erythrocyte membrane protein) that is exposed on the erythrocyte surface and binds to a different number of human cell receptors, such as heparan and chondroitin sulfates, ICAM-1, CD36 (Fairhurst et al., 2012). A good strategy to minimize malaria mislays is to raise ligands for a more conserved region of PfRMP-1 responsible for adhesion, such as the DBL1 α , a rosette forming domain. Using a combinatorial library of 5×10^{14} unique RNA sequences and eight rounds of selection against DBL1a, 85 clones were sequenced and analyzed (Barfod et al., 2009). Two aptamers that bind to PfEMP1 on the surface of infected erythrocytes decrease the rosette formation by 35% at 33 nM concentration and by 100% at 38 nM, pointing out to their potential use as candidates for severe malaria therapy (Barfod et al., 2009).

Hemoglobin digestion in *Plasmodium* occurs in acidic vacuoles, as a result of an extensive uptake of erythrocytic cytoplasm by mid ring and mid trophozoite stages, both early intraerythrocytic stages of the parasite (Bakar et al., 2010). The digestion results in the production of globin, a source of amino acids, and free heme molecules (Fe²⁺-protoporphyrin IX), which are toxic to the parasite. The oxidation of the heme group results in Fe³⁺-protoporphyrin IX, which precipitates inside the vacuoles as crystals known as hemozoin (malaria pigment) (Weissbuch and Leiserowitz, 2008).

Anti-malarial drugs extensively used in clinic, as chloroquine or artemisinin act during the degradation of hemoglobin and subsequent hemozoin formation (Weissbuch and Leiserowitz, 2008). Artemisinin, for instance, delays hemoglobin uptake and a product of the hemoglobin hydrolysis potentiates its activity (Klonis et al., 2011). The pathway for hemoglobin degradation is then a suitable target for the development of new drugs and aptamers are good candidates. Heme binding DNA aptamers previously selected in vitro by SELEX carried out at pH 7-8 (Li et al., 1996; Okazawa et al., 2000) were employed to interfere with the heme-detoxification in P. falciparum. The selected aptamers bind equally to heme at acidic pH, the environmental condition of the vacuolar structures responsible for hemoglobin digestion, and inhibit hemozoin formation in vitro. Two of the heme-binding aptamers were used to verify their effect on parasite growth. The erythrocytes were first loaded with the aptamers using hypotonic lysis and resealing conditions, reaching the level of 65-85% of aptamers-loaded cells. Parasite growth in the preloaded-heme binding aptamers cells was significantly reduced after 72 h in culture, when compared to the controls (Niles et al., 2009). The aptamers, as suggested, may be useful tools for elucidation and manipulation of pathways important for the parasite survival.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Phage display and SELEX are powerful methodologies to be employed in a variety of systems to approach different questions, from the understanding of cell biology to biotechnology. Both techniques share important characteristics, such as the possibility to use large oligonucleotide-based or phage display peptide libraries to screen almost any target, including the whole living cell or animal models. Chemical modification of aptamers and peptides poses an additional advantage over the phage display as it allows more stability in blood for therapeutic use. Particularly, aptamers seem to lack immunogenicity, which, associated with high affinity and specificity to their targets may easily substitute antibodies for therapeutic purposes, although a fast clearance of the aptamers have been shown in the literature. Besides its use directly to neutralize its target, aptamers also can be used as agents to deliver nanoparticles loaded with specific therapeutic drugs or iRNA (Liu et al., 2013). Blood-living or transiently blood-living parasites, as T. brucei, T. cruzi, or Plasmodium are good targets for this kind of approach. The same rational can be easily applied for any parasite-induced modification of the host cell surface, such as the knob-like structures in Plasmodium-infected erythrocytes. However, its application will be much more complex when parasites that live into the host cell cytoplasm (such as T. cruzi) or inside vacuoles (such as Leishmania) are considered. Indeed, as the advantages of target therapy become more apparent, the use of phage display and aptamers to retrieve for disease-related antigens are receiving increased attention. Additionally, aptamers-carrying iRNA may have diverse applications, as helping the understanding of the role of the innumerous proteins involved in the parasite-host cell interaction or inhibiting the expression of proteins from parasites, which possess the iRNA machinery. Besides its use on parasitehost interactions, phage display technology may be engineered for a particular functional activity as, for example, to display human antibodies with high affinity and specificity for particular antigens in disease. In humans, phage antibody libraries made from donors who naturally mount an immune response (with viral infections, bearing tumors, or with autoimmune disease) is being used not only to investigate the humoral response in disease but also with clinical purposes (Hoogenboom and Chames, 2000). These would be an interesting approach as therapy against parasitic diseases.

The application of aptamers for molecular imaging is being used in clinics for the evaluation of several diseases (Cibiel et al., 2012) with the great advantage of not being an invasive methodology and may be helpfully applied also in parasitology. An exciting use of the technique for cell biology is the imaging of cellular metabolites with RNA-based sensors recently described, where the intracellular levels of ADP and S-adenosylmethionine were measured (Paige et al., 2012). Since RNA aptamers to any molecule can be rapidly selected, a rapid expansion of the methodology to other small molecules is envisaged.

As shown by the low number of reports in the literature, it is surprising that these methodologies were not, as yet, employed more often in the study of the complex phenomenon of host– parasite interaction, with the aim to develop much needed diagnostic and therapeutic tools to combat infections caused by protozoan parasites. Notwithstanding, considering the constant and fast improvement of both technologies and their large applicability to different biological problems, it is expected that phage display and SELEX will make, in a near future, significant contributions to the field of protozoan-borne diseases.

REFERENCES

- Abi-Ghanem, D., Waghela, S., Caldwell, D., Danforth, H., and Berghman, L. (2008). Phage display selection and characterization of single-chain recombinant antibodies against *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 121, 58–67.
- Adler, A., Forster, N., Homann, M., and Goringer, H. (2008). Post-SELEX chemical optimization of a trypanosome-specific RNA aptamer. *Comb. Chem. High Throughput Screen.* 11, 16–23.
- Ahmadvand, D., Rahbarizadeh, F., and Moghimi, S. (2011). Biological targeting and innovative therapeutic interventions with phage-displayed peptides and structured nucleic acids (aptamers). *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 22, 832–838.
- Aley, S., Sherwood, J., and Howard, R. (1984). Knob-positive and knobnegative *Plasmodium falciparum* differ in expression of a strainspecific malarial antigen on the surface of infected erythrocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 160, 1585–1590.
- Alvarez, P., Leguizamon, M. S., Buscaglia, C. A., Pitcovsky, T. A., and Campetella, O. (2001). Multiple overlapping epitopes in the repetitive unit of the shed acutephase antigen from *Trypanosoma cruzi* enhance Its immunogenic properties. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 7946–7949.
- Alves, M. J. M., and Colli, W. (2007). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: adhesion to the host cell and intracellular survival. *IUBMB Life* 59, 274–279.
- Arap, W., Kolonin, M. G., Trepel, M., Lahdenranta, J., Cardo-Vila, M., Giordano, R. J., et al. (2002). Steps toward mapping the human vasculature by phage display. *Nat. Med.* 8, 121–127.
- Bakar, N. A., Klonis, N., Hanssen, E., Chan, C., and Tilley, L. (2010). Digestive-vacuole genesis and endocytic processes in the early intraerythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium falciparum. J. Cell Sci.* 123, 441–450.
- Barfod, A., Persson, T., and Lindh, J. (2009). *In vitro* selection of RNA aptamers against a conserved region of the *Plasmodium falciparum*

erythrocyte membrane protein 1. *Parasitol. Res.* 105, 1557–1566.

- Beghetto, E., Pucci, A., Minenkova, O., Spadoni, A., Bruno, L., Buffolano, W., et al. (2001). Identification of a human immunodominant B-cell epitope within the GRA1 antigen of *Toxoplasma gondii* by phage display of cDNA libraries. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 31, 1659–1668.
- Beghetto, E., Spadoni, A., Buffolano, W., Del Pezzo, M., Minenkova, O., Pavoni, E., et al. (2003). Molecular dissection of the human B-cell response against *Toxoplasma gondii* infection by lambda display of cDNA libraries. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 33, 163–173.
- Benhar, I. (2001). Biotechnological applications of phage and cell display. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 19, 1–33.
- Berberich, C., Requena, J., and Alonso, C. (1997). Cloning of genes and expression and antigenicity analysis of the *Leishmania infantum* KMP-11 protein. *Exp. Parasitol.* 85, 105–108.
- Bertschinger, J., and Neri, D. (2004). Covalent DNA display as a novel tool for directed evolution of proteins *in vitro*. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 17, 699–707.
- Bhattacharyya, S. N., Chatterjee, S., and Adhya, S. (2002). Mitochondrial RNA import in *Leishmania tropica*: aptamers homologous to multiple tRNA domains that interact cooperatively or antagonistically at the inner membrane. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 4372–4382.
- Boulter-Bitzer, J., Lee, H., and Trevors, J. (2009). Single-chain variable fragment antibodies selected by phage display against the sporozoite surface antigen P23 of *Cryptosporidium parvum. J. Parasitol.* 95, 75–81.
- Boulter-Bitzer, J., Lee, H., and Trevors, J. (2010). Single chain variable fragment antibodies selected by phage display against the sporozoite surface antigen S16 of *Cryptosporidium parvum. Exp. Parasitol.* 125, 124–129.
- Bradbury, A. R. M., and Marks, J. D. (2004). "Phage antibody libraries," in *Phage Display a Practical Approach*, eds T. Clackson and H. B. Lowman (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 360.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Part of the work herein mentioned was supported by grants of the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (R. R. Tonelli, FAPESP 2010/15042-2; M. J. M. Alves, FAPESP 2009/52646-6) and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq).

- Buchli, P., Wu, Z., and Ciardelli, T. (1997). The functional display of interleukin-2 on filamentous phage. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 339, 79–84.
- Celik, E., Fisher, A., Guarino, C., Mansell, T., and DeLisa, M. (2010). A filamentous phage display system for N-linked glycoproteins. *Protein Sci.* 19, 2006–2013.
- Chen, L., Williams, B., Yang, C., Cevallos, A., Bhat, N., Ward, H., et al. (2003). Polyclonal Fab phage display libraries with a high percentage of diverse clones to *Cryptosporidium parvum* glycoproteins. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 33, 281–291.
- Cheng, X.-J., Hayasaka, H., Watanabe, K., Tao, Y.-L., Liu, J.-Y., Tsukamoto, H., et al. (2007). Production of high-affinity human monoclonal antibody Fab fragments to the 19-Kilodalton C-terminal merozoite surface protein 1 of *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 3614–3620.
- Cibiel, A., Pestourie, C., and Duconge, F. (2012). *In vivo* uses of aptamers selected against cell surface biomarkers for therapy and molecular imaging. *Biochimie* 94, 1595–1606.
- Clackson, T., Hoogenboom, H., Griffiths, A., and Winter, G. (1991). Making antibody fragments using phage display libraries. *Nature* 352, 624–628.
- Coura, J., and Vinas, P. (2010). Chagas disease: a new worldwide challenge. *Nature* 465, S6–S7.
- Cunha-Junior, J., Silva, D., Silva, N., Souza, M., Souza, G., Prudencio, C., et al. (2010). A4D12 monoclonal antibody recognizes a new linear epitope from SAG2A *Toxoplasma* gondii tachyzoites, identified by phage display bioselection. *Immunobiology* 215, 26–37.
- Cwirla, S. E., Peters, E. A., Barrett, R. W., and Dower, W. J. (1990). Peptides on phage: a vast library of peptides for identifying ligands. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 6378–6382.
- da Silva, A., Kawazoe, U., Freitas, F., Gatti, M., Dolder, H., Schumacher, R., et al. (2002). Avian anticoccidial activity of a novel membraneinteractive peptide selected from

phage display libraries. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 120, 53–60.

- Demangel, C., Lafaye, P., and Mazie, J. (1996). Reproducing the immune response against the *Plasmodium vivax* merozoite surface protein 1 with mimotopes selected from a phage-displayed peptide library. *Mol. Immunol.* 33, 909–916.
- Devlin, J., Panganiban, L., and Devlin, P. (1990). Random peptide libraries: a source of specific protein binding molecules. *Science* 249, 404–406.
- Di Cristina, M., Del Porto, P., Buffolano, W., Beghetto, E., Spadoni, A., Guglietta, S., et al. (2004). The *Toxoplasma gondii* bradyzoite antigens BAG1 and MAG1 induce early humoral and cell-mediated immune responses upon human infection. *Microbes Infect.* 6, 164–171.
- Dutta, S., Haynes, J. D., Moch, J. K., Barbosa, A., and Lanar, D. E. (2003). Invasion-inhibitory antibodies inhibit proteolytic processing of apical membrane antigen 1 of *Plasmodium falciparum* merozoites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 12295–12300.
- Eda, K., Eda, S., and Sherman, I. W. (2004). Identification of peptides targeting the surface of *Plasmodium falciparum*-infected erythrocytes using a phage display peptide library. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 71, 190–195.
- Efimov, V., Nepluev, I., and Mesyanzhinov, V. (1995). Bacteriophage T4 as a surface display vector. *Virus Genes* 10, 173–177.
- Fairhurst, R., Bess, C., and Krause, M. (2012). Abnormal PfEMP1/knob display on *Plasmodium falciparum*infected erythrocytes containing hemoglobin variants: fresh insights into malaria pathogenesis and protection. *Microbes Infect.* 14, 851–862.
- Fairlie, W. D., Spurck, T. P., McCoubrie, J. E., Gilson, P. R., Miller, S. K., McFadden, G. I., et al. (2008). Inhibition of malaria parasite development by a cyclic peptide that targets the vital parasite protein SERA5. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 4332–4344.

- Famulok, M., Mayer, G., and Blind, M. (2000). Nucleic acid aptamersfrom selection *in vitro* to applications *in vivo*. Acc. Chem. Res. 33, 591–599.
- Fukuda, M. N. (2012). Peptidedisplaying phage technology in glycobiology. *Glycobiology* 22, 318–325.
- Gardner, M., Hall, N., Fung, E., White, O., Berriman, M., Hyman, R., et al. (2002). Genome sequence of the human malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum. Nature* 419, 498–511.
- Georgiou, G., Stathopoulos, C., Daugherty, P., Nayak, A., Iverson, B., and Curtiss, R. (1997). Display of heterologous proteins on the surface of microorganisms: from the screening of combinatorial libraries to live recombinant vaccines. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 15, 29–34.
- Germaschewski, V., and Murray, K. (1995). Screening a monoclonal antibody with a fusion-phage display library shows a discontinuity in a linear epitope within PreS1 of hepatitis B virus. J. Med. Virol. 45, 300–305.
- Ghosh, A., Moreira, L., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2002). Plasmodium-mosquito interactions, phage display libraries and transgenic mosquitoes impaired for malaria transmission. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 32, 1325–1331.
- Ghosh, A. K., Ribolla, E. M., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2001). Targeting *Plasmodium* ligands on mosquito salivary glands and midgut with a phage display peptide library. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 13278–13281.
- Giordano, R., Fouts, D. L., Tewari, D. S., Colli, W., Manning, J. E., and Alves, M. J. M. (1999). Cloning of a surface membrane glycoprotein specific for the infective form of *Trypanosoma cruzi* having adhesive properties to laminin. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 3461–3468.
- Gold, L., Ayers, D., Bertino, J., Bock, C., Bock, A., Brody, E., et al. (2010). Aptamer-based multiplexed proteomic technology for biomarker discovery. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15004. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015004
- Gold, L., Janjic, N., Jarvis, T., Schneider, D., Walker, J. J., Wilcox, S. K., et al. (2012). Aptamers and the RNA world, past and present. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4:pii: a003582. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a003582
- Gonçalves, M. F., Umezawa, E. S., Katzin, A. M., de Souza, W., Alves, M. J., Zingales, B., et al. (1991). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: shedding of surface antigens as membrane

vesicles. Exp. Parasitol. 72, 43–53.

- Goringer, H. (2012). Parasite-specific aptamers as biosynthetic reagents and potential pharmaceuticals. *Trends Parasitol.* 28, 106–113.
- Gram, H., Strittmatter, U., Lorenz, M., Gluck, D., and Zenke, G. (1993).
 Phage display as a rapid gene expression system: production of bioactive cytokine-phage and generation of neutralizing monoclonal antibodies. *J. Immunol. Methods* 161, 169–176.
- Greenwood, J., Willis, A., and Perham, R. (1991). Multiple display of foreign peptides on a filamentous bacteriophage. Peptides from *Plasmodium falciparum* circumsporozoite protein as antigens. *J. Mol. Biol.* 220, 821–827.
- Guo, A., Yin, J., Xiang, M., Liu, X., Zhang, Y., and Chen, Q. (2009). Screening for relevant proteins involved in adhesion of *Cryptosporidium parvum* sporozoites to host cells. *Zhongguo Ji Sheng Chong Xue Yu Ji Sheng Chong Bing Za Zhi* 27, 87–88.
- Hall, M., Misra, S., Chaudhuri, M., and Chaudhuri, G. (2011). Peptide aptamer mimicking RAD51binding domain of BRCA2 inhibits DNA damage repair and survival in *Trypanosoma brucei*. *Microb. Pathog*. 50, 252–262.
- He, M., and Taussig, M. J. (2002). Ribosome display: cell-free protein display technology. *Brief. Funct. Genomic. Proteomic.* 1, 204–212.
- Hernandez-Romano, J., Rodriguez, M., Pando, V., Torres-Monzon, J., Alvarado-Delgado, A., Lecona Valera, A., et al. (2011). Conserved peptide sequences bind to actin and enolase on the surface of *Plasmodium berghei* ookinetes. *Parasitology* 138, 1341–1353.
- Hoe, L., Wan, K., and Nathan, S. (2005). Construction and characterization of recombinant single-chain variable fragment antibodies against *Toxoplasma gondii* MIC2 protein. *Parasitology* 131, 759–768.
- Homann, M., and Goringer, H. U. (1999). Combinatorial selection of high affinity RNA ligands to live African trypanosomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27, 2006–2014.
- Homann, M., Lorger, M., Engstler, M., Zacharias, M., and Goringer, H. (2006). Serum-stable RNA aptamers to an invariant surface domain of live African trypanosomes. *Comb. Chem. High Throughput Screen.* 9, 491–499.
- Hoogenboom, H., and Chames, P. (2000). Natural and designer binding sites made by phage display

technology. Immunol. Today 21, 371–378.

- Howard, R., Haynes, J., McGinniss, M., and Miller, L. (1982). Studies on the role of red blood cell glycoproteins as receptors for invasion by *Plasmodium falciparum* merozoites. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 6, 303–315.
- Irvine, D., Tuerk, C., and Gold, L. (1991). SELEXION. Systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment with integrated optimization by non-linear analysis. *J. Mol. Biol.* 222, 739–761.
- Ito, Y., Teramoto, N., Kawazoe, N., Inada, K., and Imanishi, Y. (1998). Modified nucleic acid for systematic evolution of RNA ligands by exponential enrichment. *J. Bioact. Compat. Polym.* 13, 114–123.
- Johnson, J., Smith, J., Kozak, M., and Johnson, F. (2008). *In vivo* veritas: using yeast to probe the biological functions of G-quadruplexes. *Biochimie* 90, 1250–1263.
- Kehoe, J. W., Velappan, N., Walbolt, M., Rasmussen, J., King, D., Lou, J., et al. (2006). Using phage display to select antibodies recognizing post-translational modifications independently of sequence context. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 5, 2350–2363.
- Keizer, D., Miles, L., Li, F., Nair, M., Anders, R., Coley, A., et al. (2003). Structures of phage-display peptides that bind to the malarial surface protein, apical membrane antigen 1, and block erythrocyte invasion. *Biochemistry* 42, 9915–9923.
- Kim, S.-H., Hwang, S.-Y., Lee, Y.-S., Choi, I.-H., Park, S.-G., and Kho, W.-G. (2007). Single-chain antibody fragment specific for *Plasmodium vivax* Duffy binding protein. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* 14, 726–731.
- Klonis, N., Crespo-Ortiz, M. P., Bottova, I., Abu-Bakar, N., Kenny, S., Rosenthal, P. J., et al. (2011). Artemisinin activity against *Plasmodium falciparum* requires hemoglobin uptake and digestion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 11405–11410.
- Koivunen, E., Arap, W., Rajotte, D., Lahdenranta, J., and Pasqualini, R. (1999). Identification of receptor ligands with phage display peptide libraries. J. Nucl. Med. 40, 883–888.
- Krucken, J., Hosse, R. J., Mouafo, A. N., Entzeroth, R., Bierbaum, S., Marinovski, P., et al. (2008). Excystation of *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites impaired by antibody recognizing gametocyte/oocyst antigens GAM22 and GAM56. *Eukaryot. Cell* 7, 202–211.
- Lanzillotti, R., and Coetzer, T. (2008). Phage display: a useful tool for

malaria research? *Trends Parasitol.* 24, 18–23.

- Lauterbach, S., Lanzillotti, R., and Coetzer, T. (2003). Construction and use of *Plasmodium falciparum* phage display libraries to identify host parasite interactions. *Malar. J.* 2:47. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-2-47
- Lerch, M., Carnes, J., Acestor, N., Guo, X., Schnaufer, A., and Stuart, K. (2012). Editosome accessory factors KREPB9 and KREPB10 in *Trypanosoma brucei. Eukaryot. Cell* 11, 832–843.
- Li, F., Dluzewski, A., Coley, A. M., Thomas, A., Tilley, L., Anders, R. F., et al. (2002). Phage-displayed peptides bind to the malarial protein apical membrane antigen-1 and inhibit the merozoite invasion of host erythrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 50303–50310.
- Li, X., Marinkovic, M., Russo, C., McKnight, C., Coetzer, T., and Chishti, A. (2012). Identification of a specific region of *Plasmodium falciparum* EBL-1 that binds to host receptor glycophorin B and inhibits merozoite invasion in human red blood cells. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 183, 23–31.
- Li, Y., Geyer, C., and Sen, D. (1996). Recognition of anionic porphyrins by DNA aptamers. *Biochemistry* 35, 6911–6922.
- Liang, S., and Connell, G. J. (2009). An electrochemiluminescent aptamer switch for a high-throughput assay of an RNA editing reaction. *RNA* 15, 1929–1938.
- Lidqvist, M., Nilsson, O., Holmgren, J., Hall, C., and Fermer, C. (2008). Phage display for site-specific immunization and characterization of high-risk human papillomavirus specific E7 monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. Methods 337, 88–96.
- Lilley, D. M. (1995). Kinking of DNA and RNA by base bulges. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 7140–7142.
- Linn, H., Ermekova, K., Rentschler, S., Sparks, A., Kay, B., and Sudol, M. (1997). Using molecular repertoires to identify high-affinity peptide ligands of the WW domain of human and mouse YAP. *Biol. Chem.* 378, 531–537.
- Liu, K., Lin, B., and Lan, X. (2013). Aptamers: a promising tool for cancer imaging, diagnosis and therapy. J. Cell. Biochem. 114, 250–255.
- Lorger, M., Engstler, M., Homann, M., and Goringer, H. U. (2003). Targeting the variable surface of African trypanosomes with variant surface glycoprotein-specific, serum-stable RNA aptamers. *Eukaryot. Cell* 2, 84–94.

- Lundquist, R., Nielsen, L. K., Jafarshad, A., SoeSoe, D., Christensen, L. H., Druilhe, P., et al. (2006). Human recombinant antibodies against *Plasmodium falciparum* merozoite surface protein 3 cloned from peripheral blood leukocytes of individuals with immunity to malaria demonstrate antiparasitic properties. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 3222–3231.
- Magdesian, M. H., Giordano, R., Ulrich, H., Juliano, M. A., Juliano, L., Schumacher, R. I., et al. (2001). Infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Identification of a parasite ligand and its host cell receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 19382–19389.
- Makela, A. R., Ernst, W., Grabherr, R., and Oker-Blom, C. (2010). Baculovirus-based display and gene delivery systems. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2010:pdb.top72. doi: 10.1101/pdb.top72
- Markland, W., Ley, A., and Ladner, R. (1996). Iterative optimization of high-affinity protease inhibitors using phage display. 2. Plasma kallikrein and thrombin. *Biochemistry* 35, 8058–8067.
- Marvin, D. (1998). Filamentous phage structure, infection and assembly. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 8, 150–158.
- McCafferty, J., Griffiths, A., Winter, G., and Chiswell, D. (1990). Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. *Nature* 348, 552–554.
- Monette, M., Opella, S., Greenwood, J., Willis, A., and Perham, R. (2001). Structure of a malaria parasite antigenic determinant displayed on filamentous bacteriophage determined by NMR spectroscopy: implications for the structure of continuous peptide epitopes of proteins. *Protein Sci.* 10, 1150–1159.
- Moreno, M., Rincon, E., Pineiro, D., Fernandez, G., Domingo, A., Jimenez-Ruiz, A., et al. (2003). Selection of aptamers against KMP-11 using colloidal gold during the SELEX process. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 308, 214–218.
- Nagarkatti, R., Bist, V., Sun, S., Fortes de Araujo, F., Nakhasi, H., and Debrabant, A. (2012). Development of an aptamer-based concentration method for the detection of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in blood. *PLoS ONE* 7:e43533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043533
- Nair, M., Hinds, M., Coley, A., Hodder, A., Foley, M., Anders, R., et al. (2002). Structure of domain III of the blood-stage malaria vaccine candidate, *Plasmodium falciparum* apical membrane antigen 1 (AMA1). J. Mol. Biol. 322, 741–753.

- Narum, D. L., Ogun, S. A., Batchelor, A. H., and Holder, A. A. (2006). Passive immunization with a multicomponent vaccine against conserved domains of apical membrane antigen 1 and 235-Kilodalton rhoptry proteins protects mice against *Plasmodium yoelii* blood-stage challenge infection. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 5529–5536.
- Newton, J., Kelly, K., Mahmood, U., Weissleder, R., and Deutscher, S. (2006). *In vivo* selection of phage for the optical imaging of PC-3 human prostate carcinoma in mice. *Neoplasia* 8, 772–780.
- Niemann, M., Schneider, A., and Cristodero, M. (2011). Mitochondrial translation in trypanosomatids: a novel target for chemotherapy? *Trends Parasitol.* 27, 429–433.
- Niles, J. C., DeRisi, J. L., and Marletta, M. A. (2009). Inhibiting *Plasmodium falciparum* growth and heme detoxification pathway using heme-binding DNA aptamers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 13266–13271.
- Okazawa, A., Maeda, H., Fukusaki, E., Katakura, Y., and Kobayashi, A. (2000). *In vitro* selection of hematoporphyrin binding DNA aptamers. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 10, 2653–2656.
- Paige, J. S., Nguyen-Duc, T., Song, W., and Jaffrey, S. R. (2012). Fluorescence imaging of cellular metabolites with RNA. *Science* 335, 1194.
- Parmley, S. F., and Smith, G. P. (1988). Antibody-selectable filamentous fd phage vectors: affinity purification of target genes. *Gene* 73, 305–318.
- Pasqualini, R., and Ruoslahti, E. (1996). Organ targeting *in vivo* using phage display peptide libraries. *Nature* 380, 364–366.
- Petrenko, V. (2008). Evolution of phage display: from bioactive peptides to bioselective nanomaterials. *Expert. Opin. Drug Deliv.* 5, 825–836.
- Pitcovsky, T. A., Mucci, J., Alvarez, P., Leguizamon, M. S., Burrone, O., Alzari, P. M., et al. (2001). Epitope mapping of trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* reveals the presence of several cross-reactive determinants. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 1869–1875.
- Pokorny, N., Boulter-Bitzer, J., Hall, J., Trevors, J., and Lee, H. (2008). Inhibition of *Cryptosporidium parvum* infection of a mammalian cell culture by recombinant scFv antibodies. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 94, 353–364.

- Qi, H., Lu, H., Qiu, H., Petrenko, V., and Liu, A. (2012). Phagemid vectors for phage display: properties, characteristics and construction. *J. Mol. Biol.* 417, 129–143.
- Rajotte, D., Arap, W., Hagedorn, M., Koivunen, E., Pasqualini, R., and Ruoslahti, E. (1998). Molecular heterogeneity of the vascular endothelium revealed by *in vivo* phage display. *J. Clin. Invest.* 102, 430–437.
- Ramos, E., Moreno, M., Martin, M., Soto, M., and Gonzalez, V. (2010). In vitro selection of Leishmania infantum H3-binding ssDNA aptamers. Oligonucleotides 20, 207–213.
- Ramos, E., Pineiro, D., Soto, M., Abanades, D., Martin, M., Salinas, M., et al. (2007). A DNA aptamer population specifically detects *Leishmania infantum* H2A antigen. *Lab. Invest.* 87, 409–416.
- Ren, Z., Lewis, G., Wingfield, P., Locke,
 E., Steven, A., and Black, L. (1996).
 Phage display of intact domains at high copy number: a system based on SOC, the small outer capsid protein of bacteriophage T4. *Protein Sci.* 5, 1833–1843.
- Robben, J., Hertveldt, K., Bosmans, E., and Volckaert, G. (2002). Selection and identification of dense granule antigen GRA3 by *Toxoplasma gondii* whole genome phage display. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 17544–17547.
- Roeffen, W. F. G., Raats, J. M. H., Teelen, K., Hoet, R. M. A., Eling, W. M., van Venrooij, W. J., et al. (2001). Recombinant human antibodies specific for the Pfs48/45 protein of the malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 19807–19811.
- Rothe, A., Hosse, R. J., and Power, B. E. (2006). *In vitro* display technologies reveal novel biopharmaceutics. *FASEB J.* 20, 1599–1610.
- Rubin, S., and Schenkman, S. (2012). *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase as a multifunctional enzyme in Chagas' disease. *Cell. Microbiol.* 14, 1522–1530.
- Ruckman, J., Green, L. S., Beeson, J., Waugh, S., Gillette, W. L., Henninger, D. D., et al. (1998). 2'-Fluoropyrimidine RNA-based aptamers to the 165-amino acid form of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF165). Inhibition of receptor binding and VEGFinduced vascular permeability through interactions requiring the exon-7 encoded domain. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 20556–20567.
- Sabo, J. K., Keizer, D. W., Feng, Z.-P., Casey, J. L., Parisi, K., Coley, A. M., et al. (2007). Mimotopes of apical

membrane antigen 1: structures of phage-derived peptides recognized by the inhibitory monoclonal antibody 4G2dc1 and design of a more active analogue. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 61–73.

- Schnaufer, A., Panigrahi, A. K., Panicucci, B., Igo, R. P. Jr., Salavati, R., and Stuart, K. (2001). An RNA ligase essential for RNA editing and survival of the bloodstream form of *Trypanosoma brucei*. Science 291, 2159–2162.
- Scott, J. K., and Smith, G. P. (1990). Searching for peptide ligands with an epitope library. *Science* 249, 386–390.
- Sidhu, S. (2000). Phage display in pharmaceutical biotechnology. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 11, 610–616.
- Smith, G. P. (1985). Filamentous fusion phage: novel expression vectors that display antigens on the virion surface. *Science* 228, 1315–1317.
- Smith, G. P., and Petrenko, V. A. (1997). Phage display. *Chem. Rev.* 97, 391–410.
- Smith, G. P., and Scott, J. K. (1993). Libraries of peptides and proteins displayed on filamentous phage. *Methods Enzymol.* 217, 228–257.
- Soumillion, P., Jespers, L., Bouchet, M., Marchand-Brynaert, J., Sartiaux, P., and Fastrez, J. (1994). Phage display of enzymes and *in vitro* selection for catalytic activity. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 47, 175–189.
- Sowa, K., Cavanagh, D., Creasey, A., Raats, J., McBride, J., Sauerwein, R., et al. (2001). Isolation of a monoclonal antibody from a malaria patient-derived phage display library recognising the Block 2 region of *Plasmodium falciparum* merozoite surface protein-1. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 112, 143–147.
- Sparks, A. B., Rider, J. E., Hoffman, N. G., Fowlkes, D. M., Quillam, L. A., and Kay, B. K. (1996). Distinct ligand preferences of Src homology 3 domains from Src, Yes, Abl, cortactin, p53bp2, PLCy, Crk, and Grb2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 1540–1544.
- Staple, D., and Butcher, S. (2005). Pseudoknots: RNA structures with diverse functions. *PLoS Biol.* 3:e213. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0030213
- Stebeck, C., Beecroft, R., Singh, B., Jardim, A., Olafson, R., Tuckey, C., et al. (1995). Kinetoplastid membrane protein-11 (KMP-11) is differentially expressed during the life cycle of African trypanosomes and is found in a wide variety of kinetoplastid parasites. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 71, 1–13.

- Sternberg, N., and Hoess, R. H. (1995). Display of peptides and proteins on the surface of bacteriophage lambda. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 1609–1613.
- Takahashi, T., Austin, R., and Roberts, R. (2003). mRNA display: ligand discovery, interaction analysis and beyond. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 28, 159–165.
- Tarun, S. Z. Jr., Schnaufer, A., Ernst, N. L., Proff, R., Deng, J., Hol, W., et al. (2008). KREPA6 is an RNA-binding protein essential for editosome integrity and survival of *Trypanosoma brucei*. *RNA* 14, 347–358.
- Tolson, D. L., Jardim, A., Schnur, L. F., Stebeck, C., Tuckey, C., Beecroft, R. P., et al. (1994). The kinetoplastid membrane protein 11 of *Leishmania donovani* and African trypanosomes is a potent stimulator of T-lymphocyte proliferation. *Infect. Immun.* 62, 4893–4899.
- Tonelli, R. R., Giordano, R. J., Barbu, E. M., Torrecilhas, A. C., Kobayashi, G. S., Langley, R. R., et al. (2010). Role of the gp85/trans-sialidases in *Trypanosoma cruzi* tissue tropism: preferential binding of a conserved peptide motif to the vasculature *in vivo. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 4:e864. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000864
- Tonelli, R. R., Torrecilhas, A. C., Jacysyn, J. F., Juliano, M. A., Colli, W., and Alves, M. J. M. (2011). In vivo infection by Trypanosoma cruzi: the conserved FLY domain of the

gp85/trans-sialidase family potentiates host infection. *Parasitology* 138, 481–492.

- Torrecilhas, A. C., Schumacher, R. I., Alves, M. J. M., and Colli, W. (2012). Vesicles as carriers of virulence factors in parasitic protozoan diseases. *Microbes Infect.* 14, 1465–1474.
- Triglia, T., Healer, J., Caruana, S., Hodder, A., Anders, R., Crabb, B., et al. (2000). Apical membrane antigen 1 plays a central role in erythrocyte invasion by *Plasmodium* species. *Mol. Microbiol.* 38, 706–718.
- Ulrich, H., Magdesian, M. H., Alves, M. J. M., and Colli, W. (2002). *In vitro* selection of RNA aptamers that bind to cell adhesion receptors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and inhibit cell invasion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 20756–20762.
- Ulrich, H., and Wrenger, C. (2009). Disease-specific biomarker discovery by aptamers. *Cytometry A* 75, 727–733.
- Van Nieuwenhove, L., Buscher, P., Balharbi, F., Humbert, M., Dieltjens, T., Guisez, Y., et al. (2012). Identification of mimotopes with diagnostic potential for *Trypanosoma brucei gambiense* variant surface glycoproteins using human antibody fractions. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6:e1682. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001682
- Van Nieuwenhove, L., Roge, S., Balharbi, F., Dieltjens, T., Laurent, T., Guisez, Y., et al. (2011). Identification of peptide mimotopes

of *Trypanosoma brucei gambiense* variant surface glycoproteins. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 5:e1189. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001189

- Vaughan, T., Williams, A., Pritchard, K., Osbourn, J., Pope, A., Earnshaw, J., et al. (1996). Human antibodies with sub-nanomolar affinities isolated from a large nonimmunized phage display library. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 14, 309–314.
- Vithayathil, R., Hooy, R., Cocco, M., and Weiss, G. (2011). The scope of phage display for membrane proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 414, 499–510.
- Weissbuch, I., and Leiserowitz, L. (2008). Interplay between malaria, crystalline hemozoin formation, and antimalarial drug action and design. *Chem. Rev.* 108, 4899–4914.
- Yao, L., Yin, J., Zhang, X., Liu, Q., Li, J., Chen, L., et al. (2007). *Cryptosporidium parvum*: identification of a new surface adhesion protein on sporozoite and oocyst by screening of a phage-display cDNA library. *Exp. Parasitol.* 115, 333–338.
- Yonezawa, M., Doi, N., Higashinakagawa, T., and Yanagawa, H. (2004). DNA display of biologically active proteins for *in vitro* protein selection. *J. Biochem.* 135, 285–288.
- Zhao, Y., Amer, S., Wang, J., Wang, C., Gao, Y., Kang, G., et al. (2010). Construction, screening and identification of a phage display antibody library against the *Eimeria acervulina* merozoite.

Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 393, 703–707.

Zurita, A., Arap, W., and Pasqualini, R. (2003). Mapping tumor vascular diversity by screening phage display libraries. J. Control. Release 91, 183–186.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 September 2012; paper pending published: 14 October 2012; accepted: 20 December 2012; published online: 09 January 2013.

Citation: Tonelli RR, Colli W and Alves MJM (2013) Selection of binding targets in parasites using phage-display and aptamer libraries in vivo and in vitro. Front. Immun. **3**:419. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00419

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Tonelli, Colli and Alves. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

The kallikrein-kinin system in experimental Chagas disease: a paradigm to investigate the impact of inflammatory edema on GPCR-mediated pathways of host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*

Julio Scharfstein*, Daniele Andrade, Erik Svensjö, Ana Carolina Oliveira and Clarissa R. Nascimento

Laboratório de Imunologia Molecular, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Centro de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Ravi Durvasula, University of New Mexico School of Medicine, USA Christy Petersen, Iowa State University, USA

*Correspondence:

Julio Scharfstein, Laboratório de Imunologia Molecular, Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Centro de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Cidade Universitária Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. e-mail: jscharf2@gmail.com

Chronic chagasic myocarditis (CCM) depends on Trypanosoma cruzi persistence in the myocardium. Studies of the proteolytic mechanisms governing host/parasite balance in peripheral sites of *T. cruzi* infection revealed that tissue culture trypomastigotes (TCTs) elicit inflammatory edema and stimulate protective type-1 effector T cells through the activation of the kallikrein-kinin system. Molecular studies linked the proinflammatory phenotype of Dm28c TCTs to the synergistic activities of tGPI, a lipid anchor that functions as a Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) ligand, and cruzipain, a kinin-releasing cysteine protease. Analysis of the dynamics of inflammation revealed that TCTs activate innate sentinel cells via TLR2, releasing CXC chemokines, which in turn evoke neutrophil/CXCR2-dependent extravasation of plasma proteins, including high molecular weight kininogen (HK), in parasite-laden tissues. Further downstream, TCTs process surface bound HK, liberating lysyl-BK (LBK), which then propagates inflammatory edema via signaling of endothelial G-protein-coupled bradykinin B₂ receptors (BK₂R). Dm28 TCTs take advantage of the transient availability of infection-promoting peptides (e.g., bradykinin and endothelins) in inflamed tissues to invade cardiovascular cells via interdependent signaling of BKRs and endothelin receptors (ETRs). Herein we present a space-filling model whereby ceramide-enriched endocytic vesicles generated by the sphingomyelinase pathway might incorporate BK₂R and ETRs, which then trigger Ca²⁺-driven responses that optimize the housekeeping mechanism of plasma membrane repair from cell wounding. The hypothesis predicts that the NFxB-inducible BKR (BK₁R) may integrate the multimolecular signaling platforms forged by ceramide rafts, as the chronic myocarditis progresses. Exploited as gateways for parasite invasion, BK₂R, BK_1R , ET_AR , ET_BR , and other G protein-coupled receptor partners may enable persistent myocardial parasitism in the edematous tissues at expense of adverse cardiac remodeling.

Keywords: bradykinin, cardiomyopathy, cruzipain, endothelins, GPCRs, proteases, kallikrein, Trypanosoma cruzi

INTRODUCTION

Afflicting nearly 10 million people in Latin America (Coura and Dias, 2009), Chagas disease is a pleiomorphic clinical entity caused by Trypanosoma cruzi, a parasitic protozoan that undergoes obligate intracellular development in the mammalian host. Extremely polymorphic (Macedo and Pena, 1998), the natural populations of T. cruzi have been recently subdivided into six discrete taxonomic units (DTUs) named T. cruzi I to T. cruzi VI (Zingales et al., 2009), of which at least four are known to be involved with human pathology (Miles et al., 2009). Whether transmitted to humans via mucosal wounds inflicted by hematophagous vectors of the reduviid family or, indirectly, by oral ingestion of contaminated juices (Coura and Dias, 2009; Cortez et al., 2012), the insect-derived infective forms (metacyclic trypomastigotes) induce an acute phase that may be asymptomatic, or life-threatening. Characterized by high blood parasitemia, the sequels of severe acute disease may include hepatosplenic pathology, myocarditis, and more rarely, encephalitis. Lasting a few months, the acute symptoms subside with the onset of immunity, but the effector response is not capable of eradicating the intracellular parasites, leading to a chronic infection, characterized by low-grade tissue parasitism and positive serology. Several years later, about 30% of the patients develop a full-blown chronic chagasic myocardiopathy (CCM), characterized by the presence of inflammatory T cell infiltrates, myocardial fibrosis, complex arrhythmias, thromboembolism, and ventricular aneurysms (Marin-Neto et al., 2007). Patients with severe forms of CCM may have heart failure and sudden death, while the remaining chagasic patients (indeterminate stage) remain asymptomatic for decades. In the south cone of America, chagasic patients may also develop digestive system abnormalities (megacolon and/or megaesophagus), albeit in lower frequency than CCM.

CCM: CONVERGING PATHOGENIC MECHANISMS

Nearly a century after the discovery of Chagas disease, we have come to realize that the mechanisms responsible for the variable clinical manifestations during the chronic phase are still elusive. Cardiac parasympathetic depopulation, microvascular derangement, and low-grade myocardial inflammation directly induced by parasites and T cell-dependent immunopathology seem to converge in the genesis of CCM. After decades of debate, there are persuasive arguments supporting the notion that the primary cause of CCM is a low-grade, persistent parasitism of the myocardium (Tarleton, 2001). A large body of studies in mice and humans indicated that chronic myocarditis is critically dependent on the recruitment of parasite-specific (type 1) effector CD8 T cells to the infected cardiac tissues (Padilla et al., 2009; Silverio et al., 2012).

While not dismissing the relevance of intracardiac infiltrates in the progression of CCM, vascular pathologists argued that lowgrade infection could lead to the accumulation of microvascular lesions in the chagasic heart, ultimately resulting in myocardial hypoxia, which in turn may aggravate collateral injury inflicted by pathogenic T cells infiltrating the heart (Morris et al., 1990; Rossi, 1990; Higuchi et al., 1999, 2003). Subsequent studies in experimentally infected animals shed light on the mechanisms by which T. cruzi induces microvasculopathy (Andrade et al., 1994; Tanowitz et al., 1999). Initial observations ascribed the formation of vasospasm to the pathogenic activity of endothelins (ETs), a potent class of vasoconstrictor polypeptides (Tanowitz et al., 1999). Of further interest, these workers reported that endothelin-1 (ET-1) expression is upregulated in parasitized cardiovascular cells (Petkova et al., 2000). Follow-up studies in chronically infected mice demonstrated that cardiac remodeling significantly ameliorated in transgenic lines in which the ET gene was specifically removed from cardiomyocytes, while ablation of this gene in endothelial cells has not significantly reduced heart fibrosis (Tanowitz et al., 2005). Of further interest, the plasma levels of ETs are elevated both in chagasic patients and infected mice (Petkova et al., 2000; Salomone et al., 2001).

While the research linking infection-associated vasculopathy to the function of ETs progressed, our group reported that trypomastigotes generate proinflammatory kinin peptides extravascularly. Follow-up studies indicated that the local activation of the kallikrein-kinin system (KKS) translates into mutual benefits to the host/parasite relationship during the course of chagasic infection (Scharfstein and Andrade, 2011; Scharfstein and Svensjö, 2012). In the present article, we will review the results of these studies and advance the proposition that T. cruzi may take advantage of interstitial edema in the inflamed heart to potentiate their infectivity via cooperative signaling of multiple G proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs). The rationale of this hypothesis lies on two fundamental premises: (i) due to the low-grade parasitism observed in chronic infection, there are intermittent "flares" of plasma leakage in the inflamed myocardium (ii) the microvascular edema is temporally linked to the release of parasites from ruptured pseudocysts (Scharfstein and Morrot, 1999).

Studies in various experimental models indicated that tissue culture-derived trypomastigotes (Dm28c) swiftly activate microvascular beds through the activation of the KKS (Todorov et al., 2003; Monteiro et al., 2006; Schmitz et al., 2009; Scharfstein and Andrade, 2011; Andrade et al., 2012). Based on these initial observations, we predicted that the sudden diffusion of plasma-borne constituents (antibodies, complement components, kininogens, ETs) through parasite-laden tissues may affect the delicate host/parasite balance established in the chronically infected myocardium. Although the flagellated trypomastigotes released from pseudocysts may rapidly move away from the primary foci of infection, hence seeking for safer targets elsewhere in the myocardium, we proposed that the transient rise of plasma proteins in the edematous interstitial spaces might favor generation of infection-promoting peptides, such as bradykinin (BK), in the peripheral tissues (Scharfstein et al., 2000; Todorov et al., 2003; Andrade et al., 2012). Before outlining the arguments supporting this working hypothesis, we will present readers with an overview of the essential structural and functional features of the KKS.

MOLECULAR BASIS OF KKS ACTIVATION AND REGULATION

Recently implicated in thrombo-inflammatory processes (Müller et al., 2009; von Brühl et al., 2012), the KKS is a hub-like network of proteolytic enzymes which, among other biological functions, release the proinflammatory "kinin" peptides from an internal segment of their plasma-borne precursors, the kininogens. Generation of kinins may involve multiple processing enzymes: in the bloodstream, plasma kallikrein (PK) releases the nonapeptide BK from high molecular weight kininogen (HK) upon activation of the contact system by negatively charged surfaces, such as platelet-derived polyphosphates (Figure 1A). In the extravascular spaces, lysyl-BK (LBK) is excised from low molecular weight kininogen (LK) or HK by tissue kallikrein, a serine protease that is constitutively expressed in multiple tissues. It is also known that kinins can be generated by alternative proteases. For example, in chronic inflammation kininogens may be processed by the concerted action of neutrophil elastase and mast cell tryptase, leading to the release of a slightly larger kinin, Met-LBK (Kozik et al., 1998). In the context of infections, kinins can be directly liberated from the kininogens by the action of microbial cysteine proteases, such as gingipain from Porphyromonas gingivalis (Imamura et al., 1994), staphopain A from Staphylococcus aureus (Imamura et al., 2005), streptopain from Streptococcus pyogenes (Herwald et al., 1996), and cruzipain (Del Nery et al., 1997; Scharfstein et al., 2000; Monteiro et al., 2006).

The biological responses mediated by BK and LBK are mediated by bradykinin B2 receptor (BK_2R), a subtype of heterotrimeric G-protein-coupled BKR (**Figure 1A**) which is constitutively expressed by several cell types, including cardiomyocytes, painsensitive neurons, vascular endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells (Leeb-Lundberg et al., 2005). As explained later on in this text, kinins (BK/LBK) also activate BK_2R expressed by sentinel cells of the innate immune system, such as conventional dendritic cells (DCs; Aliberti et al., 2003; Bertram et al., 2007; Kaman et al., 2009).

Once released from HK/LK, the intact kinins (BK/LBK) have a half-life of <15 s in the plasma, hence must swiftly activate BK₂R via the paracrine mode (**Figure 1A**). Since excessive activation of the kinin system may have adverse effects to the vascular system, the kinin/BK₂R pathway is fined-tunned by overlapping regulatory mechanisms, such as (i) down-regulation of surface BK₂R



FIGURE 1 | (A) Activation of the kallikrein-kinin system Top: The scheme depicts platelet-derived polyphosphates (PolyP) acting (intravascularly) as endogenous activators of the KKS (contact phase of coagulation). The proteolytic cascade is initiated as the negatively charged PolyP (long chains) bind to (i) FXII and (ii) HK, via the histidine-rich (D5) domain. PolyP-induced conformational changes in FXII lead to its autocatalytic cleavage. FXIIa then cleaves the plasma kallikrein (PK) zymogen, generating PKa. After several cycles of reciprocal activation between PKa/FXIIa, FXIIa activates FXI, the downstream effector of the intrinsic coagulation pathway, whereas PKa cleaves HK, releasing the internal nonapeptide bradykinin (BK, green rectangle). In inflammatory conditions, the plasma-borne HK/LK diffuse through post-capillary venules. As the extravascular levels of kininogens rise, these kinin-precursor molecules undergo cleavage by tissue kallikrein (TK), which liberates the decapeptide lysyl-BK. Acting by the paracrine mode, the intact form of kinins (BK or Lysyl-BK) binds at high-affinity to BK₂R, a subtype of BKR that is constitutively expressed in a broad range of cell types. Bottom: The scheme depicts the activation requirements of BK₁R, a GPCR subtype whose expression is strongly upregulated in inflamed/damaged tissues. Generation of high-affinity ligands for the inducible BK1R depends on metabolic processing of the intact kinins (BK or lysyl-BK) by the metallopeptidase kininase I (carboxypeptidase N or membrane-bound carboxypeptidase M). (B) BK1R is an inducible gateway for T. cruzi entry in cardiovascular cells. T. cruzi relies on the enzymatic versatility of the major lysosomal cysteine protease (cruzipain) to release LBK from HK molecules docked to the host cell surfaces via binding to heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Once released, the short-lived lysyl-BK is rapidly processed by membrane-bound carboxypeptidase M, generating [des-Arg]-lysyl-BK, which then enhances parasite infectivity through the signaling of the inducible BK1R.

(ii) degradation of intact kinins by various metallopeptidases, including angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE, kininase II) – a transmembrane di-peptidyl carboxypeptidase (Skidgel and Erdos, 2004) highly expressed in the endothelium lining and, to a less extent, in other cell types, including innate sentinel cells such as monocytes and DCs (Danilov et al., 2003). Besides degrading intact kinins, thus reducing hypotension, ACE increases blood pressure through the formation of angiotensin II, a potent vaso-pressor octapeptide. Noteworthy, the transmembrane (somatic) enzyme undergoes cleavage by disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM)-type "sheddase" (Parkin et al., 2004), leading to the accumulation of soluble forms of ACE in the blood and other body fluids.

In contrast to the constitutive BK₂R, the expression of BK₁R is strongly - but transiently - up-regulated during inflammation (Marceau and Bachvarov, 1998; Figure 1A). For example, ET-1 and angiotensin II induce BK1R expression through the signaling of ET_AR and AT₁ (angiotensin 1 receptor) respectively, leading to activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) cascade (Medeiros et al., 2004). BK₁R is also induced by IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IFN- γ via the NF- κ B transcription factor (Marceau and Bachvarov, 1998; Medeiros et al., 2004; Moreau et al., 2007). Differently from BK₂R, the inducible BK₁R is not triggered by "intact" kinins (BK/LBK). Instead, BK1R is activated by the kinin metabolites [des-Arg]-BK or [des-Arg]-LBK, both of which are generated by carboxypeptidase N (CPN)/carboxypeptidase M (CPM) (kininase I)-mediated cleavage of the C-terminal arginine residue of BK/LBK (Figure 1A).

BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF BKRs

In the cardiovascular system, kinins/BK₂R control the blood flow through nitric oxide (NO)-dependent vasodilation. In contrast to the beneficial role of kinins in cardiovascular homeostasis, there is evidence that dysregulated BK₁R signaling drives myocardial fibrosis and impairs heart function in different experimental models (Spillmann and Tschöpe, 2012).

Beyond inducing detrimental cardiac responses, it is wellestablished that BK₁R plays a major role in hyperalgesia (Calixto et al., 2004; Gabra et al., 2005; Cunha et al., 2007). Studies in mice subjected to traumatic brain injury revealed that bloodbrain leakage and recruitment of inflammatory leukocytes to the CNS is blocked by a specific BK1R antagonist (Raslan et al., 2010). Although inflammation is usually initiated through the signaling of the constitutive BK₂R, the sustenance of the inflammatory response depends on the signaling of endothelial BK1R. McLean et al. (2000) were the first to report that the trans-endothelial leukocyte migration is enhanced as result of up-regulated expression/signaling of endothelial BK1R. Recent progress in studies of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) demonstrated that BK1R increases the recruitment of pathogenic effector T cells into the CNS (Dutra et al., 2011; Göbel et al., 2011; Table 1).

More recently, a growing number of studies indicated that immune resistance against infection by parasitic protozoan (Monteiro et al., 2006, 2007; Svensjö et al., 2006; Nico et al., 2012; Scharfstein and Svensjö, 2012) and bacterial pathogens (Kaman

Table 1 | Role of BKRs in immunity: literature update.

Experimental System	Bradykinin receptor subtype	Functional Roles of BKRs	Reference
T. cruzi infection (mice)	BK₂R	Induction of CD11c+ DC (splenic) maturation and upregulation of effector (type 1) CD4 and CD8 T cells	Monteiro et al. (2006); Monteiro et al. (2007)
<i>L. donovani</i> and <i>L. chagasi</i> (hamsters and mice)	BK₂R	Inflammatory edema induced by promastigotes; stimulation of promastigote uptake and modulation of the intracellular growth of leishmania in macrophages	Svensjö et al. (2006)
Visceral Leishmaniasis (mice)	BK ₂ R	Immune resistance to acute infection	Nico et al. (2012)
L. monocytogenes infection (mice)	BK ₂ R	Modulation of innate immunity and infection control	Kaman et al. (2009)
P. gingivalis infection-bucal (mice)	BK ₂ R	Upregulation of Th1 and Th17 responses (submandibular lymph node)	Monteiro et al. (2009)
<i>In vivo</i> leukocyte trafficking across mesenteric postcapillary venules (mice)	BK₁R	Trans-endothelial leukocyte migration	McLean et al. (2000)
EAE (mice)	BK ₁ R	Th1 and Th17 responses development and clinical progression of EAE	Dutra et al. (2011)
		Induction of blood brain barrier disruption and T cell transmigration into the CNS	Göbel et al. (2011)
		Limiting infiltration of pathogenic subsets of effector CD4 T cells into the CNS	Schulze-Topphoff et al. (2009)
In vitro DC migration (human)	BK₂R BK₁R	Stimulation of DC migration Inhibition of DC migration	Bertram et al. (2007) Gulliver et al. (2011)
Allergic inflammation (mice)	BK ₁ R/BK ₂ R BK ₂ R	Induction/inhibition of migration and activation of eosinophils Induction of DC maturation and IL-12-dependent Th1 polarization	Vasquez-Pinto etal. (2010) Aliberti etal. (2003)

et al., 2009) is critically dependent on activation of innate sentinel cells via the BK₂R pathway (**Table 1**).

BKRs: DOMAIN COMPARTMENTALIZATION, REGULATION, AND SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS

Stably expressed at the cell surface, the constitutively expressed BK_2R is rapidly desensitized/internalized via $GRK4\alpha$ -mediated receptor phosphorylation upon ligand binding, thus yielding a transient signaling response (Blaukat et al., 2001). Using BK_2R -fusion constructs, Enquist et al. (2007) revealed that upon BK binding, the internalized receptors colocalize with transferring in endosomes, prior to entry in the arrestin-dependent, clathrin-mediated recycling pathway. A second trafficking pathway, described in smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts, indicated that BK also promotes the redistribution of BK_2R and their coupling G proteins to caveolar rafts (de Weerd and Leeb-Lundberg, 1997).

Although the cellular systems vary from one report to another, it is well-established that BK binding to BK_2R promotes the formation of BK_2R homodimers and oligomer

complexes of higher order (Leeb-Lundberg et al., 2005). Kang et al. (2004) reported that BK_2R and BK_1R form heterodimers in transfected HEK293 cells. Notably, BK_2R also forms heterodimeric complexes with-type-1 angiotensin receptors (AT₁) in vascular smooth muscle cells and transfected HEK293 (AbdAlla et al., 2001).

As to the signal transduction pathways, it is well established that BK frequently induces BK₂R-dependent $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ transients and PLC- β -dependent hydrolysis of phosphoinositides, both of which commonly coupled to the activation of PKC isoenzymes α , ε , and ξ . Although BK₂R often signals through $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_i$, in some cellular systems BK-driven activation of the constitutively expressed BKR is coupled to G α s and G α 12/13 (Leeb-Lundberg et al., 2005). Similar to the effects induced by other GPCR agonists, BK sequesters BK₂R along with G α_q and G α_i in caveolar compartments of smooth muscle cells (de Weerd and Leeb-Lundberg, 1997).

In fibroblasts, a cell-type often used in models studies of *T. cruzi* interaction with non-professional phagocytic cells, BK_2R activation is associated with transient tyrosine phosphorylation

and activation of focal adhesion kinase as well as other focaladhesion substrates (Leeb-Lundberg et al., 1994). In another study with fibroblasts, BK stimulated peripheral actin microspikes and membrane ruffling via activation of Cdc42 and Rac-1 (Kozma et al., 1995). Studies with endothelial cells showed that BK, acting as a potent vasodilator, transiently stimulates endothelial cell production of NO via endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) through mechanisms involving both calciumdependent and phosphorylation cascades mediated by PI3K/Akt (Kuhr et al., 2010).

KKS HAS A DUAL ROLE IN EXPERIMENTAL CARDIOMYOPATHIES

All the components of the KKS are present in the heart. In addition to contributing to vascular tone and inflammation in the cardiac tissues, the KKS influences extent of extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling, angiogenesis, and stem cell mobilization (Spillmann et al., 2006). Of possible relevance to the understanding of KKS function in CCM, experimental studies in mouse models of diabetic cardiomyopathy and myocardial ischemia indicate that specific alterations in kinin homeostasis may either ameliorate or worsen cardiac pathology after cardiac pathology (Spillmann and Tschöpe, 2012).

As mentioned earlier, the beneficial effects of ACE inhibitors are due to their dual biological functions: these potent drugs block ACE-driven conversion of angiotensin I into the vasopressor angiotensin II and inhibit the enzymatic breakdown of kinins (BK₂R agonists), thus increasing the half-life of "intact" kinins in the circulation. Noteworthy, ACE inhibitors reduce myocardial damage (e.g., reduction of infarction size) yet these effects were nullified upon treatment with BK₂R antagonists or in BK₂Rdeficient mice (Yang et al., 2001), thus indicating that signaling of BK₂R has a major function in the remarkable protective effects of ACE inhibitors.

Studies in streptozotocin (STZ)-induced models of diabetic cardiomyopathy have shown that early left ventricle (LV) and systolic dysfunction is improved in mice overexpressing tissue kallikrein (KLK1), whereas wild-type heart develop massive fibrosis (interstitial and perivascular) due to focal accumulation of collagen and fibrillar fragmentation. Although KLK1 has a pro-collagenase activity by itself and may activate matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), the host-protective effects of KLK1 overexpression in diabetic cardiomyopathy were abolished upon treatment with HOE-140 (BK₂R antagonist), thus implying that KLK1-mediated release of kinins improves cardiac function. Additional studies suggested that activation of the KLK1/BK2R pathway reduces cardiac fibrosis through the activation of the plasminogen activator/MMP2-dependent fibrinolytic cascade (Spillmann et al., 2006). Additional studies revealed that BK₂R signaling that BK₂R signaling improves cardiac function by (i) reducing apoptosis and chamber dilatation in the myocardium (Chao et al., 2008), (ii) optimizing angiotensin II-induced (NO-dependent) neovascularization (Munk et al., 2007), (iii) restoring S2a-mediated sarcoplasmatic Ca²⁺ uptake (Tschöpe et al., 2005), and/or (iv) promoting homing of endothelial progenitor cells to ischemic muscles (Kränkel et al., 2008).

T. cruzi TRYPOMASTIGOTES LIBERATE KININS FROM SURFACE-BOUND KININOGENS VIA CRUZIPAIN

The first clues suggesting that T. cruzi is equipped with a kininogenase came from enzymatic analysis of the substrate specificity of cruzipain (Del Nery et al., 1997), a lysosomal-like cysteine protease classified as member of clan A of the C1 peptidase familv (Cazzulo et al., 2001; Alvarez et al., 2012). At first sight, the discovery that cruzipain acted as a "kininogenase" seemed paradoxical because kininogens are members of the cystatin family of cysteine protease inhibitors, hence rely on cystatin-like domains to potently inactivate papain-like enzymes, including cruzipain itself (Stoka et al., 1995). Consistent with this, in vitro data showed that cruzipain hydrolyzes soluble forms of HK at slower rates as compared to tissue kallikrein. This conundrum was settled by awareness that HK binds to negatively charged sulfated proteoglycans, such as heparan or chondroitin sulfates via the histidine-rich positively charged motif (D5_H) localized at the Cterminal end of the BK (D4) sequence (Renné et al., 2000; Renné and Muller-Esterl, 2001). Based on this information, Lima et al. (2002) hypothesized that the spatial orientation of cell-bound HK docked to heparan sulfate proteoglycans was not suitable for cruzipain binding and inactivation by the cystatin-like inhibitory domain (Figure 1B). Indeed, model studies performed with cruzipain and HK in the test tube offered circumstantial support to this hypothesis (Lima et al., 2002): the addition of heparan sulfate (at optimal concentrations) drastically reduced the cysteine inhibitory activity of soluble HK on cruzipain while reciprocally increasing the catalytic efficiency of the parasite protease, measured with synthetic peptides flanking the BK sites. Consistent with these results, heparan sulfate potentiated HK processing by cruzipain, generating multiple HK breakdown products and promoting accelerated kinin release (Figure 1B). Combined, these biochemical studies suggested that the substrate specificity of the parasite protease was re-directed as result of reciprocal interactions between sulfated proteoglycans with the substrate (HK) and protease (cruzipain) molecules (Lima et al., 2002), hence increasing the efficiency of the kinin-release reaction in peripheral sites of infection.

Previously characterized as a therapeutic target of Chagas disease (McKerrow et al., 2009), cruzipain is a remarkably versatile virulence factor of *T. cruzi*. Beyond activation of the KKS (see below), the proteolytic activity of cruzipain was implicated in mechanisms of parasite virulence/pathogenicity, such as lence/pathogenicity, such as (i) enhancement of trypomastigote invasion and intracellular replication of amastigotes in cardiomy-ocytes (Meirelles et al., 1992; Scharfstein et al., 2000), (ii) degradation of proinflammatory chemokines (Benítez-Hernández et al., 2010), and (iii) subversion of innate microbicidal responses in parasitized macrophages through interference with the activation of NF-κB (Doyle et al., 2011).

KININ RELEASE IN PERIPHERAL SITES OF *T. cruzi* INFECTION DEPENDS ON THE COOPERATIVE ROLES OF tGPI AND CRUZIPAIN

Vertebrate hosts may control infection by rapidly mobilizing soluble and cellular-based microbicidal systems that destroy pathogen

invaders at the cost of limited self-tissue destruction. Perturbations of steady-stated tissue homeostasis are sensed by sentinel cells of the innate immune system through specialized patternrecognition receptors (PRRs; Medzhitov and Janeway, 1997). In many infections, the activation of PRRs lead to rapid secretion of pre-formed vasoactive mediators by innate sentinel cells (e.g., eicosanoids, leukotrienes, chemokines, TNF- α), which then activate the endothelium lining, rendering them sticky for circulating neutrophils. Further downstream, vasoactive mediators generated/released at the neutrophil/endothelial interface impair the integrity of the endothelial barrier, hence opening the "flood gates" (DiStasi and Ley, 2009).

Studies in a mouse model of subcutaneous (footpad) infection provided the first evidence that Dm28c TCTs (tissue culture trypomastigotes) induce inflammatory edema through the activation of the kinin system (Todorov et al., 2003; Figure 2A). A footpad edema potentiated by the ACE inhibitor captopril was observed 2 h p.i. in wild-type B6 mice, but not in BK₂R-deficient mutants. Using pharmacological tools, we showed that the constitutively expressed BK2R orchestrated the early phase (2 h) edema, whereas BK₁R (acting in "cross-talk" with BK₂R) sustained the inflammatory response (24 h; Todorov et al., 2003). Intriguingly, Dm28c epimastigotes failed to induce a conspicuous inflammatory edema via the kinin pathway despite the fact that these vectorborne non-infective forms express abundant levels of cruzipain. In a subsequent study, it became clear, for reasons that will be explained further below, that cruzipain was necessary but not sufficient to generate kinins in hamster cheek pouch (HCP) topically exposed to Dm28c epimastigotes.

Insight of the functional interplay between Toll-like receptor (TLR)-driven innate responses and the KKS emerged from analysis of the mechanisms underlying TCT-evoked microvascular leakage responses induced by topically applying the pathogen to the HCP (Monteiro et al., 2006). This unconventional system proved advantageous because it dispensed the use of needle to inject parasites, hence avoiding activation of the KKS by bleeding and traumatic injury. Using intravital microscopy, we found that Dm28c TCTs induced discrete plasma leakage responses in the HCP within a few minutes of parasite application. Noteworthy, the microvascular reactions were attenuated by HOE-140 (BK₂R antagonist) or by pretreating the TCTs with an irreversible cruzipain inhibitor N-methyl-piperazine-Phe-homoPhe-vinyl sulfone (K11777), an anti-parasite drug that will be soon tested in clinical trials (Engel et al., 1998; McKerrow et al., 2009).

Monteiro et al. (2006) highlighted the fact that purified cruzipain (activated) topically applied to the HCP failed to induce significant plasma leakage even in the presence of ACE inhibitors. However, purified (activated) cruzipain induced a strong BK₂Rdriven leakage response when it was applied in combination to purified HK. The dependence on a supply of exogenous HK suggested that, in resting state conditions (i.e., in the absence of inflammation), the levels of endogenous kinin-precursor proteins in the interstitial spaces are insufficient to allow for significant activation of the kinin system. Based on these observations, Monteiro et al. (2006) predicted that Dm28c TCTs might bear developmentally regulated proinflammatory molecules (i.e., absent in Dm28c epimastigotes) which control the rate-limiting step of KKS activation in parasite-laden tissues: the influx of the plasmaborne kininogen (cruzipain substrate) into peripheral sites of *T. cruzi* infection (**Figure 2A**). Seeking to identify these factors, Monteiro et al. (2006) then turned their attention to tGPI, a mucin-linked lipid anchor previously characterized by Almeida and Gazzinelli (2001) as a TLR2 ligand that was expressed at highlevels exclusively in TCTs. Consistent with the working hypothesis, Dm28 TCTs failed to evoke inflammatory edema in TLR2^{-/-} mice or in BK₂R^{-/-} mice (Monteiro et al., 2006). In contrast, these infective parasites evoked a prominent edema both in wild-type mice and TLR4 mutant (C3H/HeJ). These results argued against a role for GIPL, a lipid anchor of epimastigotes previously characterized as TLR4 ligand (Oliveira et al., 2004), in the activation pathway that generates vasoactive kinins in peripheral sites of infection.

Next, Monteiro et al. (2006) studied the functional interplay between TLR2 and the KKS by injecting TLR2-deficient mice with a parasite suspension supplemented (or not) with purified HK. Strikingly, the injection of HK in infected TLR2^{-/-} mice rescued the edema response. Moreover, the edema responses which HK induced in TLR2^{-/-} infected mice were abolished by HOE-140, or alternatively, by pre-incubating the TCTs with the irreversible cruzipain inhibitor K11777. Combined, these results supported the hypothesis that TCTs induce the initial leakage/accumulation of the HK (cruzipain substrate) in peripheral tissues via TLR2, whereas cruzipain amplifies this inflammatory response through the release of BK₂R agonist, at the downstream end of the inflammatory cascade (**Figure 2A**).

In order to further confirm this hypothesis, Monteiro et al. (2006) injected (s.c.) purified tGPI, combined or not to activated cruzipain, in wild-type naïve mice or in TLR2^{-/-} or $BK_2R^{-/-}$ mutants. Edema measurements showed that tGPI/cruzipain potently induced microvascular responses via the TLR2/BK₂R-pathway and these proinflammatory effects were further potentiated by ACE inhibitors. Beyond their effects on the microcirculation, the released kinins link TLR2-driven inflammation to innate immunity by triggering BK₂R expressed on resident/migrating DCs, converting them into T_H1-directing antigen-presenting cells (APCs; Monteiro et al., 2006). Conversely, ACE counter-modulates T_H1-polarization via the trans-cellular the TLR2/BK₂R pathway by degrading BK/LBK, an endogenous signal that drives DC maturation (Aliberti et al., 2003; Monteiro et al., 2006, 2007; Scharfstein et al., 2007).

NEUTROPHIL LINKS TLR2/CXCR2 TO THE PROTEOLYTIC (KKS) PHASE OF INFLAMMATION

A key event at early stage of infection, the interaction of circulating neutrophils with the endothelium has profound effects on the outcome of the inflammatory process. One of the most common consequences of the interactions that take place on the luminal side of post-capillary vessels is the increased vascular permeability, a biological response that leads to the accumulation of protein-rich edema fluid in interstitial spaces. Although the list of endogenous soluble factors that increase vascular permeability is extensive, they usually impair the integrity of the endothelial barrier through the triggering of $[Ca^{2+}]_{I}$ – the via signaling of heterotrimeric



FIGURE 2 | Influence of interstitial edema on host/parasite balance in the myocardium: lessons from studies with the Dm28c strain of *T. cruzi*. (A) (1) Despite the scanty parasitism in the myocardium of chronic chagasic patients, parasite-containing pseudocysts occasionally burst, releasing high numbers of pro-inflammatory trypomastigotes into the surrounding interstitial spaces. (2) Innate sentinel cells, such as macrophages and/or mast cells, (Continued)

FIGURE 2 | Continued

initiate inflammation through the sensing of tGPI, a TLR2 ligands shed by trypomastigotes. (3) In response to TLR2 engagement, tissue macrophages release CXC chemokines, which in turn activate neutrophils/endothelium via CXCR2. (4) Vascular permeability is increased, leading to the diffusion/accumulation of plasma proteins (including kininogens) through parasite-laden interstitial spaces. Once bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans, HK suffers proteolytic attack by cruzipain (CZP) secreted by trypomastigotes. (5) The released kinins (LBK) amplify plasma leakage through the activation of endothelium BK₂R. The levels of intact kinins keep rising, despite the counter-regulatory role of ACE. (B) (6) Whether originating from plasma (following diffusion to sites of infection) or secreted by parasitized cardiomyocytes, ET-1 activates perivascular mast cells via ETAR. Upon degranulation, the mast cell release histamine (which further increases plasma leakage) and heparin, in the peripheral tissues. (7) The plasma "contact" phase system may be activated by mast cell-derived heparin and/or other negatively charged molecules of endogenous origin, such as DNA present in extracellular traps. Once activated by FXIIa, PKa releases BK from HK, thus propagating the proteolytic cascade. (8) Intact kinins are metabolized by kininase I (CPM and/or CPN), generating [des-Arg]-BK, which in turn activate BK1R (whose expression is up-regulated in a broad range of heart cells, including cardiomyocytes-shown at the center of the illustration). (9) The parasites take advantage of the local availability of infection-promoting peptides (ET1, BK and/or [des-Arg]-kinins) to persistently invade cardiovascular cells through the signaling ("cross-talk") between BK₂R/BK₁R/ET_AR/ET_BR. (10) Intracellular parasite outgrowth leads to increased expression of pro-oxidative/pro-fibrotic ET-1 and proinflammatory chemokines. (11) Adverse cardiac remodeling ensues, as result of vicious cycles of ET-1-driven triggering of cardiac mast cells. endothelial activation and BK1R-driven recruitment of pathogenic subsets of effector CD8⁺ T cells into the heart.

G-proteins, i.e., a pathway required to induce myosin-dependent contraction and junctional disruption of the endothelial cells.

In the HCP studies described in the previous section, Monteiro et al. (2006) observed that circulating leukocytes rapidly adhered to the luminal face of post-capillary venules. Complementary studies performed in neutrophil-depleted wild-type mice revealed that Dm28 TCTs failed to evoke a conspicuous edema in these animals. Similar to the pharmacological maneuvers employed with $TLR2^{-/-}$ mice, already described, the deficient phenotype of neutrophil-depleted mice was rescued upon injection of TCT supplemented with HK (Monteiro et al., 2006). Collectively, these results supported the concept that neutrophils, acting at the early stages of the inflammatory response, link innate immunity (TLR2-driven) to the KKS by driving the diffusion/accumulation of plasma-borne kininogens into parasite-laden tissues (**Figure 2A**).

In a subsequent study, Schmitz et al. (2009) investigated whether macrophages could also play a role in the trans-cellular "cross-talk" mediated by TLR2/BK₂R. First, they asked whether macrophages incubated with TCTs or tGPI *in vitro* stimulated the secretion of CXC chemokines (KC/MIP-2). The results revealed that wild-type macrophages robustly responded to Dm28c TCTs (but not to epimastigotes), whereas TLR2^{-/-} macrophages were unresponsive to both stimuli. Turning to the HCP model, intravital microscopy studies showed that the drug repertaxin (CXCR2 antagonist) blocked leukocyte accumulation in the microvascular beds of HCP topically exposed to TCTs and inhibited the paw edema in *T. cruzi*-infected mice (Schmitz et al., 2009). Collectively,

these findings supported the concept that Dm28c TCTs evoke inflammatory edema via the TLR2/CXCR2/BK₂R axis, a sequential pathway of activation forged by the trans-cellular "cross-talk" of tissue resident macrophages, neutrophils and the endothelium (**Figure 2A**).

FURTHER EXPANSION OF THE INFLAMMATORY WAVE: THE CONVERGENCE BETWEEN ENDOTHELIN AND KININ PATHWAYS

Encoded by distinct genes, ET-1, 2, and 3 are closely related peptides expressed by endothelial cells, cardiac myocytes, and cardiac fibroblasts (Goto, 2001; Kedzierski and Yanagisawa, 2001). Synthesized as pre-pro-endothelin, these precursor proteins are cleaved by ET-converting enzymes (ECE) forming big-endothelin, which upon further processing yields 21 amino acids ET peptides that activate cardiovascular cells via GPCRs subtypes, ET_AR and ET_BR (Dhaun et al., 2007).

Apart from its powerful vasoconstrictor effects, the pleiotropic ET-1 induces plasma exudation (Filep et al., 1993; Sampaio et al., 2000). Hemodynamic changes such as those provoked by shear stress are sensed by the endothelium, which responds by activating eNOS and early up-regulating ET-1 mRNA. Once released, NO and ET-1 modulate tissue homeostasis extravascularly through the activation of other cell types, such as mast cells (Maurer et al., 2004).

Recently, Andrade et al. (2012) investigated the functional interplay between the kinin and ETs pathways at the early stages of infection by Dm28c TCTs. Remarkably, the application of subtype-specific antagonists of ET_AR or ET_BR, or the BK₂R antagonist (HOE-140) on the HCP prior to TCTs markedly reduced (~70%) leukocyte accumulation in microvascular beds. In addition, these endothelin receptor (ETR) antagonists blunted plasma leakage in the hamster cheek pouch and blocked the inflammatory edema in *T. cruzi*-infected mice. Collectively, these results indicated that ETRs (both subtypes) and BKRs, may propagate the inflammatory wave intiated via TLR2/CXCR2 through the proteolytic activation of the KKS.

MAST CELLS MAY COUPLE TLR2 TO ETRs/BKRs-DRIVEN PATHWAYS OF INFLAMMATION

Levick et al. (2010) have recently drawn attention to the importance of cardiac mast cells in adverse myocardial remodeling. Given the precedent that mast cells sense *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* via TLR2 (Carlos et al., 2009), Andrade et al. (2012) have speculated that Dm28c TCTs may directly activate ET-positive mast cells (Ehrenreich et al., 1992) via TLR2, perhaps upregulating the extravascular levels of ETs in the chagasic myocardium. Although plausible, the pathogenic role of TLR2-positive cardiac mast cells in CCM was not object of systematic investigations so far. Focusing on other aspects of chagasic pathology, Meuser-Batista et al. (2011) have recently reported that cardiac mast cells die by apoptosis in CBA-infected mice, presumably reflecting reduced production of stem cell factor in chagasic heart.

Studies in other disease settings have shown that ET-1 activates ET_AR -positive mast cells in autocrine manner, inducing secretion of potent vasoactive mediators, such as histamine,

leukotriene C4 (Yamamura et al., 1994), and TNF- α (Coulombe et al., 2002). Of further interest, there is evidence that ET-1 induces metalloproteinase-driven ventricular remodeling in models of chronic heart pressure/volume overload (Murray et al., 2004; Janicki et al., 2006) and modulate cardiac contractility through the induction of mast cell degranulation via ET_AR (Eszlári et al., 2008). Although the role of the ET-1/mast cell axis was not directly investigated in CCM, there is evidence that plasma levels of ET-1 are elevated both in chagasic patients and experimentally infected mice (Petkova et al., 2000; Salomone et al., 2001), presumably reflecting increased shear stress or other infection-associated hemodynamic alterations in these individuals. Furthermore, as highlighted earlier in this text, the expression of ETs is upregulated in parasitized cardiomyocytes (Tanowitz et al., 2005). Thus, irrespective of the source of ET-1, it is conceivable that the sudden rise in the extravascular levels of this potent prooxidative mediator may lead to the activation of perivascular ET_AR-positive mast cells in the chagasic heart. According to this hypothetical scenario, mast cell degranulation via ET_AR may release histamine, chemokines, along with a myriad of vasoactive mediators, in the parasite-ladden cardiac tissues (Figure 2B). More recently, Nascimento et al. (2012) have started to investigate this hypothesis by interfering with mast cell function in HCP topically exposed to Dm28 TCTs. Using mast cell stabilizers, we found that plasma leakage (BK2R-driven) was indeed inhibited, thus suggesting that mast cell degranulation is required for overt activation of the KKS in peripheral sites of chagasic infection (Figure 2B).

Thus far, the mechanisms by which mast cells may propagate the KKS cascade in peripheral sites of *T. cruzi* infection remain unknown. In an interesting precedent coming from mouse models of allergic inflammation, Oschatz et al. (2011) have recently proposed that heparin (a mast cell storage product) acts as a typical endogenous "contact" activator, i.e., it activates PKa in FXIIa/HK-dependent manner, thereby releasing BK. Alternatively, parasite-induced activation of cardiac mast cells may activate the KKS through the formation of DNA-containing extracellular traps (von Köckritz-Blickwede et al., 2008). Further studies may determine if the ET/mast cell/KKS pathway plays an important role in the pathogenesis of CCM.

BK₂R IS ESSENTIAL FOR DEVELOPMENT OF ACQUIRED IMMUNE RESISTANCE TO CHAGASIC INFECTION

Comprising a heterogeneous population of professional APCs, DCs are widely but sparsely distributed in peripheral tissues and lymphoid organs (Shortman and Naik, 2007). Strategically positioned in T cell-rich areas of secondary lymphoid tissues, the resident DCs are specialized in antigen-presentation to $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells. In steady-state conditions, immature DCs present MHC-restricted antigen peptides to virgin T cells in the absence of co-stimulatory molecules, hence contributing to the maintenance of peripheral tolerance (Sela et al., 2011). However, during infection, the immature DCs sense "danger" motifs expressed by pathogens through distinct families of PRRs, such as TLRs or intracellular NOD2-like receptors (NLR; Akira, 2009). In addition, conventional DCs may sense the threat to tissue integrity via receptors for endogenous proinflammatory mediators, such

as ATP, uric acid (Sansonetti, 2006), and BK (Aliberti et al., 2003; Monteiro et al., 2007). Stabilized by cognate interactions with co-stimulatory molecules (CD80/86, CD40, and MHC), the prolonged encounters between antigen-bearing DCs and naïve T cells are essential for TCR activation. During the course of DC/T cell interaction, the "mature" APCs deliver T_H polarizing cytokines, such as IL-12p-70, which is critically required for T_H1 development.

Efforts to characterize the activation pathways controlling DC maturation in the context of T. cruzi infection have initially converged to nucleic acid-sensing TLRs (3, 7, and 9). In a key study, Caetano et al. (2011) showed that transgenic mice strains which lack functional UNC93B1 as well as functional endosomal TLRs (TLR3, 7, and 9), were as susceptible to T. cruzi infection as mice deficient in TLR3/7/9 (Caetano et al., 2011). In the same study, it was documented that T. cruzi-infected macrophages and DCs from 3 day mice displayed low IL-12p40 and INF-y responses. Based on these results, it was inferred that recognition of intracellular parasites require UNC93B1-driven translocation of the nuclei acid-sensing TLRs from the endoplasmic reticulum to the endolysosomes (Caetano et al., 2011). In spite of this conceptual advance, other studies suggest that DCs might sense T. cruzi through TLR-independent pathways. For example, Kayama et al. (2009) showed that T. cruzi induces maturation (up-regulation of MHC class II, CD40, and CD86) of MyD88^{-/-}TRIF^{-/-} mice bone-marrow-derived DCs as efficiently as wild-type bone-marrow-derived DCs. Using fetal liver DCs as target cells, these authors linked the T. cruziinduced responses (IFN-y production and DC maturation) to the activation of the NFATc1 pathway. These results implied that innate immunity is not exclusively controlled by nucleic acidsensing TLRs.

Several years ago, we reported that that BK, acting as a typical endogenous danger signal (i.e., T_H1-directed endogenous adjuvant) induced DC maturation (IL-12 and up-regulated expression of co-stimulatory molecules) via BK₂R (Aliberti et al., 2003). In a key finding, we subsequently reported that BK₂R-deficient mice succumbed to acute challenge by Dm28c TCTs (i.p. route). Analysis of the immune dysfunctions underlying the susceptible phenotype of $BK_2R^{-/-}$ mice at early stages of infection showed a modest, but significant drop in the frequency of intracardiac type-1 effector T cells. Intriguingly, however, as the acute infection progressed in $BK_2R^{-/-}$ mice, the immune deficiency was intensified and generalized, involving both the extra-lymphoid and lymphoid compartment. Of note, the decayed T_H1 response of $BK_2R^{-/-}$ was accompanied by a corresponding rise in IL-17producing T cells ($T_H 17$). The premise that the deficient adaptive response of $BK_2R^{-/-}$ mice was a secondary manifestation resulting from impaired $BK_2R^{-/-}$ DC maturation was confirmed by systemically injecting wild-type BK₂R^{+/+} DCs into the susceptible $BK_2R^{-/-}$ mice, prior to pathogen injection. Remarkably, this DC transfer maneuver rendered the recipient $BK_2R^{-/-}$ mice resistant to acute T. cruzi challenge, and restored their capability to generate protective IFN-y-producing CD4+ CD44+ and CD8⁺ CD44⁺ effector T cells, while conversely suppressing the potentially detrimental T_H17 (CD4⁺ subset) anti-parasite responses.

In the same study, Monteiro et al. (2007) further demonstrated that Dm28c TCTs potently activated BK2R+/+ CD11c+ DCs (splenic origin) but not $BK_2R^{-/-}$ DCs, using IL-12 secretion and expression of co-stimulatory molecules (CD86, CD80, CD40) as read-out for DC maturation in vitro. Of further interest, K11777treated trypomastigote failed to robustly activate wild-type DCs, thus linking generation of the BK₂R agonist (DC maturation signal) to the proteolytic activity of cruzipain. Noteworthy, Dm28c TCTs also induced the maturation of (splenic) $TLR2^{-/-}$ CD11c⁺ DCs and TLR4 mutant (C3H/HeJ) via BK₂R, thus precluding cooperative signaling between this GPCR and either one of these surface PRRs. Admittedly, these results do not exclude the possibility that enhanced parasite uptake via the BK₂R pathway might have indirectly facilitated nucleic acid-sensing by TLRs residing in endolysosomes of immature splenic DCs. In any case, whether acting as a classical sensor receptor, and/or as a upstream pathway that potentiates TLR-signaling by parasite DNA or ssRNA, these results are in line with the concept that kinin "danger" signals proteolytically released by TCTs convert splenic $BK_2R^{+/+}$ DCs into inducers of type 1 immunity (Monteiro et al., 2007). Considering that the splenic parenchyma is continuously exposed to plasma proteins, it is conceivable that flagellated trypomastigotes navigating through the splenic stroma might be faced with abundant levels of blood-borne kininogens, most likely associated to ECM or cellsurface sulfated proteoglycans. Accordingly, we may predict that antigen-bearing CD11c⁺ DCs (bearing *T. cruzi* antigens) residing in the spleen (and/or liver) stroma are converted into T_H1 inducers following exposure to high-levels of kinin "danger" signals. To this date, studies of BK2R function in human DCs were limited to lineages derived from monocytes exposed to granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)/IL-4. Using this experimental model, Bertram et al. (2007) reported that BK2R signaling promotes DC migration although BK, per se, did not induce the maturation of human DCs. However, in subsequent studies Kaman et al. (2009) suggested that BK₂R signaling potentiates the maturation of DCs previously "primed" via TLR4. In view of the marked phenotypic heterogeneity of DCs (Shortman and Naik, 2007), studies with a more representative range of human DCs are required to determine whether BK₂R is a key sensor of T. cruzi.

In conclusion, the analysis of BK_2R function in different models of acute *T. cruzi* infection strongly suggests that activation of the kinin system fuels anti-parasite immunity. In the next section we will review evidences indicating that generation of kinins in sites of infection may also benefit *T. cruzi*, hence translating into mutual benefits to the host–parasite equilibrium.

TCTs RELY ON CRUZIPAIN ACTIVITY TO INVADE CARDIOVASCULAR CELLS VIA THE BK₂R PATHWAY

As mentioned earlier, studies of *T. cruzi* interaction with mouse cardiomyocytes showed that membrane-permeable irreversible inhibitors of cruzipain impaired trypomastigote invasion and halted intracellular growth of amastigotes (Meirelles et al., 1992). While the studies on cruzipain-mediated pathways of invasion were in progress, Tardieux et al. (1992) reported that *T. cruzi* invades non-phagocytic cells through the induction of calcium-regulated pathway of lysosomal exocytosis. Subsequent studies

revealed that the oligopeptidase B-mediated processing of a polypeptide precursor accumulating in the T. cruzi cytoplasm generated the calcium-inducing signal (Caler et al., 1998; Morty et al., 1999) that propelled parasite internalization. In a parallel development, Leite et al. (1998) reported evidences that GPCRs were the signal transducers of the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ -inducing signals generated by the oligopeptidase B-dependent peptide. Consistent with their working hypothesis, parasites genetically deficient in oligopeptidase B showed impaired infectivity, suggesting that proteolytic generation of the cytoplasmic Ca²⁺-inducing signal was indeed required for the development of infective phenotype. In another interesting study, Santana et al. (1997) described the biochemical properties of Tc80, a serine protease displaying collagenase activity. Subsequently characterized as a prolyl oligopeptidase, Tc80 localizes in a vesicular compartment close to the flagellar pocket of trypomastigotes. Synthetic inhibitors of Tc80 potently inhibited T. cruzi (Y strain) invasion of non-phagocytic cells without interfering with the [Ca²⁺]_i-inducing activity of parasite extracts (Grellier et al., 2001).

Further exploring the role of cruzipain as a virulent factor, Scharfstein et al. (2000) reported that activation of BK₂R potentiated parasite uptake by non-phagocytic cells. Whether using CHO transfected cells, human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), primary cultures of mouse (neonatal) cardiomyocytes (Todorov et al., 2003), or primary culture of human smooth muscle cells (HSMCs; Andrade et al., 2012), these studies indicated that the parasites relied on cruzipain activity to generate a $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$ inducing signal (BK₂R agonist) from HK displayed on host cell surfaces. Although the genetic ablation of the multicopy cruzipain genes remained a technical obstacle, experiments performed with membrane-permeable irreversible inhibitors of cruzipain and parasites overexpressing the cruzipain gene strongly suggested that the trypomastigotes critically depended on the enzymatic activity of cruzipain to stimulate parasite uptake by BK₂R-positive target cells (Scharfstein et al., 2000). The authors hypothesized that upon trypomastigote attachment (posterior end) to host cell surfaces, the enzymatically active forms of cruzipain - localized in the flagellar pocket (Murta et al., 1990; Souto-Padrón et al., 1990) - rapidly diffuse into the secluded spaces formed by the juxtaposed host/parasite membranes (Scharfstein et al., 2000). Once confined to "synapses" (Tyler et al., 2005; Butler and Tyler, 2012), the active protease should be protected from targeting by natural inhibitors, such as cystatins, soluble forms of kininogens (Stoka et al., 1998), and α2-macroglobulin (Araújo-Jorge et al., 1994; Morrot et al., 1997) present in interstitial fluids. Considering that BK₂R is sequestered to membrane rafts/caveolae (de Weerd and Leeb-Lundberg, 1997; Haasemann et al., 1998), we hypothesized that surface-bound HK (cruzipain substrate) may translocate in the plasma membrane before being delivered to the site of synapse (Figure 3), thus ensuring efficient kinin release/BK₂R-mediated signal transduction (Scharfstein et al., 2000; Santos et al., 2006; Scharfstein and Andrade, 2011; Andrade et al., 2012).

While analyzing the outcome of infection in cultures of HUVECs (resting state), we found that BK_2R did not promote parasite uptake in the absence of ACE inhibitors. This was not unexpected, because expression of ACE, a transmembrane



(left side of panel) might be incorporated into the molecular platforms that coalesce around ceramide-enriched vesicles generated by the housekeeping mechanisms of plasma membrane repair from cellular wounds. According to Fernandes and Andrews, extracellular calcium influx resulting from cell wounds (center of panel) trigger Ca²⁺-regulated lysosomal exocytosis, which in turn leads to the secretion of acid sphingomyelinase (ASM). Acting pericellularly, ASM generates ceramide-enriched endocytic vesicles. Next, BKRs, ETRs, along with several other GPCRs partners and several accessory signaling molecules translocate from lipid rafts/caveolae into the ceramide-platforms. In the resting state, signal transduction via

hetero-oligomers in multimolecular platforms coalescing in ceramideenriched vesicles. During inflammation, the repertoire of GPCRs in the ceramide-rich endocytic vesicles is modified by the incorporation of inducible molecules, such as BK₁R and CPM. ET-1 (host cell origin/ autocrine route) and des-Arg-kinins (released from surface bound HK by cruzipain, then subsequently metabolized by CPM) bind to their respective GPCRs (ET_AR/ET_BR and BK₁Rs). Feedback cycles might enhance the efficiency of the housekeeping plasma-membrane repair mechanisms via BKR/ETR-driven (i) induction of the canonical pathway of Ca²⁺-regulated lysosomal exocytosis and/or (ii) induction of the calcium-dependent lysosomal fusion with the nascent parasitophorous vacuole (Andrade and Andrews, 2004) and/or PIK3-dependent retention signals (Woolsey and Burleigh, 2004).

metallopeptidase that potently degrades intact kinins, is strongly upregulated by endothelial cells. As predicted, BK₂R-dependent parasite uptake by HUVECs is potentiated by ACE inhibitors (Scharfstein et al., 2000; Todorov et al., 2003; Andrade et al., 2012).

Noteworthy, ACE inhibitors were not essential for BK_2R driven parasite invasion of cardiomyocytes or smooth muscle cells (Todorov et al., 2003; Andrade et al., 2012). Although the levels of ACE were not measured, it is likely that these muscle cells express lower levels of ACE as compared to HUVECs. Along similar lines, TCTs induced IL-12 responses on splenic CD11c⁺ DCs via BK₂R irrespective of presence/absence of ACE inhibitors (Monteiro et al., 2007). In summary, the outcome of Dm28c TCT interaction with cells that constitutively express BK₂R is controlled by ACE in cell-specific manner.

THE INDUCIBLE BK1R: A UBIQUITOUS GATEWAY FOR *T. cruzi* INVASION OF INFLAMED TISSUES?

A major challenge in Chagas disease research is to predict the clinical outcome of the chronic cardiomyopathy. About 30% of these patients develop a progressive form of cardiomyopathy characterized by the presence of diffused inflammation/fibrosis. As mentioned in the introduction, pathologists noticed the presence of microvascular abnormalities and altered ECM patterns in the heart of CCM patients (Higuchi et al., 1999). To our knowledge, BK1R expression was not systematically investigated in heart autopsy studies of chagasic patients despite the indications that dysregulated BK1R function might be detrimental to the heart in other disease models. For example, in animal models of STZ-induced diabetic cardiomyopathy (Westermann et al., 2009), BK1R-deficient mice showed attenuated cardiomyopathy as compared to wild-type mice, as evidenced by the decrease of cardiac inflammation, fibrosis, oxidative stress, and significant improvement of left ventricular function. Pertinent to studies linking heart remodeling to the ET up-regulation by parasitized cardiomyocytes (Tanowitz et al., 2005), there is indication that oxidative stress induced by ET-1 (ET_AR-driven) and angiotensin I (AT₁-driven) up-regulates BK1R, leading to activation of PI3K and MAPK in smooth muscle (Morand-Contant et al., 2010). Although not directly examined, it is conceivable that NF-KB-induction by proinflammatory cytokines secreted by antigen-specific intracardiac CD8⁺ T cells (Padilla et al., 2009; Silverio et al., 2012) might also up-regulate BK₁R in the chagasic heart.

Todorov et al. (2003) were the first to demonstrate that Dm28 TCTs evoke interstitial edema via the sequential activation of BK_2R/BK_1R . In the same study, they highlighted the dichotomic nature of kinin signaling pathways: the parasites were able to invade activated target cells via the BK_1R/CPM pathway (**Figure 1B**). Differently from results observed in resting HUVECs (which critically depend on ACE blockade to efficiently internalize TCTs via BK_2R), the trypomastigotes invade lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-treated HUVECs through interdependent signaling ("cross-talk") between BK_1R and BK_2R (Todorov et al., 2003). Notably, the "cross-talk" between BK_2R and BK_1R was also observed in invasion assays performed with primary mouse cardiomyocytes (Todorov et al., 2003), which are cell types that spontaneously express BK_1R in culture systems.

Although studies with non-specific kininase I inhibitors have tentatively linked BK1R-dependent parasite uptake to the processing activity of these carboxypeptidases, the role of the transmembrane carboxypeptidase CPM was not directly addressed in the above studies. As mentioned in the introduction, BK₂R agonists (BK/LBK) are converted into the BK₁R agonists (i.e., [des-Arg]-BK/LBK) either by surface CPM or by a soluble (plasma-borne) CPM (Figure 1A and Figure 2B). Since the interaction medium used in our invasion assays was free of serum, it seemed unlikely that CPN was the processing enzyme critically involved in BK1R-driven parasite invasion of LPS-HUVECs or cardiomyocytes. Instead, we inferred that CPM is likely the enzyme generating the BK1R agonist that propels parasite invasion in our in vitro assays. Interestingly, Sangsree et al. (2003) studied the functional interplay between CPM and BK1R in great details in human lung microvascular cells activated by IL-1β

and IFN- γ . First, they showed that BK₁R signaling is responsible for the sustained NO response induced by intact BK (BK₂R agonist), implying that CPM converted the intact BK into [des-Arg]-kinins. Using cells transfected with genes conding for CPM and BK1R, the authors disrupted lipid rafts with methyl-betacyclodextrin (MBCD). As predicted, this maneuver reduced the BK₁R-dependent increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in response to stimulation with intact BK₂R agonists, whereas addition of cholesterol rescued this BK1R-driven response. After showing that CPM and BK1R co-localized in lipid raft/caveolin-enriched membrane fractions (Zhang et al., 2008), they found that CPM/BK₁R physically interact on the cell membrane, based on co-immunoprecipitation, cross-linking, and fluorescence resonance energy transfer analysis. In an elegant experiment using a novel fusion protein containing CPM at the N-terminus of the BK1R, Zhang et al. (2008) showed that these transfected cells were $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responsive upon stimulation with intact kinins, but (as predicted) this response was no longer impaired by MβCD or by CPM antibody.

As already mentioned, in invasion assays performed with LPS-HUVECs or cardiomyocytes, we found that ACE inhibitors were not required to promote parasite uptake via BK₁R, as opposed to the ACE inhibitor-dependent phenotype displayed by resting HUVECs (Todorov et al., 2003; Andrade et al., 2012). This implies that CPM-dependent generation of the BK1R is prioritized over the ACE-dependent pathway of BK/LBK degradation, hence consistent with the findings reported by Zhang et al. (2008). Since both CPM/BK1R and BK1R/BK2R are sequestered into lipid rafts and/or caveolae, it is conceivable that these GPCRs segregate together with HK (bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans) into specialized plasma membrane microdomains (Figure 3). Of further interest, although BK₂R and BK₁R signal cells through fairly similar intracellular pathways, the regulation of inducible BK1R differs from BK₂R in that the former is desensitized upon agonist binding only to a limited degree (Enquist et al., 2007).

BKRs AND ETRS AS GATEWAYS FOR INVASION OF CARDIOVASCULAR CELLS: FUNCTIONAL LINK WITH THE SPHINGOMYELINASE-DEPENDENT PLASMA MEMBRANE PATHWAY?

In a previous section, we reviewed results of studies showing that Dm28c TCTs induce inflammatory edema through mechanisms involving cooperation between BKRs and ETRs (Andrade et al., 2012). To evaluate whether the parasites could exploit the ET pathway for invasion purposes, Andrade et al. (2012) studied the interaction of Dm28c TCTs with three types of host cells: HUVECs (which only express ET_BR), primary cultures of HSMCs (which express ET_AR and ET_BR), and mouse neonatal cardiomyocytes (expressing both subtypes of ETRs). Using multiple pharmacological tools (subtype-specific ETR antagonists; neutralizing antibodies for each GPCR) and, in addition, interference RNA, Andrade et al. (2012) demonstrated that TCTs invade "resting" HUVECs via ET_BR, while invasion of the muscle cells involved activation of both subtypes of ETRs. Notably, the combined treatment of the muscle cell cultures with ETAR and ETBR subtype-specific antagonists failed to decrease parasite infectivity of HSMC or cardiomyocytes over values induced by the individual drugs, thus recapitulating the "cross-talk" observed between BK2R/BK1R in cardiomyocytes or LPS-HUVECs (Todorov et al., 2003). Importantly, studies with CHO-ETAR or CHO-ETBR-transfected cells demonstrated that parasite invasion was efficiently blocked in subtype receptor specific manner, implying that formation of ET_AR/ET_BR heterodimers, "per se," is not an absolute requirement for parasite entry. Since G-protein-coupled B2R and ETR compartmentalize in lipid rafts/caveolae (de Weerd and Leeb-Lundberg, 1997; Bremnes et al., 2000; Okamoto et al., 2000; Harada et al., 2002; Ostrom, 2002), we reasoned that in transfected mammalian cells the density levels of any particular GPCR (in lipid rafts/caveolae) might be well above those found in target host cell types that naturally overexpress these receptors (Andrade et al., 2012). If true, in natural muscle cells, the reduced proportion of any given subtype of GPCR may be compensated by cooperative interactions involving physical association with alternative GPCR "partners." Assuming that ligand generation is not a limiting factor, this "space-filling model" predicts that GPCRs that might be present at higher density in such microdomains should have a better chance to coordinate signaling responses upon ligand binding, as seems to be the case for BK₂R, ET_AR, and ET_BR (Andrade et al., 2012; Figure 3).

Although we did not prove that BK_2R , ET_AR , and ET_BR form homo or hetero-oligomers of higher order in host cell attachment sites, our pharmacological studies support this possibility. Whether using subtype-specific GPCR antagonists, neutralizing antibodies, or iRNA interference (ET_AR), our results showed that parasite invasion was inhibited roughly to the same extent. Furthermore, we did not observe additive effects by combining receptor subtype antagonists or iRNA approaches. These results suggested that pharmacological blockade of one GPCR partner is sufficient to dismantle the signaling function of entire unit, consequently reducing parasite internalization in 40–60% (Andrade et al., 2012).

Several years ago, it was demonstrated that cholesteroldepleting drugs reduce host cell susceptibility to T. cruzi infection (Fernandes et al., 2007). In a subsequent study, we explored the possibility that BKRs and ETRs compartmentalize in lipid rafts/caveolae, by treating HSMCs with MBCD (Andrade et al., 2012). As predicted, the cholesterol-depleting drug drastically reduced parasite (Dm28c) entry in HSMCs whereas addition of exogenous cholesterol to MBCD-HSMCs restored ET_AR/ET_BR/BK₂R-dependent pathways of T. cruzi invasion. Although the physical association of these GPCRs was not demonstrated at the molecular level, these results suggest that the cross-talk between ETRs and BK2R may critically depend on the integrity of lipid rafts/caveolae (Figure 3). Interestingly, confocal microscopy studies performed with antibodies to anti-ETAR or anti-ET_BR showed that parasite-cell interaction sites contained increased clusters of these GPCRs. These results are consistent with the concept that ET-1 and "kinins" activate their cognate GPCRs in lipid rafts/caveolae, perhaps translocated to synaptic sites (Scharfstein et al., 2000). As explained below, it is also possible that ET-1, ET precursors and HK (bound to heparan sulfate) exert their functional roles as agonists and/or precursors of GPCR ligands after their internalization in ceramide-enriched vesicles (Figure 3).

In a breakthrough, Fernandes et al. (2011) and Fernandes and Andrews (2012) elaborated a unified mechanistic concept for parasite invasion of non-phagocytic host cells which nicely embraced two seemingly distinct internalization routes (Andrade and Andrews, 2004; Woolsey and Burleigh, 2004), the first one driven by calcium-regulated lysosomal exocytosis, leading to plasma membrane fusion and a lysosomal-independent pathway involving parasite entry though nascent parasitophorous vacuoles. In this unified mechanism of infection, trypomastigotes invade host cells by subverting a housekeeping mechanism of repair from cell wounds which crucially depends on acid sphingomyelinase (ASM)-driven formation of ceramide-enriched endocytic vesicles. Triggered by the formation of stable lesions in the host plasma membrane, the repair response is initiated by the influx of extracellular calcium. This event in turn leads to calcium-regulated lysosomal exocytosis and ASM secretion to the extracellular environment. Further downstream, ASM cleaves the polar head group of sphingomyelin, generating ceramide. The repair process is terminated by the formation of endocytic vesicles, which then reseal the original plasma membrane lesions as they internalize. T. cruzi trypomastigotes are thought to inflict plasma membrane injuries upon adherence of the vibrant flagellum/cell body to the cell surface. Invasion "per se" occurs after the formation of ceramide-rich endocytic vesicles (Fernandes et al., 2011).

Although we have not provided direct evidence that BK₂R, BK₁R, ET_AR, ET_BR are translocated from lipid and/or caveolar microdomains into ceramide rafts of muscle cells (HSMC or cardiomyocytes) or HUVECs, this possibility deserves to be explored in light of evidence that ceramide-enriched microdomains spontaneously fuse to generate large macrodomains containing receptor clusters in multimolecular platforms (Jin et al., 2008). Using endothelial cells derived from coronary arteries, these authors reported that Fas-ligand driven activation of death receptor mediates the formation of redox signaling platforms in lipid rafts via ceramide production by ASM-driven hydrolysis of sphingomyelin. They also showed that formation of ceramide-enriched signaling platforms was canceled in endothelial cells treated with inhibitors of lysosomal function. In other words, the requirements for the formation of multimolecular signaling platforms in ceramide rafts of endothelial cells seem to recapitulate the requirements for parasite invasion via the house-keeping mechanisms of repair from cell wounds described by Fernandes and Andrews (2012). According our "space-filling model" (Figure 3), the signal transduction responses coordinated by these various GPCRs (e.g,., BK₂R/ET_AR/ET_BR) may either occur (i) within the synaptic sites formed soon after adhesion and/or (ii) after translocation of these GPCRs into ceramide rafts, hence integrating the above mentioned multimolecular signaling platforms. Sufficiently flexible, this GPCR-dependent model of parasite internalization is compatible with linear or converging activation pathways. For example, the linear activation mode predicts that specific GPCR subtypes are differentially targeted to lipid rafts/caveolae or to ceramide-enriched vesicles and/or to nascent parasitophorous vacuoles (Figure 3). Once translocated to nascent parasitophorous vacuoles, some of these GPCR subtypes may generate parasite retention signals through PI3K-dependent remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton (Woolsey and Burleigh, 2004), and/or drive calcium-dependent lysosomal fusion to parasitophorous vacuole (Andrade and Andrews, 2004). Multiple contacts with the pathogen and signals transmitted by soluble agonists available at high levels in the edematous extracellular environment, such as ETs, BK, DABK, may then fuel parasite uptake *in vivo* through converging signaling pathways.

The possibility that these GPCRs might serve as gateways for T. cruzi infection of heart cells is worth exploring. According to Fernandes and Andrews (2012), T. cruzi propensity to invade muscle cells is dictated by the need of muscle cells to constantly repair sarcolemma injuries via the Ca²⁺-regulated pathway of lysosomal exocytosis and ASM-driven ceramide generation (McNeil and Steinhardt, 2003). Future studies may clarify whether the signals that promote parasite uptake by cardiomyocytes via interdependent signaling of (BK₂R/ET_AR/ET_BR) may increase the efficiency of the house-keeping mechanisms of muscle cell repair from sarcolemma wounds. If confirmed, the convergence of housekeeping and GPCR-mediated signaling pathways may translate into mutual benefits to the host/parasite relationship, at least so during the indeterminate stage of chronic infection. Interestingly, the concept that BK₂R signaling is protective to the heart tissues is supported by evidences that this pathway restores S2a-mediated sacroplasmatic Ca²⁺ uptake (Tschöpe et al., 2005; Spillmann et al., 2006). As chronic pathology evolves, perhaps the harmonious trade-off between parasite and cardiac muscle is gradually compromised owing to the ubiquitous up-regulation of BK1R by heart cells, including cardiomyocytes, cardiac fibroblasts, and inflammatory and/or TGF-β (regulatory/pro-fibrotic) macrophages. Flares of plasma leakage elicited by trypomastigotes occasionally released by from ruptured pseudocysts may propitiate the rise of extravascular levels of [des-Arg]-BK/LBK (BK1R agonists) and ET-1. Furthermore, the extravascular levels of ET-1 are further elevated as result of up-regulated expression of this the pro-oxidative mediator by parasitized cardiomyocytes (Tanowitz et al., 2005). A vicious cycle may be installed, favoring parasite entry in heart cells via the ET_AR/ET_BR/BK₁R pathway at expense of increased inflammation and adverse cardiac remodeling (Figure 2B).

HOST/PARASITE BALANCE, KKS AND THE PHENOTYPIC VARIABILITY OF *T. cruzi* SPECIES

The characterization of molecular determinants of pathogenic outcome is a major goal of basic and clinical research on CCM. Although the phenotype of the Dm28c may not be faithfully reproduced by every isolate of the highly polymorphic T. cruzi species, currently segregated into six DTUs (I-VI; Zingales et al., 2009), we may anticipate that comparative studies with other isolates should offer clues to understand the molecular determinant of pathogenicity of T. cruzi. For example, it will be interesting to know whether parasite strains belonging to particular DTUs share (or not) the ability to induce inflammatory edema through the cooperative activation of the TLR2/CXCR2/BKR2R/BK1R/ETAR/ETBR pathway. Although the expansion/contraction of this proteolytic cascade must certainly depend on additional parasite and host factors, the few players so far identified may help to investigate the phenotypic variability of natural T. cruzi populations. For example, strain-dependent variability on the expression levels of tGPI or, alternatively, in the extent of obscure mechanisms controlling shedding of lipid vesicles enriched with tGPI-linked mucins (Trocoli-Torrecilhas et al., 2009) might influence the trypomastigote ability to activate the KKS (Scharfstein and Andrade, 2011)

Alternative T. cruzi ligands are also known to activate innate sentinel cells through TLR4 (Oliveira et al., 2010), TLR9 (Bafica et al., 2006), or NOD1 (Silva et al., 2010), but it is presently unknown whether these pathways may interconnect to the KKS. Interestingly, Petersen et al. (2005) implicated TLR2 as the main upstream regulator of hypertrophy which T. cruzi trigger in isolated cardiomyocytes. On the other hand, T. cruzi strains that might express/shed higher levels of tGPI might somewhat blunt this potentially adverse phenotype by favoring low-grade release of cardioprotective kinins via cruzipain as described by Monteiro et al., 2006. In the chronic settings, the benefits of anti-apoptotic effects attributed to purified cruzipain (Aoki Mdel et al., 2006) and BK₂R signaling (Chao et al., 2008) may be offset by the upregulation of BK₁R, a pathway that may synergize with TLR2 and ET_AR, hence fueling inflammatory edema (Figure 2) and cardiac hypertrophy in chronically infected patients.

Another mechanism that may underlie the variable phenotype of T. cruzi strains is the variable expression profiles of cruzipain isoforms (Lima et al., 2001). For example, it is well established that cruzipain 2 (Dm28c strain) has narrow substrate specificity as compared to the major cruzipain isoform, i.e., the parasite kininogenase (Scharfstein, 2010). Predictably, strain-dependent variability in the ratio of expression between these two cruzipain isoforms may have impact on T. cruzi ability to invade host cells expressing BKRs (influence on tissue tropism) as well on its capacity to induce interstitial edema and T_H1 responses via the kinin pathway. For similar reasons, we may predict that variations in the expression levels of chagasin, a tight-binding endogenous inhibitor of papain-like cysteine proteases - originally described in T. cruzi (Monteiro et al., 2001), may also influence the phenotype of T. cruzi strains. This possibility is supported by evidences (Aparício et al., 2004) indicating that TCTs of the G strain, which are poorly infective, display increased chagasin/cruzipain ratios as compared to Dm28c. Importantly, the infectivity of the G strain was enhanced upon addition of cruzipain-rich culture supernatants from Dm28 TCTs. In the same study, the authors pointed out that that vesicles shed by TCTs might serve as cruzipain substrates, presumably generating hitherto uncharacterized infection-promoting signals (Scharfstein and Lima, 2008). Hence, strain-dependent differences in the expression levels of tGPI and cruzipain isoforms may have impact on host/parasite relationship, either because kinins influence parasite infectivity, DC function and their ability to steer T_H1-type effector development.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Host defense to infections depend on the mobilization of two distinct strategies in order to minimize infection-associated pathology: the first, innate immunity, is mobilized at the onset of infection with the purpose to eliminate or at least limit the spread of pathogens to the tissues (Medzhitov, 2009). The second strategy, involving products generated by proteolytic cascades and multiple endogenous "danger" signals emanating from injured tissues, has evolved to limit and repair the tissue damage inflicted by the microbial pathogen. The distinction between the mechanism underlying these overlapping processes in chronic parasitic infections, such as Chagas disease, is important because they profoundly affect the evolutionary dynamics of the of hostpathogen interactions (Rausher, 2001). Here we reviewed data showing that infective forms of T. cruzi can evoke interstitial edema through the activation of an inflammatory pathway initiated by one PRR (TLR2) and amplified through the "sequential" activation of the following GPCRs: CXCR2/BK2R/BK1R/ETAR/ETBR axis. Although presented as a linear cascade process for didactic reasons, this paradigm provides a useful framework to investigate the activation pathways that interconnect innate immunity to the KKS, a hub-like proteolytic network that generates proinflammatory kinin peptides while simultaneously activating three other proteolytic cascades, i.e., complement/coagulation/fibrinolytic systems - none of which were thus far explored in the context of CCM.

The evidence that activation of the kinin/ BK_2R pathway benefits the mammalian host emerged from our immunological studies (Monteiro et al., 2007). The analysis of the susceptible phenotype of BK_2R -deficient mice (acute chagasic infection) demonstrated that DC sensing of the kinin "danger" signal via BK_2R was essentially required for optimal generation of type 1 (host protective) effector T cells (Monteiro et al., 2007).

The dual role of the KKS in experimental Chagas disease is so far based on evidences that Dm28c trypomastigotes exploit BKRs/ETRs as (non-exclusive) gateways for cellular invasion of a broad range of non-phagocytic cells, including cardiomyocytes. We have proposed that trypomastigotes sharing the Dm28c phenotype might be able to transiently generate infection-promoting peptidergic ligands for GPCRs, such as BK and ET-1, in inflamed tissues through the induction of intersticial edema.

Interestingly, studies in other models of heart disease have associated KKS/BK₂R signaling with protective cardiac functions, such as reducing apoptosis and chamber dilatation in the myocardium (Chao et al., 2008) and promoting restoration of S2amediated sarcoplasmatic Ca²⁺ uptake by cardiac cells (Tschöpe et al., 2005). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that BK₂R signaling may bring about mutual benefits to the host/parasite equilibrium in the chagasic heart, perhaps during the quiescent phase (indeterminate) of chronic disease. Interestingly, there are a few reports describing beneficial effects of continuous ACE inhibitor treatment in animal models of Chagas disease (Leon et al., 2003; de Paula Costa et al., 2010). Although the clinical/pathological benefits of ACE inhibitors in CCM might be partially or totally ascribed to blockade in generation of profibrotic angiotensin II, these results argue against an earlier proposition that ACE inhibitor-dependent up-regulation of the BK₂R pathway might aggravate infection-associated pathology (Scharfstein et al., 2000).

In several models of sterile inflammation, the initial tissue damage is sufficient to initiate self-propagating biochemical and immunological processes with the aim to protect and rescue tissue integrity. Depending on the magnitude of the trauma, metabolic status, and host genetics, the collateral tissue damage associated with the activation of endogenous pathways of inflammation in the parasitized heart (Machado et al., 2000) may be extreme, causing irrevesible leison on cardiomyocytes. Studies *in vitro* have implicated TLR2 signaling in *T. cruzi*-induced pathways leading to cardiac hypertrophy (Petersen et al., 2005). It will be interesting to know whether the infection-associated damage of cardiomyocytes can be attenuated upon kinin release and BK₂R signaling, perhaps reminiscent of some of the BK₂R-dependent protective responses observed in ischemia reperfusion and diabetic cardiomyopathy (Messadi-Laribi et al., 2008; Tschöpe and Westermann, 2008).

Concerning BK_1R , recent work in animal models of focal brain injury highlights the importance of therapeutic intervention on the KKS as a way to limit secondary damage caused by brainbarrier leakage (Raslan et al., 2010). As shown by these authors, pharmacological blockade of the inducible BK_1R (but not BK_2R) had remarkable protective effects on traumatic brain injury. Of interest in this context, we have previously reported that BK_1R antagonist blunts the edematogenic response elicited by Dm28c TCTs in mice pretreated with LPS (Todorov et al., 2003).

Since chagasic patients display higher levels of ET-1 in the bloodstream (Petkova et al., 2000; Salomone et al., 2001), it is plausible that the edema resulting from pseudocyst rupture may promote the diffusion of blood-borne ET-1 through perivascular cardiac tissues. If true, these events may in turn trigger cardiac mast cell degranulation via the ET-1/ETAR axis, thus linking the ET pathway to the KKS (Figure 2B). Furthermore, considering that the expression of BK₁R is up-regulated by the pro-oxidative ETs (Morand-Contant et al., 2010), and that ET-1 expression is robustly increased in parasitized cardiomyocytes (Tanowitz et al., 2005), it is conceivable that T. cruzi has evolved strategies to improve its infectivity at expense of increased inflammation, as recently shown in mice infected with the Y strain of T. cruzi (Paiva et al., 2012). Following a similar line of reasoning, we may predict that ET-1 and [des-Arg]-kinins, acting cooperatively, may propel parasite entry in cardiovascular cells through the signaling of BK₁R, a subtype of GPCR that is ubiquitously up-regulated in inflamed tissues.

The sporadic formation of an intramyocardial edema in the proximity of an inflammatory lesion generated by pseudocyst rupture may alter tissue homeostasis, consequently modifying the dynamics of host/parasite interaction in this microenvironment. For example, the trypomastigotes navigating through intercellular cardiac spaces might be targeted by high-titered complement fixing/lytic antibodies (Krettli et al., 1982; Almeida et al., 1994) and/or by antibodies that inhibit host cell invasion (Schenkman et al., 1994; Tonelli et al., 2011). Induction of interstitial edema via activation of KKS might favor the rapid diffusion of these host protective antibody specificities into peripheral sites of infection. In addition, the inflammatory edema may allow the diffusion of antibodies against the C-terminal domain of cruzipain (GP25; Scharfstein et al., 1983). Antibody targeting of the immunodominant sulfated epitopes (Duschak and Couto, 2009) displayed on the C-terminal domain of cruzipain may either limit trypomastigote ability to efficiently invade cardiovascular cells (Meirelles et al., 1992; Scharfstein et al., 2000) and/or prevent anti-apoptotic responses which cruzipain otherwise induces in cardiomyocytes (Aoki Mdel et al., 2006).

For similar reasons, the heart conduction system might be targeted by auto-antibodies that are either specific for M2 muscarinic receptors (Medei et al., 2007) and/or β 1-adrenergic receptors (Labovsky et al., 2007). Depending on their titers and fine-specificity, these auto-antibodies may evoke arrhythmia as a secondary consequence of plasma leakage elicited by trypomastigotes. If confirmed, this hypothesis may legitimate attempts to treat chagasic patients with drugs that target the ET/mast cell/KKS axis: by limiting leakage of auto-antibodies into the myocardium, these drugs may also mitigate cardiac arrhythmia.

Considering the long span of chronic infection, the myocardium of patients exhibiting deficient IL-10 production by macrophages or regulatory T cells (Costa et al., 2009) might be particularly prone to up-regulate the BK₁R pathway in response to excessive collateral damage inflicted by pathogenic subsets of T cells. In this hypothetical scenario, the infiltrating type 1 effector CD8⁺ T cells may relentless fuel the pro-fibrotic pathways coordinated by BK1R/ETR. Of further interest, recent studies of sterile inflammation in transgenic mice subjected to cardiac pressure overload revealed that mitochondrial DNA (i.e., simulating symbiotic bacteria) leaks into autophagic vesicles of cardiomyocytes (Oka et al., 2012). Strikingly, the authors reported that the down-regulation of DNAse II, a lysosomal enzyme, fuels sterile inflammation in TLR9-dependent manner, provided that the mice are subjected to pressure overload (Oka et al., 2012). Although not explored in the context of CCM, it may not be surprising if chagasic heart debilitated by microvascular lesions, hypoxia, and immunopathology may be hyper-responsive to TLR9 signaling induced by T. cruzi mitochondrial DNA and/or self-DNA (from non-infected cardiomyocytes). If confirmed, it will be intriguing to know if BK1R and ETRs, acting cooperatively in the pro-oxidative

REFERENCES

- AbdAlla, S., Lother, H., Abdel-tawab, A. M., and Quitterer, U. (2001). The angiotensin II AT2 receptor is an AT1 receptor antagonist. *Biol. Chem.* 276, 39721–39726.
- Ahn, J., Gutman, D., Saijo, S., and Barber, G. N. (2012). STING manifests self DNA-dependent inflammatory disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 19386–19391.
- Akira, S. (2009). Pathogen recognition by innate immunity and its signaling. *Proc. Jpn. Acad. Ser. B Phys. Biol. Sci.* 85, 143–156.
- Aliberti, J., Viola, J. P., Vieira-de-Abreu, A., Bozza, P. T., Sher, A., and Scharfstein, J. (2003). Cutting edge: bradykinin induces IL-12 production by dendritic cells: a danger signal that drives Th1 polarization. *J. Immunol.* 170, 5349–5353.
- Almeida, I. C., Ferguson, M. A., Schenkman, S., and Travassos, L.R. (1994). Lytic anti-alpha-galactosyl antibodies from patients with chronic Chagas' disease recognize novel O-linked oligosaccharides on mucinlike glycosyl-phosphatidylinositolanchored glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Biochem. J.* 15, 793–802.

- Almeida, I. C., and Gazzinelli, R. T. (2001). Proinflammatory activity of glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors derived from *Trypanosoma cruzi*: structural and functional analyses. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 70, 467–477.
- Alvarez, V. E., Niemirowicz, G. T., and Cazzulo, J. J. (2012). The peptidases of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: digestive enzymes, virulence factors, and mediators of autophagy and programmed cell death. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1824, 195–206.
- Andrade, D., Serra, R., Svensjö, E., Lima, A. P., Ramos, E. S. Jr., Fortes, F. S., et al. (2012). *Trypanosoma cruzi* invades host cells through the activation of endothelin and bradykinin receptors: a converging pathway leading to chagasic vasculopathy. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 165, 1333– 1347.
- Andrade, L. O., and Andrews, N. W. (2004). Lysosomal fusion is essential for the retention of *Trypanosoma cruzi* inside host cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 200, 1135–1143.
- Andrade, Z. A., Andrade, S. G., Correa, R., Sadigursky, M., and Ferrans, V. J. (1994). Myocardial changes in acute *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. Ultrastructural evidence of immune

environment that prevails in the chagasic heart (Dhiman and Garg, 2011) may up-regulate TLR9 and/or STING, another recently characterized sensor of self-DNA (Ahn et al., 2012). Ongoing studies in chagasic mice treated with BK₁R blockers may clarify whether this therapeutic strategy may reduce parasite tissue load as well as myocardial fibrosis. Moreover, it is conceivable that BK₁R antagonists may reduce chronic inflammation by preventing microvascular leakage and/or blocking parasite-induced recruitment of pathogenic subsets of anti-parasite CD8 T effector cells into the myocardium (Silverio et al., 2012), as reported in EAE (Dutra et al., 2011; Göbel et al., 2011).

In summary, our studies on the KKS have provided a general framework to investigate the intertwined proteolytic circuits that reciprocally couple anti-parasite immunity to inflammation and fibrosis in experimental CCM. Although limited to a single *T. cruzi* strain, Dm28c, the knowledge that emerged from 20 years of studies on this emerging field suggest that plasma leakage into the myocardium may shift the dynamics of host/parasite interaction in the inflamed heart through the activation of BKRs/ETRs. Hopefully, some of the lessons taken from this experimental work may help to elucidate the mechanisms underlying susceptibility to CCM, perhaps assisting efforts to improve the therapeutic management of chagasic patients.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by funds from the Instituto Nacional de Biologia Estrutural e Bio-Imagem do CNPq; PRONEX (26/110.562/2010), FAPERJ; CNPq; The authors acknowledge the help of Rafaela Serra in the preparation of one of the illustrations.

damage and the role of microangiopathy. Am. J. Pathol. 144, 1403– 1411.

- Aoki Mdel, P., Cano, R. C., Pellegrini, A. V., Tanos, T., Guiñazú, N. L., Coso, O. A., et al. (2006). Different signaling pathways are involved in cardiomyocyte survival induced by a *Trypanosoma cruzi* glycoprotein. *Microbes Infect.* 8, 1723–1731.
- Aparício, I. M., Scharfstein, J., and Lima, A. P. (2004). A new cruzipainmediated pathway of human cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* requires trypomastigote membranes. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 5892–5902.
- Araújo-Jorge, T. C., Luz M. R., Coutinho, C. M., Medrano, N., Soeiro, M. N., Meirelles, M. N., et al. (1994). Alpha 2-macroglobulin in experimental and human Chagas' disease. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 737, 453–455.
- Bafica, A., Santiago, H. C., Goldszmid, R., Ropert, C., Gazzinelli, R. T., and Sher, A. (2006). Cutting edge: TLR9 and TLR2 signaling together account for MyD88-dependent control of parasitemia in *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J. Immunol.* 177, 3515–3519.
- Benítez-Hernández, I., Méndez-Enríquez, E., Ostoa, P., Fortoul,

T., Ramírez, J. A., Stempin, C., et al. (2010). Proteolytic cleavage of chemokines by *Trypanosoma cruzi's* cruzipain inhibits chemokine functions by promoting the generation of antagonists. *Immunobiology* 215, 413–426.

- Bertram, C. M., Baltic, S., Misso, N. L., Bhoola, K. D., Foster, P. S., Thompson, P. J., et al. (2007). Expression of kinin B1 and B2 receptors in immature, monocyte-derived dendritic cells and bradykinin-mediated increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ and cell migration. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 1, 1445–1454.
- Blaukat, A., Pizard, A., Breit, A., Wernstedt, C., Alhenc-Gelas, F., Muller-Esterl, W., et al. (2001). Determination of bradykinin B2 receptor *in vivo* phosphorylation sites and their role in receptor function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 40431–40440.
- Bremnes, T., Paasche, J. D., Mehlum, A., Sandberg, C., Bremnes, B., and Attramadal, H. (2000). Regulation and intracellular trafficking pathways of the endothelin receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 17596–17604.
- Butler, C. E., and Tyler, K. M. (2012). Membrane traffic and synaptic cross-talk during host cell entry by

Trypanosoma cruzi. Cell. Microbiol. 14, 1345–1353.

- Caetano, B. C., Carmo, B. B., Melo, M. B., Cerny, A., dos Santos, S. L., Bartholomeu, D. C., et al. (2011). Requirement of UNC93B1 reveals a critical role for TLR7 in host resistance to primary infection with *Trypanosoma cruzi. J. Immunol.* 187, 1903–1911.
- Caler, E. V., Vaena de Avalos, S., Haynes, P. A., Andrews, N. W., and Burleigh, B. A. (1998). Oligopeptidase B-dependent signaling mediates host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. EMBO J.* 17, 4975–4986.
- Calixto, J. B., Medeiros, R., Fernandes, E. S., Ferreira, J., Cabrini, D. A., and Campos, M. M. (2004). Kinin B1 receptors: key G-protein-coupled receptors and their role in inflammatory and painful processes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 143, 803–818.
- Carlos, D., Frantz, F. G., Souza-Júnior, D. A., Jamur, M. C., Oliver, C., Ramos, S. G., et al. (2009). TLR2-dependent mast cell activation contributes to the control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *Microbes Infect.* 11, 770–778.
- Cazzulo, J. J., Stoka, V., and Turk, V. (2001). The major cysteine proteinase of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: a valid target for chemotherapy of Chagas disease. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 7, 1143– 1156.
- Chao, J., Yin H., Gao, L., Hagiwara, M., Shen, B., Yang, Z. R., et al. (2008). Tissue kallikrein elicits cardioprotection by direct kinin b2 receptor activation independent of kinin formation. *Hypertension* 52, 715–720.
- Cortez, C., Yoshida, N., Bahia, D., and Sobreira, T. J. (2012). Structural basis of the interaction of a *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface molecule implicated in oral infection with host cells and gastric mucin. *PLoS ONE* 7:e42153. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042153
- Costa, G. C., da Costa Rocha, M. O., Moreira, P. R., Menezes, C. A., Silva, M. R., Gollob, K. J., et al. (2009). Functional IL-10 gene polymorphism is associated with Chagas disease cardiomyopathy. *J. Infect. Dis.* 199, 451–454.
- Coulombe, M., Battistini, B., Stankova, J., Pouliot, P., and Bissonnette, E. Y. (2002). Endothelins regulate mediator production of rat tissue-cultured mucosal mast cells. Up-regulation of Th1 and inhibition of Th2 cytokines. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 71, 829–836.
- Coura, J. R., and Dias, J. C. (2009). Epidemiology, control and surveillance of Chagas disease: 100 years after its discovery. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 104, 31–40.

- Cunha, T. M., Verri, W. A. Jr., Fukada, S. Y., Guerrero, A. T., Santodomingo-Garzón, T., Poole, S., et al. (2007). TNF-alpha and IL-1beta mediate inflammatory hypernociception in mice triggered by B1 but not B2 kinin receptor. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 573, 221–229.
- Danilov, S. M., Sadovnikova, E., Scharenborg, N., Balyasnikova, I. V., Svinareva, D. A., Semikina, E. L., et al. (2003). Angiotensinconverting enzyme (CD143) is abundantly expressed by dendritic cells and discriminates human monocytederived dendritic cells from acute myeloid leukemia-derived dendritic cells. *Exp. Hematol.* 31, 1301– 1309.
- de Paula Costa, G., Silva R. R., Pedrosa, M. C., Pinho, V., de Lima, W. G., Teixeira, M. M., et al. (2010). Enalapril prevents cardiac immune-mediated damage and exerts anti-*Trypanosoma cruzi* activity during acute phase of experimental Chagas disease. *Parasite Immunol.* 32, 202–208.
- de Weerd, W. F., and Leeb-Lundberg, L. M. (1997). Bradykinin sequesters B2 bradykinin receptors and the receptor-coupled Galpha subunits Galphaq and Galphai in caveolae in DDT1 MF-2 smooth muscle cells. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 17858–17866.
- Del Nery, E. D., Juliano, M. A., Meldal, M., Svendsen, I., Scharfstein, J., Walmsley, A., et al. (1997). Characterization of the substrate specificity of the major cysteine protease (cruzipain) from *Trypanosoma cruzi* using a portion-mixing combinatorial library and fluorogenic peptides. *Biochem. J.* 323, 427–433.
- Dhaun, N., Pollock, D. M., Goddard, J., and Webb, D. J. (2007). Selective and mixed endothelin receptor antagonism in cardiovascular disease. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 28, 573–579.
- Dhiman, M., and Garg, N. J. (2011). NADPH oxidase inhibition ameliorates *Trypanosoma cruzi*-induced myocarditis during Chagas disease. *J. Pathol.* 225, 583–596.
- DiStasi, M. R., and Ley, K. (2009). Opening the flood-gates: how neutrophil-endothelial interactions regulate permeability. *Trends Immunol.* 30, 547–556.
- Doyle, P. S., Zhou, Y. M., Hsieh, I., Greenbaum, D. C., McKerrow, J. H., and Engel, J. C. (2011). The *Trypanosoma cruzi* protease cruzain mediates immune evasion. *PLoS Pathog*, 7:e1002139. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1002139
- Duschak, V. G., and Couto, A. S. (2009). Cruzipain, the major cysteine protease of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: a sulfated

glycoprotein antigen as relevant candidate for vaccine development and drug target. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 16, 3174–3202.

- Dutra, R. C., Leite, D. F., Bento, A. F., Manjavachi, M. N., Patrício, E. S., Figueiredo, C. P., et al. (2011). The role of kinin receptors in preventing neuroinflammation and its clinical severity during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *PLoS ONE* 6:e27875. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0027875
- Ehrenreich, H., Burd, P. R., Rottem, M., Hültner, L., Hylton, J. B., Garfield, M., et al. (1992). Endothelins belong to the assortment of mast cell-derived and mast cell-bound cytokines. *New Biol.* 4, 147–156.
- Engel, J. C., Doyle, P. S., Hsieh, I., and McKerrow, J. H. (1998). Cysteine protease inhibitors cure an experimental *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 188, 725–734.
- Enquist, J., Skröder, C., Whistler, J. L., and Leeb-Lundberg, L. M. (2007). Kinins promote B2 receptor endocytosis and delay constitutive B1 receptor endocytosis. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 71, 494–507.
- Eszlári, E., Czóbel, M., Molnár, G., Bogáts, G., Kaszaki, J., Nagy, S., et al. (2008). Modulation of cardiac contractility through endothelin-1 release and myocardial mast cell degranulation. *Acta Physiol. Hung.* 95, 267–285.
- Fernandes, M. C., Cortez, M., Geraldo Yoneyama, K. A., Straus, A. H., Yoshida, N., and Mortara, R. A. (2007). Novel strategy in *Trypanosoma cruzi* cell invasion: implication of cholesterol and host cell microdomains. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 37, 1431–1441.
- Fernandes, M. C., Cortez, M., Flannery, A. R., Tam, C., Mortara, R. A., and Andrews, N. W. (2011). *Trypanosoma cruzi* subverts the sphingomyelinasemediated plasma membrane repair pathway for cell invasion. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 909–921.
- Fernandes, M. C., and Andrews, N. W. (2012). Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: a unique strategy that promotes persistence. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 36, 734–747.
- Filep, J. G., Sirois, M. G., Földes-Filep, E., Rousseau, A., Plante, G. E., Fournier, A., et al. (1993). Enhancement by endothelin-1 of microvascular permeability via the activation of ETA receptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 109, 880–886.
- Gabra, B. H., Merino V. F., Bader M., Pesquero J. B., and Sirois P. (2005). Absence of diabetic hyperalgesia

in bradykinin B1 receptor-knockout mice. *Regul. Pept.* 127, 245–248.

- Göbel, K., Pankratz, S., Schneider-Hohendorf, T., Bittner, S., Schuhmann, M. K., Langer, H. F., et al. (2011). Blockade of the kinin receptor B1 protects from autoimmune CNS disease by reducing leukocyte trafficking. *J. Autoimmun.* 36, 106–114.
- Goto, K. (2001). Basic and therapeutic relevance of endothelin-mediated regulation. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 24, 1219–1230.
- Grellier, P., Vendeville, S., Joyeau, R., Bastos, I. M., Drobecq, H., Frappier, F., et al. (2001). *Trypanosoma cruzi* prolyl oligopeptidase Tc80 is involved in nonphagocytic mammalian cell invasion by trypomastigotes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 47078–47086.
- Gulliver, R., Baltic, S., Misso, N. L., Bertram, C. M., Thompson, P. J., and Fogel-Petrovic, M. (2011). Lys-des[Arg9]-bradykinin alters migration and production of interleukin-12 in monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 45, 542–549.
- Haasemann, M., Cartaud, J., Muller-Esterl, W., and Dunia, I. (1998).
 Agonist-induced redistribution of bradykinin B2 receptor in caveolae. *J. Cell Sci.* 111, 917–928.
- Harada, N., Himeno, A., Shigematsu, K., Sumikawa, K., and Niwa, M. (2002). Endothelin-1 binding to endothelin receptors in the rat anterior pituitary gland: possible formation of an ETA-ETB receptor heterodimer. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 22, 207–226.
- Herwald, H., Collin, M., Müller-Esterl, W., and Björck, L. (1996). Streptococcal cysteine proteinase releases kinins: a virulence mechanism. *J. Exp. Med.* 184, 665–673.
- Higuchi, M. L., Fukasawa, S., De Brito, T., Parzianello, L. C., Bellotti, G., and Ramires, J. A. (1999). Different microcirculatory and intersticial matrix patterns in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy and Chagas' disease: a three dimensional confocal microscopy study. *Heart* 82, 279–285.
- Higuchi, M. L., Benvenuti, L. A., Martins Reis, M., and Metzger, M. (2003). Pathophysiology of the heart in Chagas' disease: current status and new developments. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 60, 96–107.
- Imamura, T., Pike, R. N., Potempa, J., and Travis, J. (1994). Pathogenesis of periodontitis: a major argininespecific cysteine proteinase from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* induces vascular permeability enhancement through activation of the

kallikrein/kinin pathway. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 361–367.

- Imamura, T., Tanase, S., Szmyd, G., Kozik, A., Travis, J., and Potempa, J. (2005). Induction of vascular leakage through release of bradykinin and a novel kinin by cysteine proteinases from *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Exp. Med. 201, 1669–1676.
- Janicki, J. S., Brower, G. L., Gardner, J. D., Forman, M. F., Stewart, J. A. Jr., Murray, D. B., et al. (2006). Cardiac mast cell regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-related ventricular remodeling in chronic pressure or volume overload. *Cardio*vasc. Res. 69, 657–665.
- Jin, S., Zhang, F., Poklis, J. L., and Li, P. L. (2008). Lysosomal targeting and trafficking of acid sphingomyelinase to lipid raft platforms in coronary endothelial cells. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 28, 2056–2062.
- Kaman, W. E., Wolterink, A. F., Bader, M., Boele, L. C., and van der Kleij, D. (2009). The bradykinin B2 receptor in the early immune response against *Listeria* infection. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* 198, 39–46.
- Kang, D. S., Ryberg, K., Mörgelin, M., and Leeb-Lundberg, L. M. (2004). Spontaneous formation of a proteolytic B1 and B2 bradykinin receptor complex with enhanced signaling capacity. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 22102– 22107.
- Kayama, H., Koga, R., Atarashi, K., Okuyama, M., Kimura, T., Mak, T. W., et al. (2009). NFATc1 mediates Toll-like receptor-independent innate immune responses during *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000514. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000514
- Kedzierski, R. M., and Yanagisawa, M. (2001). Endothelin system: the double-edged sword in health and disease. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 41, 851–876.
- Kozik, A., Moore, R. B., Potempa, J., Imamura, T., Rapala-Kozik, M., and Travis, J. (1998). A novel mechanism for bradykinin production at inflammatory sites. Diverse effects of a mixture of neutrophil elastase and mast cell tryptase versus tissue and plasma kallikreins on native and oxidized kininogens. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 33224–33229.
- Kozma, R., Ahmed, S., Best, A., and Lim, L. (1995). The Ras-related protein Cdc42Hs and bradykinin promote formation of peripheral actin microspikes and filopodia in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 1942–1952.
- Kränkel, N., Katare, R. G., Siragusa, M., Barcelos, L. S., Campagnolo,

P., Mangialardi, G., et al. (2008). Role of kinin B2 receptor signaling in the recruitment of circulating progenitor cells with neovascularization potential. *Circ. Res.* 103, 1335– 1343.

- Krettli, A. U., Cançado, J. R., and Brener, Z. (1982). Effect of specific chemotherapy on the levels of lytic antibodies in Chagas's disease. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 76, 334–340.
- Kuhr, F., Lowry, J., Zhang, Y., Brovkovych, V., and Skidgel, R. A. (2010). Differential regulation of inducible and endothelial nitric oxide synthase by kinin B1 and B2 receptors. *Neuropeptides* 44, 145–154.
- Labovsky, V., Smulski, C. R., Gómez, K., Levy, G., and Levin, M. J. (2007). Anti-beta1-adrenergic receptor autoantibodies in patients with chronic Chagas heart disease. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 148, 440–449.
- Leeb-Lundberg, L. M., Song, X. H., and Mathis, S. A. (1994). Focal adhesionassociated proteins p125FAK and paxillin are substrates for bradykininstimulated tyrosine phosphorylation in Swiss 3T3 cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 24328–24334.
- Leeb-Lundberg, L. M., Marceau, F., Müller-Esterl, W., Pettibone, D. J., and Zuraw, B. L. (2005). International union of pharmacology. XLV. Classification of the kinin receptor family: from molecular mechanisms to pathophysiological consequences. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57, 27–77.
- Leite, M. F., Moyer, M. S., and Andrews, N. W. (1998). Expression of the mammalian calcium signaling response to *Trypanosoma cruzi* in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 92, 1–13.
- Leon, J. S., Wang, K., and Engman, D. M. (2003). Captopril ameliorates myocarditis in acute experimental Chagas disease. *Circulation* 107, 2264–2269.
- Levick, S. P., Meléndez, G. C., Plante, E., McLarty, J. L., Brower, G. L., and Janicki, J. S. (2010). Cardiac mast cells: the centrepiece in adverse myocardial remodelling. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 89, 12–19.
- Lima, A. P., dos Reis, F. C., Serveau, C., Lalmanach, G., Juliano, L., Ménard, R., et al. (2001). Cysteine protease isoforms from *Trypanosoma cruzi*, cruzipain 2 and cruzain, present different substrate preference and susceptibility to inhibitors. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 114, 41–52.
- Lima, A. P., Almeida, P. C., Tersariol, I. L., Schmitz, V., Schmaier, A. H., Juliano, L., et al. (2002). Heparan sulfate modulates kinin release by *Trypanosoma cruzi* through the

activity of cruzipain. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 5875–5881.

- Macedo, A. M., and Pena, S. D. (1998). Genetic variability of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: implications for the pathogenesis of Chagas disease. *Parasitol. Today* 14, 119–124.
- Machado, F. S., Martins, G. A., Aliberti, J. C., Mestriner, F. L., Cunha, F. Q., and Silva, J. S. (2000). *Trypanosoma cruzi*-infected cardiomyocytes produce chemokines and cytokines that trigger potent nitric oxide-dependent trypanocidal activity. *Circulation* 102, 3003–3008.
- Marceau, F., and Bachvarov, D. R. (1998). Kinin receptors. *Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol.* 16, 385–401.
- Marin-Neto, J. A., Cunha-Neto, E., Maciel, B. C., and Simões, M. V. (2007). Pathogenesis of chronic Chagas heart disease. *Circulation* 115, 1109–1123.
- Maurer, M., Wedemeyer, J., Metz, M., Piliponsky, A. M., Weller, K., and Chatterjea, D., et al. (2004). Mast cells promote homeostasis by limiting endothelin-1-induced toxicity. *Nature* 432, 512–516.
- McKerrow, J. H., Doyle, P. S., Engel, J. C., Podust, L. M., Robertson, S. A., Ferreira, R., et al. (2009). Two approaches to discovering and developing new drugs for Chagas disease. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 104(Suppl. 1), 263–269.
- McLean, P. G., Ahluwalia, A., and Perretti, M. (2000). Association between kinin B1 receptor expression and leukocyte trafficking across mesenteric postcapillary venules. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 367–380.
- McNeil, P. L., and Steinhardt, R. A. (2003). Plasma membrane disruption: repair, prevention, adaptation. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 19, 697–731.
- Medei, E., Pedrosa, R. C., Benchimol Barbosa, P. R., Costa, P. C., Hernández, C. C., Chaves, E. A., et al. (2007). Human antibodies with muscarinic activity modulate ventricular repolarization: basis for electrical disturbance. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 115, 373–380.
- Medeiros, R., Cabrini, D. A., Ferreira, J., Fernandes, E. S., Mori, M. A., Pesquero, J. B., et al. (2004). Bradykinin B1 receptor expression induced by tissue damage in the rat portal vein: a critical role for mitogen-activated protein kinase and nuclear factorkappaB signaling pathways. *Circ. Res.* 94, 1375–1382.
- Medzhitov, R., and Janeway, C. A. Jr. (1997). Innate immunity: impact on the adaptive immune response. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 9, 4–9.

- Medzhitov, R. (2009). Damage control in host-pathogen interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 15525–15526.
- Meirelles, M. N., Juliano, L., Carmona, E., Silva, S. G., Costa, E. M., Murta, A. C., et al. (1992). Inhibitors of the major cysteinyl proteinase (GP57/51) impair host cell invasion and arrest the intracellular development of *Trypanosoma cruzi in vitro. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 52, 175–184.
- Messadi-Laribi, E., Griol-Charhbili, V., Gaies, E., Vincent, M. P., Heudes, D., Meneton, P., et al. (2008). Cardioprotection and kallikrein-kinin system in acute myocardial ischaemia in mice. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 35, 489–493.
- Meuser-Batista, M., Corrêa, J. R., Carvalho, V. F., de Carvalho Britto, C. F., Moreira, O. C., Batista M. M., et al. (2011). Mast cell function and death in *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 179, 1894–1904.
- Miles, M. A., Llewellyn, M. S., Lewis, M. D., Yeo, M., Baleela, R., Fitzpatrick, S., et al. (2009). The molecular epidemiology and phylogeography of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and parallel research on leishmania: looking back and to the future. *Parasitology* 136, 1509– 1528.
- Monteiro, A. C., Abrahamson, M., Lima, A. P., Vannier-Santos, M. A., and Scharfstein, J. (2001). Identification, characterization and localization of chagasin, a tight-binding cysteine protease inhibitor in *Trypanosoma cruzi*, J. Cell Sci. 114, 3933–3942.
- Monteiro, A. C., Schmitz, V., Svensjo, E., Gazzinelli, R. T., Almeida, I. C., Todorov, A., et al. (2006). Cooperative activation of TLR2 and bradykinin B2 receptor is required for induction of type 1 immunity in a mouse model of subcutaneous infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi. J. Immunol.* 177, 6325–6335.
- Monteiro, A. C., Schmitz, V., Morrot, A., de Arruda, L. B., Nagajyothi, F., Granato, A., et al. (2007). Bradykinin B2 Receptors of dendritic cells, acting as sensors of kinins proteolytically released by *Trypanosoma cruzi*, are critical for the development of protective type-1 responses. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e185. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030185
- Monteiro, A. C., Scovino, A., Raposo, S., Gaze, V. M., Cruz, C., Svensjö, E., et al. (2009). Kinin danger signals proteolytically released by gingipain induce Fimbriae-specific IFN-gamma- and IL-17-producing T cells in mice infected intramucosally

with Porphyromonas gingivalis. J. Immunol. 183, 3700–3711.

- Morand-Contant, M., Anand-Srivastava, M. B., and Couture, R. (2010). Kinin B1 receptor upregulation by angiotensin II and endothelin-1 in rat vascular smooth muscle cells: receptors and mechanisms. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 299, H1625–H1632.
- Moreau, M. E., Bawolak, M. T., Morissette, G., Adam, A., and Marceau, F. (2007). Role of nuclear factor-kappaB and protein kinase C signaling in the expression of the kinin B1 receptor in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 71, 949–956.
- Morris, S. A., Tanowitz, H. B., Wittner, M., and Bilezikian, J. P. (1990). Pathophysiological insights into the cardiomyopathy of Chagas' disease. *Circulation* 82, 1900–1909.
- Morrot, A., Strickland, D. K., Higuchi, M. de L., Reis, M., Pedrosa, R., and Scharfstein, J. (1997). Human T cell responses against the major cysteine proteinase (cruzipain) of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: role of the multifunctional alpha 2macroglobulin receptor in antigen presentation by monocytes. *Int. Immunol.* 9, 825–834.
- Morty, R. E., Lonsdale-Eccles, J. D., Morehead, J., Caler, E. V., Mentele, R., Auerswald, E. A., et al. (1999). Oligopeptidase B from *Trypanosoma brucei*, a new member of an emerging subgroup of serine oligopeptidases. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 26149– 26156.
- Müller, F., Mutch, N. J., Schenk, W. A., Smith, S. A., Esterl, L., Spronk, H. M., et al. (2009). Platelet polyphosphates are proinflammatory and procoagulant mediators *in vivo*. *Cell* 139, 1143–1156.
- Munk, V. C., Sanchez de Miguel, L., Petrimpol, M., Butz, N., Banfi, A., Eriksson, U., et al. (2007). Angiotensin II induces angiogenesis in the hypoxic adult mouse heart *in vitro* through an AT2-B2 receptor pathway. *Hypertension* 49, 1178– 1185.
- Murray, D. B., Gardner, J. D., Brower, G. L., and Janicki, J. S. (2004). Endothelin-1 mediates cardiac mast cell degranulation, matrix metalloproteinase activation, and myocardial remodeling in rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 287, H2295– H2299.
- Murta, A. C., Persechini, P. M., Padron Tde, S., de Souza, W., Guimarães, J. A., and Scharfstein, J. (1990). Structural and functional identification of GP57/51 antigen of *Trypanosoma*

cruzi as a cysteine proteinase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 43, 27–38.

- Nascimento, C. R., Andrade, D., Cordovil, T., Andrade, M. V., Juliano, M. A., Juliano, L., et al. (2012). "Mast cells propagate inflammation in peripheral sites of *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection through the activation of the kallikrein-kinin cascade." in XXVIII Reunião Anual da Sociedade Brasileira de Protozoologia, Caxambú.
- Nico, D., Feijó, D. F., Maran, N., Morrot, A., Scharfstein, J., Palatnik, M., et al. (2012). Resistance to visceral leishmaniasis is severely compromised in mice deficient of bradykinin B2receptors. *Parasit. Vectors* 5:261. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-5-261
- Oka, T., Hikoso, S., Yamaguchi, O., Taneike, M., Takeda, T., Tamai, T., et al. (2012). Mitochondrial DNA that escapes from autophagy causes inflammation and heart failure. *Nature* 485, 251–255.
- Okamoto, Y., Ninomiya, H., Miwa, S., and Masaki, T. (2000). Cholesterol oxidation switches the internalization pathway of endothelin receptor type A from caveolae to clathrin-coated pits in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 6439–6446.
- Oliveira, A. C., Peixoto, J. R., de Arruda, L. B., Campos, M. A., Gazzinelli, R. T., Golenbock, D. T., et al. (2004). Expression of functional TLR4 confers proinflammatory responsiveness to *Trypanosoma cruzi* glycoinositolphospholipids and higher resistance to infection with *T. cruzi. J. Immunol.* 173, 5688–5696.
- Oliveira, A. C., de Alencar, B. C., Tzelepis, F., Klezewsky, W., da Silva, R. N., Neves, F. S., et al. (2010). Impaired innate immunity in Tlr4(-/-) mice but preserved CD8 T cell responses against *Trypanosoma cruzi* in Tlr4-, Tlr2-, Tlr9- or Myd88-deficient mice. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000870. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000870
- Oschatz, C., Maas, C., Lecher, B., Jansen, T., Björkqvist, J., Tradler, T., et al. (2011). Mast cells increase vascular permeability by heparin-initiated bradykinin formation *in vivo*. *Immunity* 34, 258–268.
- Ostrom, R. S. (2002). New determinants of receptor-effector coupling: trafficking and compartmentation in membrane microdomains. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 61, 473–476.
- Padilla, A. M., Bustamante, J. M., and Tarleton, R. L. (2009). CD8+ T cells in *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 21, 385–390.
- Paiva, C. N., Feijó, D. F., Dutra, F. F., Carneiro, V. C., Freitas, G. B., Alves, L. S., et al. (2012). Oxidative stress fuels *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection in

mice. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 2531–2542.

- Parkin, E. T., Turner, A. J., and Hooper, N. M. (2004). Secretase-mediated cell surface shedding of the angiotensinconverting enzyme. *Protein Pept. Lett.* 11, 423–432.
- Petersen, C. A., Krumholz, K. A., and Burleigh, B. A. (2005). Toll-like receptor 2 regulates interleukinlbeta-dependent cardiomyocyte hypertrophy triggered by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 6974–6980.
- Petkova, S. B., Tanowitz, H. B., Magazine, H. I., Factor, S. M., Chan, J., Pestell, R. G., et al. (2000). Myocardial expression of endothelin-1 in murine *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Cardiovasc. Pathol.* 9, 257–265.
- Raslan, F., Schwarz, T., Meuth, S. G., Austinat, M., Bader, M., Renné, T., et al. (2010). Inhibition of bradykinin receptor B1 protects mice from focal brain injury by reducing blood-brain barrier leakage and inflammation. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 30, 1477– 1486.
- Rausher, M. D. (2001). Co-evolution and plant resistance to natural enemies. *Nature* 411, 857–864.
- Renné, T., Dedio, J., David, G., and Müller-Esterl, W. (2000). High molecular weight kininogen utilizes heparan sulfate proteoglycans for accumulation on endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 33688–33696.
- Renné, T., and Muller-Esterl, W. (2001). Cell surface-associated chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans bind contact phase factor H-kininogen. *FEBS Lett.* 500, 36–40.
- Rossi, M. A. (1990). Microvascular changes as a cause of chronic cardiomyopathy in Chagas' disease. *Am. Heart J.* 120, 233–236.
- Salomone, O. A., Caeiro, T. F., Madoery, R. J., Amuchástegui, M., Omelinauk, M., Juri, D., et al. (2001). High plasma immunoreactive endothelin levels in patients with Chagas' cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Cardiol. 87, 1217–1220.
- Sampaio, A. L., Rae, G. A., and Henriques, M. G. (2000). Participation of endogenous endothelins in delayed eosinophil and neutrophil recruitment in mouse pleurisy. *Inflamm. Res.* 49, 170–176.
- Sangsree, S., Brovkovych, V., Minshall, R. D., and Skidgel, R. A. (2003). Kininase I-type carboxypeptidases enhance nitric oxide production in endothelial cells by generating bradykinin B1 receptor agonists. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 284, H1959–H1968.

- Sansonetti, P. J. (2006). The innate signaling of dangers and the dangers of innate signaling. *Nat. Immunol.* 7, 1237–1242.
- Santana, J. M., Grellier, P., Schrével, J., and Teixeira, A. R. (1997). A *Trypanosoma cruzi*-secreted 80 kDa proteinase with specificity for human collagen types I and IV. *Biochem. J.* 325, 129–137.
- Santos, C. C., Scharfstein, J., and Lima, A. P. (2006). Role of chagasinlike inhibitors as endogenous regulators of cysteine proteases in parasitic protozoa. *Parasitol. Res.* 99, 323–324.
- Scharfstein, J., Rodrigues, M. M., Alves, C. A., de Souza, W., Previato, J. O., and Mendonça-Previato, L. (1983). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: description of a highly purified surface antigen defined by human antibodies. *J. Immunol.* 131, 972–976.
- Scharfstein, J., and Morrot, A. (1999). A role for extracellular amastigotes in the immunopathology of Chagas disease. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 1, 51–63.
- Scharfstein, J., Schmitz, V., Morandi, V., Capella, M. M., Lima, A. P., Morrot, A., et al. (2000). Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is potentiated by activation of bradykinin B2 receptors. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 1289–1300.
- Scharfstein, J., Schmitz, V., Svensjö, E., Granato, A., and Monteiro, A. C. (2007). Kininogens coordinate adaptive immunity through the proteolytic release of bradykinin, an endogenous danger signal driving dendritic cell maturation. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 66, 128–136.
- Scharfstein, J., and Lima, A. P. (2008). Roles of naturally occurring protease inhibitors in the modulation of host cell signaling and cellular invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Subcell. Biochem.* 47, 140–154.
- Scharfstein, J. (2010). Trypanosoma cruzi cysteine proteases, acting in the interface between the vascular and immune systems, influence pathogenic outcome in experimental Chagas disease. Open Parasitol. 4, 60–71.
- Scharfstein, J., and Andrade, D. (2011) Infection-associated vasculopathy in experimental Chagas disease pathogenic roles of endothelin and kinin pathways. *Adv. Parasitol.* 76, 101–127.
- Scharfstein, J., and Svensjö, E. (2012). "The kallikrein-kinin system in parasitic infection," in *Kinins*, ed. M. Bader (Berlin: Walter de Gryter GmbH & Co.), 321–330.
- Schenkman, S., Eichinger, D., Pereira, M. E., and Nussenzweig, V. (1994).

Structural and functional properties of *Trypanosoma* trans-sialidase. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 48, 499–523.

- Schmitz, V., Svensjö, E., Serra, R. R., Teixeira, M. M., and Scharfstein, J. (2009). Proteolytic generation of kinins in tissues infected by *Trypanosoma cruzi* depends on CXC chemokine secretion by macrophages activated via Toll-like 2 receptors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 1005–1014.
- Schulze-Topphoff, U., Prat, A., Prozorovski, T., Siffrin, V., Paterka, M., Herz, J., et al. (2009). Activation of kinin receptor B1 limits encephalitogenic T lymphocyte recruitment to the central nervous system. *Nat. Med.* 15, 788–793.
- Sela, U., Olds, P., Park, A., Schlesinger, S. J., and Steinman, R. M. (2011). Dendritic cells induce antigen-specific regulatory T cells that prevent graft versus host disease and persist in mice. J. Exp. Med. 208, 2489–2496.
- Shortman, K., and Naik, S. H. (2007). Steady-state and inflammatory dendritic-cell development. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 19–30.
- Silva, G. K., Gutierrez, F. R., Guedes, P. M., Horta, C. V., Cunha, L. D., Mineo, T. W., et al. (2010). Cutting edge: nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 1-dependent responses account for murine resistance against *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. J. Immunol. 184, 1148–1152.
- Silverio, J. C., Pereira, I. R., Cipitelli Mda, C., Vinagre, N. F., Rodrigues, M. M., Gazzinelli, R. T., et al. (2012). CD8+ T-cells expressing interferon gamma or perforin play antagonistic roles in heart injury in experimental *Trypanosoma cruzi*-elicited cardiomyopathy. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002645. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002645
- Skidgel, R. A., and Erdos, E. G. (2004). Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and neprilysin hydrolyze neuropeptides: a brief history, the beginning and followups to early studies. *Peptides* 25, 521–525.
- Souto-Padrón, T., Campetella, O. E., Cazzulo, J. J., and de Souza, W. (1990). Cysteine proteinase in *Trypanosoma cruzi*: immunocytochemical localization and involvement in parasite-host cell interaction. *J. Cell Sci.* 96, 485–490.
- Spillmann, F., Van Linthout, S., Schultheiss, H. P., and Tschöpe, C. (2006). Cardioprotective mechanisms of the kallikrein-kinin system in diabetic cardiopathy. *Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens.* 15, 22–29.
- Spillmann, F., and Tschöpe, C. (2012). "Kallikrein-Kinin System in

the heart," in *Kinins*, ed. M. Bader (Walter de Gryter GmbH & Co.: Berlin), 117–127.

- Stoka, V., Nycander, M., Lenarcic, B., Labriola, C., Cazzulo, J. J., Björk, I., et al. (1995). Inhibition of cruzipain, the major cysteine proteinase of the protozoan parasite, *Trypanosoma cruzi*, by proteinase inhibitors of the cystatin superfamily. *FEBS Lett.* 370,101–104.
- Stoka, V., McKerrow, J. H., Cazzulo, J. J., and Turk, V. (1998). Substrate inhibition of cruzipain is not affected by the C-terminal domain. *FEBS Lett.* 429, 129–133.
- Svensjö, E., Batista, P. R., Brodskyn, C. I., Silva, R., Lima, A. P., Schmitz, V., et al. (2006). Interplay between parasite cysteine proteases and the host kinin system modulates microvascular leakage and macrophage infection by promastigotes of the *Leishmania donovani* complex. *Microbes Infect.* 8, 206–220
- Tanowitz, H. B., Wittner, M., Morris, S. A., Zhao, W., Weiss, L. M., Hatcher, V. B., et al. (1999). The putative mechanistic basis for the modulatory role of endothelin-1 in the altered vascular tone induced by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Endothelium* 6, 217–230.
- Tanowitz, H. B., Huang, H., Jelicks, L. A., Chandra, M., Loredo, M. L., Weiss, L. M., et al. (2005). Role of endothelin 1 in the pathogenesis of chronic chagasic heart disease. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 2496–2503.
- Tardieux, I., Webster, P., Ravesloot, J., Boron, W., Lunn, J. A., Heuser, J. E., et al. (1992). Lysosome recruitment and fusion are early events required for trypanosome invasion of mammalian cells. *Cell* 71, 1117– 1130.
- Tarleton, R. L. (2001). Parasite persistence in the aetiology of Chagas disease. Int. J. Parasitol. 31, 550–554.
- Todorov, A. G., Andrade, D., Pesquero, J. B., Araujo Rde, C., Bader, M., Stewart, J., et al. (2003). *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces edematogenic responses in mice and invades cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells *in vitro* by activating distinct kinin receptor (B1/B2) subtypes. *FASEB J.* 17, 73–75.
- Tonelli, R. R., Torrecilhas, A. C., Jacysyn, J. F., Juliano, M. A., Colli, W., and Alves, M. J. (2011). *In vivo* infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: the conserved FLY domain of the gp85/trans-sialidase family potentiates host infection. *Parasitology* 138, 481–492.
- Trocoli-Torrecilhas, A. C., Tonelli, R. R., Pavanelli, W. R., da Silva, J. S., Schumacher, R. I., and de Souza,

W., et al. (2009). *Trypanosoma cruzi*: parasite shed vesicles increase heart parasitism and generate an intense inflammatory response. *Microbes Infect.* 11, 29–39.

- Tschöpe, C., Walther, T., Escher, F., Spillmann, F., Du, J., Altmann, C., et al. (2005). Transgenic activation of the kallikrein-kinin system inhibits intramyocardial inflammation, endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *FASEB J.* 19, 2057–2059.
- Tschöpe, C., and Westermann, D. (2008). Development of diabetic cardiomyopathy and the kallikrein-kinin system – new insights from B1 and B2 receptor signaling. *Biol. Chem.* 389, 707–711.
- Tyler, K. M., Luxton, G. W., Applewhite, D. A., Murphy, S. C., and Engman, D. M. (2005). Responsive microtubule dynamics promote cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Cell. Microbiol.* 11, 1579–1591.
- Vasquez-Pinto, L. M., Nantel, F., Sirois, P., and Jancar, S. (2010). Bradykinin B(1) receptor antagonist R954 inhibits eosinophil activation/proliferation/migration and increases TGF-beta and VEGF in a murine model of asthma. *Neuropeptides* 44, 107–113.
- von Brühl, M. L., Stark, K., Steinhart, A., Chandraratne, S., Konrad, I., Lorenz, M., et al. (2012). Monocytes, neutrophils, and platelets cooperate to initiate and propagate venous thrombosis in mice *in vivo. J. Exp. Med.* 209, 819–835.
- von Köckritz-Blickwede, M., Goldmann, O., Thulin, P., Heinemann, K., Norrby-Teglund, A., Rohde, M., et al. (2008). Phagocytosisindependent antimicrobial activity of mast cells by means of extracellular trap formation. *Blood* 111, 3070– 3080.
- Wang, P. H., Cenedeze, M. A., Pesquero, J. B., Pacheco-Silva, A., and Câmara, N. O. (2006). Influence of bradykinin B1 and B2 receptors in the immune response triggered by renal ischemiareperfusion injury. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 6, 1960–1965.
- Westermann, D., Walther, T., Savvatis, K., Escher, F., Sobirey, M., Riad, A., et al. (2009). Gene deletion of the kinin receptor B1 attenuates cardiac inflammation and fibrosis during the development of experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 58, 1373– 1381.
- Woolsey, A. M., and Burleigh, B. A. (2004). Host cell actin polymerization is required for cellular retention

of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and early association with endosomal/lysosomal compartments. *Cell. Microbiol.* 6, 829–838.

- Yamamura, H., Nabe, T., Kohno, S., and Ohata, K. (1994). Endothelin-1 induces release of histamine and leukotriene C4 from mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 257, 235–242.
- Yang, X. P., Liu, Y. H., Mehta, D., Cavasin, M. A., Shesely, E., and Xu, J., et al. (2001). Diminished cardioprotective response to inhibition of angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensin II type 1 receptor in B(2) kinin receptor gene knockout mice. *Circ. Res.* 88, 1072– 1079.
- Zhang, X., Tan, F., Zhang, Y., and Skidgel, R. A. (2008). Carboxypeptidase M and kinin B1 receptors interact to facilitate efficient b1 signaling from B2 agonists. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 7994–8004.
- Zingales, B., Andrade, S. G., Briones, M. R., Campbell, D. A., Chiari, E., Fernandes, O., et al. (2009). A new consensus for *Trypanosoma cruzi* intraspecific nomenclature: second revision meeting recommends TcI to TcVI. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* 104, 1051–1054.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 September 2012; paper pending published: 17 October 2012; accepted: 07 December 2012; published online: 25 January 2013.

Citation: Scharfstein J, Andrade D, Svensjö E, Oliveira AC and Nascimento CR (2013) The kallikrein-kinin system in experimental Chagas disease: a paradigm to investigate the impact of inflammatory edema on GPCR-mediated pathways of host cell invasion by Trypanosoma cruzi. Front. Immun. **3**:396. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00396

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Microbial Immunology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Scharfstein, Andrade, Svensjö, Oliveira and Nascimento. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any thirdparty graphics etc.